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| NTRODUCTORY NOTES

NOTES ON TRANSLITERATION

Vowel-Sounds

a has the sound of a in ' woman.'
a has the sound of a in ' father.'
e has the vowel-sound in ' grey’

i has the sound of lin 'pin'

| has the sound of | in ' police.’
0 has the sound of o in ' bone.'

u has the sound of u in ' bull.'

u has the sound of u in ' flute.'

ai has the vowel-sound in ' mine.'
au has the vowel-sound in ' house.'

It should be stated that no attempt has been made to distinguish
between the long and short sounds of e and o in the Dravidian
languages, which possess the vowel-sounds in 'bet' and ' hot' in
addition to those given above. Nor has it been thought necessary
to mark vowels as long in cases where mistakes in pronunciation
were not likely to be made.

Consonants

Most Indian languages have different forms for a number of con-
sonants, such asd, t, r, & ¢, marked in scientific works by the use
of dots or italics. As the European ear distinguishes these with
difficulty in ordinary pronunciation, it has been considered undesir-
able to embarrass the reader with them ; and only two notes are
required. In the first place, the Arabic k, a strong guttural, has
been represented by k instead of g, which is often used. Secondly,
it should be remarked that aspirated consonants are common; and,
in particular, dh and ih (except in Burma) never have the sound of
thin 'this' or'thin,' but should be pronounced as in ' woodhouse'

and ‘'boathook."
A2
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Burmese Words

Burmese and some of the languages on the frontier of China have
the following special sounds :—

aw has the vowel-sound in ' law.'

6 and u are pronounced as in German.

gy is pronounced almost like j in ' jewel.'

ky is pronounced almost like ch in ' church.'

th is pronounced in some cases as in 'this/ in some cases as in
" thin.'

w after a consonant has the force of uw. Thus, yzva and pwe
are disyllables, pronounced asif writtenyuwa and puwe.

It should also be noted that, whereas in Indian words the accent
or stress is distributed almost equally on each syllable, in Burmese
there is a tendency to throw special stress on the last syllable.

General

The names of some places—e.g. Calcutta, Bombay, Lucknow,
Cawnpore—have obtained a popular fixity of spelling, while special
forms have been officially prescribed for others. Names of persons
are often spelt and pronounced differently in different parts of I ndia;
but the variations have been made as few as possible by assimilating
forms almost alike, especially where a particular spelling has been
generally adopted in English books.

NOTES ON MONEY, PRICES, WEIGHTS AND MEASURES

As the currency of India is based upon the rupee, all statements
with regard to money throughout the Gazetteer have necessarily been
expressed in rupees, nor has it been found possible to add generally
a conversion into sterling. - Down to about 1873 '"¢ gold value of
the rupee (containing 165 grains of pure silver) was approximately
equal to 2s, or one-tenth of a £ ; and for that period it is easy to
convert rupees into sterling by striking off the final cipher (Rs. 1,000
= £100). But after 1873, owing to the depreciation of silver as
compared with gold throughout the world, there came a serious and
progressive fall in the exchange, until at one time the gold value of
the rupee dropped as low as is. In order to provide a remedy for
the heavy loss caused to the Government of India in respect of its
gold payments to be made in England, and also to relieve foreign
trade and finance from the inconvenience due to constant and
unforeseen fluctuations in exchange, it was resolved in 1893 to close
the mints to the free coinage of silver, and thus force up the value of
the rupee by restricting the circulation. The intention was to raise



INTRODUCTORY  NOTES v

the exchange value of the rupee to is. 1d., and then introduce a gold
standard (though not necessarily a gold currency) at the rate of Rs. 15
= £1. This policy has been completely successful. From 1899 on-
wards the value of the rupee has been maintained, with insignificant
fluctuations, at the proposed rate of is. £d.; and consequently since
that date three rupees have been equivalent to two rupees before 1873.
For the intermediate period, between 1873 ®"d 1899, it is manifestly
impossible to adopt any fixed sterling value for a constantly changing
rupee. But since 1899, if it is desired to convert rupees into sterling,
not only must the final cipher be struck off (as before 1873), but'
also one-third must be subtracted from the result. Thus Rs. 1,000
= £100 — 1/3 = (about) £67.

Another matter in connexion with the expression of money state-
ments in terms of rupees requires to be explained. The method of
numerical notation in India differs from that which prevails through-
out Europe. Large numbers are not punctuated in hundreds of thou-
sands and millions, but in lakhs and crores. A lakh is one hundred
thousand (written out as 1,00,000), and a crore is one hundred lakhs
or ten millions (written out as 1,00,00,000). Consequently, accord-
ing to the exchange value of the rupee, alakh of rupees (Rs. r,00,000)
may be read as the equivalent of £10,000 before 1873, and as the
equivalent of (about) £6,667 2'**" 1899; while a crore of rupees
(Rs. 1,00,00,000) may similarly be read as the equivalent of
£1,000,000 before 1873, and as the equivalent of (about) £666,667
after 1899.

Finally, it should be mentioned that the rupee is divided into
16 annas, a fraction commonly used for many purposes by both
natives and Europeans. The anna was formerly reckoned as i%d. ;
it may now be considered as exactly corresponding to id. The
anna is again subdivided into 12 pies.

The various systems 'of weights'used in India combine uniformity
of scale with immense variations in the weight of units. The scae
used generally throughout Northern India, and less commonly in
Madras and Bombay, may be thus expressed : one maund = 40 seers ;
one seer = 16 chittaks or 80 tolas. The actual weight of a seer
varies greatly from District to District, and even from village to
village; but in the standard system the tola is 180 grains Troy
(the exact weight of the rupee), and the seer thus weighs 2-057 |b.,
and the maund 82-28 |b. This standard is used in official reports
and throughout the Gazetteer.

For calculating retail prices, the universal custom in India is to
express them in ternis of seers to the rupee. Thus, when prices
change, what varies is not the amount of money to be paid for the
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same quantity, but the quantity to be obtained for the same amount
of money. In other words, prices in India are quantity prices, not
money prices. When the figure of quantity goes up, this of course
means that the price has gone down, which is at first sight perplexing
to an English reader. It may, however, be mentioned that quantity
prices are not altogether unknown in England, especially at small
shops, where pennyworths of many groceries can be bought. Eggs,
likewise, are commonly sold at a varying number for the shilling.
Ifit be desired to convert quantity prices from Indian into English
denominations without having recourse to money prices(which would
often be misleading), the following scae may be adopted—based
upon the assumptions that a seer is exactly 2 Ib., and that the value
of the rupee remains constant at is. 4d.: 1 seer per rupee = (about)
3 1b. for 2s; 2 seers per rupee = (about) 6 Ib. for 2s; and so on.

The name of the unit for square measurement in India generall)
is the Ingha, which varies greatly in different parts of the country.
But areas have always been expressed throughout the Gazetteer either
in square miles or in acres.

MAPS

NORTHERN MADRAS
SOUTHERN MADRAS
MADRAS CITY
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Kotchandpur.—Town in the Jhenida subdivision of Jessore
District, Bengal, situated in 23° 25' N. and 89° 1' E., on the left
bank of the Kabadak river. Population (1901), 9,065. Kotchandpur
is the largest seat of the sugar trade and manufacture in the District.
It was constituted a municipality in 1883. The income during the
decade ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 6,500, and the expenditure
Rs. 5,900. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 7,000, mainly from a tax
on persons (or property tax) and a tax on vehicles ; and the expenditure
was Rs. 6,000.

Kotda (or Sangani).—Petty State in the Kathiawar Political Agency,
Bombay, lying between 21° 54' and 22° 4" N. and 70° 51' and
71° 8' E., with an area of 74 square miles. The population in 1901
was 8,835, residing in 20 villages. The revenue in 1903-4 was
Rs. 91,500, and the cultivated area 76 sguare miles. The State ranks
as a fourth-class State of Kathiawar. The founder was Sangoji, a son
of Kumbhoji of Gondal. His grandsons Jasoji and Sartanji in 1750
conquered Kotda from the Kfithis, and removed their capital thither
from Ardoi. Dying without issue, they were succeeded by their
younger brother  Devojl, -whose ,descendant-isthe ;present ' chief.

Kotda Nayani.—Petty State'in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Kotda Pitha.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Kotdwara.—Town in Garhwal District, United Provinces, situated
at the foot of the hills, in 29° 45' N. and 78° 32' E., close to the
terminus of a branch of the Oudh and Rohilkhand Railway, and on
the small river Khoh. Population (1901), 1,029. This is the most
important mart in the District, supplying the south of Garhwal with
cotton cloth, sugar, salt, cooking utensils, and miscellaneous articles
imported from the plains. It is aso the chief centre and exchange for
the Tibetan trade. The Bhotias bring down borax, and take back
pulse, sugar, tobacco, and cloth. Forest produce, mustard, rapeseed,
chillies, and turmeric are exported to the plains. Kotdwara is the
head-quarters of the Garhwal Bhabar, and contains a police station,
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a dispensary, and a branch of the American Methodist Mission. It
is administered under Act XX of 1856, with an income of about
Rs. 1,300.

Kotebetta.—Mountain in Coorg, Southern India, about 9 miles
north of Mercara, 5,375 feet high. Its base covers a large extent of
country. The summit is divided into two peaks, one rather pointed,
the Harangalbetta, and the other broad, forming a flat table-land.

Kotgarh.— Pargana in the sub-tahsil of KOTKHAI-CUM-KOTGARH,
Simla District, Punjab.

Kotharia.—Chief town of an estate of the same name in the State
of Udaipur, Rajputana, situated in 24° 58' N. and 73° 52' E., on the
right bank of the Banas, about 30 miles north-east of Udaipur city. Popu-
lation (1901), 1,586. The estate, which consists of 81 villages, is held
by one of the first-class nobles of Mewar, who is styled Rawat and is
a Chauhan Rajput. The founder of the Kotharia family was Manik
Chand, who fought for Rana Sangram Singh against Babar in 1527.
The income of the estate is about Rs. 32,000, and a tribute of Rs. 1,200
is paid to the Darbar.

Kotharia.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Kothi.—Petty sanad State in Central India, under the Political
Agent in Baghelkhand, with an area of about 169 sguare miles,
surrounding the town of the same name. The chief is a Baghel
Rajput, one Jagat Raj Singh Baghel having driven out the original
Bhar chief and founded the jagir. When the Bundelas rose to power
in the eighteenth century under Chhatarsal, the Kothi chiefs became
tributary to Panna, but maintained their independence throughout the
domination of Ali Bahadur. On the establishment of British supre-
macy Kothi was held to be subordinate to Panna, and was originally
described as such in the sanad granted to the Panna chief in 1807.
In view, however, of the continued independence of the estate, a fresh
sanad was granted in 1810 to Rais.Lai Duniya-pati Singh, making him
directly.dependent on the British Government. . An adoption sanad
was granted him in 1862. In recognition of his loyalty, public spirit,
and benevolence, the title of Raja Bahadur was granted in 1878, as
an hereditary distinction, to Rao Bahadur Singh. The present chief is
Raja Bahadur Avadhendra Singh, who succeeded in 1895.

The population has been: (1881) 11,368, (1891) 22,656, and (1901)
19,112, or 113 persons per square mile. Hindus number 15,939, or
83 per cent.; and Animists (chiefly Gonds), 2,864, * 15 per cent.
There are 75 villages.

The soil of the State is fairly fertile, and produces good crops of all
the ordinary grains.  Of the total area, 58 square miles, or 34 per cent.,
are cultivated; 22 square miles are cultivable but not cultivated; and
the rest is jungle and waste. The total revenue is Rs. 26,000, of
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which Rs. 24,000 is derived from land. An irregular force of 223
infantry and 30 cavalry is maintained.

The capital, Kothl, is situated in 24° 46' N. and 80° 47' E., 6 miles
west of Jaitwar station on the Jubbulpore-Allahabad branch of the
East Indian Railway, 104 miles distant from Allahabad. Population
(1901), 2,297.

Kothideh.—Bhumia t in the BHOPAWAR AGENCY, Central India.

K otL—Fief of the Keonthal State, Punjab, lying between 31° 2'
and 31° 11' N. and 77° 13" and 77° 21' E., with an area of 50 square
miles. The population in 1901 was 7,959, and the revenue is about
Rs. 25,000. A tribute of Rs. 500 is paid to the Keonthal State. The
present chief, Rana Raghublr Chand, exercises full powers, but
sentences of death require the confirmation of the Superintendent,
Simla Hill States.

Kot Kapura.—Head-quarters of the Kot Kapura tahsl, Faridkot
State, Punjab, situated in 30° 35' N. and 74° 52' E., 7 miles from
Faridkot town, on the Ferozepore-Bhatinda branch of the North-
western Railway, and aso on the Rajputana-Malwa narrow-gauge
line which runs west from Kot Kapura to the terminus at Fazilka.
Population (1901), 9,519. Formerly a mere village, the town was
founded by Chaudhri Kapura Singh, who induced people from Kot
Isa Khan, an ancient township, now in Ferozepore District, to settle
in the place. Kapura Singh incurred the jealousy of Isa Khan, the
imperial governor of Kot Isa Khan, and wes put to death by him
in 1708. Kot Kapura then became the capital of Chaudhri Jodh
Singh, who in 1766 built a fort near the town, but in the following
year he fell in battle with Raja Amar Singh of Patiala. It eventually
came under the control of Maharga Ranjit Singh, and was only
restored to the Faridkot State in 1847. t" '°%" "3 2 considerable
trade in grain and a fine market.

Kotkhai-cum-Kotgar h- (Kotguru).— These -two tracts, form.a sub-
tahsU of _Simla District, Punjab, lying between 31°% 4' and ' 31° 22' N.
and 77° 29' and 77° 43' E., with an area of 52 square miles. It is
bounded on all sides by the Simla Hill States. The population in
1901 was 10,683, compared with 11,581 in 1891. Kotkhai is the head-
quarters.  There are ten villages, and the land revenue and
in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 14,000. The sub-tahsil lies entirely in the
hills, which, in Kotkhai especially, are covered with forests. Kotgarh
stands on a spur of the Hatu range overlooking the Sutlej.

Kot Putli.—Chief town of a pargana of the same name in the
Torawati nizamat of the State of Jaipur, Rajputana, belonging to the
Raja of KHETRI, situated in 27° 42' N. and 76° 12' E., about 60 miles
north-east of Jaipur city, and close to the Sabi, or Sahibi, river on the
Alwar border. It is so called from its being composed of the town of
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Kot and the village of Putli. Population (1901), 8,439. The town
possesses a fort and other strong positions, which were of great
importance when held by the Marathas; a combined post and
telegraph office; severa schools; and the Victoria Jubilee Hospital,
which has accommodation for four in-patients. Thepargana and town
of Kot Putli were first granted in 1803 by Lord Lake to Raja Abhai.
Singh of Khetri, on the istimrar tenure, subject to an annual payment
of Rs. 20,000, as a reward for military services rendered against the
Marathas, notably in an engagement by British troops under Colonel
Monson with Sindhia's army on the banks of the Chambal. In 1806
the pargana was made over to the Raja as a free gift in perpetuity.
In 1857 the Jaipur troops, not content with occupying Khetri, laid
siege to and captured Kot Putli, a proceeding disapproved by the
British Government, who ordered its restoration. A specia survey
and settlement of the pargana were made in 1889 by a British officer
deputed at the request of the Raja.  The area is 290 square miles, and
the annual revenue about 14 lakhs. From Bhainslana, 8 miles to the
south-west of the town, a black marble is obtained, which is much
used by statuaries and for inlaying work.

Kotra.—Cantonment in the south-west of the State of Udaipur,
Rajputana, situated in 24° 22' N. and 73° 11' E., about 38 miles south-
west of Udaipur city, and 34 miles south-east of Rohera station on the
Rajputana-Malwa Railway. A detachment (two companies) of the
Mewar Blill Corps is quartered here, and the officer commanding
these is Assistant to the Political Superintendent of the Hilly Tracts
(see KHERWARA). Kotra is situated in a small valley near the con-
fluence of the Wakal and Sabarmati rivers, and is surrounded by high,
well-wooded hills which, on the east, attain an elevation of over
3,000 feet above the sea It contains a primary vernacular school
attended by about 20 boys, a small hospital for the detachment, and
another: for the civil population., The latter;- maintained partly by
Government and partly from Local funds, has accommodation for eight
in-patients. The Kotra district or bhumiat consists of 242 villages,
with 16,738 inhabitants, more than two-thirds of whom are Bhils.
These villages are owned by the three Girasia chiefs of Jura,
Oghna, and Panarwa, who pay a small tribute or quit-rent to the
Mewar Darbar.

Kotrang.—Town in the Serampore subdivision of Hooghly District,
Bengal, situated in 22° 41' N. and 88° 21 E., on the right bank of the
Hooghly river. Population (1901), 5,944. Bricks, surki, and tiles are
made in large quantities, and rope and string are also manufactured.
Kotrang was constituted a municipality in 1869. The income and
expenditure during the decade ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 4,100
and Rs. 3,800 respectively. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 5,500,



KOTTAPATAM 5

half of which was derived from a tax on persons; and the expenditure
was Rs. 4,650.

Kotri Subdivision.—Subdivision of Karachi District, Sind, Bom-
bay, consisting of the kKoTRI taluka (including the Manjhand and
Kohistan mate |s).

Kotri Taluka.—Taluka of Karachi District, Sind, Bombay, lying
between 24° 58' and 26° 22' N. and 67° 55' and 68° 29' E., with an
area of 3,291 square miles, including the Kohistan and Manjhand
matels.  Population decreased from 72,224 in 1891 to 70,407 in
1901. The density is much below the District average, being only
21 persons per square mile. There are 64 villages and 2 towns,
KOTRI (population, 7,617), the head-quarters of the taluka, and
Manjhand (2,862). The land revenue and ceses in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 94,000. The taluka is divided into two distinct
portions: a hilly plateau known as Band Virah Tappa, which forms
a part of Kohistan, and a narrow strip of alluvial soil lying between the
hilly tract and the Indus. Five canals supply water for irrigation, and
the principal crops arejowar, bajra, rice, ti/, cotton, and wheat.

Kotri Town.—Head-quartern of the taluka of the same name,
Karachi District, Sind, Bombay, situated in 25° 22' N. and 68° 22'
E., on the right bank of the Indus, here confined by a tolerably per-
manent bank. Population (1901), 7,617. Kotri has been placed in
considerable danger by sudden and violent inundations of the Baran
mountain torrent, to protect it from which a dam was erected some
years since. It is the southern junction of the branches of the North-
western Railway, running down cither side of the Indus, which is here
crossed by a fine railway bridge. The Indus Steam Flotilla formerly
had its head-quartern at Kotri, with a large floating dock for the repair
of its steamers.  Since the connexion of the railway in the Indus valley
with the general railway system of India, the flotilla has been abolished,
and its fleet of steamers sold ; but there is still a considerable boat
traffic.© The town is within thejagir of Malik Sardar Khan, chief of
the Numria or 'nine men' clan. Kotri was an unimportant village
before the British conquest, except in a military point of view; it
served in 1839 * 2" encamping place of the Bombay division of the
army advancing upon Afghanistan. The municipality, established in
1854, had an average income during the decade ending 1901 of about
Rs. 18,000. In 1903-4 the income was about Rs. 15,500. There was
an epidemic of cholera in 1879, since which date great attention has
been paid to sanitary arrangements. The town contains a Subordinate
Judge's court, a dispensary, six schools for boys with an average daily
attendance of 532, and two schools for girls with an attendance of
139 pupils.

Kottapatam {Alluru-Kottapatnam).—Town in the Ongole taluk
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of Guntur District, Madras, situated in 15° 25' N. and 80° 10' E., on
the seashore, about 160 miles north of Madras city and 10 miles south-
east of Ongole town. Population (1901), 7,626. The place was once
aUnion, but is so no longer. It is awell-built town, the streets and
houses being constructed with unusual symmetry. At one time it was
an important seaport where ships used to call. After the construction
of the BUCKINGHAM CANAL the port suffered; and when the East
Coast Railway was opened, the place lost all its commercial importance,
with the result that a large number of its inhabitants have settled in
Madras and elsewhere.  The majority of the population now consist of
Komatis. The story goes that about 160 years ago Padarti, which is at
a distance of about 15\ miles from Kottapatam, was an important sea
port. A quarrel arose there between the Balijas and the Komatis, in
consequence of which, with the permission of the local Rajas Maddu-
pati Ramachandra Raju and Maddupati Bhadra Raju, the Komatis
took themselves off and built the town of Kottapatam. Padarti then
fell on evil days and Kottapatam rose to prominence. Two temples
were constructed, dedicated to Vishnu and to Siva, and big wooden
cars with elaborate carvings on them were made for the festivals. The
place is now noted for its extensive cultivation of ragi (Eleusine cora-
cand) and its casuarina groves. It exports vegetables, raw fish, and
firewood to Ongole.

Kottar (the Kottiara Metropolis of Ptolemy; the Kottara of the
Peutinger Tables ; the Mummudi Cholapuram of the Chola period).
— Suburb of Nagercoil town, in the Agastlswaram taluk of Travancore
State, Madras, situated in 8° 10’ N. and 77° 26' E. Population (1901),
3,747. Formerly an independent town with considerable traffic, visited
by merchants from far and near, it is still the chief trading centre in
southern Travancore. Weaving is largely carried on, and cloths of very
fine texture are manufactured. It contains a Roman Catholic church
and an English high school.

Kottayam Taluk.—Taluk"in"the north' of ‘Malabar “District,
Madras, lying between 11° 41' and 12° 6' N. and 75° 27' and
75° 56' E., with an area of 481 square miles. It contains 28 amsams,
or parishes. The population increased from 195485 in 1891 to
209,516 in 1901. The land revenue demand in 1903-4 amounted
to Rs. 1,87,000. The only place of importance is TELLICHERRY
(population, 27,883), the head-quarters. The taluk is shut in on the
east by the Western Ghats, from which it drops rapidly down to the
Indian Ocean on the west. Parallel to the coast are extensive terraces
of laterite, barren themselves, but cut through by ravines and broken
ground on which both trees and crops flourish luxuriantly, providing
the fertile appearance which is such a charm in this District.

Kottayam Town. -Head-quarters of the taluk of the same name
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in Travancore State, Madras, situated in 9° 36' N. and 76° 31' E., on
the banks of the MInachil river which runs into the Vembanad lake,
connected with the great Cochin estuary. Population (1901), 17,552,
consisting of 9,414 Hindus, 672 Musalmans, and 7,466 Christians.
The place is a centre of the Syrian Christian community, whose church
here is one of the most ancient on the west coast. It contains two
high schools owned by the Syrian Bishops, which are known as the
Mar Dionysius and Mar Thoma seminaries. The Church Missionary
Society has been at work here since 1816, and owns a flourishing
college and a high school. There are severa printing presses, and
seven newspapers and journals are published in Malayalam.  Standing
on the threshold of the communications with the Plrmed range of hills,
the town serves as a convenient mart for the exchange of goods.

Kotturu.—Town in the Kudligi taluk of Bellary District, Madras,
situated in 14° 49' N. and 76° 14' E. Population (1901), 6,996. It
is a centre of the Lingayats, who form a very large proportion of the
population. It is sanctified in their eyes by the exploits of a guru
of their sect, named Basappa Lingaswami, who lived, taught, and
eventually died within it at some date which is not accurately known.
A long purana in Kanarese gives an account of him, but it is legendary
rather than historical, and is of no value to the searcher after facts.
His tomb is in a large rectangular stone building on the eastern side
of the town. Itis enclosed all round with granite walls, parts of which
are carved (the carving being sometimes coloured, which is unusual in
these parts), and is supported by granite pillars, some of which are well
sculptured. west of the main entrance stands an amost shapeless
image, said to represent Gajalakshml, which when removed from its
upright position and laid upon the ground is reputed to have great
efficacy in difficult cases of child-birth. Basappa Lingaswami, or Kotra
(Kotturu) Basappa as he is called locally, is worshipped in the big
templesin the middle of the town, known as Kotra Basappas. temple.
Kotra and lits allied forms Kotri; Kotravva, Kotrappa, &c, are still the
most popular names in the town for boys, and girls are similarly called
Kotramma, Kotri Basamma, &c. The shrine used apparently to be
dedicated to Virabhadra, and it is said that the image of this god still
stands behind the Lingayat emblem. The Lingayats among the
poligars of Harpanahalli are said to have added to the temple, and
one of them gave it a palanquin decorated with ivory, which is still
preserved. Basappa, says the story, came to Kotturu when it was
a stronghold of the Jains, vanquished them in controversy, converted
them to the Lingayat faith, and set up a lingam in their principal
temple. This temple is known as the Murukallu-matha, or 'three-
stone-math; each side of each of its three shrines being built of three
large blocks of stone. It is an unusually good specimen of an un-
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doubtedly Jain temple, and has three separate shrines, facing re-
spectively north, east, and south, and all opening on to a central
chamber in which the image now stands. The only industry is the
weaving of cotton cloths, most of which is in the hands of the
Lingayats. But the place is a considerable centre of commerce, and
its importance will doubtless receive a great impetus now that the
railway from Hospet has been completed.

Kotwar.—Hill in the Jashpur State, Central Provinces, situated in
3° 9' N. and 83° 57' E., about 9 miles north-east of Sanna; 3,393 feet
above sea-level.

Kovilam.—Village in Chingleput District, Madras. See COVELONG.

Kovilpatti.—Village in Tinnevelly District, Madras. See KOIL-
PATTI.

Krishna.—District, river, and canal in Madras. See KISTNA.

Krishnagar Subdivision.—Head-quarters subdivision of Nadia
District, Bengal, lying between 23° 17' and 23 49' N., and 88° 9' and
88° 48' E., with an area of 701 sguare miles. The subdivision consists
of a wide alluvial plain, bounded on the west by the Bhaglrathi and
intersected by the Jalangi, which flows past the head-quarters station
and then joins the Bhaglrathi. The population increased from 349,007
in 1891 to 361,333 in 1901, the density being 515 persons per
square mile. The subdivision contains two towns, KRISHNAGAR
(population, 24,547), the head-quarters of the District and of the
subdivision, and NABADWIP (10,880); and 740 villages. The famous
battle-field of PLASSKY lies at the extreme north of the subdivision.

Krishnagar Town.—Head-quarters of Nadia District, Bengal,
situated in 23° 24' N. and 88° 31' E., on the left bank of the Jalangi
river. Population (1901), 24,547 ; it has been slowly decreasing since
1872, when it was 26,750, owing to the ravages of fever, for which
the town is notorious. Krishnagar is the residence of the Rajas of
Nadia.© It is the seat of a considerable. trade, and is noted for its
manufacture of coloured clay figures. Itwas constituted a municipality
in 1864. The income during the decade ending 1901-2 averaged
Rs. 38,000, and the expenditure Rs. 36,000. In 1903-4 the income
was Rs. 48,000, chiefly derived from a tax on houses and lands (Rs.
22,000), and a conservancy rate (Rs. 11,000); and the expenditure
was Rs. 40,000. The old bed of the Anjona river has recently been
excavated in order to improve the drainage, a loan having been taken
from Government for the purpose.

Krishnagar contains the usual public offices. The District jail has
accommodation for 216 prisoners, the manufactures being mustard oil,
mats, and surki or brick-dust. A Government college affiliated to the
Calcutta University was attended by a daily average of 66 pupils in
1900-1; the total expenditure was Rs. 28,000. A collegiate school is
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attached to the college. Since 1881 the attendance at both institutions
has shown a steady increase. Krishnagar is a station of the Church
Missionary Society and the head-quarters of the Roman Catholic
diocese of Central Bengal, each body having its own church and
schools. The Church of England Zanana Mission maintains two
dispensaries, a hospital, and two schools.

Krishnagiri Taluk.—Taluk of Salem District, Madras, lying be-
tween 12° 14" and 12° 43' N. and 77° 58' and 78° 30' E., with an area
of 659 square miles. It is situated in the borderland between the
Mysore plateau and the great plains of the Carnatic, and is encircled
by hills the summits of which are often crowned with ancient fort-
resses. It is traversed by numerous streams which take their rise in
the surrounding hills and flow into the PONNAIYAR river. In 1901
the population was 175,300, compared with 152,128 in 1891. There
are 507 villages, and only one town, KRISHNAGIRI (population, 10,446),
the head-quarters. The demand for land revenue and cesses in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 2,25,000.

Krishnagiri Town.—Head-quarters of the taluk of the same name
in Salem District, Madras, situated in 12° 31' N. and 78° 13' E.
Population (1901), 10,446. It is connected with Tiruppattur on the
Madras Railway by a road 24 miles long, and by a narrow-gauge
(2 feet 6 inches) railway. The town consists of Krishnagiri proper, the
old town, and a new suburb called Daulatabad, where the Government
orifices are situated. This last was built under the auspices of Munro
and Graham, the first Assistant Collectors of the District; the present
public bungalow was their residence. The town is commanded by
a precipitous hill fort rising 800 feet above it. Such were its
capabilities for defence that it was never carried by assault. In 1767,
and again in 1791, British troops attempted it unsuccessfully; and on
several occasions during the operations against Mysore it was necessary
to blockade or. mask it. In 1768-it surrendered, to a blockading force,
and was._held by a British garrison for' some years until restored by
treaty. Grapes of an excellent quality are produced in the neighbour-
hood.

Krishnarajpet.—Northern taluk of Mysore District, Mysore State,
lying between 12° 25'and 12° 52' N. and 76° 20" and 76° 40' E., with
an area of 425 sguare miles. The population in 1901 was 102,816,
compared with 91,453 in 1891. The taluk contains two towns,
Krishnarajpet (population, 2,131), the head-quarters, and Kikkeri
(1,490); and 373 villages. The land revenue demand in 1903-4 was
Rs. 1,89,000. The Hemavati runs through the west of the taluk from
north to south into the Cauvery, which forms the southern boundary.
In the east are severa rocky hills. Five channels are drawn from the
Hemavati, and many large tanks are used for irrigation. The soil is
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red and fertile in the low grounds, but grey and sandy in the uplands,
especialy to the east. A coarse rice is grown in the east without
irrigation. Coco-nut, betel-vine, and plantain gardens are productive.
Much sugar-cane is grown. Silk cloths are made at Sindughatta.

Kuba.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Kuchawan.—Head-quarters of a jagir estate of the same name in
the Sambhar district of the State of Jodhpur, Rajputana, situated in
27° 9' N. and 74° 52' E., about 8 miles north of Naranpura station on
the Jodhpur-Bikaner Railway. Population (1901), 10,749. The place
is noted for the manufacture of guns, swords, &c, and possesses
a strong and well-built fort containing several palatial buildings. To
the south of the town are two saline depressions, miniatures of the
Sambhar Lake in appearance and characteristics, but the small amount
of salt which forms in them is so inferior as not to be worth collection.
The estate consists of 14 villages, yielding a revenue of Rs. 54,000.
The Thakurs of Kuchawan belong to the Mertia sept of Rathor
Rajputs, and the present Thakur (Sher Singh) is a member of the
State Council and a Rao Bahadur.

Kuch Bihar.- Native State in Bengal. See COOCH BEHAR.

Kuda.—Village in the Mangaon taluka of Kolaba District, Bombay,
situated in 18° 17 N. and 73° 6' E., 13 miles north-west of Mangaon
and 2 miles east of the north-east arm of the Rajpuri creek. Popu-
lation (1901), 481. Kuda has a group of twenty-six Buddhist caves
and eleven cisterns (100 B.C.—A.D. 500), commanding a beautiful view
of the creek and the distant hills. Five of the caves are chaityas or
shrines, and many of them contain inscriptions recording the names of
the donors. The sixth cave alone contains sculptures, which consist
of two elephants on either side of the front court, and figures of
Buddha carved on the front of the cave, on the pillars of the veranda,
and on'the back wall. In the rear of the main hall is a parapet
ornamented with animal .figures; while male and female figures with
a curious-headdress are depicted ‘'on the back wall at the point-where it
meets the parapet. The inscriptions number altogether twenty-four,
and are fully described, with other features of the caves, in the Thana
District Gazetteer.

Kudali.—Sacred village in the Shimoga taluk of Shimoga District,
Mysore, situated in 14° o' N. and 75° 49' E., at the confluence (kudal)
of the Tunga and Bhadra, where they unite to form the Tungabhadra,
9 miles north-east of Shimoga town. Population (1901), 1,043. There
are maths belonging to the Smartas and the Madhvas, the former called
the Sringeri, specially founded for Marathas, who notwithstanding
plundered and burnt the place under Parasuram Bhao in 1791. The
temples are old, and are dedicated to Brahmesvara, Narasimha, and
Ramesvara.
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Kudarimukh.—Peak on the frontier of Mysore and the South
Kanara District of Madras. See KUDREMUKH.

Kudavasal (kudam, 'pot,’ and vasal, 'entrance').—Town in the
Nannilam taluk of Tanjore District, Madras, situated in 10° 52' Nand
79° 29' E. Population (1901), 5419. It isa deputy-tahsildar's station.
Silk cloths for women are woven here. Kudavasal and Kumbakonam
are supposed to have a legendary connexion, both names being said to
be derived from the Tamil word for a pot. It is declared that the
mouth of a pot of nectar carried by Garuda, the celestial kite who is
the vehicle of the god Vishnu, fell at Kudavasal and another portion
at Kumbakonam.

Kudchi.—Village in the Athni taluka of Belgaum District, Bombay,
situated in 16° 38' N. and 74° 52' E., on the Southern Mahratta Railway.
Population (1901), 5,879. There is a local manufacture of carpets.
The village contains two boys schools with 105 pupils and a girls
school with 26.  On an island in the Kistna river, about a mile east
of the village, in a babul and tamarind grove, is a black stone tomb
of Shaikh Muhammad Sirgj-ud din Pirdadi, a Musalman saint and
missionary. Among the numerous converts he made was a princess
of Balkh named Masapli. She accompanied her preceptor to Indiaand
died here after alife of charity and benevolence. The saint died at Gul-
burga and was buried there, but in his honour a cenotaph was built
near the tomb of the princess. Yearly fairs are held at the tomb.
The inamdars claim to have been in possession of the village since
the fourteenth century.

Kudligi.—Western taluk of Bellary District, Madas, lying between
14° 33 and 15° 4' N. and 76° 9" and 76° 45' E., with an area of
863 square miles. The population in 1901 was 103,985, compared
with 94,296 in 1891. It contains one town, KOITURU (population,
6,996), and 116 villages. The head-quarters, from which it takes its
name, is-a mere village. The demand for land revenue and
in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 1,48,000. This taluk is perhaps the most
picturesque portion of the District. Extensive date-palm groves fringe
the streams, it is famous for tamarinds, and the hilly country in the
north is the wildest and most rugged in Bellary. Round Kotturu there
is a little black cotton soil; but two-thirds of the taluk consists of very
poor red land, and afifth is covered with mixed soils. Severa places
have a bad name for malaria, and it is more sparsely peopled than
any other taluk in the District. It supplies Bellary, Sandur State, and
even parts of Alur, with toddy from date-palms, and exports consider-
able quantities of tamarinds. Kadligi is the poorest taluk in the
District. Its soil is the worst in quality, the 'dry' land paying an
average assessment of only 5 annas per acre and much being rated
at as little as 2 annas; the land revenue derived, and the incidence
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per head of the population, are less than anywhere else; the percentage
of the holdings which pay less than Rs. 10 is higher than in any other
taluk; and nearly 10 per cent, of them pay one rupee or less. Only
three-fifths of the taluk is arable, the forest area being larger than in
any other; and of the arable area one-third is waste. One reason for
this large proportion is that much of the waste land is thickly covered
with trees, and the ryots hesitate to pay the considerable sums which
under the ordinary rules would be due for the value of this growth.
Recently, therefore, a system has been sanctioned under which the
ryot may pay the usual tree-tax until the total value of the trees has
been discharged, instead of the whole value at once in one sum. So
far the system has been a success. The forest area in the taluk has
also been added to recently, which will again reduce the proportion of
waste. Even the land that is cultivable is often too poor to stand
continuous cropping\ and the area under cultivation consequently
fluctuates considerably, while a large proportion produces only horse-
gram, a crop that will flourish with little rain on amost any soil.
Kudligi has, however, a larger area served by tanks and wells than any
other taluk. Thus, although it possesses no channels, about 4 per cent.,
quite a high figure for a Bellary taluk, is protected in all seasons.
Moreover, the cattle have ample grazing ground in the numerous forests.
Cholam and korra are, as usual, the staple food-grains, and a larger
area is sown with castor than in any other taluk.

Kudremukh (' Horse-face').—Conspicuous peak in the Western
Ghats, situated in 13° 8' N. and 75° 16' E., on the borders of the Kadur
District of Mysore and the South Kanara District of Madras; 6,215
feet high. Its name is descriptive of its appearance seawards, where
it is awell-known mark for navigators. The approach from the Mysore
side is by way of Samse, and the hill is sometimes called the Samse-
parvat. The officials of South Kanara have a bungalow at the top as
a hot-season retreat, and the bridle-path from that side is the easiest
means of ascending the mountain:

Kukshi.—Head-quarters of the pargana of the ‘same name in the
Dhar State, Central India, situated in 22° 13' N. and 74° 48' E., dis-
tant by road 93 miles from Mhow on the Rajputana-Malwa Railway.
Population (1901), 5,402. The town lies at the foot of the Vindhyan
range, 1,746 feet above sealevel. It stands on the old trade route
between Gujarat and Malwa, and was in consequence an important
place until the opening of railways and new roads led traffic into other
channels. Kukshi fell to the chiefs of Dhar in 1748, but must have
been a place of importance long before this, although it is not mentioned
in the Ain-i-Akbari. A new metalled road leading from Barwani to
Bagh and Amjhera passes through the town. Many of the houses are
large and commaodious, but a severe fire by which the town was ravaged



KULANG AND ALANG 13

in 1894 seriously affected its appearance. Kukshi contains a hospital,
a school, combined post and telegraph offices, a cotton-press, and
a resthouse.

Kulachi Tahsil.—Western tahsil of Dera Ismail Khan District,
North-West Frontier Province, consisting of the country immediately
below the Sulaiman mountains, between 31° 15' and 32° 17' N. and
70° 1 1 "and 70° 42' E., with an area of 1,509 square miles. In appear-
ance the tract bears a generic resemblance to the Dera Ismail Khan
tahsil, except for the stony plain and the line of barren and unsightly
hills which form its western border. The plain is much cleft by deep
channels which carry off the rain-water from the hills, and these are
utilized for irrigation with great skill. The population in 1901 was
55,053, compared with 52,270 in 1891. The head-quarters are at
KULACHI (population, 9,125), and the tahsil also contains 81 villages.
The land revenue and ceses in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 96,000.

Kulachi Town. Head-quarters of the tahsil of the same name in
Dera Ismail Khan District, North-West Frontier Province, situated 111
31° 56' N. and 70° 28' E, on the north bank of the Luni torrent,
27 mileswest of Dera Ismail Khan town. Population (1901), 9,125. It
is rather an aggregation of sixteen separate hamlets, standing near the
union of their lands, than aregular town. A municipality was created
in 1867, and its income and expenditure during the ten years ending
1902-3 averaged Rs. 6,900. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 7,200,
chiefly derived from octroi; and the expenditure was Rs. 7,100. The
place formerly carried on a brisk trade with the Wazirs of the hills,
which declined before annexation, but has since somewhat revived.
Kulachi contains a Government dispensary, and its principal educational
institution is an Anglo-vernacular middle school maintained by the
District board.

Kuladan.—River in Arakan Division, Lower Burma. See
KALADAN.

Kulang and Alang.—Two blocks of precipitous flat-topped rocks,
crowned by forts, on the Ahmadnagar frontier of the lgatpuri tdluha,
Nasik District, Bombay, about 10 miles south-east of Igatpuri station.
Kulang is situated in 19°35' N. and 73°38'E., and Alang in 19°35'N.
and 73° 40' E. Kulang and Alang are about 2 miles distant from each
other, Alang lying almost entirely in Ahmadnagar District. Their tops
are inaccessible, the old way of approach having been destroyed. The
two blocks are separated by the smaller mass of Mandangarh, which,
like its neighbours, was rendered inaccessible by the destruction,
probably in 1818, of the rough staircase leading to it through a cleft in
the almost perpendicular rock. Alang can be climbed from Kulangvadi
village in Nasik, about 2 miles to the north, but with great difficulty
and some danger. To the east of Alang is the steep pass known as
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Navra-navri ( the Husband and Wife'), from two curious pillars of rock
that jut up from the ridge dividing Nasik and Ahmadnagar Districts.
The pass is practicable for pedestrians, though difficult. No record
of the builders of these forts has been traced. They were probably
ceded to the Peshwa by the Mughals in 1760, along with Kavnai
and other Nasik forts. From the Peshwa they passed to the British
in 1818.

Kulasekarapatnam.—Town and seaport in the Srivaikuntam taluk
of Tinnevelly District, Madras, situated in 8° 25' N. and 78° 3' E. It
is a Union, with a population (1901) of 19,898. A small quantity of
sdt, of unusually excellent quality, is produced here. The principal
exports are fibre, oils and oil-cake, jaggery (coarse sugar), and tobacco.
The total value of the exports in 1903-4 was 3-8 lakhs, and of the
imports 4.3 lakhs.

Kulittalai.—Talukin Trichinopoly District, Madras, lying between
10° 16' and i0® 59' N. and 78° 8' and 78° 43' E., with an area of
901 square miles. The population rose from 243,700 in 1891 to
263,331 in 1901. The taluk contains 229 villages. The demand for
land revenue and cesses in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 3,73,000. The
head-quarters are at Kulittalai village. The Amaravati river irrigates
a few villages in the north-west corner, and the Cauvery, which forms
the northern boundary, waters a narrow strip of land along that side.
This tract is very fertile, but the soil in the remainder of the taluk is
generally poor. There are low hills covered with scrub jungle in the
south and south-west. Two of the many large bosses of gneiss with
which the District is studded are in this taluk; one of these, called
Ratnagiri, is about 5 miles to the south-south-west of Kulittalai village.
The southern portion of the taluk, consisting of the Marungapuri
and Kadavur zamindaris and 32 Government villages, comprised the
old Manapparai taluk, which was transferred from Madura District
in 1856.

Kulpahar. Tahsil.-- “South-western ‘tahsil - of - Hamirpur "District,
United Provinces, conterminous with the pargana of Panwari-Jaitpur,
lying between 25° 5' and 25° 31' N. and 79° 17' and 79° 49' E., with
an area of 558 square miles. Population fell from 127,567 in 1891 to
111,926 in 1901. There are 231 villages and two towns: KULPAHAR
(population, 5,128), the tahsil head-quarters, and Jaitpur (4,817). The
demand for land revenue in 1904-5 was Rs. 1,71,000, and for cesses
Rs. 34,000. The density of population, 201 persons per square mile,
is almost exactly the District average. The tahsil contains numerous
hills and large areas of jungle. In the north black soil is found; but
in the south the soil is poor and scanty, rock being near the surface.
In 1903-4 the area under cultivation was 257 sguare miles, of which
only 17 were irrigated. Wells serve most of the irrigated area, but
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a small supply is obtained from tanks through canals managed by the
Irrigation department.

Kulpahar Town.—Head-quarters of the tahsl of the same name
in Hamirpur District, United Provinces, situated in 25° 19' N. and
79° 39" E., near the Great Indian Peninsula Railway. Population
(1901), 5,128. The town was founded by Jagat Raj, Raja of Jaitpur,
son of the great Bundela leader, Chhatarsal. Each of his four sons
built for himself a mansion in the town, the ruins of which still exist.
The fort was taken by All Bahadur of Banda in 1790, and was dis-
mantled by the British in 1805. Kulpahar contains a tahsill, and
a school with 120 pupils. It is administered under Act XX of 1856,
with an income of about Rs. 1,100. There is a considerable trade
in grain and cotton, and a small cotton-press and hay-baling factory
are worked.

Kulsi.—River of Assam, which rises in the Khasi Hills a little to
the west of Shillong, and flows north and west for 120 miles to the
Brahmaputra, which it joins near the western boundary of Kamrup
District. The most important places on its banks are the Kulsi
plantation and Chaygaon, a market in Kamrup. The upper part of its
course lies in jungle, but in the central portion of Kamrup it passes
numerous villages. It affords an outlet for the timber of the Kulsi
plantation, and a certain amount of lac and cotton is brought clown it
from the hills. The trunk road crosses the Kulsi on two iron bridges
at Kukurmara and Chaygaon.

Kulu Subdivision.—Subdivision of Kangra District, Punjab, lying
between 31° 21' and 32° 59' N. and 76° 49" and 78° 42" E. It consists
of the KuLU and SARAJ tahsils and the wazris of LAHUL and SPITI.
The head-quarters are at NAGAR, a residence of the old Rajas.

Kulu Tahsil.—Tahsil in the Kulu subdivision of Kangra District,
Punjab, lying between 31° 50" and 32° 26' N. and 76° 56' and
77° 33" E., with an area of 1,054 square miles. The population in
1901 was' 68,954, compared ‘with 64,630 in- 1891. |t -contains
42 villages, including NAGAR, the head-quarters of the subdivision,
and SULTANPUR, the tahsil head-quarters. The land revenue and
ceses in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 82,000.

The tahsil nominally includes the wazris of LAHUL and SPITI.
Kulu proper is divided into four wazris—Parol, Lag Sari, Lag
Maharaja, and Rupi— all lying in the upper basin of the Beas. The
Beas basin is enclosed by very high mountain ranges, those which
separate it from the Spiti, Chenab, and Ravi valleys having a mean
elevation of 18,000 feet. The lower range, which separates it from the
Sutlej valley, lies in the Sarg tahsil. The Beas rises in the north of
Kulu proper at the crest of the Rohtang pass, 13,326 feet above the
seg, and after a course of 60 miles enters Mandi State at an elevation
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of 3,000 feet; its chief tributaries are the Parbati, Sainj, and Tirthan,
whose valleys comprise the greater part of the eastern half of the tract.
The Beas is bridged by the Duff Dunbar steel-rope suspension bridge
at Shamsi, by another suspension bridge between Larji and Bujaura,
and by wooden cantilever bridges (sdnghas) at five other places. Its
course presents a succession of magnificent scenery, including cataracts,-
gorges, precipitous cliffs, and mountains clad with forests of pine,
towering above the tiers of deodar on the lower rocky ledges. Of the
total area of Kulu proper, the cultivated portion amounts to only
60 square miles, and the rest is forest and desolate mountain waste
above the limit of tree growth. The highest villages are not more
than 9,000 feet above the sea, and the average elevation of the
cultivated and inhabited parts is about 5,000 feet. The annual rainfall
varies from 31 to 42 inches; inwinter the ground is covered with snow
for days or months together according to its situation, though snow
does not usualy lie long at heights of less than 6,000 feet; 55 feet of
snow have been measured on the Sirikand pass (15,000 feet), but the
Dulchi pass, over which lies the main road to Kangra, is generally
open all the year round.

The little principality of Kulu formed one of the eleven original
Rajput States between the Ravi and the Sutlej, and probably belonged
to some of the minor Katoch dynasties, offshoots from the great king-
dom of JULLUNDUR. Hiuen Tsiang, the Chinese Buddhist pilgrim,
visited it in the seventh century; and local legends preserve the names
of eighty-seven princes who ruled successively in this remote moun-
tain valley. Authentic history, however, first lecognizes Kulu in
the fifteenth century, when Raja Sudh Singh, whom tradition places
seventy-fourth in descent from the original founder of the dynasty,
ascended the throne. His descendants ruled the valley till the
beginning of the nineteenth century, their annals being wholly confined
to the usual Indian record of -court intrigues, assassinations, and
dynastic.quarrels. When' the Gurkhas broke out.from 'their ‘home in
Nepal, and conquered all the country up to the banks of the Sutlej,
they found Bikrama Singh upon the throne of Kulu. Like the other
neighbouring chieftains, Bikrama Singh paid tribute to the invaders for
his cis-Sutlej territory, as well as to Sansar Chand, the Katoch prince
of KANGRA, for Kulu itself. In 1809, however, Ranjlt Singh, called in
by Sansar Chand, made himself master of the hills, and levied tribute
from the young Raja of Kulu, Ajlt Singh, an illegitimate son of Bikrama
Singh. Three years later, the Sikhs demanded an annual payment of
Rs. 50,000, and, on the Raas refusal, marched upon his capital of
Sultanpur and sacked his palace. Ajit Singh at length bribed the
Sikhs to withdraw, by paying them all the money he could collect.
After the expulsion of the Gurkhas, the Raja became a feudatory of
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the British for the cis-Sutlgj tract. In 1840 General Ventura led
a Sikh force against the neighbouring State of Mandl, after conquering
which, one of his lieutenants attacked Kulu, on the pretext of hostile
dispositions. The Raja made no resistance, and allowed himself to be
taken prisoner; but the brutal discourtesy shown him by his captors
roused the hereditary loyalty of the hillmen. A secret muster took
place; and as the invaders marched out of Sarg by the Basleo pass,
the hillmen fell upon them in a narrow ravine, rescued their prince,
and massacred the Sikhs almost to a man. Ajit Singh retired across
the Sutlej to his fief of Shangri, which he had held from the British
Government since the expulsion of the Gurkhas, and so placed himself
beyond reach of vengeance from Lahore. A Sikh army soon after
marched into Saraj, but found it completely deserted, the inhabitants
having fled into the inaccessible forests on the mountain-sides.
Accordingly the Sikhs handed over the country in farm to the Raja of
Mandi, leaving a garrison in Kulu to enforce their supremacy. Ajit
Singh died at Shangri in 1841 ; and the Sikhs made over waziri Rupi
to his first cousin, Thakur Singh, while Shangri remained in the hands
of another relative. In 1846, at the close of the first Sikh War, the
Jullundur Doab, with the adjoining Hill States, passed into the power
of the British; and Kulu, with Lahul and Spiti, became a tahsil of
the new Kangra District. Government confirmed Thakur Singh in his
title of Raja, and gave him sovereign powers within wazri Riipi. On
his death in 1852, his son, Gyan Singh, of doubtful legitimacy,
obtained the inferior title of Rai, with half the land and no political
powers. The resumed half has since been restored, with certain
reservations in favour of Government. In 1892 the present Rai, Megh
Singh, succeeded to the jaglr of Riipi, with some modifications. The
Rai is an honorary magistrate and Munsif in higagir.

Kuluha.—Hill in the head-quarters subdivision of Hazaribagh
District, Bengal, lying between 24° 16' and-24°.27' N. and 84°48' and
85° 6' E. It abounds with Buddhist relics, and has a temple dedicated
to Buddha and impressions said to have been made by Buddha's feet.
The inscriptions, which date between the eighth and twelfth centuries,
appear to be almost exclusively Buddhist, but are in very bad order.
The Brahmans have appropriated the sacred place of the Buddhists,
and on the top of the hill is a temple of Durga called Kuleswari.
Two fairs are held annually on the hill in the months of Chait and Aswin.

Kumalgarh.—Fort in Udaipur State, Rajputana. See KUMBHAL-
GARH.

Kumar.—River of Bengal, locally known as the Pangasi. An
offshoot of the Matabhanga, which leaves the main stream near
Alamdanga, it flows in a tortuous easterly and south-easterly course
first for a few miles through Nadia District and afterwards through
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Jessore.  The head of the river is closed during the summer by a bar
of sand, and the channel has silted up throughout, large boats being
able to use it only during the rains. The Kumar is connected by
a cross stream with the GARAI, but its main stream is carried away
by the Nabaganga, into which it discharges at Magura.

Kumaradhari.—River in the north-west of Coorg, Southern India,
It rises near the Subrahmanya hill, and, after running west along the
boundary at the Bisale pass, unites with the Netravati in South Kanara,
and under that name continues to the sea at Mangalore. Garnets are
found in it near Subrahmanya village.

Kumari.—Cape and village in Travancore State, Madras. See
COMORIN.

Kumarkhali.—Town in the Kushtia subdivision of Nadia District,
Bengal, situated in 23° 52' N. and 89° 15' E., on the left bank of the
Garai river. Population (1901), 4,584. It is a station on the Eastern
Bengal State Railway, and a considerable trading centre. During the
mercantile days of the East India Company, a Commercial Resident
was stationed at Kumarkhali, and a large business in silk was carried
on. The only relic of that time is a cemetery, with a few old tombs,
the earliest dating from 1790. Kumarkhali was constituted a muni-
cipality in 1869. = The income and expenditure during the decade
ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 6,000. In 1903-4 the income was
Rs. 5,500, half of which was obtained from a tax on persons; and the
expenditure was Rs. 5,300.

Kumaun.—The most northern Division of the United Provinces,
situated almost entirely in the Himalayas, and extending from the
borders of Tibet to the damp submontane tract known as the Tarai.
The Division is bounded on the north by Tibet; on the east by Nepal;
on the south by the Bareilly Division and the State of Rampur; and on
the west* by the State of Tehri and DehraDun District. It lies between
28° 51" and 31° 5' N. and: 78° 12"and 81° 3' E.; with a total “area of
13,7%5 miles.- Although'it is thus the second Division-insize in the
United Provinces, it is sparsely inhabited, and the density of population,
88 persons per square mile, is but one-fifth of the average. Population
is rising steadily. The numbers at the four enumerations were as fol-
lows : (1872) 928,823, (1881) 1,046,263, (1891) 1,181,567, and (1901)
1,207,030. In 1901 Hindus formed more than 92 per cent, of the total,
and Muhammadans only 7 per cent. Half of the latter are to be found
in the TARAI portion of Nainl Tal District. Christians numbered
3,509, of whom 2,276 were natives, and no other religion was repre-
sented by more than a few hundred followers. The head-quarters
of the Commissioner are at NAINI TAL, which is also the summer capital
of the United Provinces. Kumaun contains three Districts, as shown
below «—
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Land revenue

o i i and cesses,
District. Squaﬁganlﬂes Po%(l)"f'on’ . 1903-4,
in thousands
of rupees.

Nairn Tal . 2,677 311,237 2,23
Almora gé%) 465,893 259
Garhwal A 429,900 1,68
Total 13.725 1,207,030 6,50

Nainl Tal lies on the outer ranges of the Himalayas; but most of it
is included in the waterless tract at their feet known as the Bhabar, and
the moist country below called the Tarai. The other two Districts
are situated mainly in the Himalayas, and include the highest peaks
within the Indian Empire. The Division contains 10,041 villages and
12 towns, all of which are small. The largest are NAINI TAL (popu-
lation, 15,164 in summer, and 7,609 in winter, with cantonment), KASHI-
PUR (12,023), and ALMORA (8,596). Kashlpur, HALDWANI, TANAKPUR,
SRINAGAR, KOTDWARA, and DWARAHAT ae the principal places of
commercial importance. Among many famous Hindu temples and
places of pilgrimage, the chief are the shrines of BADRINATH and
KEDARNATH. The tenures in the hill tracts differ considerably from
those in the rest of the Provinces. Before British rule the normal
system had been a kind of ryotwdri.  Each village contained a number
of cultivators called khaikar, who held hereditary, but not transferable,
rights. During the Gurkha supremacy grants of cultivated land were
often made to persons who were known as thatwan, the word that
meaning 'village' or * property in a village." Such grants could be
abrogated at will by the governing power. The khaikars paid to the
thdtwdn the revenue assessed on the village and, in addition, certain
dues and small cash rents. On the conquest by the British the thdtwdn
or, if there was none, the khaikars received proprietary rights. All
landholders are now called hissaddrs, whatever their origin; but the
name khaikar is used to describe the actual occupants of villages which
were originally granted to a thdiwdn. The khaikars have heritable,
but not saleable, rights, though subletting and even mortgage are
allowed. They do not pay rent, but pay the Government revenue plus
a malikdna, which is generally 20 per cent, in Garhwal and 25 per cent,
in Almora. There are few tenants-at-will, and khaikari rights are not
acquired by prescription, though they are sometimes conferred at
settlement. The Tarai is administered as a Government estate, while
in the Bhabar the tenures are partly those of the hills and partly those
of the Tarai and the plains. The gross revenue from all sources raised
in the Division has been, in thousands of rupees: (1880-1) 11,25;
(1890-1) 12,93; (1900-1) 15,98; and (1903-4) 16,37. Details by
Districts are not tabulated separately.
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Kumbakonam Taluk.—Inland taluk and subdivision of Tanjore
District, Madras, lying on its northern border, between 10° 47' and
I'1°11'N. and 79° 7' and 79° 34' E., with an area of 342 square miles.
The population fell from 377,523 in 1891 to 375,031 in 1901 ; but it
is still the most densely peopled taluk in the District or (with three
exceptions) in the Presidency, supporting 1,097 persons per square mile.
The most important town is KUMBAKONAM CITY (population, 59,673),
the head-quarters; and 6 miles east is TIRUVADAMARUDUR (11,237),
famous for its temple. The number of villages is 307. The demand
for land revenue and cesses in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 13,17,000.
Being situated in the most fertile part of the CAUVERY delta, the greater
part of its soil is alluvial and the rest black soil, and it is an exception-
ally rich area. It shares with Nannilam the characteristic of possessing
far more large landholders than any of the other taluks in Tanjore, and
the rent of the average holding is unusually high. About 47 per cent,
of the ' wet' fields are assessed at Rs. 9 or over per acre, and 96 per
cent, of the 'dry' fields at Rs. 2 or more. The chief agricultural
products are rice, plantains, and betel-leaf, which are all largely
exported; and the chief industries are the brass and bell-metal work
and the silk- and cotton-weaving of Kumbakonam town.

Kumbakonam City (Sanskrit, kumbha, < water-pot,’ and gkolia,
'nose'; Old Tamil, kudandai).—Head-quarters of the taluk of the same
name in Tanjore District, Madras, situated in 10° 58' N. and 79° 22' K.,
on the banks of the Cauvery, with a station on the main line of the
South Indian Railway, 194 miles from Madras. The population in
1871 was 44,444; in T88l, 50,098; in 1891, 54,307; and in 1901,
595673. It has thus been steadily increasing in size, and is now the
sixth largest city in the Presidency. The total in 1901 included
2,183 Musalmans, 1,272 Christians, and 87 Jains, the remainder being
Hindus.

Kumbakonam is one of the oldest places in:Southern India. It
has been identified with the Malaikilrram which became the capital of
the CHOLA dynasty about the seventh century. It has always remain-
ed a stronghold of Brahmanism and Brahmanical culture. A math
(religious house), founded by the great Sankaracharya, contains a valu-
able library of Sanskrit manuscripts. Many of its shrines bear old
inscriptions. The Nageswara temple is so constructed that on three
days in the year the sun's rays penetrate through the openings in the
gopuram (tower) and fall on the idol, which is interpreted as an act
of worship by the sun. The Sarangapani temple has a gopuram richly
ornamented with figures, a well-painted ceiling, and two large and
elaborate festival cars of carved wood. One of the shrines in the city
is dedicated to Brahma, a deity who has very few temples in his honour.
The Mahamagham festival once in twelve years attracts an immense
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concourse of visitors from all parts of India. It is the popular belief
that on this occasion the Mahamagham tank receives a direct supply of
water from the Ganges by underground ways. The last festival of this
kind took place in 1897.

In 1854 a provincial English school was started in Kumbakonam by
Government. It was made a second-grade college in 1864, advanced
classes being added three years later, and it was affiliated to the Madras
University in 1877, the high school classes being abolished in 1881.
The college has long maintained a high reputation for efficiency, but
there is a growing tendency on the part of students to prefer the
colleges at Madras. The average attendance in 1904 was 175. There
are two English high schools, a Sanskrit high school, and a Vedic
school maintained by private agency, besides a technical institute.

The chief manufactures are brass, bronze, copper, and lead vessls,
silk and cotton cloths, sugar, indigo, and pottery. The metal-work
is the best known of these. The silk industry, though said to be
declining, is still considerable, employing as many as 2,000 looms.
Cotton-weaving has fallen into insignificance of late years. The pro-
ductions of the city are exported to other Districts by rail, and the
place is also a centre for the collection and export of the locally grown
rice, ground-nuts, and oilseeds.

A District Court was held at Kumbakonam from 1806 to 1863,
and a Sub-Judge and a divisional officer are now stationed there.
It is aso the head-quarters of a Roman Catholic bishop of the
French Mission.

Kumbakonam was made a municipality in 1866. The receipts and
expenditure during the ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 85,000
and Rs. 92,000 respectively. The expenditure includes part of a loan
and grant from Government, amounting to about a lakh, which was
utilized in constructing drains in some of the streets. A further sum of
Rs. 25,000 has recently been allotted for| the same purpose. - A.scheme
for supplying the city with water at an estimated cost of Rs. 4,05,000
has been approved by the Sanitary Board, but has been found to be
beyond the resources of the municipality. In 1903-4 the income
was Rs. 91,400, including house and land taxes (Rs. 36,000), tolls
(Rs. 16,700), animal and vehicle tax (Rs. 7,800), and scavenging and
other fees (Rs. 7,000); while the chief items of expenditure were con-
servancy (Rs. 28,000), hospitals and dispensaries (Rs. 8,000), roads and
buildings (Rs. 15,000), and education (Rs. 8,000), out of a total of
Rs. 81,500. The municipal hospital contains 72 beds.

Kumbhalgarh.—Fortress on the western border of the State of
Udaipur, Rajputana, situated in 25° 9' N. and 73° 35' E., about
40 miles north of Udaipur city. It stands on a rocky hill 3,568 feet
above sealevel, and commands a fine view of the wild and rugged
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scenery of the Aravallis and the sandy deserts of Marwar. It is
defended by a series of walls with battlements and bastions built on
the slope of the hill, and contains a number of domed buildings which
are reached through several gateways along a winding approach. The
chief of these buildings is the Badal Mahal, or * cloud palace,’ which,
as its name implies, rises high above the rest. The fort is named after
Rana Kumbha, who built it between 1443 and 1458 on the site of
a still more ancient castle which tradition ascribes to Samprati, a Jain
prince of the second century B.C. It is said to have been taken by
Shahbaz Khan, one of Akbar's generals, in 1576. During the Maratha
disturbances the armed band of Sanyasis or ascetics, who formed the
garrison, revolted; but in 1818 Captain Tod, then Political Agent,
obtained possession of the place by arranging for the arrears of pay
due to them, and the fort was restored to the Maharana. Kumbhal-
garh is aso the name of one of the parganas or subdivisions of the
Udaipur State, the head-quarters of which are at KELWARA.

Kumbher.—Tahsil and head-quarters thereof in Bharatpur State,
Rajputana.  See KUMHER.

Kumhar sain.—One of the Simla Hill States, Punjab, lying between
31° 6" and 31° 20' N. and 77° 22" and 77° 35' E., with an area of
90 square miles. Population (1901), 11,735. Kumbharsain village, the
capital, lies 40 miles east of Simla on the Hindustan-Tibet road.
Formerly a feudatory of Bashahr, the State was declared independent
after the expulsion of the Gurkhas in 1815. On the other hand, it
then lost its own tributary States, Bharauli and Madhan. The present
chief, Rana Hlra Singh, is of weak intellect, and the State was managed
by a council for some years, but the results were unsatisfactory and
a manager was appointed. In 1893 the land revenue was assessed at
Rs. 16,500. The total revenue is Rs. 25,000, out of which Rs. 2,000
is paid as tribute. Narkanda (Nag Kanda), 9,016 feet above sea-level,
a favourite resort for residents in Simla, lies‘in this State.

Kumher.—Head-quarters of a tahsil of the-same name in the State
of Bharatpur, Rajputana, situated in 27° 19' N. and 77° 23' E., about
11 miles north-west of Bharatpur city. Population (1901), 6,240. The
town is surrounded by a mud wall and ditch, and possesses a post and
telegraph office, a vernacular school attended by about 130 boys, and
a dispensary. The place is said to take its name from its founder,
Kumbha, a Jat of the village of Sinsini, about 6 miles to the north-west.
The palace and fort were built by Maharaja Badan Singh about 1724,
and thirty years later the place was unsuccessfully besieged by the
Marathas, when Khande Rao Holkar, the son of Malhar Rao, was
killed. His cenotaph, erected by his widow, Ahalya Bai, at the village
of Gangarsoli, 3 miles to the north, is still maintained by the Indore
State.
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Kumilla.—Head-quarters subdivision and town in Tippera District,
Eastern Bengal and Assam. Sse COM IL L A.

Kumritar.—Peak in Bonai State, Bengal, situated in 21° 45' N.
and 85° 9' E., 3,490 feet above sea-level.

Kumta Taluka.— Coast taluka of North Kanara District, Bombay,
lying between 14° 21' and 14° 37" N. and 74° 20" and 74° 44' E., with
an area of 224 square miles. There are two towns, KUMTA (population,
10,818), the head-quarters, and GOKARN (4,834); and 111 villages.
The population in 1901 was 66,040, compared with 62,803 in 1891.
The density, 295 persons per square mile, is higher than in any
other taluka. The demand for land revenue in 1903-4 was 1-17 lakhs,
and for cesses Rs. 7,000. The coast-line, beginning south of the
Gangavali river, consists of long stretches of sand, fringed with coco-
nut gardens and crossed by frequent rocky highlands and headlands,
and by tidal creeks. Eight to twelve miles inland the hills are clothed
with forest, which becomes denser as the Ghats are approached. Near
the coast is a belt of rice land; beyond is the central plain occupied
by rice and sugar-cane; inland, rice gives place to ragi. Water is
plentiful. The soil is sandy or red loam. Kumta produces coco-nuts,
rice, areca-nuts, pepper, sugar-cane, and pulses. The annual rainfall is
heavy, averaging 133 inches.

Kumta Town.—Head-quarters of the taluka of the same name in
North Kanara District, Bombay, situated in 14° 26' N. and 74° 25' E.,
on the sea-coast on the north side of the Kumta creek, one mile east
of the lighthouse, and about 113 miles north of Mangalore and 40 miles
south of Karwar. Population (1901), 10,818, including suburbs. The
municipality, constituted in 1867, had an average income during the
decade ending 1901 of Rs. 17,000. In 1903-4 the income was
Rs. 17,500. Kumta, though an open roadstead, was formerly a place
of large trade, owing to the roads which connect it with the cotton
marts of Dharwar; but this traffic has been much affected by the
railway . through Portuguese territory. ' The . lighthouse, situated in
14° 25' N. and 74° 23' E., is'6 miles to the north of Fortified Island,
and consists of an iron tubular mast 60 feet high, erected on a hill
about half a mile to the east of the rocky cliffs of Kumta Point. It
exhibits a fixed white light, at an elevation of 116 feet above sea-level,
which is visible in clear weather at a distance of 12 miles from the
deck of a ship. This light overlooks the mouth of the creek, which
leads boats at high water up to the cotton warehouse on the south
side of the town. The town contains a Subordinate Judge's court,
a dispensary, a middle school, and nine other schools.

Kumta seems to have been formerly a place of some note. Its lanes

are straight and fenced with stone walls, and it has many coco-nut
gardens. Twice it had the misfortune of having Tipu's army encamped
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in its vicinity, and on both occasions it was burned down by some of
the irregulars. Its trade consists chiefly of cotton, spices, and grain,
the first coming from Dharwar District and the rest from the upland
country of North Kanara. The only manufacture is the carving of
a few articles of sandal-wood, which are exported to Bombay. Kumta
port is one of the seven ports which make up the Honavar Customs,
division. The trade isvalued at 38 lakhs: namely, imports 12 lakhs,
and exports 26 lakhs.

Kunch Tahsil.—Western tahsil of Jalaun District, United Provinces,
comprising the pargana of Kunch and part of Madhogarh, and lying
along the Pahuj river, between 25° 51' and 26° 15' N. and 78° 56'
and 79° 18' E., with an areaof 338 square miles. Population increased
from 102,815 in 1891 to 104,588 in 1901. There are 197 villages and
one town, KUNCH (population, 15,888). The demand for land revenue
in 1903-4 was Rs. 3,07,000, and for cesses Rs. 50,000. The density
of population, 309 persons per square mile, is considerably above the
District average. In the east is one of the richest areas of the black
soil called mar to be found in Bundelkhand. It suffered from rust in
1894 and 1895, and subsequently from famine, but has not been
overgrown by kans (Saccharum spontaneum). West of the mar the
soil becomes lighter as the ravines of the Pahuj are approached, and
this tract is irrigated by the Kuthaund branch of the Betwa Canal.
In 1900-1 the area under cultivation was 234 square miles, of which
11 wereirrigated.

Kunch Town (Konch)—Head-quarters of the tahsil of the same
name in Jalaun District, United Provinces, situated in 25° 59" N. and
79° 10' E., on a branch of the Great Indian Peninsula Railway.
Population (1901), 15,888. Kunch was the head-quarters of a mahal
or pargana under Akbar. In 1804 the commander of the British
troops in Bundelkhand dispatched a force to reduce the fort of Amanta
Malaya, five miles from Kunch.. Amir Khan, the Pindari, came to
the rescue of the garrison, and the British had to retire to. Kunch after
losing heavily. The Pindaris subsequently overpowered a small detach-
ment of reinforcements at Kalpl, but their forces were entirely broken
and dispersed by the British troops a month later. During the Mutiny
Kunch was several times occupied by the rebel troops. The town
consists of a business quarter in the east, and a quiet, scattered country
village to the west. The latter contains the high site of an old ruined
mud fort, on which the tahsiti and police station now stand. The
former is adorned by alarge tank constructed in the eighteenth century,
and has been much improved during the last thirty years. A new
bazar has been built, and a large enclosure has been made, to which
goods may be brought free of octroi. The chief public buildings are
the dispensary and tahsili school. Kunch has been a municipality
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since 1868. During the ten years ending 1901 the income and ex-
penditure averaged Rs. 13,000. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 22,000,
chiefly from octroi (Rs. 13,000) and a tax on professions and trades
(Rs. 2,000); and the expenditure was Rs. 22,000. The town is the
largest trading centre in the District, and is increasing in importance.
Grain and ghi are the chief exports, and a large cattle market is held.
Sugar, tobacco, and rice are imported for distribution to the country
around. The tahsili school has 66 pupils, four municipal schools 200,
and agirls' school 22 pupils.

Kunda Tahsil.—South-western tahdl| of Partabgarh District, United
Provinces, comprising the parganas of Bihar, Dhingwas, Rampur, and
Manikpur, and lying between 25° 34' and 26° I' N. and 81° 19' and
81° 47" E., with an area of 543 square miles. Population fell from
332,876 in 1891 to 323,508 in 1901, this being the only tahsil'in which
a decrease occurred. There are 686 villages and only one town,
Manikpur (population, 3,673). The demand for land revenue in
1903-4 was Rs. 4,80,000, and for cesses Rs. 78,000. The density of
population, 596 persons per square mile, is below the District average.
The tahsil lies north-east of the Ganges, which is bordered by a high
tract of fertile loam. Farther inland the soil becomes clay, and many
jhils or swamps supply water for rice cultivation. In 1903-4 the area
under cultivation was 289 square miles, of which 151 were irrigated.
Wells and tanks or swamps supply irrigation in amost equa pro-
portions.

Kunda Fort.—Ruined fort in the head-quarters subdivision of
Hazaribagh District, Bengal, situated in 24° 13' N. and 84° 39' E.
It is in the form of a parallelogram, about 280 feet long by 170 feet
broad, with a square central entrance tower on the west front, and four
square corner towers connected by straight battlemented walls with an
average height of 30 feet. It was admirably suited for defence, being
situated on,a tongue of land projecting into-a basinsurrounded by
hills, except on the east side, where'it commands'a gorge.

Kundahs.—Range of hills in the Nilgiri District, Madras, lying
between ii° 12' and 11° 23' N. and 76° 26' and 76° 43' E., and
forming the south-western wall of the Nilgiri plateau, which rises
abruptly from Malabar. The summit of the ridge is rocky and pre-
cipitous ; and the sides, covered in places with grass and in the hollows
clothed with thick forest, slope on the north down to the bed of the
Kundah river, which separates this range from the rest of the table-land,
and on the south drop suddenly for a great depth into the steep-sided
valley of the Bhavani. The three highest points in the range are
Avalanche Peak (8,502 feet), Bear Hill (8,353 feet), and Makurti
(8,403 feet). The best big-game shooting on the plateau is to be had
here.  Seen from Ootacamund the Kundahs are remarkably beautiful \
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and the view from their tops across the Bhavani and westwards to the
heavy forest of the Attapadi valley is one of the finest in Southern
India.

Kundapur.—Subdivision, taluk, and village in South Kanara Dis-
trict, Madras. See COONDAPOOR.

Kundgol.— Head-quarters of the taluka of the same name in
Jamkhandi State, Bombay, situated in 15° 15' N. and 75° 18' E.
Population (1901), 2,286. It is administered as a municipality, with an
incomein 1903-4 of Rs. 3,000. The town contains a dispensary. The
chief local trade is in cotton.

Kundian.—Village in the Rasmi zla of the State of Udaipur,
Rajputana, situated in 25° 2' N. and 74° 19' E., on the right bank
of the Banas river, about 50 miles north-east of Udaipur city. Popula-
tion (1901), 564. Here are many temples; and the pool called Matri
Kundian is celebrated, as it is said that the sins of Parasu Rama, the
would-be matricide, were washed away on his bathing in its waters.
A fair, lasting for three days, is held in May and is largely attended
by pilgrims who bathe in the pool.

Kungyangon.—Southern township of Hanthawaddy District, Lower
Burma, lying between 16° 19’ and 16° 40" N. and 95° 50" and 96° 20" E.,
with an area of 453 sguare miles. The township is flat and fertile. It
contains 263 villages. The population was 63,585 in 1891 and 71,017
in 1901. The head-quarters are at the village of Kungyangon (popula-
tion, 2,789), on the Tawpalwe stream, 5 miles from" its mouth. The
area cultivated in 1903-4 was 267 square miles, paying Rs. 5,25,000
land revenue.

Kunigal.—South-eastern taluk of Tumkur District, Mysore, lying
between 12° 45' and 13° 8' N. and 76° 50" and 77° 10' E., with an area
of 382 square miles. The population in 1901 was 77,861, compared
with 66,-502 in 1891. The taluk contains two towns, Kunigal (popula-
tion, 1,802), the head-quarters, and Huliyurdurga. (1,746); and 315
villages... The land revenue demand in 1903-4 was Rs. 1,32,000. The
Shimsha flows along the western and part of the southern border,
receiving the Nagani from the large tank at Kunigal. The south-east
is occupied by the great hill range running north up to Maddagiri.
Round Huliyurdurga (3,086 feet), and from there to Hutridurga
(3.713 feet) and Kunigal, the country is very hilly and jungly, with
rocky and barren ground. In the north and west the soil is fertile and
well cultivated. The old name, in the ninth century, under the
Rashtrakutas, was Kuningil.

Kunihar.—One of the Simla Hill States, Punjab, lying between
31° 3" and 31° 7' N. and 76° 59' and 77° 3' E., about 15 miles west of
Simla station, with an area of 80 square miles. Population (1901),
2,168. It was founded by a family of Raghubansi Rajputs from Aknur
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in Jammu. The present chief, Thakur Hardeo Singh, is a minor, and
the administration is conducted by acouncil. Therevenueis Rs. 4,000,
out of which Rs. 180 is paid as tribute.

Kunjah.—Town in the District and tahsil of Gujrat, Punjab,
situated in 32° 32' N. and 73° 59' E., 7 miles west of Guijrat town.
Population (1901), 6,431. It was for some time the residence of
Diwan Kirpa Ram, governor of Kashmir in the time of Ranjit Singh.
The municipality was created in 1874. The income during the ten
years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 2,400, and the expenditure Rs. 2,300.
In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 3,000, chiefly derived from octroi; and
the expendituie was Rs. 2,500. The town has a vernacular middle
school maintained by the District board, and a dispensary. It is of no
commercial importance.

Kunjpura (' the heron's nest').—An estate in the District and tahsli
of Karnal, Punjab, founded by Najabat Khan, a Ghorgasht Pathan and
soldier of fortune under the Mughal emperors. Najabat Khan built
a stronghold in the marshes of the Jumna early in the eighteenth
century, and then revolted against the imperial government. Siding
with Nadir Shah in 1739, Najabat Khan was recognized by him as chief
of Kunjpuraand held it till he was killed in 1760, when the Marathas
razed his stronghold to the ground. His son, Diler Khan, received
large grants of territory from the Durranis, but he and his successor
were driven out of their lands west of the Jumna by the Raja of Jind
and other Sikh chiefs. In 1787, however, Sindhia expelled the Jind
Raja from Karnal, and ten years later General Perron recognized
Gulsher Khan as Nawab of Kunjpura. His son, Rahmat Khan, allied
himself to Lord Lake in 1801, and in 1811 was recognized as a pro-
tected chief by the British Government. In 1846 the Nawab of Kunj-
puralost his sovereign powers, and the history of the family has since
been one of incessant litigation. The present Nawab succeeded in
1886. He holds ajagir of 38 villages with a revenue of Rs. 31,000,
besides which his estate yields an income of nearly Rs. 32,000.

Kunnamkulam.—Town in the Talapilli-taluk of -Cochin State,
Madras, situated in 10° 39' N. and 76° 4' E. Population (1901),
7,194, of whom 63 per cent, are Christians, chiefly Jacobite Syrians.
There are several Syrian churches in Kunnamkulam and its neighbour-
hood, and it is aso one of the centres of the Church Missionary
Society's work in Cochin. It contains a sub-magistrate's court, a lower
secondary school, and a Jacobite Syrian high school, and has some
trade in areca-nuts and other local produce.

Kurabar.—Chief town of an estate of the same name in the State
of Udaipur, Rajputana, situated in 24° 27' N. and 73° 59' E., on the
left bank of a stream called the Godl, about 20 miles south-east of
Udaipur city. Population (1901), 1,763. The estate, which consists
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of 69 villages, is held by one of the first-class nobles of Me war, who is
termed Rawat and belongs to the Chondawat family of the Sesodia
Rajputs, being an offshoot of the SALUMBAR house. The total in-
come of the estate is about Rs. 40,000, and no tribute is paid to the
Darbar.

Kurai.—Tahsll and town in Saugor District, Central Provinces.
Se KHURAI.

Kuram.—Political Agency and river in the North-West Frontier
Province. See KURRAM.

Kurambranad.—Taluk of Malabar District, Madras. See Ku-
RUMBRANAD.

Kurandvad State.—State under the Political Agent for KoM pur
and the Southern Maratha Country, Bombay. At present it consists
of two divisions, one belonging to the Senior ruler of Kurandvad, and
the other to the Junior chiefs. The Senior division comprises one
town, KURANDVAD (population, 10,451), the head-quarters; and 37
villages. Of these, Tikota and Wategaon, the former in Bijapur and
the latter in Satara District, are quite isolated from the main jagir, of
which 25 villages lie close to and south of the town of Belgauin, while
the remaining 10 lie in the valley of the Kistna, intermixed with British
territory and with the territory of the Sangli, Kolhapur, and Miraj
States. The Senior division, with its head-quarters also at Kurandvad,
comprises two towns and 34 villages—17 in the neighbourhood of and
mostly to the south of Belgaum, 15 on the borders of the Nizam's
Dominions and to the east of Sholapur District, and 2 within the
limits of the Kolhapur State.

The Kurandvad State was a grant made by the Peshwa to a member
of the Patvardhan family on condition of military service. In 1811
the State was divided into two parts, one of which was called Kurand-
vad and the other Shedbal. The latter share lapsed to the British
Government. in 1857, owing to, failure of-heirs. - In 1855 a; further
division- of ‘Kurandvad into Senior- and 'Junior was- effected- by the
British Government between Raghunath Rao and Ganpat Rao, Vinayak
Rao, and Trimbak Rao. When Trimbak Rao died in 1869 without
male issue, the whole of his share of thejagir was bestowed on Ganpat
Rao and Vinayak Rao, with the exception of the share he possessed
in the inam estate, which reverted to the Senior chief, Raghunath Rao.
The descendants of Harihar Rao and Vinayak Rao, brothers of
Raghunath Rao, now jointly form the Junior branch.

The Senior chiefs estate contains an area of 185 sguare miles, and
a population (1901) of 42,474. Hindus number 34,386, Muham-
madans 4,452, and Jains 3,532. The staple crops are millet, rice,
wheat, gram, and cotton. Coarse cotton cloth and articles of female
apparel are the principal manufactures. The total tribute received
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by the British Government from Kurandvad amounts to Rs. 9,619,
which is paid by the Senior branch for the whole State. The
Senior chief of Kurandvad ranks as a first-class Sardar in the
Southern Maratha Country, and has power to try his own subjects for
capital offences. He enjoys an estimated revenue of nearly 2 lakhs.
His family hold a sanad of adoption, and succession follows the rule of
primogeniture. In 1903-4 there were 16 schools in the State with
497 pupils, and 2 dispensaries treating about 7,000 patients. About
800 persons are vaccinated annually.

The share of the Junior chiefs contains an area of 114 sguare miles
and a population (1901) of 34,003. Hindus number 28,037, Muham-
madans 3,413, and Jains 2,498. The family holds no sanad authorizing
adoption, and succession doesr not usually follow the rule of primo-
geniture. The treaty of 1819 entered into by the Senior branch is
considered as binding upon the Junior chiefs. The estimated
revenue is about 1%/ lakhs of rupees. Two towns, Maindargi and
Dudhani, are administered as municipalities, with an income in 1903-4
of Rs. 850. In 1903-4 there were 10 schools with 429 pupils, and
one dispensary, which usually treated about 8,000 patients, but which
was closed in that year. The police force numbers 67. In 1903-4,
850 persons were vaccinated.

Kurandvad Town.—Capital of the State of the same name in
Bombay, situated in 16° 41' N. and 74° 38' E., on the right bank of
the Panchganga river, close to itsjunction with the Kistna. Population
(1901), 10,451. The town is the residence of the representatives of
both branches of the ruling family, and was formerly well protected,
but the defences are now mostly in ruins. It has no public buildings
of any interest, save the palace of the chiefs, and a temple dedicated to
Vishnu. Outside the town, at a distance of about a mile, is afine
masonry bathing ghat on the Kistna. The water supply is dependent
on the Panchganga, from which a windmill pump raises water for the
town. | There is a charitable dispensary. The town is not a part of
the jagir, having been given in inam to an ancestor of the chiefs by
the Raja of Kolhapur. It is administered as a municipality, with an
income in 1903-4 of Rs. 2,700.

Kurigram Subdivision.—North-eastern subdivision of Rangpur
District, Eastern Bengal and Assam, lying between 25° 23' and
26° 14' N. and 89° 20" and 89° 53' E., along the right bank of the
Brahmaputra, with an area of 942 square miles. The population in
1901 was 514,392, compared with 507,711 in 1891,and the density was
546 persons per square mile. The subdivision, which is an alluvial
tract, part of which is drained by the Dharla, has lost area by diluvion,
and cholera epidemics have been frequent, as the labour route to
Assam formerly passed through it. There is only one town, KURIGRAM

c2



30 KURIGRAM SUBDIVISON

(population, 1,777), the head-quarters; and 1,518 villages. Chilmari,
on the Brahmaputra, is a place of pilgrimage, where an annual bathing
festival takes place. Lalmanir Hat is the junction of the Bengal-
Duars and the Eastern Bengal State Railways.

Kurigram Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision of the same
name in Rangpur District, Eastern Bengal and Assam, situated in
25° 50' N. and 89° 40' E., on the right bank of the Dharla river.
Population (1901), 1,777. Itis a station on the Kurigram branch of
the Eastern Bengal State Railway. The town contains the usual
public offices; the sub-jail has accommodation for 17 prisoners.

Kurla.—Town in the Salsette taluka of Thana District, Bombay,
situated in 19° 4' N. and 72° 53' E., on the eastern extremity of
Salsette island, at the point where it is connected with the island of
Bombay by the Sion causeway. It is also a station on the Great
Indian Peninsula Railway. The town has two large cotton mills, of
which the Swadeshi mill, owned by a Parsl firm, is one of the
largest in India. Population (1901), 14,831, compared with 9,715
in 1891. The large increase is partly due to the exodus of people
from Bombay during the plague. Many have now made Kurla their
permanent residence. The municipality was established in 1879.
During the decade ending 1901 the income averaged Rs. 25,000. In
1903-4 the income was Rs. 35,000. The town contains 6 schools,
attended by 339 pupils (including 56 girls), and a dispensary.

Kurnool District (vernacular Kandenavolu).—One of the four
CEDED DISTRICTS in the Madras Presidency, lying between 14° 54'
and 16° 18' N. and 77° 21'and 79° 34' E., with an area of 7,578 square
miles. It is bounded on the north by the Tungabhadra and Kistna
rivers (which separate it from the Nizam's Dominions) ; on the north-
east by Guntur District; on the east by Nellore; on the south by
Cuddapah and Anantapur; and on the west by Bellary.

Two long: ranges of hills; the NALLAMALAIS on the east and the
Erramalas on-the west, divide the District north ‘and south-into three
well-defined sections: namely, the country east of
the Nallamalais, that between this range and the
Erramalas, and that west of the Erramalas. The
easternmost of these sections, which includes the taluks of Cumbum
and Markapur, is about 600 feet above sea-level andvery hilly. Through-
out the greater part of its length a range of hills known as the
Velikondas (a part of the EASTERN GHATS) divides it from Nellore.
Between this range and the Nallamalais to the west, severa low
parallel ridges cut up the country into valleys, and through these the
hill streams draining the eastern slopes of the Nallamalais have forced
their way. Some of the gorges thus hollowed out have been dammed,
and tanks made in them for purposes of irrigation. The tank at

Physical
aspects.
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CUMBUM, formed by an embankment across the GUNDLAKAMMA river,
is the most magnificent instance of this enterprise. Two passes, the
Mantralamma, or Dornal, and the Nandikanama, lead across the
Nallamalais into the central section of the District, and the Southern
Mahratta Railway is carried through the latter. This central section,
the Nandyal valley, is for the most part a flat open valley, between
700 and 800 feet above sealevel and covered with black cotton soil.
It is crossed from east to west by the great watershed between the
Kistna and Penner river systems; and it is drained to the south by
the Kunderu, a tributary of the latter river, and to the north by the
Bavanasi and other minor streams which fall into the former. From
the east, the Nallamalais run down to meet it, while on the west the
Erramalas rise up gradually into a series of flat-topped plateaux. In
the dry season the valley presents a most arid appearance, but the
Nallamalais on the east of it are always green. It includes the taluks
of Nandikotkur, Nandyal, Sirvel, and Koilkuntla, and the Native State
of Banganapalle. The Kumool-Cuddapah irrigation canal passes down
the centre and commands a large area.  Passing westwards over the
Erramalas, which from the west present a clear and well-defined scarp
gradually diminishing in height from south to north, the western section
of the District, consisting of the two taluks of Pattikonda and Ramalla-
kota, is reached. ~This section forms the north-eastern extremity of the
Mysore plateau and is drained towards the north by the Hindri, a
tributary of the Tungabhadra. The southern portion (except where it
opens out into the Bellary black cotton soil plain) is much broken by
rocky hills and long ridges of granitoid gneiss, and is covered with thin,
poor, gravelly land. Northwards and westwards the country opens out,
until near Kurnool it becomes an amost unbroken plain of black
cotton soil.

The chief rivers of Kurnool are the Tungabhadra and Kistna already
mentioned, ‘while several. smaller streams- drain -the. three —sections
referred-to above. The ‘chief of ‘those 'in the eastern ‘section are the
Gundlakamma and its tributaries, the Ralla Vagu, Tlgaleru, Kandieru,
and Duvvaleru, all rising in the Nallamalais. The Gundlakamma has
its source near Gundlabrahmeswaram and enters the plains through
the gorge of Cumbum, where it is held up by a dam 57 feet in height
to form the Cumbum tank, about 15 square miles in extent. The
river carries away the surplus escape of the tank, receives severa
tributaries, and runs in a north-easterly direction, forming the north-
eastern boundary of the District. The Sagileru, aso rising in the
Nallamalais, flows south and drains the country towards the Penner
in Cuddapah District. The chief rivers in the central section of the
District are the Kunderu and Bavanasi. The former rises in the
Erramalas, and after receiving its most important tributary, the Galeru



32 KURNOOL DISTRICT

or Kali, which rises in the Nallamalais, flows southwards to join the
Penner in Cuddapah District. The Bavanasi, which rises in the Nalla-
malais, drains into the Kistna the country lying to the north of the
watershed between that river and the Penner. The only river of
importance in the western section is the Hindri, which rises in the
Pattikonda taluk and fals into the Tungabhadra at Kurnooi town.
Its chief tributaries are the Dhone Vagu and Hukri. The portion of
this western section which lies to the north of the railway line drains
into the Hindri.

Geologically, Kurnooi is situated in the centre of a basin occupied
by the two great azoic formations known as the Cuddapah and Kurnool
systems. The geological characteristics of each of the three natural
divisions of the District are distinct. The eastern section belongs to
the Cuddapah system, the prevailing rocks of which are slates over
quartzites. The central portion belongs to the Kurnooi system, the
chief rocks of which are limestones and quartzites. The former make
very good building material. The portion of the western section
adjoining the Erramalas belongs to the Cuddapah system, while that
part of it which lies in the extreme west of the District is occupied by
crystalline or Archaean formations consisting of granitic rocks of no
peculiar interest.

The Nallamalai forests, which arc about 2,000 square miles in
extent, are the finest in this part of the Presidency and contain a large
variety of trees. The chief of these are referred to below under
Forests. Elsewhere the flora of Kurnooi is that of the drier zones
of the Presidency. Fibre-producing plants and trees are common,
among them being roselle, some of the Bauhinias, Butea frondosa, and
Calotropis gigantea.  In the villages, mangoes, tamarinds, and iluppais
grow freely in plantations and groves, and date-palms (Phoenix sylvestris),
which produce the alcoholic liquor of the District, flourish in the damper
hollows. Coco-nut palms, however, are not grown extensively, the soil
being unsuited to them, ;and palmyras are only to be seen in a few
villages.

The hill country contains all the game usual to such localities.
Tigers and bears are found on the Nallamalais, while wolves are met
with all over the District, though not in large numbers. Crocodiles
infest the Tungabhadra and Kistna, and in some places lie in pools
near the bathing ghats where human victims are essy to obtain.
Mahseer of unusual size are occasionally taken in these rivers. The
game-birds include sand-grouse and jungle-fowl.

The climate of Kurnooi cannot be said to be healthy. The
temperature in the shade goes up to 112° in the months of April and
May and falls to 67° in November, the mean averaging about 82°.
The period from February to May is hot, particularly so in April and
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ceded it in 1800 to the British, in payment for a subsidiary force to be
stationed in his territories; but the Nawab of Kurnool was left in
possession of his jagir, subject to atribute of a lakh of rupees. The
Pindaris plundered the country in 1816 during the time of Munavvar
Khan. The latter was succeeded in 1823 by his brother Ghulam
Rasul Khan, the last of the Nawabs. In 1838 this man was found to
be engaged in treasonable preparations on an extensive scale, and in
the next year he was sent to Trichinopoly, where he was subsequently
murdered by his own servant. His territories, with the minor jagirs
enjoyed by his nobles and relatives, were annexed, and the members
of his family were liberally pensioned. Since then the peace of the
District has been but once disturbed, by a descendant of a dispossessed
poligar in 1846. He was, however, captured and publicly hanged.
From 1839 to 1858, the territory taken from the Nawab (consisting of
the four taluks of Ramallakota, Nandikotkur, Nandyal, and Sirvel) was
administered by a British Commissioner and Agent. In 1858 three
taluks of Cuddapah (Koilkuntla, Cumbum, and Markapur) and the
Tattikonda taluk of Bellary were added to Kurnool proper, and the
whole was formed into the present Collectorate.

Kurnool possesses few remains of archaeological interest. The
Srisailam plateau on the Nallamalais contains the ruins of old forts,
houses, and towns, showing that it was inhabited by prosperous com-
munities in olden days. Almost every town in the District has a ruined
fort and every village its own keep. Dolmens or cromlechs are found
in some villages of Markapur and Cumbum. The most important
Hindu temples are those at Srisailam and Ahobilam on the Nalla-
malais.

The number of towns and villages in the District is 3 and 751

respectively. It is divided into eight taluks, of
which statistics according to the Census of 1901 are

given below:—
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Markapur 1,140 76 94,293 83 5.7 3,342
Cumbum 1,061 101 | 115881 | 109 | - 15| 5353
Nandikotkur . | 1,358 102 | 104,167 7 + 17.6 4,398
Ramallakota . 846 106 | 142,855 169 + 143 6,121
Pattikonda 1,134 |« | 104 | 143,033 | 126 + 31 4.143
N_andyal . 854 o1 | 110,292 129 + 145 5,516
Sirvel 613 g | 73387 | 120 | * 126 | 3234
Koilkuntla 572 &5 88,147 | 154 + 19 4,603
District total 7,578 3 751 872,055 115 + 66 36,710
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Except in the cases of Ramallakota, Sirvel, and Cumbum (the head-
quarters of which are respectively Kurnool, Allagadda, and Giddalur),
the head-quarters of the taluks are at the places from which each is
named. The density of the population in Markapur and Nandikotkur
is less than loo per square mile, and the District as a whole is more
sparsely populated than any other in the Presidency. The population
in 1871 was 914,432; in 1881,678,551; in 1891, 817,811 ; and in 1901,
872,°55.  The great decline in 1881 was due to the famine of 1876-8,
and the population has not even yet regained the numbers then
lost. During the decade ending 1901, the District again suffered from
adverse seasons, especially in the Cumbum and Markapur taluks,
and the population of both these areas declined; but on the whole the
advance was little below the normal. The three towns are the two
municipalities of KURNOOL (population, 25,376), the head-quarters, and
NANDYAL (15,137), and the Union of CUMBUM (6,502). The total
urban population is less than in any District except the Nilgiris, and as
many as 95 per cent, of the people live in villages. Classified according
to religion, Hindus number 728,782; Muhammadans, 107,626, or 12
per cent, of the total, a higher proportion than in any other Madras
District except Malabar; and Christians, 30,043, or 4 per cent. The
last have nearly trebled during the past twenty years, and they increased
by 50 per cent, in the decade ending 1901. About three-fourths of them
are Baptists and another fifth Anglicans. The same unexplained defi-
ciency of femaes occurs in Kurnool as in the other Deccan Districts.

The District contains a smaller proportion of Eurasians than any
other, and a smaller percentage of Europeans than any other except
Cuddapah. Apart from the wandering tribe of the Kuravans, the gipsy
Lambadis, and 23,000 Kanarese-speaking Kurubas (shepherds), the
Hindus are nearly all Telugus, the most numerous caste being the
Kapu cultivators, 121,000 strong. Next to them come the Boyas,
numbering 86,000. @ They are the great shikari caste of the Deccan,
and are fine fearless fellows. '~ Nowadays many of them have taken to
agriculture; and two well-marked divisions, the Myasa (forest) Boyas
and the Uru (village) Boyas, have arisen, of whom the latter are the
more advanced in their ideas. The caste is interesting as being one of
the few in which survivals of totemism have been found. Perhaps,
however, the most curious of the Kurnool castes are the forest people
called the Chenchus, who mainly live on the Nallamalais in small
clusters of little round huts.  Of the Musalmans, the majority, as usual,
are Shaikhs, but Dudekulas (a mixed race which follows many Hindu
customs) and Saiyids are aso numerous. The occupations of the
people present no points of particular interest. As many as 74 per
cent, subsist by callings connected with agriculture or pasture; and the
only directions in which their means of livelihood show notable varia-
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tions from the normal are in the considerable percentage of weavers,
and the small proportion of those who live by the professions.

The American Baptist Mission has stations at Kurnool, Cumbum,
and Markapur. The London Mission, formerly at Nandyal, has now
resigned that field to the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel.
The Roman Catholic missions are in a less flourishing condition than
farther south. Their chief station is Polur, near Nandyal.

The soils of the District are either red or black. In the eastern
section the prevailing variety of land is red, of a poor, thin, gravelly

description, though patches of black cotton soil and

red clay are found here and there in the valleys of
the Tigaleru, Gundlakamma, and Sagileru. These red earths, being
generally formed from disintegrated particles of the gneiss, mica, quartz,
and altered sandstone of which the hills are composed, are generaly
speaking inferior, lying over rock which is only a few inches below the
surface. The poverty of the soil is, however, in some degree com-
pensated by the facilities which exist for the digging of wells on the
river banks; almost all the well-irrigation in the District is confined
to this section. The central or Nandyal valley section consists almost
entirely of black cotton soil. The southern part of the western section
is covered with a thin, poor, gravelly earth, but northwards and west-
wards stiff black cotton soil replaces the gravels. Roughly speaking,
a fourth of it consists of red earth and the remaining three-fourths
of black cotton soil. The District is essentialy one producing ' dry
crops,’ and the sowing season is spread over the period from July
to November. The great part of the early sowings up to August
takes place on the light soils, and those which follow, between
September and November, are on the heavier land. By the middle
of November sowing is practically over.

The District is almost entirely ryotwari, there being no zamindaris
in it. ' The, area of the ‘whole-inam' villages. is 204, square, miles.
Statistics. for 11903-4 of the area for which particulars are on record are
given below, in square miles :—

Area Cultivable . .
Taluk ;Chgowunmlg Forests. waste. Cultivated. | Irrigated.

Markapur 1,117 557 76 309 29
Cumbum 1,031 599 95 306 21
Nandikotkur. 1,335 709 s 472 42
Ramallakota. 849 65 77 576 9
Pattikonda . 1,056 112 60 743 9
Nandyal 862 351 3 382 20
Sirvel” . 686 202 26 332 19
Koilknntla . 568 54 9 364 8

Total 7,504 2,649 421 3,484 157
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Forests occupy 34 per cent, of the total area, and the cultivable waste
is only about 5 per cent. The staple food-grains are cholam (Sorghum
vulgare) and korra (Setaria italica), the area under them being 884 and
598 sguare miles respectively, or 27 and 19 per cent, of the total area
cropped in 1903-4. The former is the most important crop of the four
central and two western taluks, while korra, ragi (Eleusine coracana),
and cambu (Pennisetum typhoideuni) are the chief staples of the two
taluks of the eastern section. Nearly 90 per cent, of the area under
rdgi and 50 per cent, of that under cambu is in these two taluks.
Generally speaking, korra and cambu are raised on the poorer red soils,
while cholam is the chief crop of the black cotton soils. Horse-gram is
also extensively grown, especialy in Pattikonda, Cumbum, and Marka-
pur. The area under rice is comparatively small, being only 128 square
miles. Next to cholam and korra, cotton is the crop most extensively
cultivated, covering 430 square miles. Almost the whole of it is raised
in the five black-soil taluks west of the Nallamalais. The area under
oilseeds is also comparatively extensive, being 217 square miles; nearly
two-thirds of this lie in the two taluks of Ramallakota and Pattikonda.

The extension of the area of holdings during the last thirty years has
amounted to 7 per cent.; and considering the terrible mortality during
the great famine of 1876-8 and the fact that the population is still
4 per cent, below what it was in 1871, this rate of increase may be
regarded as fair. ' Wet' holdings, however, have remained amost
stationary in area, notwithstanding the facilities afforded by the
KURNOOL-CUDDAPAH CANAL. There are still large areas of arable
land in all the taluks except Nandyal, Sirvel, and Koilkuntla. Very
little improvement is perceptible in the quality of the crops grown,
and the ryots cling to their primitive methods of cultivation. The
Mauritius sugar-cane, which is said to have been introduced in 1843,
has however ousted the indigenous variety, except in Cumbum. Unless
during famine or scarcity, the Kurngol ryots have not been anxious to
avail themselves of the benefits of the Loans Acts. = The total_amount
advanced during the sixteen years ending 1904 was a little over
7 lakhs; but the greater part of this appears to have been spent on the
improvement of land, such as the removal of deep-rooted grass, the
building of stone boundary walls, & c, and very little in the digging of
wells.  Most of the few wells which have been made are in the Marka-
pur subdivision.

Kurnool cannot be said to be rich in horned cattle. Two-thirds
of the animals used, especially those intended for the ploughing of
the heavy black cotton soils, are imported from Nellore, Guntur, and
Kistna. The cattle bred in the District itself are smaller, but more
hardy, than the coast bullocks. They are good trotters, but unfit for
tilling heavy land. The eastern section of the District is comparatively
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richer than the rest in cattle and sheep, on account of the never-failing
pasture on the Nallamalais. In the central section considerable herds
of breeding cattle are maintained in the villages bordering upon the
Nallamalais and Erramalas, where there is abundant pasturage; but in
the central part of the valley few animals are kept besides the plough
bullocks, most of which are imported animals of the Nellore breed.
In the western taluks also the stock for the cotton-soil land is provided
from Nellore. A considerable number of buffaloes are bred for export.
There are three varieties of sheep—the black, the brown, and the white.
The last variety is confined to Cumbum and Markapur. The species
in the western taluks are black and brown. The black sheep yield
a short wool, which is shorn twice a year and made into rough blankets.
The brown sheep are covered with hair instead of wool and are valued
only for their flesh. Goats are bred mainly for their manure. There
is no local breed of ponies.

The District is essentialy an unirrigated area.  Of the total ryotwari
and inam area cultivated in 1903-4, only 157 square miles, or 4% per
cent., were irrigated. Of this portion, 74 square miles were watered
from tanks, 32 square miles from Government canals and channels, and
31 square miles from wells. More than one-third of the area supplied
by tanks is in the two taluks of Markapur and Cumbum, where the
country is best adapted for the formation of reservoirs. The biggest
tanks in the District are those at Cumbum, irrigating 9,000 acres of
first and second crop, at Nandyal, and at Owk and Timmanayanipet in
the Koilkuntla taluk. In former days ryots were encouraged to form
tanks at their own cost, in return for the grant of lands free of rent
or the assignment of a portion of the land revenue for their main-
tenance and repairs. These were called dasabandam sources. The
greater part of the area irrigated by them (more than 85 per cent.) lies
in the single taluk of Markapur. The Kurnool-Cuddapah Canal irri-
gates 25,000 acres in| the five taluks through which it passes; and more
than a'third of this area lies in Nandikotkur. “In some of the villages
bordering upon the Nallamalais and Erramalas, the hot springs which
lie at the foot of these ranges are the chief sources of irrigation. The
most important of these, all of which are perennial, are at Mahanandi,
Kalwa, Dhone, and Brahmagundam. Of the total area irrigated from
wells, two-thirds is in the single taluk of Markapur. The number of
these sources is 10,868. In the Pattikonda taluk there are many
doravu wells, or baling-places made on the banks of rivers and streams.
The lands served by them were classed as 'wet' at the settlement.
The numerous jungle streams in the District are not used directly for
irrigation, except where the configuration of the country has facilitated
the formation of tanks. There are, however, numerous doravu wells
on their banks—especially aong the Gondlakamma, Hindri, and
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Bavanasi. The lands supplied by those on the banks of the Gund-
lakamma are exempted from water rate on account of the high cost
of constructing the wells, but those irrigated from the others are
charged with an additional assessment, and valuable garden crops are
raised. Leathern buckets drawn up with a rope and pulley by cattle
working down an inclined plane are universally used for lifting the
water.

From both their extent and nature, the forests of Kurnool are
important. Their total area in 1903-4 was 2,649 square miles, the
Nallamalais alone comprising one vast expanse of
2,000 square miles. Next in importance are the
forests on the Erramalas, and last the Velikonda forests. On account
of the extensive area to be managed, the District has recently been
divided into the two forest charges of East and West Kurnool.

The greater part of the growth on the Nallamalais is still untouched.
This area affords ample pasturage at all times of the year, and to it are
driven the cattle of the Districts of Nellore and Guntur during the
summer. It is the chief source of the fuel supplied to the Southern
Mahratta Railway. The more valuable timber trees are teak, red-
sanders, nallamaddi (Terminalia - tomentosa), egi (Pterocarpus Marsu-
pium\ jittegi (black-wood), and yepi (Hardwickia binatd).  Sandal-wood
is found near Srisailam, but it is not as strongly scented as the wood of
the Coimbatore and Mysore forests. Bamboos are aso plentiful. The
Velikonda forests contain the same species as the Nallamalais, but they
do not grow to as great a size. The Erramala forests are of minor
importance and contain no valuable timber. These hills are gene-
rally bare of growth on their flat tops; but the slopes are clothed
with stunted trees and shrubs which, however, are only fit for fire-
wood.

The minerals of the District are hardly worked at all, but some
Madras firms have taken out prospecting licences.  lran. ore is plentiful
on both the'Erramalas and Nallamalais.© That found on the Gani hill
is said to be the best. Iron"was smelted in a hill called Inapartikonda
near Veldurti (Ramallakota taluk) till a few years ago, but the industry
has now been abandoned. The chief smelting centre at present is
Rudravaram, a village at the foot of the Nallamalais in the Sirvel taluk.
The ore worked here is generally a massive, shaly, iron sandstone.
The iron produced is largely used for ploughs and other agricultural
implements. Copper mines were formerly worked in Gani. Lead is
found near Gazulapalle at the foot of the Nallamalais in the Nandyal
taluk. Diamond mines were formerly worked on a large scde in
Banganapalle, Munimadugu, and Ramallakota.

The only important industries in the District are cotton-weaving and
the manufacture of cotton carpets. The cotton-weaving is of the
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ordinary kind, only coarse cloths being made. Cotton carpets of a
superior description are made at Kurnool and Cumbum. The manu-

facture of lacquered wares and paintings on leather is

carried on in Nandyal and Nosam (Koilkuntla taluk).

Thick woollen blankets are woven in some villages of
the Nandikotkur taluk. There are four cotton-presses, two at Nandyal
owned by Europeans, and two at Kurnool by natives. All four are
worked by steam. They clean or press the local cotton for export to
Bombay and Madras. In 1904 the two Nandyal presses employed on
an average 119 hands. The presses at Kurnool are smaller concerns,
the average number of hands employed being less than 25. The grow-
ing of rubber-producing plants has recently been started in Kurnool
under European supervision. A tannery has also been working there
for the last four years.

Commercially, the District is of small importance. The chief
exports are cotton, turmeric, tobacco, ghi, gum, honey, melons, oil-
seeds, onions, indigo, timber, woollen blankets, cotton cloths, and
cotton carpets; while European piece-goods, sdlt, areca-nuts, coco-nuts,
sugar, jaggery (coarse sugar), brass and copper utensils, cattle, and
various condiments required for Indian households are the chief
imports. There is usually no export of grain, but in 1900 a large
quantity was sent to Bombay, where the distress was acute and prices
correspondingly high. Trade is chiefly with the neighbouring Districts
and Hyderabad. Salt, however, is imported from Bombay, and cotton
is exported to that city and Madras. Ghi, melons, cotton carpets, and
timber are sent to Hyderabad by the trunk road connecting the two
places. Sugar and jaggery are obtained from North Arcot, and piece-
goods and utensils from Bellary and Madras. Kurnool, Nandyal, and
Cumbum are the centres of trade for the western, central, and eastern
divisions of the District respectively. Nandyal is, however, outstripping
Kurnool in_commercial importance, as it _is on the railway, while
Kurnool is 33 miles from the nearest station.  The Komatis are the
chief merchants, but latterly many Musalmans have taken to trade.
Two large European firms have agencies at Kurnool and Nandyal for
their cotton business. Most of the internal trade is effected through
the agency of weekly markets. Thirteen of these are under the
management of the local boards, and the fees levied in them in
1903-4 yielded Rs. 1,850. The most important are at Nandyal,
Gudur, Pattikonda, and Koilkuntla.

The Southern Mahratta Railway (metre gauge) enters the District
about 2 miles to the west of Maddikera in the Pattikonda taluk, and
runs across from west to east till it reaches Cumbum, where it turns
northwards along the eastern border. It places all parts of the District
within 30 miles of a railway, which taps at its eastern extremities the
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rich grain-growing deltas of the Godavari and the Kistna, and is thus
a valuable defence in time of famine. The line was opened for traffic
to Nandyai in 1887, and thence to Cumbum and Tadepalle in 1889-90.
The Madras Railway (broad gauge) also touches the District in a corner
of the Pattikonda taluk.

The total length of metalled roads is 547 miles, and of unmetalled
roads 171 miles, all of which are maintained from Local funds. There
are avenues of trees along 606 miles. The western section is fairly well
provided with communications, trunk roads branching from Kurnool to
Bellary, Gooty, Cuddapah, and Hyderabad. The Nandikotkur and
Nandyai taluks are also provided with good roads, the facilities thus
afforded being supplemented by the irrigation cana which runs through
the middle of them and is navigable throughout its course. The
remaining four taluks are deficient in communications. There are
two ghat roads over the Erramalas—the Tammarazupalle pass and the
Rampur pass. Neither of the roads across the Nallamalais—namely,
the Mantralamma pass and the Nandikanama pass (the latter of which
was formerly the highway between the coast and the interior)—is
now much used, and they are becoming impassable.

The whole District lies within the famine zone, and has suffered nine
times from want of rain since the beginning of the last century : namely,
in the years 1804, 1820, 1824, 1833, 1853-4, 1866,

1876-8, 1891-2, and 1896-7. |n 1873-4, aso, parts

of it suffered, and in 1884 there was widespread distress. The season
was again bad in 1900 in some portions. No statistics are available of
the relief given previous to 1866. The average number of persons
relieved in that year was 1,741, while the maximum number relieved in
any one month was 2,727 in October. In 1876 both monsoons failed
and prices rose enormously. The average number of persons relieved
daily during the twenty-two months from December, 1876, to September,
1878, was 140,025, of whom 32,596 were relieved gratuitously -and the
remainder-employed ‘on'works., The maximum number relieved in any
one month was 299,804, or as much as 31 per cent, of the total popula-
tion. The mortality caused by starvation and the diseases incidental
thereto will never be known accurately, but the Census of 1881 showed
that the population had decreased since 1871 by 26 per cent.
No other District in the Presidency exhibited so terrible a decline.
During the famine of 1891-2, in which the taluk of Cumbum suffered
worst, the average daily number of persons relieved was 14,107. The
last serious famine was that of 1896-7. The average number relieved
daily was 52,736, exclusive of 12,788 persons on gratuitous relief. The
maximum number of persons on relief works in any one month was
170,289 in July, 1897. In this famine the expenditure in Kurnool
District alone was 21 |akhs.
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For administrative purposes Kurnool is divided into four subdivisions,
one of which is in charge of a member of the Indian Civil Service,
while the others are under Deputy-Collectors recruited
in India. The subdivisions are Nandyal (the Civilian's
charge), comprising the taluks of NANDYAL, SIRVEL, and KOILKUNTLA ;
Markapur, comprising the MARKAPUR and cumBumM taluks, Kurnool,
comprising RAMALLAKOTA and PATTIKONDA ; and the head-quarters sub-
division, which consists of the single taluk of NANDIKOTKUR. A tahsil-
dar is stationed at the head-quarters of each taluk, and a stationary
sub-magistrate in three of them: namely, Nandyal, Ramallakota, and
Pattikonda. In addition to the usual District staff there are two
District Forest officers, and a special Deputy-Collector in charge of the
irrigation from the Kurnool-Cuddapah Canal.

There are three regular District Munsifs' courts—at Kurnool,
Nandyal, and Markapur. Appeals from these, as well as from the
District Munsif of Gooty in Anantapur, lie to the District Judge
of Kurnool. The Court of Sessions tries the sessions cases which
arise within the District and in the Gooty and Tadpatri taluks outside
it, and hears appeals from the convictions passed by the first-class
magistrates.  Dacoities, robberies, housebreakings, and thefts fluctuate
in numbers, as elsewhere, with the state of the season, but propor-
tionately to the population arc more than usually common. The
District has indeed the reputation of being one of the most criminal
in the Presidency. Murders are especially frequent, being usually due
to private personal motives or disputes about land. These land dis-
putes often lead to serious riots, and the Koilkuntla taluk is notorious
for such disturbances. The Donga (thief) Oddes are the most criminal
class. Their profession may be said to be thieving and robbing, and
they are very brutal in their treatment of their victims.

As aready stated, the District consists historically of two portions:
namely, Kurnool proper, consisting of the Ramallakota, Nandikotkur,
Nandyal, and Sirvel ‘taluks; and the four transferred taluks of Cumbum,
Markapur, Koilkuntla, and Pattikonda. The revenue history of these
two tracts is distinct. The history of the transferred taluks is identical
with that of the Districts from which they were transferred. Little
definite is known of the methods of assessment under pre-British
rulers in them. The villages were rented out to poligars, who paid
a peshkash, or tribute, and sometimes rendered military service. This
tract came into the possession of the British in 1800, when Major
(afterwards Sir Thomas) Munro, the first administrator of the Ceded
Districts, introduced a rough field survey and settled the lands on
a quasi-ryolwari system. But his rates were fixed with reference to the
high assessment levied under the Musalman governments, and were
excessive. Sir Thomas eventually himself recommended a reduction
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of 25 per cent, in the assessments on 'dry' and 'wet' lands and an
additional 8 per cent, on garden lands, but his recommendations were
not accepted. After his departure to England in 1807, the villages
were rented out on a triennial lease, and again on a decennia lease
from 1810. Many of the lessees fell heavily into arrears and the
renting system was discontinued in 1821. Later, Munro, who had
returned as Governor of Madras, was able to carry out his old recom-
mendations. The ryotwari system was reintroduced, with the reductions
in the rates which he had proposed. Since then no sweeping changes
have occurred, except the exemption from extra assessment of land
irrigated from wells and tanks constructed at private expense, the
assimilation of 'garden' rates to 'dry' rates, and the abolition of
the tax on special products. After the formation of the District as it
now stands in 1858, a survey and settlement on modern lines were
made; and the new rates were introduced in Pattikonda in 1872, in
Koilkuntlain 1874, and in Cumbum and Markapur in 1877.

In the case of Kurnool proper, very little is known of the former
revenue history. The gudikatiu, the only old record of importance,
contains in detail the boundaries of each village and the extent and
descriptions of all the lands in it, but no figures of assessment.
During the Hindu period, the village lease system appears to have
been the ordinary mode of settlement, the headman distributing the
land with reference to the means of the ryots, and the fields being
roughly classed with reference to the nature of their soil. The same
system was continued under Muhammadan rule, but the manner
of assessment was arbitrary and the methods of collection iniquitous.
The demand was increased or lowered at the caprice of the Nawab.
A curious instance of arbitrary increase is on record. A sum of
Rs. 5,000 was added to the demand on the village of Nannur because
a horse belonging to the Nawab died there. The result of these exac-
tions was-that the inhabitants fled and land was left waste. ~After the
assumption of the territory by the British in 1839, a ryotwari settlement
was introduced in 1840. This was followed in 1841 by a rough field
survey which took two years to complete; and in 1843 the Commis-
sioner, Mr. Bayley, prepared an elaborate scheme of field-assessment.
His successor urged a reversion to the renting system, but the Board
negatived the proposal. The ryohwari system was continued, and the
only general change in the assessment was the abolition of the tax
on specia products. The great rise in prices which had taken place
since the assumption of the territory compensated in some measure
for the heaviness and inequalities of the assessment, though temporary
remissions were granted year after year. All these inequalities were
eventually removed by a survey and settlement on modern principles.
In 1858 a new survey was begun, and the settlement was introduced
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in 1865 and completed in 1868. The survey found an excess in the
cultivated area of 33/4 per cent, over that shown in the revenue accounts
of the whole District, but the enhancement of revenue, consequent
upon the settlement, was proportionately less. The average assessment
on 'dry' land is now Rs. 1-4-11 per acre (maximum Rs. 5, minimum
4 annas), and on 'wet' land Rs. 5-14 (maximum Rs. 10, minimum
Rs. 2-8).

The revenue from land and the total revenue in recent years are
given below, in thousands of rupees.—

1880-1. 1890-1. 1900-1. 1903-4.

Laud revenue . 17,96 22,87 21,18
Total revenue . 20,82 27,18 30,50

Outside the two municipalities of Kurnool and Nandyal, local affairs
are managed by the District board and the four taluk boards of Ram-
allakota, Nandikotkiir, Nandyal, and Markapur, the areas under which
correspond with those of the four administrative subdivisions. The
total expenditure of these boards in 1903-4 was 2 lakhs, nearly half
of which was laid out on roads and a third on medical services and
institutions. The chief source of their income is, as usual, the land cess.
A portion of the cess is reserved for future expenditure on railways. In
addition, the &ffairs of sixteen of the smaller towns are managed by
Union panchayats established under Madras Act V of 1884.

The head of the police in the District is the Superintendent, who
has an Assistant at Nandyal. There are 81 police stations; and in
1904 the force numbered 932 head constables and constables, working
under 19 inspectors, besides 806 rural police. There are 12 subsidiary-
jails which can collectively accommodate 808 prisoners.

As in the other Deccan Districts, education is very backward in
Kurnool. _ It stands nineteenth .among the twenty-two Districts of the
Presidency in.the literacy of its population, of .whom only 4-2 per cent.
(7.9 males and 0.4 females) are able to read and write. Markapur and
Pattikonda are the least literate, and Nandyal is the most advanced,
among the taluks. The total number of pupils under instruction
in 1880-1 was 5,437; in 1890-1, 10,275; in 1900-1, 16,122; and
in 1903-4, 18,290. On March 31, 1904, 656 institutions were classed
as public, of which 5 were managed by the Educational department,
97 by local boards, and 6 by municipalities, while 292 were aided by
public funds and 256 were unaided but conformed to the rules of the
department. Of these, 647 were primary, 7 were secondary, and 2 train-
ing schools. There were, in addition, 116 private schools, with 1,681
pupils. Two of these, with a strength of 97, were classed as advanced.
More than 96 per cent, of the pupils under instruction were only
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in primary classes, and only 15 out of the 2,438 girls at school had
proceeded beyond that stage. Of the male population of school-going
age, 21 per cent, were in the primary stage, and of the female popu-
lation of the same age 4 per cent., which is rather a high proportion
for the Deccan. Among Musalmans, the corresponding percentages
were 38 and 5. The Kurnool Muhammadans are the most illiterate
in the Presidency. There were 228 schools for Panchamas, or de-
pressed castes, giving instruction to 900 pupils. A few schools have
also been opened for the Chenchus on the Nallamalai hills. There are
two high schools, one at Kurnool town and the other at Nandyal.
The total expenditure on education in 1903-4 was Rs. 92,500, of which
Rs. 25,000 was derived from fees. Of the total, 78 per cent, was
devoted to primary schools.

The District possesses 3 hospitals and 12 dispensaries, which contain
accommodation for 60 in-patients. In 1903 the number of cases
treated was 118,000, of whom 830 were in-patients, and 1,900 opera-
tions were performed. The expenditure amounted to Rs. 25,400,
the greater part of which was met from Local and municipal funds.

Vaccination has of late been receiving considerable attention, and
in 1903-4 the number of persons successfully treated by the Local
fund and municipal vaccinators together was 33 per 1,000, compared
with a Presidency average of 30. Vaccination is compulsory in the
two municipalities, but in none of the sixteen Unions.

[For further particulars of the District, see the Kurnool District
Manual, by Gopalkristnamah Chetty (1886).]

Kurnool Subdivision.—Subdivision of Kurnool District, Madras,
consisting of the RAMALLAKOTA and PATTIKONDA taluks.

Kurnool Town.—Head-quarters of the District and subdivision of
the same name, Madras, situated in 15° 50' N. and 78° 4' E., on a low
rocky spit of ground at the confluence of the two rivers Tungabhadra
ancl Hindri, 900 feet above sea-level, 33 miles from the nearest railway
station/(Kurnool Road or Dhone, on the Southern Mahratta Railway),
and 350 miles from Madras city. The populationin 1901 was 25,376,
nearly half being Muhammadans, an unusually high proportion.
Christians numbered 369.

The fort is said to have been built by Achyuta Raya, the successor
of Krishna Deva Raya, the greatest of the Vijayanagar kings. The
history of the place is referred to in the account of the District of which
it is the capital. The fort has been completely dismantled, except one
bastion preserved on antiquarian grounds, which is at present used by
the police as a powder-magazine. The tomb of Abdul Wahab, the
first Muhammadan governor, on the bank of the Hindri, which was
builtin A.D. 1618, is the only other antiquity in the place that deserves
mention.

D2
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Kurnool is the head-quarters of the Collector and of the usual
District staff. Being situated in a hollow, the place is very sultry in
the hot season. Formerly it was regarded as one of the most unhealthy
stations in the Presidency, but since the introduction of a water-supply
its salubrity has considerably improved.

Kurnool was constituted a municipality in 1866. The receipts and
expenditure during the ten years ending 1900-1, excluding loans from
Government, averaged Rs. 42,000. In 1903-4 they amounted to Rs.
57,000 and Rs. 51,500 respectively. Most of the income is derived
from the taxes on houses and land, tolls, and the water rate. Formerly
the water-supply of the town was brought by means of open channels
from the irrigation canal which flows close by. This water was greatly
polluted during its passage, and water-works were in consequence
constructed in 1897 at a cost of 26 lakhs, three-fourths of which was
contributed by Government. Water is now lifted by two steam pumps
from the canal into two settling tanks situated on a high level, and
from there passed into four filter-beds, from which it is taken into two
service reservoirs carefully preserved from contamination and situated
on a level which commands the whole town. The municipality main-
tains a hospital, with beds for 24 in-patients.

Kurnool shares with Nandyal the main part of the commerce of the
District, and is the centre of the grain trade of the northern half.
There are two steam cotton-presses belonging to native merchants.
The chief manufactures are carpets and cotton cloths of coarse kinds.
A small tannery has been opened recently by a Musalman. The
municipal high school had 183 boys on its rolls in 1903-4. There is
also a lower secondary school with 123 boys, under the management
of the American Baptist Mission, which has its head-quarters here.

Kurnool-Cuddapah Canal. —Anirrigation and navigation canal in
Madras, which takes off from the Sunkesula dam across the TUNGA-
KHADRA, 17 miles above the town.of Kurnool, and runs for 190 miles
through Kurnool ' and Cuddapah Districts into the PENNER (which is
dammed at the junction), and thence to the town of Cuddapah. The
canal is a product of the policy, formerly in favour, of attracting private
capital and enterprise from England into the field of Indian irrigation.
It was constructed by the Madras Irrigation and Canal Company,
a body incorporated by Act of Parliament in 1858. This Company
originally proposed to execute in the Deccan Districts and Nellore a
number of other large irrigation works, the main ideas of which were
in part due to Sir A. Cotton; but as it speedily fell into financial
difficulties it was required first to complete this canal, and none of the
others was ever begun. It worked under a guarantee from the Secretary
of State of 5 per cent, on a capital of one million sterling, but by 1866
over £900,000 had been spent and the canal was still incomplete ;
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£600,000 was then obtained from Government by debentures, but by
1872 the whole £1,600,000 had been expended and the canal was still
unfinished. The undertaking was eventually bought in 1882 by the
Secretary of State for £1,700,000. It has never been a success. Its
alignment was faulty ; its construction was defective, so that in places
it will not pass even one-half the quantity of water which it was designed
to carry ; and it runs through an area in which, owing to the great
fertility of the soil, it pays the ryots better to raise crops without irri-
gation than to undertake the expensive system of cultivation which is
necessary to the growing of rice or other irrigated crops. The net
revenue from the work is therefore only Rs. 67,000, which is insufficient
to pay even \ per cent, on its capital cost. The navigation along it is
negligible in amount. The protection it affords in bad seasons to
the extremely arid area through which it runs is, however, of great
importance; and, when rain fails, water is freely taken from it. Several
projects are also under contemplation for the utilization, by branch
canals, of its water in areas where it will be more readily availed of;
and it may perhaps be possible to strengthen it sufficiently to enable
it to pass into the Penner a supply which would augment that now
derivable from that river for irrigation in Nellore District.

Kurrachee.—District, tdluka, and city in Sind, Bombay. See
KARACHI.

Kurram Agency (Kuram).—A Political Agency in the North-West
Frontier Province, lying between 33° 19' and 34° 3' N. and 69° 39" and
70° 28' E., and comprising that section of the valley of the Kurram
river which lies between the Peiwar Kotal in the west and the borders
of Mlranzai in the east. The Agency has an area of about 1,278 sguare
miles, its maximum length from Thai to the Peiwar Kotal being
72 miles as the crow flies, and its breadth varying from 12 to 24 miles.
Bounded on the north by the Safed Koh or 'White Mountain' (called
in Pashtu the Spin Ghar), which separates it-from Ningrahar, it adjoins
Para-Chamkanni and the country of the Massozai ‘section of the Orakzai
and that of the Zaimusht tribe on the east, its south-eastern corner
abutting on the Mlranzai country of Kohat District. On the south it
borders on Northern Wazlristan; and on the south-west and west it is
contiguous with the Afghan district of Khost, of which the Jaji Maidan
or plain, the Chamkanni country, and Hariob Jaji lie on its western
extremity.

The principal range in the Agency is the Safed Koh, the crest of
which forms the watershed between the Surkhab river or valley
of Jalalabad and the Kurram. In this range the
loftiest peak is Sikharam, 15,620 feet above sea-level,
which forms the extreme north-west corner of the
Agency. From it the range runs almost due east, falling to 14,200 feet
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at Badni Sar, the peak above Zeran, and to 11,760 feet at the Agam
pass, but rising again to 13,010 feet at the peak above Khanrai in the
north-eastern corner of the Agency. From Sikharam a lower range,
whose crest forms the western border of the Agency, and which is
crowned by the Peiwar Kotal or pass, runs southwards, abutting on the
Kurram river. On the south lies a lower and more irregular range,
whose crest forms the boundary of Khost. Its highest peak, Khost
Khoram, rises to 8,536 feet above the seg, but its mean elevation is
only 5,000 feet, the Darwazgai peak being 6,395 feet. From this range
descends a spur through whose extremity the Kurram river appears
to have cut a passage opposite Sadda, and which divides the valley
into two parts, Upper and Lower Kurram. Upper Kurram is thus
almost completely encircled by ranges of hills of varying height,
except where the Kurram river enters and leaves it. It is a wide open
valley, mostly comprised in the sloping plain formed by the debris from
the southern face of the Safed Koh, which descends to the Kurram
river and is intersected by numerous streams. In this plain lie Para-
chinar, the head-quarters, Shalozan, Kirman, and most of the principal
villages of the Agency. Above Parachinar the valley attains a width
of 15 miles. Lower Kurram is a narrow valley shut in by broken
ranges of comparatively low elevation, though it widens to the south-
east of Balyamin.

The only river in the Agency is the Kurram itself, which runs closer
to its southern than to its northern border, especially in Upper Kurram.
Rising in the hills near Ahmad Khel, it flows at first south-westward,
and then turns sharply to the east, entering the Agency near Kharlachi
and thence flowing due east to Kurram Fort. East of that place its
trend is somewhat southward; and at Sadda it turns sharply to the
south until it reaches Maro Khel, whence it curves south-east as far
as Thai, in Kohat District. On the north it is fed by numerous
streams, of which the principal are the Shalozan, Zeran, Kirman, and
Kurmana; and on the south by several torrents, the Sarkalla, Minawar,
and Taoda Shiga being the chief.

In Lower Kurram the scenery is dreary and barren, only relieved
by the narrow strips of cultivation along the river banks; but Upper
Kurram is one of the most beautiful valleys in the Province, the
encircling hills being well wooded and many of the villages picturesque,
though the plain is for the most part as yet uncultivated and bare of
trees. The climate also varies. In the winter even Lower Kurram
is very cold and a bitter wind prevails, while in the summer it is
hot and dry. Upper Kurram is never unpleasantly hot even in summer,
while in winter snow covers the ground for weeks.

Legend says that the aborigines of Kurram were deos or demons who
were ruled by their king, the Safed Deo, until the kingdom was over-
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come by two brothers, Shudani and Budani, from the north. Their
descendants held sway for many centuries in Kurram, until they were
in turn overwhelmed by invaders from the north.

The authentic history of Kurram begins in 1148,

when Bahram Shah of Ghazni, after his defeat by Saif-ud-din of Ghor,
fled to Kurram, whence he returned and recovered Ghazni. In 1163
Muhammad of Ghor was placed in charge of Lstia and Kasri-Kajuran
by Ghiyas-ud-din, Sultan of Ghor, his brother; and in 1176-7 he
conferred Sankuran (identified by Raverty with the modern Shalozan)
and Kirman on Taj-ud-din Yalduz. It was at Kirman that Muhammad
of Ghor used to halt every year on his way into India. There too on
his last expedition he conferred on Taj-ud-din the black banner,
thereby designating him his successor, and after his assassination his
body was taken back to Ghazni through Kurram. Kirman remained
Taj-ud-din's capital for a time, and to it he retreated after his defeat
by Kutb-ud-din Aibak in 1206. But in 1215 he was driven out of
Kirman by the Sultan Muhammad Khwarizm Shah, who made over
Ghor and Ghazni to his son Jalal-ud-din Mankbarni. A few years
later the tract was occupied by the Mongols.

In 1235 Saif-ud-din Hasan, Karlugh, gained possession of Ghazni,
Kirman, and Banian (? Bannu), but was driven out of his territories by
the Mongols in 1239. After this Kurram disappears from history,
until in 1552 Humayun, who then held Kabul, occupied it before his
reconquest of India. Under Akbar it formed part of the toman of
Bangash or the Bangashat, being known as Upper Bangash to dis-
tinguish it from Lower Bangash, now Kohat District. The Afghans
of this tract, called Karlarni Afghans, were, as a body, disciples of the
Pir-i-Roshan, and hence became known as Roshanias. These sectaries
led the Afghan opposition to Mughal rule, and Kurram formed one
of their chief strongholds. Although they were suppressed under
Jahanglr, the Mughals appear to have had little real control over
Kurram, which was nominally governed, independently of Kabul, by
thefaujdars of Bangash from ‘Kohat. On the break-up of the Mughal
empire Kurram became part of the kingdom of Afghanistan; but in
the meantime the Afghan tribes of Bangash had been overcome by
the Turis, a tribe of Turkish origin belonging to the Shiah sect of
Muhammadans, who speak Pashtu and now rank as Pathans. The
Bangash tribes who remain in the valley are now hamsayas or clients
of the Turis.

After the annexation of Kohat the Turis, in league with other tribes,
repeatedly harassed the Miranzai border, attacking the Bangash and
Khattak villages in Kohat. In 1854 an agreement was made with
them; but their raids continued, though punitive measures were not
resorted to, as the tribe was held to be under the control of the Amir



50 KURRAM  AGENCY

of Afghanistan. Their raids increased in audacity, and in 1856 a force
under Brigadier-General Neville Chamberlain entered the valley.
Compensation, the payment of which was guaranteed by the Afghan
governor Ghulam Jan, was exacted, the Turis agreeing to pay Rs. 8,630.
In 1859 the Turisjoined the British expedition against the Kabul Khel
Wazirs; but their feud with that tribe subsequently gave much trouble,
reprisals being undertaken by Wazirs in British territory for Turi out-
rages, and in 1876 serious disturbances arose between the Bangash
of Lower Kurram and the British village of That out of a boundary
dispute. In 1877 the Turis were discontented with the oppressive
administration of Shahbaz Khan, governor of Kurram; and when the
Amir demanded from them a contribution of Rs. 50,000 (a poll-tax of
Rs. 5 on every adult male) and 6,000 recruits for his war against the
British, they revolted and fled to the hills. Attempts to pacify the
tribe were unsuccessful for a time, but the Turis at last agreed to send
‘djirga to Kabul and pay a benefaction of Rs. 25,000, while Shahbaz
Khan was recalled by the Amir.

In November, 1878, a column under General Roberts entered
Kurram from Thai, and occupied Kurram Fort on the 25th of that
month. On December 2 the Afghans were defeated at the Peiwar
Kotal, and on the 26th a British force marched from Kurram into
Khost, which was occupied till the end of January. The conclusion
of peace in May, 1879, prevented further operations, until in September
of that year, on the reopening of the war, General Roberts's force, which
had remained in occupation of Kurram, again crossed the Shutar-
gardan. The Turis now co-operated with the British expedition
against the Zaimukhts, whose hostility had been marked by the murder
of Lieutenant Kinloch; and Kurram was held without further disturb-
ance till its evacuation in October, 1880. The Turis throughout
furnished supplies, their levies were employed in escorting convoys,
and they, with the Bangash, petitioned that the British_should take
over the valley and free them from Afghan rule; but it was determined
to evacuate the country and the tribe was declared independent.
Internal feuds broke out in a few months, and throughout 1882-4
the Turis were constantly fighting among themselves, as well as with
the Jgjis and Zaimukhts. The administration of the valley was finally
undertaken by the British Government, at the request of the Turis
themselves, in 1892.

The Agency contains 166 villages besides PARACHINAR, its head
quarters, and in 1901 it had a population of 54,257. Administratively,

it is divided into Upper and Lower Kurram. The
great majority of the population is Pathan, 44,000,
or 81 per cent.,, being of that race. The Turis (nearly 12,000) form
the strongest element among the Pathan tribes; and next to them are
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the Bangash (6,000), the Chamkannis, Ghilzai, Mangals, and Orakzai.
The few Hindus are nearly all Aroras, that caste numbering nearly
2,000. The language of the people is Pashtu, but Hindkl is spoken
by the resident Hindu population. Hindki or Hindko is the Pashtu
name for Western Punjabi as spoken by Hindus and some other
people, e.g. the Peshawar city folk, along the frontier. Agriculture
is virtually the sole occupation of the people, as nothing but the most
primitive industries are carried on; and all but the barest necessaries
of life are imported into the valley. Silk, for which Kurram was in
ancient times famous, is still produced and manufactured.

Wherever water is available for irrigation, the soil is highly pro-
ductive; but, owing to the absence of a settled government and the
internal feuds of the people, the cultivable area is not
all under cultivation, and irrigation is carried on only
by small channels constructed and maintained by a single hamlet or
family. Hitherto the autumn harvest of rice, maize, and oilseeds has
been the more important, and it pays two-thirds of the land revenue;
but the spring harvest of wheat, barley, and clover is of increasing
value. Apples, pears, grapes, cherries, pomegranates, peaches, and
a fruit peculiar to the Kurram and Tirah, known as the shalil, also
grow; and with improved communications fruit-growing will probably
become an important industry. Famine is unknown in Kurram.

Kurram is now accessible from Kohat by the Khushalgarh-Kohat-
Thal branch of the North-Western Railway. This does not enter the
Agency, but a good tonga road runs from the terminus at Thai to
Parachinar (54 miles), crossing the Kirman stream by a fine bridge.
From Parachinar the road is unmetalled and passes via Kharlachi to
Hariob. Unmetalled roads or bridle-paths also lead from Parachinar
to Peiwar, from Kharlachi to Peiwar, from Mir Jamal to Uchadarra,
and from Parachinar to Walai China via Lakka Tigga. All were
constructed in. 1893.

For administrative purposes the Agency is divided into ‘Upper and
Lower Kurram, each being under a naib-hakim, stationed at Parachinar
in Upper, and Sadda in Lower Kurram. The naib-
hakims are under the control of the Political Agent,
who is also aided by a Revenue Assistant.

The Indian Penal Code, the Criminal Procedure Code, the Frontier
Crimes Regulation, the Frontier Law and Justice Regulation, and the
Murderous Outrages Regulation have been extended to Kurram, while
Turizuna or the customary law of the Turis is enforced, all cases being
settled by the Political Agent and his Assistants. The Turizuna,
though unwritten, is well-known to the maliks or heads of tribes, and
they decide what the custom is in any given case. The cases of a civil
character are chiefly for the recovery of loans, possession of land,
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declaration of rights to water, questions of inheritance, possession of
women, and disputes relating to revenue. Murder and violent crime
are not very common, the chief offences being robbery and theft,
especially of cattle, arson, mischief to fruit trees, and abduction.

The rates of land revenue paid under Afghan rule varied from R. i
to Rs. 2 perjarib (about half an acre), but various other taxes were
aso levied. Thus the governor in 1886 fixed a poll-tax at Rs. 2-8 on
menials (barbers and Dums or minstrels), and at Rs. 3-8 on artisans
and adult male Hindus. Each mill paid Rs. 3-8 a year, and dues were
levied on all sdes of ponies and cattle. These taxes were equal in
amount to the land tax, and the valley was farmed for a total sum
of a lakh.

The aim of the British Government was at first to carry on the
revenue administration as far as possible on the Afghan system.
A summary settlement was made in 1893-4, when the amount levied
by the Afghan governors was ascertained and distributed in due
proportion over individual holdings. The settlement was sanctioned
for ten years; and, including malikana on crown lands, revenue from
mills, and taxes on artisans' shops (the latter being a substitute for
the poll tax), the demand amounted to Rs. 67,300 (Kabuli). The all-
round rates adopted were (in Kabuli currency) Rs. 3-5 per acre of
cultivated land, Rs. 3-8 per mill, and Rs. 2-8 to Rs. 3 per artisan's
shop. Cash payments or remissions of revenue amounting to about
Rs. 19,000 were granted to leading men for political services or assis
tance in general administration, while smaller grants were sanctioned
for the upkeep of shrines, mosques, temples, and especialy matim
kotdhs or Shiahs' mourning houses.

No regular measurements were made, but the cultivated area was
estimated roughly at 30,222 acres. A brief and incomplete record-of-
rights -was prepared, but some of the complicated tenures were left
undecided, and no arrangements-were made for keeping the. record
up to date. A few returns and statements were prescribed for main-
taining a check on the collection of the land revenue and for lapsed
assignments. Thus the revenue administration consisted of the col-
lection of revenue, reassessment of estates subject to alluvial action, the
maintenance of irrigation embankments, and harvest inspections in the
crown lands. The revenue work is supervised by the Revenue Assis-
tant, who is also treasury officer. He is assisted by a mirab (who
looks after irrigation), 4 patwaris, and a tahsil accountant. The re-
settlement of the valley began in 1904. It involves the conversion of
the assessment from Kabuli into British rupees, and the preparation
of a regular record-of-rights, including definitions of the different kinds
of tenure, pedigree tables, irrigation customs, and maps of the cultivated
land based on accurate measurements, and the reorganization of the
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revenue staff. The new demand is Rs. 71,500 (British) per annum,
which in five years will rise to Rs. 88,000.

Police duties are performed by the Kurram militia, a force 1,466
strong under a commandant. The lock-up at Parachinar has accom-
modation for 100 prisoners, and two lock-ups at Sadda and Allzai can
each accommodate 10 prisoners.

Kurram stands below all the Districts of the North-West Frontier
Province in the literacy of its population, only 1-88 per cent. (987 males
and 25 females) being able to read and write in 1901. It possesses
seven indigenous schools, now aided by grants from Imperial funds,
at Parachinar and six of the principal villages, besides those in the
mosques where the Koran and other religious books in Persian and
Arabic are taught; in the dharmsalas the Hindus and Sikhs also learn
the Granth and other religious books in Gurmukhl. Muhammadan
girls are occasionally taught to read the Koran. The Bangash Pathans
of Shalozan are, however, mostly literate, and to their enlightenment is
attributed the freedom from superstition which characterizes the rest of
the valley.

There are two civil dispensaries—at Parachinar and Allzai—with
accommodation for 12 male in-patients, and a female ward for 4 in-
patients at the former, besides two military hospitals. In 1903 the
number of cases treated was 16,472, of whom 323 were in-patients.
The expenditure was Rs. 4,763, met from Imperial funds.

A vaccinator is posted at Parachinar, and 1,708 persons were suc-
cessfully vaccinated in the Agency in 1903-4.

Kurram River.— River in the North-West Frontier Province,
which rises at the base of the Rokian defile in Afghanistan and, after
traversing the Khost district of that State, enters the country of the
Turis or the Kurram Valley proper near Kharlachi, 40 miles from its
source. It then flows south-east for about 55 miles, through the whole
length of the Political Agency. of Kurram, till.it reaches T halin kohat
District.. 'Here it turns southward through the country of the Kabul
Khel Wazlrs, and after receiving the Kaitu river, which drains the
Afghan district of Khost, it enters Bannu. Traversing that District
with a south-easterly course it cuts its way through a narrow gorge,
known as Darra Tang, in the hills that encircle Bannu District, into the
Isa Khel plain, and fals into the Indus opposite Mianwali. In its
course through the Kurram Valley it is mainly fed by streams from the
Safed Koh, the chief of which are the Kirman and Kurmana.

Kurseong Subdivision.—Southern subdivision of Darjeeling Dis-
trict, Bengal, lying between 26° 31' and 27° o' N. and 88° 7' and
88° 31' E., with an area of 438 sguare miles. Its population in 1901
was 115,731, compared with 117,642 in 1891, and was contained in
one town, KURSEONG, its head-quarters, and 388 villages, the density
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being 264 persons per sgquare mile.  The subdivision contains two
distinct tracts, the northern resembling the adjoining portion of the
Darjeeling subdivision, and consisting of great mountain ridges and
valleys, while the Sillguri thana lies in the plains and is a level sub-
montane strip of country. After Kurseong the most important places
in the subdivision are SILIGURI, the junction of the northern section of
the Eastern Bengal State and the Darjeeling-Himalayan Railways;
TINDHARIA, where the workshops of the latter railway are situated; and
the large marts of Matigara and Naksalbari in the tarai.

Kurseong Town (Karsiang)— Head-quarters of the subdivision of
the same name in Darjeeling District, Bengal, situated in 26° 53' N.
and 88° 17'E., on the Lower Himalayas, 4,860 feet above the seq
about 20 miles south of Darjeeling. Population (1901), 4,469. Kur-
seong is, like Darjeeling, a hill station, but does not enjoy the same
reputation as a sanitarium. The town is situated on the Darjeeling-
Himalayan Railway and is a centre of the tea trade. It was consti-
tuted a municipality in 1879. The income during the decade ending
1901-2 averaged Rs. 10,000, and the expenditure Rs. 9,600. In
1903-4 the income was Rs. 14,000, of which Rs. 9,000 was derived
from atax on houses and lands and Rs. 3,000 from a conservancy rate;
the expenditure in the same year was aso Rs. 14,000. Unfiltered
water is supplied from a municipal reservoir, which is fed by springs.
The town contains the usual public offices, including a sub-jail with
accommodation for 24 prisoners, and a dispensary with 16 beds. The
principal educational institutions are for the benefit of Europeans and
Eurasians : namely, the Victoria boys school founded in 1879, with
187 boys in 1903-4; and the Dow Hill girls' school founded in 1898
and having 76 girls on its rolls in 1903-4, both of which are aided by
Government.

Kurtkoti.—Villagein the Gadag taluka of Dharwar District, Bombay,
situated in 15°.22' N. and. 75° 31'.E., 25 miles east of Hubli.-. Popu-
lation (1901), 5,247." It contains four temples with'inscriptions, dated
from the eleventh to the thirteenth century, and a school.

Kurukshetra.—A sacred tract of the Hindus, lying between 29° 15'
and 30° N. and 76° 20' and 77° E., in the Karnal District and the Jind
State of the Punjab. According to the Mahabharata, which contains
the oldest account of the tract, it lay between the Saraswati and
Drishadwatl (now the Rakshi), being watered by seven or nine streams,
including these two. It was also divided into seven or nine bans or
forests. The circuit of Kurukshetra probably did not exceed 160 miles;
and it formed an irregular quadrilateral, its northern side extending from
Ber at the junction of the Saraswati and Ghaggar to Thanesar, and its
southern from Sinkh, south of Safidon, to Ram Rai, south-west of Jind.
The name, ' the field of Kuril,' is derived from Kuru, the ancestor of
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the Kauravas and Pandavas, between cee wmw -Uufui the great
conflict described in the Mahabharata; but the tract was also called the
Dharmakshetra or ' holy land," and would appear to have been famous
long before the time of the Kauravas, for at Thanesar Parasu Rama is
said to have slain the Kshatlriyas, and the lake of Sarvanavat on the
skirts of Kurukshetrais alluded to in the Rig-Veda in connexion with
the legend of the horse-headed Dadhyanch. Nardak is another name
for Kurukshetra, probably derived from nirdukh, 'without sorrow.'
The Chinese pilgrim, Hiuen Tsiang, who visited it in the seventh
century, calls it 'the field of happiness! Kurukshetra contains, it is
said, 360 places connected with these legends or with the cults of Siva
and the Sun-god, which have long been places of pilgrimage. Of these
the principal ae THANESAR, PEHOWA, JIND, SAFIDON, and KAITHAL ;
but numerous other sites preserve their ancient names and sanctity.

Kurumbranad.—Coast taluk in Malabar District, Madras, lying
between 11° 21" and 11° 48' N. and 75° 32'and 75° 59' E., with an
area of 505 square miles. It contains 104 amsams, or parishes. The
population increased from 304,077 in 1891 to 327,310 in 1901. The
land revenue demand in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 3,94,000. The head-
quarters are at BADAGAKA (population, 11,319), the only other place of
any importance being QUILANDI. The Korapula river forms a portion
of the boundary between the Kurumbranad and Calicut taluks. On
the east the taluk is bounded by the plateau of the Wynaad, and the
line of hills which marks the edge of this forms a picturesque back-
ground to the beautiful scenery in which the country abounds. The
soil on the east is generally red and lateritic; in the interior it becomes
arich loam, which is sometimes cultivated with rice; while towards
the coast it is aloose brown earth of inferior fertility.

Kurundwad.—Petty State and town in the Southern Maratha
Jaglrs, Bombay. See KURANDVAD.

Kushalgarh.—Estate or -petty. chiefship. in. the south-east. of the
State of. Banswara, Rajputana. ‘lts'area is ‘340 'square miles, and in
physical aspects it is not dissimilar to BANSWARA. It consists of 257
villages, with a population in 1901 (when the first complete Census was
taken) of 16,222, of whom 11,538, or more than 71 per cent., were
BHILS. The normal revenue, excluding that derived from villages
in the Ratlam State, was, prior to the famine of 1899-1900, about
Rs. 50,000, but has since fallen to about Rs. 35,000. The village or
town of Kushalgarh, the population of which was 2,838 in 1901, con-
tains a post office, a small vernacular school attended by 80 boys,
and a dispensary. The estate is of some political interest, in con-
sequence of the position of its holder relative to the chief of Banswara.
The family belong to the Rathor clan of Rajputs, and claim descent
from Jodh Singh, the founder of Jod city The appear have
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migrated east, and their earliest possessions were in Ratlam, where they
still hold 60 villages and pay a tribute of Rs. 600 a year to the Raja of
that State. In the latter part of the seventeenth century they acquired
the country now called Kushalgarh, but accounts differ as to the mode
of acquisition. According to the Banswara version, the country was
taken from the Bhils by Kushal Singh, then chief of Banswara, and
given by him to Akhai Ra as a reward for services rendered, being
named after the donor; but the Kushalgarh family say that it was
actually taken from the Bhils by Akhai Ra himself, and that it was
named after the Bhil chieftain, Kushla, whom he defeated. However
this may be, there is no doubt that a portion of the estate, notably the
district of Tambesra in the north-west, was granted in jagir by a chief
of Banswara, and that the Rao of Kushalgarh, as he has been called
since about 1783, pays a tribute of Rs. 550 a year to Banswara. In
consequence, however, of frequent attempts on the part of the late
Maharawal to claim rights over the estate to which he was not entitled,
Kushalgarh was finally declared to be practically independent of Ban-
swara for all purposes other than the payment of tribute and personal
attendance on certain occasions, such as the installation of the Maha-
rawal and marriages in the latter's family. The Rao's position may be
described in general terms as that of a mediatized or guaranteed
feudatory; he pays tribute to Banswara through, and corresponds
on all matters directly with, the Assistant to the Resident in Mewar.
He exercises civil and criminal powers in his own estate; but the pro-
ceedings in all heinous cases have to be submitted for approval to
the Assistant to the Resident, while sentences of death or imprison-
ment for life are subject to the confirmation of the Governor-General's
Agent in Rajputana

Kushtagi.—Taluk in Raichur District, Hyderabad State, with an
area of 796 square miles, including jagirs. The population in 1901
was 95,797, compared with. 106,625 in .1891.  The, taluk contains
236 villages, of which 115 are jagir, and Kushtagi (population, 3,433)
is the head-quarters. The land revenue in 1901 was 1-6 lakhs. Kush-
tagi is composed chiefly of black cotton soil. The jagir taluk of
Yelbarga, belonging to the Salar Jang family, lies to the south-west
of this taluk. It has an area of 480 square miles and a population
of 67,016, dwelling in 101 villages.

Kushtia Subdivision.—North-eastern subdivision of Nadia District,
Bengal, lying between 23° 42" and 24° 9' N. and 88° 44'and 89° 22' E.,
with an area of 596 square miles. The subdivision is a wide alluvial
plain of great fertility, the northern boundary of which is formed by
the Padma, while the Matabhanga bounds it on the south-west. The
population in 1901 was 486,368, compared with 482,927 in 1891;
this is by far the most populous part of the District, the density being
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816 persons per square mile. The subdivision contains two towns,
KUSHTIA (population, 5,330), its head-quarters, and KUMARKHALI
(4,584); and 1,011 villages.

Kushtia Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision of the same
name in Nadia District, Bengal, situated in 23° 55' N. and 89° 9' E.,
on the right bank of the Padma or Ganges. Population (1901), 5,330.
It is a thriving trade centre, with a station on the Eastern Bengal State
Railway. Kushtia was constituted a municipality in 1869. The
income and expenditure during the decade ending 1901-2 averaged
Rs. 7,000. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 10,000, including Rs. 3,000
derived from a tax on persons (or property tax), and Rs. 2,500 from
a conservancy rate; and the expenditure was Rs. 8,000. The town
contains the usual public offices; the sub-jail has accommodation for
24 prisoners.

Kusi.—River of Nepal and Bihar. See Kosi.

Kusiyara.—River in Assam. See SURMA.

Kuthar.—One of the Simla Hill States, Punjab, lying between
30° 55' and 31° 1" N. and 76° 57" and 77° 1' E., west of Sabathu, with
an area of 20 square miles.  Population (1901), 4,195. It was founded
forty-seven generations ago by a Rajput of Rajaori in Jammu, who had
fled from the Muhammadan invaders. After the expulsion of the
Gurkhas in 1815, the chief was reinstated by the British. The present
chief, Rana Jagjlt Chand, who succeeded in 1896, is a minor, and the
State is managed by Mian Shatrujit Singh, a member of the Suket
family. The revenue of the State is Rs. 11,000, out of which Rs. 1,000
is paid as tribute.

Kutiyana.—Town in the State of Junagarh, Kathiawar, Bombay,
situated in 21° 38' N. and 70° 10' E., on the Bhadar river, 25 miles
east of Porbandar. Population (1901), 10,287. Kutiyana is a fortified
town with an inner citadel, and is the head-quarters of a mahal or
revenue division. Old Kutiyana or Sakuka-no-timbo is about a mile
to the west of the modern town \"_and there are remains of the founda-
tion of the fort. It was deserted about 1200, and shortly afterwards
the present town was founded. Mythological tradition avers that
Kundinpur, the residence of the king Bhishmak, the father-in-law ot
the god Krishna, stood on the old site. The soil around it is very
fertile and large crops are raised by irrigation. The name is said to
have been derived from a woman of the Charan caste called Kunti.
Kutiyana has aways been famous for its bards and poets. A fair
lasting for two days is held at the temple of Nagnath Mahadeo on the
7th and 8th of the dark half of the month of Shravan (August).

Kuttalam.—Sanitarium, with a famous waterfall, in the Tenkasi taluk
of Tinnevelly District, Madras, situated in 8° 56' N. and 77° 16' E.,
36 miles by road from Tinnevelly and 3 from Tenkasi. Population
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(1901), 1,197. Kuttalam receives the rain and cool breezes of the
south-west monsoon through a gap in the Ghats, and thus, though
only 450 feet above sea-level, possesses the climate and flora of a much
higher elevation. The scenery is extremely picturesque, and the falls
of the Chittar are held sacred by Hindus. A beautifully situated
temple near these falls is dedicated to Kuttalanathaswami. Kuttalam
has always been a favourite resort of the European officials of the
District, and in recent years there has been a considerable influx
of visitors from all parts of the Presidency during the season, which
generally lasts from July to September. Several bungalows and rest-
houses for natives are maintained, and it is connected by good roads
with all parts of the District. The Maharaja of Travancore and the
British Resident in Travancore and Cochin have residences here.

Kutubdia.—Island off the coast of Chittagong District, Eastern
Bengal and Assam, lying between 21° 43' and 21° 55' N. and 91° 49'
and 91° 54' E., with an area of 35 square miles. Population (1901),
10,693. The island is protected by a ring of embankments con-
structed and maintained by Government, but these were breached in
the cyclone of 1897, which caused great havoc. Almost the whole
of the island is a Government ryotwari estate. There is a lighthouse
on the west coast.

Kyabin.—Southernmost township of the Upper Chindwin District,
Upper Burma, lying between 22° 36' and 23% io* N. and 94° 12' and
94° 33' E., with an area of 800 square miles. The population was
7,316 in 1891, and 9,954 in 1901, distributed in 90 villages, Kyabin
(population, 338) being the head-quarters. The township lies entirely
in the valley of the Taungdwin, which is landlocked, except on the
north, and sparsely populated. The area cultivated in 1903-4 was
18 square miles, and the land revenue and thathameda amounted to
Rs. 26,000.

Kyaikkami.—Coast township.in Amherst District,, Lower. Burma
(formerly known as Wagaru), lying between 15° 37' and 16° 5' N.
and 97° 33' and 97° 56' E.; south of the Mudon and north of the
Y elamaing township, bounded by the Taungnyo hills and the sea, with
an area of 928 square miles. The population was 12,988 in 1891, and
15,676 in 1901, distributed in 86 villages, Kyaikkami or Amherst
(population, 1,373) being the head-quarters. This village, situated on
a bend of the seacoast in the extreme north-western corner of the
township, 30 miles south of Moulmein, was the District head-quarters
for a short time after the first Burmese War, but is now of little im-
portance except as a bathing resort and a pilot station. The density
of population (only 17 persons per square mile) is low. The area
cultivated has more than doubled in ten years, and in 1903-4 was
33 sguare miles, paying Rs. 27,600 land revenue.
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Kyaiklat Subdivision.—North-eastern subdivision of Pyapon
District, Lower Burma, comprising the KYAIKLAT and DEDAYE town-
ships.

Kyaiklat Township.—Northern township of Pyapon District,
Lower Burma, lying between i6° 23" and 16° 41' N. and 95° 26' and
95° 54' E., with an area of 277 square miles. The growth of popula-
tion in the past has been rapid, but most of the township is now under
cultivation, and the increase will probably slacken in the future. The
population was 47,000 in 1891, and 71,770 in 1901, distributed in the
latter year in one town, KYAIKLAT (population, 7,774), the head-
quarters, and 394 villages, with a density of 259 persons per square
mile. Kyaiklat is flat and fertile. The area cultivated increased from
62 square miles in 1891 to 219 square miles in 1903-4, paying
Rs. 2,37,000 land revenue.

Kyaiklat Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision and township
of the same name in Pyapon District, Lower Burma, situated in
16° 27" N. and 95° 46' E., on the right bank of the Kyaiklat river, one
of the many minor branches of the Irrawaddy, opposite the mouth of
the Podok creek. Population (1901), 7,744. It contains the usual
public buildings and a hospital with 16 beds. The affairs of Kyaiklat
are managed by a town committee constituted in 1900, which will be
shortly replaced by a municipal committee. The revenue of the town
fund in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 51,000, and the expenditure to
Rs. 39,000, of which nearly half was devoted to public works.

Kyaikmaraw.—Central township of Amherst District, Lower
Burma, formerly known as the Ataran township. It comprises the
entire drainage area of the Ataran river, lying between 15° 14' and
16° 36' N. and 97° 41' and 98° 35' E., with an area of 2,457 sguare
miles. In the valley of the Ataran population is dense, but elsewhere
there is forest and villages are scarce.  The population increased from
42,776 in. 1891, to. 62,173 in 1901, distributed over 230 villages,
Kyaikmaraw (population, '1,597), ‘on the left bank of the Ataran river,
10 miles to the south-east of Moulmein, being the head-quarters. The
area cultivated has increased 50 per cent, in ten years, and in 1903-4
was 140 square miles, paying Rs. 1,38,600 land revenue.

Kyaikto Subdivision.—Subdivision of Thaton District, Lower
Burma, consisting of the KYAIKTO and BILIN townships.

Kyaikto Township.—Township in Thaton District, Lower Burma,
lying between 17° 14' and 17° 39' N. and 96° 39' and 97° 15' E., to
the east of the southernmost reaches of the Sittang, with an area of
607 square miles. It contains 139 villages, and one town, KYAIKTO
(population, 6,637), the head-quarters. The population was 29,159
in 1891, and 45,082 in 1901. The Sittang-Kyaikto Canal passes
diagonally across the township, which is hilly in the north and east,
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but fertile and low-lying in the south-west, and has suffered much from
erosion in recent years. The area cultivated in 1903-4 was 120 square
miles, paying Rs. 1,27,500 land revenue.

Kyaikto Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision and township
of the same name, in the north-west corner of Thaton District, Lower
Burma, situated in 17° 18' N. and 97° i' E., on the Kadat river. It
stands at the foot of the hills, on the edge of the flat country which
stretches southwards to the Gulf of Martaban, and on the Sittang-
Kyaikto Canal, which connects the town with the Sittang, and thus
with Pegu and Rangoon, bringing it within a twelve hours' journey
of the Provincial capital. Kyaikto is a flourishing trade centre, and
its population in 1901 (6,637) was nearly double that of twenty years
before. The town was constituted a municipality in 1889. The
income and expenditure during the ten years ending 1901 averaged
Rs. 16,500 and Rs. 17,400 respectively. In 1903-4.the income was
Rs. 20,300 (markets, & c, Rs. 12,100; house tax, Rs. 3,900). The
expenditure in the same year amounted to Rs. 22,000 (hospitals and
conservancy, Rs. 3,300 each). The municipal hospital has accom-
modation for 16 in-patients.

Kyangin Township.—Northernmost township of Henzada District,
Lower Burma, lying between 18° 7' and 18° 31' N. and 94° 54' and
95° 19' E., with an area of 478 square miles. The Irrawaddy plain
is here narrowed by the approach of the Arakan Yoma, and the western
half of the township is jungle-clad and uncultivable. The population
increased from 45,828 in 1891 to 46,633 in 1901, and the density
(98 persons per square mile) is low compared with the District average
of 169. There are very few Karens, the Burmans numbering 95 per
cent, and the Chins 4 per cent, of the total. The township contains
243 villages and one town, KYANGIN (population, 7,183), the head-
quarters. The area cultivated in 1903-4 was 60 square miles, paying
Rs. 82,060 land revenue.

Kyangin' Town.—Head-quarters of the township of the same
name in Henzada District, Lower Burma, situated in 18° 20' N. and
95° 17' E., on the west (right) bank of the Irrawaddy in the north of
the District. Population (1901), 7,113; it has decreased in the last
decade, apparently on account of emigration to the richer delta areas
farther south. The town is, however, still fairly prosperous and has
a considerable trade in rice. Kyangin was constituted a munici-
pality in 1886. The municipal income and expenditure during the ten
years ending 1901 averaged Rs. 12,300 and Rs. 12,500 respectively.
In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 17,000, including Rs. 9,500 from
dues on markets and slaughter-houses, and Rs. 2,600 from house
tax; and the expenditure was Rs. 16,000, of which Rs. 5,300 was
spent on conservancy, Rs. 1,500 on roads, and Rs. 900 on the town
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dispensary. The municipality maintains an Anglo-vernacular school,
and contributed Rs. 2,000 towards its upkeep in 1903-4. The
dispensary is supported entirely by municipal funds. A railway con-
necting the town with Henzada has been sanctioned, and is at present
in course of construction.

Kyaukkyi.—Southern township of Toungoo District, Lower*Burma,
lying between 18° o' and 18° 45' N. and 96° 26' and 97° 12' E., with
an area of 1,217 square miles. It is a large township, extending from
the Sittang in the west to the border of Salween District in the east.
Along the Sittang is a cultivated plain, averaging about 10 miles in
width. East of this is hilly country inhabited by taungya-cutting
Karens. The population was 25,656 in 1891, and 32,226 in 1901
(Burmans, 13,456; Karens, 17,672), distributed in 245 villages, the
head-quarters being at Kyaukkyi (population, 1,650). The area culti-
vated in 1903-4 was 55 square miles, paying Rs. 62,000 land revenue.

Kyaukpadaung.—South-eastern township of Myingyan District,
Upper Burma, lying between 20° 32' and 21° 6' N. and 94° 59' and
95° 33' E., with an area of 724 square miles. Except in the north-
east and east, where the country is occupied by the great mass of Popa,
the township is flat and the soil poor. The staple in this part is early
sesamum, followed by a second harvest; in the eastern part the chief
crop isjowar. The population was 66,608 in 1891, and 68,043 in
1901, distributed in 304 villages, Kyaukpadaung (population, 907)
being the head-quarters. In 1903-4 the area cultivated was 196 square
miles, and the land revenue and thathameda amounted to Rs. 1,16,000.

Kyaukpyu District.—Seaboard District in the centre of the
Arakan Division, Lower Burma, lying between 18° 40' and 20° 40" N.
and 93° 13' and 94° 26' E., with an area of 4,387 square miles. It is
bounded on the north by Akyab District; on the east by the Arakan
Y oma, which cutsiit off from Thayetmyo and Minbu Districts; onthe
south by-Sandoway District; and on the west by the Bay of Bengal.
It includes a strip of mainland ‘extending along the
western slopes and foot-hills of the Arakan Yoma
as far south as the Ma-i river and the large islands
of RAMREE and CHEDUBA, with a small archipelago of lesser idlets
stretching to the north and south along the coast, separated from the
mainland by a number of tidal creeks, and surrounding two indentations
known as Hunter's Bay and Combermere Bay. Kyaukpyu harbour
is the name given to a large area of water extending for 30 miles
between Ramree Island and the mainland, with an average width ot
3 miles. At its mouth are several dangerous rocks rising abruptly out
of the sea, which render ingress at night dangerous. The principal
mountain range is the Arakan Yoma, which sends out spurs almost
up to the sea-coast, and is crossed at two points, known as the An and
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Dalet passes. A chain of low hills traverses Ramree Island from north-
west to south-east. There are no rivers of any importance in the
District; the An and Dalet streams, which drain the mainland, are
navigable by large boats for distances of 45 and 25 miles respectively
from their mouths. Above these points they are mere mountain
torrents.

The rocks composing the surface are partly Cretaceous and partly
eocene. The sandstones and shales of Ramree may be Cretaceous,
but no marked characteristics are apparent by which the rocks of the
island can be divided into two series. On the island of Cheduba are
several mud volcanoes, small conical hillocks of blackish-grey mud,
discharging marsh gas and occasionally flames of great brilliancy.
Except in the case of one of these in Cheduba Island, there have been
no explosions of the latter kind for ten years. This volcano broke out
once in 1903 and was active during 1904, the eruptions being caused
by petroleum gases. On these occasions large masses of dense smoke
issue, flames shoot up, it is said, to a height of 1,000 feet, and mud
is ejected with great force. It is stated that the last eruption was
visible from the deck of a coasting steamer 50 miles away.

The coast is characterized by the mangrove and tidal forests common
to all the maritime Districts of the Province, which are described in
the Botany paragraph of HANTHAWADDY DISTRICT. Nothing is known
of plant-life in the inland portion.

The forests abound with tigers, bears, deer, and wild hog. Wild
elephants roam on the Arakan Yoma in the An township.

The climate is notoriously unhealthy, malarial fevers and bowel
diseases prevailing, the former at the beginning, the latter at the end
of the rains. It is unfortunate that Kyaukpyu town itself, which
seventy years ago was said to enjoy comparative salubrity, is situated
in what, later years have shown to be a specially pestilential area; and
it is possible that, if the head-quarters were moved, the District would
lose much' of its evil reputation. ' The temperature varies but little
throughout the year, averaging 84° in 1900, during which year the
maximum temperature, registered in June, was 97°, and the minimum,
in January, was 74°.

The rains last from May to October, being heaviest in July, August,
and September. The annual rainfall for the whole area during the
three years 1902-4 averaged 182 inches. It was greatest at Ramree
(203 inches) and least at An (161 inches).

The District was part of the once powerful kingdom of Arakan, and
its history is included in the sketch given in the article on the ARAKAN

DIVISION. After the conquest of Arakan by the
Burmans at the close of the eighteenth century, the
mainland portion of the District belonged to Arakan proper, while
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Ramree and Cheduba Islands formed separate governorships. On the
cession of Arakan to the British the two islands were formed into one
District, called Ramree District, and the mainland into the An District;
but these two charges were amalgamated nearly thirty years afterwards,
and made into Kyaukpyu District. The garrison of Arakan, trans-
ferred to Kyaukpyu from Sandoway shortly after the annexation, was
withdrawn altogether in 1855.

The population at the last four enumerations was: (1872) 144,177,
(1881) 149,303,(1891) 163,832, and (1901) 168,827.

The chief statistics for 1901 are shown in the follow- Population.
ing table:—
© Number of o] . 2
& o 8o 5. 55
S S cE oZ Cgﬂ S o
Township. E_é; o) il 5 '% o B’.Q% :§ gﬁ%é
i £ B 2 3§ BEfEs B8RS
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Kyaukpyu 416 1 272 42, 4209 0a £ 6,328
Myebon . 441 146 245100 SENEVEF 1 15 5. 207
Rarmiee e TR LEE o 3 %
g 449 : 102 - )
Cheduba . 220 114 26,899 19 + 6 4734
District total - 4, 387 1,132 168,827 38 + 3 29,928

Along the coast the population is fairly dense, but in the hilly
Myebon and An tracts, which border on the Arakan Yoma, the people
are more scattered. Burmese is spoken by 42,222, and Arakanese by
109,596. The Chins of the District retain their dialect, practically
none speaking Burmese, as many of them do on the other side of
the Yoma.

The Arakanese number 128,300 (more than three-fourths of the total
population), distributed mainly in the island townships of Kyaukpyu,
Cheduba, and. Ramree.. The Burmans, who are found chiefly in the
An and. Myebon townships, number 22,600.. 'The Chins come next
with 13,300; for the most part they are inhabitants of the hilly An and
Myebon townships. There is a fluctuating population of immigrants
from Chittagong, who come over for the harvest and sometimes settle
and prosper. Musalmans have lived in the District for centuries, most
of them being descendants of natives of Bengal captured in the nume-
rous wars. They numbered 3,700 in 1901, while Hindus were only
420. The population dependent upon agriculture in 1901 was 124,200,
or 73 per cent, of the total. Of this number, about 15,260 were
dependent on taungya cultivation alone. The number of Christians
in 1901 was 121, of whom 79 were natives. No missions have been
established.

There is no irrigation, and the rice depends entirely on the rainfall,
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which is, however, regular and plentiful. The soil, except near the
rivers, is not very good, and in the townships of Kyaukpyu and
Ramree is sandy. Taungya or shifting cultivation
prevails in the hills. In 1881 there were 166 square
miles cultivated; in 1891, 189; in 1901, 242 square miles.
The main agricultural statistics for 1903-4 are given below, in square
miles :—

Township. Total aea | Cultivated.
Kyaukpyu . 416 54
Myebon 441 58
An — 2,86l 39
Ramree 449 55
Chcduha 220 40

Total 4,387 246

In 1903-4 rice occupied 227 square miles, of which about 1,000
acres were mayin or hot-season rice. The cultivation of sugar-cane,
formerly large, has decreased considerably of late, and is now only
450 acres.  Tobacco is grown in the townships of Kyaukpyu, Cheduba,
and Ramree, covering 2,800 acres. Garden cultivation extends over
3,800 acres, including 400 acres under mangoes. The dani palm
(Nipa fruticans), the leaves of which are wused for roofing houses,
and which produces a kind of sugar and toddy, is grown on nearly
3,000 acres.

Cattle are more numerous than in the neighbouring District of San-
doway. They are imported from Upper Burma through the An pass.
Buffaloes are largely used for cultivation, and thrive better than cattle,
owing to the character of the soil. Goats are kept in a few villages by
natives of India, but are nowhere bred on a large scale.

Pyingado (Xy/ia dolabriformis) is the most valuable timber tree.
From the An, southwards it forms compact. masses of forest all along
the lower hills and the ‘adjoining plains; north of the An to the Dalet
it occurs in patches, but north of the Dalet it ceases altogether.  Pyin-
gado is aso met with on the hills of Ramree Island. The An drainage
is covered with bamboo forests, each only a few acres in extent, con-
taining pyingado, Kanyinbyu {Dipterocarpus alatus), used for houses
and boats and for extraction of wood-oil, is common "throughout the
District. In Ramree lIsland thitya {Shorea obtusa), pyinma {Lager-
stroemia Flos Reginae), and shawtu {Beilschmiedia sp.) are in request
for building purposes. A species of kokko (Albizzia lebbek) and
pyinma are much used for boat-building, for which kanyinbyu also is
valuable. The Forest department used not to be represented in
the District, but proposals for introducing regular administration have
lately been sanctioned.
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The minerals worked are limestone, clay for pottery and bricks, and
petroleum. Two companies are at work with American machinery
extracting oil at Yenandaung in the Kyaukpyu township. In places
the natives adso work on modern lines, though here and there the
primitive system of drawing the oil up in earthenware pots from holes
about 4 feet in diameter is still seen in operation. Petroleum is sold at
4 annas per maund at the well mouth. Rather more than 100,000 gal-
lons is produced annually. Limestone is extracted from the hills in the
Ramree and Cheduba townships. Iron in Ramree Island and coal in
Ramree and Cheduba Islands have been discovered, but are not worked.

The manufacture of salt by evaporation of sea-water is carried on
in the Kyaukpyu and Ramree townships. The seawater is passed
through five pans, remaining for some days in each,
so as to evaporate, and is then run into a salt-tank.

Finally it is poured into earthen vessels and boiled.

The output of the District in 1903 was about 41,000 cwt., of which
almost half was exported. Mat-weaving and pottery of the roughest
kind are the only other manufactures. Very few potters possess a
wheel; as a rule they use only a flat stick for modelling. The clay
used is procured locally from the neighbouring hill-sides. Unlike the
Burman, the Arakanese is a poor carpenter, and for bridge-building
labour has to be obtained from India or other parts of Burma. The
census returns show that there are many boat-builders in the District.

There are very few traders, though a few shops kept by natives of
Indiaare to be found in Kyaukpyu and Ramree. Kyaukpyu is a port
of some local importance. The exports are rice, salt, timber, fish-
maws, hides, and horns, sent for the most part to Akyab. The imports
are mainly hardware, food-stuffs, cloth, logyis (waistcloths), cotton,
and silk. Statistics of the trade of KYAUKPYU will be found in the
article on that town.

Trade is.chiefly in the .hands of; the British India Steam Navigation
Company, whose steamers call weekly at'Kyaukpyu in both-directions,
giving communication with Akyab, Sandoway, and Rangoon. Sub-
sidized launches maintain weekly services to the head-quarters of the
townships, and launches run also to Akyab and Sandoway. Kyaukpyu
had no direct telegraphic connexion with the rest of Burma until 1906.
Messages used to be sent by special messenger to a station about
50 miles from head-quarters. There are no metalled roads of any
length in the District, the usual method of communication being by
boat, but even boat travelling is impracticable during the monsoon.
Tracks lead into Upper Burma over the main passes. The Dalet pass
is difficult and but little used, but the road over the An pass is a trade
route of some local importance. A lighthouse will probably be erected
on Beacon Island off (lieduba.
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The District containsfive townships: the AN township in the north-
east, the MYEBON township in the north-west, and the island townships
of RAMREE, KYAUKPYU, and CHEDUBA. In 1904
Myebon, An, and Kyaukpyu were grouped together
in the Kyaukpyu subdivision. The townships are in charge of the
usual executive officers. The head-quarters treasury is supervised by
the assistant magistrate, and there is an akunwun in charge of the
revenue. The District forms a subdivision of the Arakan Public
Works division, conterminous with the civil Division. The land
records staff consists of a superintendent, 3 inspectors, and 31
surveyors, and there are 540 village headmen for the maintenance of
order in the interior.

The Deputy Commissioner of Kyaukpyu is aso District Judge.
With the exception of the Kyaukpyu township court, all the township
courts are presided over by the respective township officers. The
Kyaukpyu township judge, who is aso treasury officer and head-
quarters magistrate, has Small Cause jurisdiction up to Rs. 50 within
the Kyaukpyu municipal limits. The criminal courts are presided over
by the executive officials ; at Kyaukpyu town there are four magistrates,
in addition to the Deputy-Commissioner. The work of the criminal
courts is not heavy, though thefts and assaults with dangerous weapons
are common. There are benches of honorary magistrates at Kyaukpyu
and Ramree.

Under native rule the taxes levied were the same as in other Dis-
tricts : namely, imposts on houses, trades, forest produce, and the like.
The earliest step towards a regular assessment appears to have been
made in 1828, when a rough scale of rates was drawn up by the Super-
intendent and approved by the Bengal Government. An attempt was
made in these early days to collect land revenue on the Indian zamin-
ddri principle, but the experiment seems to have been doomed to
failure from the outset. = A _portion of the District, comprising an area
of about. 680 square miles, was settled in 1898-9; when the rates on rice
land varied from 10 annas to Rs. 2-8 per acre, while garden lands were
assessed at rates varying from Rs. 2 to Rs. 4 per acre.  In 1905 a sum-
mary settlement dealing with a further area of about 600 square miles
was effected. In this area rice land is assessed at rates varying from
Rs. 1-4 to Rs. 2-1-2 per acre. Garden land, plantains, and dani pay
Rs. 2 per acre, while miscellaneous cultivation (including betel-vine) is
assessed at Rs. 2-8 per acre, and each solitary fruit tree at 2 annas.
The table on the next page shows how the revenue has increased since
1880-1, the figures representing thousands of rupees.

The total revenue for 1903-4 includes capitation tax (Rs. 1,70,000)
and excise (Rs. 1,40,000).

The District cess fund, chiefly derived from a 10 per cent, levy on



ADMINISTRA TION 67

the land revenue, is administered by the Deputy-Commissioner for the
maintenance of communications, &c. The income in 1903-4 was
Rs. 35,000. KYAUKPYU is now the only municipality, though Ramree
was a municipality up to 1899.

1880-1. 1890-1. 1900-1. 1903-4.

Land revenue 1,62 2,20 2,37
Total revenue 4,42 5,39 567

Under the District Superintendent of police are 2 inspectors, 4 head
constables, and 236 rank and file, distributed in 10 police stations and
4 outposts. The military police belong to the Rangoon battalion, and
are kept at head-quarters and changed every six months, a measure
rendered necessary by the unhealthiness of the District; they number
60, commanded by ajemadar. At the District head-quarters is a jail
with accommodation for 146 male and 14 female prisoners, who are
chiefly employed in mat-making and coir-pounding.

Small interest is taken in education; and the pongyis, who are few in
number and are said to lack enthusiasm, do but little to further the
efforts of the deputy-inspector of schools, who is in educational charge
of the District. There isan Anglo-vernacular school at Kyaukpyu, and
a few lay schools have been opened in the township head-quarters,
Etﬁt no schools are maintained for the Chins of the neighbouring

Iis.

With education stagnant, it is not surprising that the standard of
literacy islow. The percentage of literate males is 34 and of literate
females 3, compared with 38 and 4-5 for the Province as a whole.
For both sexes together the proportion is 18 per cent. The number
of pupils rose from 643 in 1881 to 1,609 in 1891 and 2,308 in 1901.
In 1903-4 the District contained 5 secondary, 83 primary, and 155 ele-
mentary (private) schools, attended by 4,628 pupils (222 girls). The
educational expenditure was Rs. 8,900, towards*which municipal funds
contributed Rs. 1,500, the District cess fund Rs. 4,200, Provincial
funds Rs. 1,300, and fees Rs. 1,900.

The only hospital is at Kyaukpyu, with 30 beds. In 1903 the
number of cases treated was 7,970, including 319 in-patients, and
122 operations were performed. The Government contribution was
Rs. 950, while the District cess fund granted Rs. 900, and Rs. 300 was
subscribed by the public. The balance of the cost was borne by the
municipality.

Vaccination is compulsory within municipal limits. In 1903-4 the
number of persons successfully vaccinated was 7,215, representing
43 per 1,000 of population.

[Maung Pan Hla, Settlement Report (1900).]
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KyaukpyuSubdivision.—Subdivisionof Kyaukpyu District, Lower
Burma, consisting of the KYAUKPYU, MYEBON, and A N townships.

Kyaukpyu Township.—Coast township of Kyaukpyu District,
Lower Burma, lying between 19° 5' and 19° 38' N. and 93° 30' and
93° 56' E., with an area of 416 square miles. It consists for the
most part of the north-western half of the island of RAMREE. The
population in 1901 was 42,424, a total only 408 greater than it had
been at the preceding (1891) enumeration. It contains one town,
KYAUKPYU (population, 3,145), the head-quarters of the District
and township; and 272 villages. In 1903-4 the area cultivated was
54 sguare miles, paying Rs. 51,000 land revenue.

Kyaukpyu Town.—Head-quarters of the District of the same
name in Lower Burma, situated in 19° 26' N. and 93° 34' E.. in
the northern angle of the island of Ramree. Kyaukpyu signifies
"white stone,’ and the name is said to be derived from the white
pebbly beach that stretches in front of the town. When Arakan
was ceded to the British in 1826 Kyaukpyu was only a small fishing
village, and did not become the chief civil station till 1838. The
town is built close to the seashore, on a sandy plain bounded on
the south-west by a low range of sandstone hills, which break the
severity of the monsoon. The harbour extends for many miles along
the east shore of Ramree Island, but numerous sunken rocks render
the approach dangerous, though it is well buoyed. The population
of the town has remained stationary for the last thirty years, and
was 3,145 in 1901, of whom the majority were Arakanese and Bur-
mans. Musalmans numbered 776, Hindus only 164, and Chinese
about 600.

The shipping trade of Kyaukpyu is almost entirely coastwise. Its
imports and exports were valued at 4 and 1% lakhs respectively in
1903-4. Three-fourths of the imports come from other Burmese
ports; the remainder from Calcutta. The exports go entirely to Bur-
mese ports. | The Port fund for the maintenance of buoys, lights, & c,
had an income in 1903-4 of Rs. 5,600, obtained from dues and other
levies.

Kyaukpyu town was constituted a municipality in 1885. The
income and expenditure during the ten years ending 1901 averaged
about Rs. 8,000. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 11,000, including
Rs. 3,000 from house and land tax, and Rs. 6,000 from market tolls;
and the expenditure was Rs. 10,000, the chief items being conservancy
(Rs. 2,000), hospitals (Rs. 3,000), and education (Rs. 1,500). There
is one Anglo-vernacular school, towards the upkeep of which Govern-
ment and the municipality contribute equally.

Kyaukse District.—Northernmost District of the Meiktila Divi-
sion, Upper Burma, lying entirely in the dry zone, between 2I® 12'
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and 22° 1' N. and 95° 57' and 96° 54' E., with an area of 1,274 square
miles. It is bounded on the north by the Myitnge river, which sepa
rates it from Mandalay District; on the east by the Shan States of
Lawksawk and M aw; on the south by Meiktila District; and on the
west by Myingyan and Sagaing.

Kyaukse consists of a strip of plain land running north and south
parallel to the line of the Shan hills, and of a stretch of hilly country,
known as Yeyaman, extending eastwards from the
northern end of the level plain into the heart of
the Shan uplands. Thislatter tract, which is bounded
on the north by the Myitnge river, and on the east and south by
Lawksawk and Maw, has an area of about 711 square miles, or more
than one-half of the total area of the District. It is, however, very
rugged and mountainous, and deeply scored with ravines, and has a
very sparse population.

Extending from the Yeyaman tract to the south luns the Kinle
range, forming part of the eastern boundary of the District. Near
the southern end of these hills is an eminence known as the Natteik,
about 5,000 feet high, the highest point in the range, at the foot of
which a pass leads into the Southern Shan States, used by caravans
to and from Myittha, a village on the railway 12 miles south of
Kyaukse. West of the Yeyaman tract and the Kinle range the sur-
face of the country is generally level, except for some outlying groups
of low hills, which rise abruptly from the surrounding plains east of
the railway to heights ranging from 600 to T,600 feet above the sea
These masses of rock, which are rough and steep, are covered with
sparse jungle and stunted trees, and stand up like islands out of the
cultivated level that encircles them. The plain covers an area of
565 sguare miles, and has a gentle slope from south to north.

The scenery of Kyaukse is varied and picturesque. In the irrigated
plains, ‘where crops' of different kinds follow. one another in quick
succession, the breadth of view and blending of ‘colours make a charm-
ing and ever-changing picture. In the Yeyaman tract the prospect is
rugged but fine. Thick forest clothes the hill slopes, and the villages
are very few and widely scattered. The Myitnge, Nam Tu, or Dokta-
waddy river, which forms the northern boundary of the District for
60 miles, rises in the Northern Shan States, and joins the Irrawaddy
at Avain Sagaing District. It flowsfrom east to west, and is navigable
up to the foot of the hills by small steamers and country boats of all
descriptions. Itswidth is from 200 to 350 yards, and it runs between
high, firm banks, studded with villages, gardens, and mango groves.
The railway crosses it by a bridge in the extreme north of the District.
The Panlaung rises on the borders of Yamethin District and the Shan
States, flows diagonally across the District from its south-eastern to its
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north-western corner, and empties itself into the Myitnge near where
that stream enters the Irrawaddy. Its only affluent worthy of mention
is the Samon, which comes in from Meiktila District, runs northwards,
almost parallel to it, and joins it at Shabin in the north-west of the
District. The Samon is navigable by small boats during the rainy
season, but then only as far as Paukmyaing in the Myittha township-.
It is liable to sudden floods, and, its bed being low, it is usdess for
irrigation. The Zawgyi river waters the northern portion of the Dis-
trict, and is not navigable. It rises in the Shan hills, reaches the plain
near Taungdaw in the east of the Kyaukse township, flowsin a north-
westerly direction past the town of Kyaukse, and eventualy empties
itself into the Myitnge some distance to the east of its junction with
the Irrawaddy. During the dry season it is very shallow, its water
being taken off by canals; but in the rains it becomes swift and turbu-
lent, and a constant source of danger to the railway line, which crosses
it at two points.

Kyaukse contains no lakes properly so called; but there are severa
large swamps, the chief of which are the Sunye and Minhla tanks, and
the Paleik and Inhlya fisheries.

Little is known of the geology of the District; but it includes the
western edge of the Shan plateau, where crystalline rocks are largely
developed, forming bands of crystalline limestone. In the hills, granite,
marble, limestone, sandstone, and light clays predominate, and in the
valleys rich alluvial leaf-mould and loam. The soil of the irrigated
plains is chiefly black loam, with a layer of leaf-mould silt deposited
by the canals. In the unirrigated tracts, in the strip of land border-
ing the hills on the east, red clay or red clay mixed with gravel
prevails, while to the west of the Samon river the levels are composed
chiefly of black cotton soil.

Only shrubs and small trees are usually met with in the plains. Here
bamboos are scarce, and such as are used come. chiefly from the Shan
hills and the Yeyaman tract. = ‘In 'the hills the vegetation ‘is richer.
On the higher ground pine and stunted oak occur, and on the lower
slopes pyingado (Xylia dolabriformis) and a certain amount of teak.

Tigers are found, but only occasionally. Leopards, on the other
hand, are fairly numerous in several parts of the District. Barking-
deer, wild hog, thamin (brow-antlered deer), and sambar are sometimes
met with in the uncultivated tracts. At the proper season the paddy-
fields abound with snipe.

Kyaukse is situated in the centre of the dry zone, and its climate
is hot and arid. The rainy season does not usually commence be-
fore July, and generally' ends in October, though occasional heavy
downpours during April, May, and June bring temporary relief. The
cold season lasts from about the middle of November to the end of
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February. The thermometer then ranges, as a rule, between 47° at
night and 84° in the hottest part of the day. From March to July
during the hot season a temperature of as much as 105° in the shade
is not uncommon. Strong winds throughout the day, however, render
this heat less oppressive than it might otherwise be. During Novem-
ber, December, and January the mornings and evenings are sometimes
very cold, and heavy mists hang over the face of the earth. Fever
of a very severe type, from which many deaths occur, is prevalent
at this time.

During the ten years ending 1901 the annual rainfall averaged 29
inches over the plains of the District, being heaviest at Taungdaw,
at the foot of the Shan hills. The rains are variable, however, and
unevenly distributed. The lightest fall during the decade was 201
inches at Paleik in the north, and the heaviest 40 inches at Kume
in the south, registered in 1896 and 1899 respectively. In the hilly
Yeyaman tract there is no registering station, but it is estimated that
about 40 or 50 inches fall in the year.

The Zawgyi, Panlaung, and Samon rivers are all liable to overflow
their banks during the rains. The most destructive flood recorded
of late years occurred in August, 1898, when a great part of the
District west of the railway line, which was breached south of Kyaukse
town, was inundated by the Zawgyi. The town itself was flooded
on this occasion, and great damage was done to standing crops.

The non-legendary history of the District prior to the occupation
of Upper Burma presents no features of special interest. During
1886, shortly after annexation, the Myinzaing prince,
who had escaped the general massacre of Mindon
Min's descendants ordered by Thlbaw, and was at the time seventeen
years of age, headed a rebellion, the quelling of which gave the authori-
ties considerable difficulty. He was driven out of Mandalay District
in January, 1886, and, after being followed to Kyaukse, took up his
head-quarters at' Yakaing-gyi, 23 miles to the! south-east. . He was
forced back into the Shan"States by the establishment of posts at
Paleik and Taloksu, in the north of the District, and south of Kyaukse
aline of posts was formed on the road to Pyinmana. At Kume, one
of the line of posts, Captain Wilbraham and a lance-corporal of the
Somersetshire Light Infantry were killed early in 1886. The prince
died in August of the same year; but dacoits, frequently assuming
his name,. for some time made raids on the part of the District lying
at the foot of the Shan hills, and infested the jungles along the Samon
and Panlaung rivers, where the nature of the country was adverse to
rapid movements of troops except in the hot season. In 1887 con-
siderable trouble was caused by a band of dacoits, who took refuge
in the adjoining Shan State of Maw. They were twice dispersed,
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only to unite again under the Setkya Mintha, a pretender from Man-
dalay District, who appeared on the scene towards the end of the year.
They were dispersed by an expedition loyally aided by the Shan ruler
of Maw, but again raided the District in 1888. However, their leader
was eventually captured by the Lawksawk Sawbwa, handed over to the
authorities, and duly executed. One of his lieutenants, Kyaw Zaw,
continued to harry the wilder hill tractsin the north-east for some time;
but in due course he was forced to move into the Shan States, and the
District may be said to have been finaly settled in 1889, when the
garrison of military police was considerably reduced.

Some shrines of note are situated in the District, the most important
of which are the Shwepwinlan, Pandingu, Mataingda, Shwezedi, Pyet-
kaywe, Shwemoktaw, Shweminwun, Tonbo, Taungdaw, Shwesatthwa,
and Shwethayaung pagodas. Most of these are said to have been
built by king Anawrata in the eleventh century ; but the Shwemoktaw
near Daing in the Myittha subdivision is attributed to king Thiri-
dhammathawka, and is declared to be over 2,000 years old. The
Shwemoktho pagoda at the foot of Kyaukse hill is said to have been
originally erected by Asoka, and to have been rebuilt by king Anaw-
rata of Pagan to commemorate the construction of the Kyaukse weir.
It was kept in repair by the Burmese kings of the last dynasty.
Annual festivals are held near the most important of these shrines,
and are largely attended by the inhabitants of Kyaukse and other
districts.

Pinle and Metkaya in the south of the District were capitals of two
of the Shan principalities which came into existence on the break-up of
the Pagan kingdom, and lasted from the middle of the fourteenth to
the beginning of the sixteenth century. They were founded by three
Shan brothers who dethroned king Kyawzwa, the son of king Narathi-
hapade (nicknamed Tayokpyemin), in whose reign the Pagan dynasty
collapsed. ~ The history of two other cities, Hmaingmaw and Pyin-
mana, has not been satisfactorily 'traced. - Hmaingmaw is.a Shan
name, which suggests that this town also was built by Shans. Accord-
ing to onetradition, the original founder of this city was a Karen Sawbwa
who assumed the name of Thudanu. This chieftain was a man of
grossly evil habits; and the story runs that, as a punishment for his
sins, the clouds rained sand till the city was buried and all its inhabi-
tants were destroyed. The size of each city is about a mile square.
The remains of the old walls are still visible, the bricks of which they
were constructed having been very sound. The old city of Myingon-
daing stood on the banks of the Panlaung to the north-east of
Myittha, but only the walls are now in existence. When this town
was built it is difficult to say; but it has been abandoned for a very
long time, and thick jungle has sprung up within the walls.
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The population of Kyaukse District was 126,622 in 1891 and
141,253 in 1901. Its distribution in the latter year
is shown in the following table :—
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Singaing . 825 169 | 40123| 49| + 8 | 4500
Kyaukse . 172 231 | 44378 | 258 | - 3 |1 9,896
Myittha . 277 310 56,752 | 205 +30 11,673
Districttotal | 1274 | 1 | 710 | 141,253 | 111 +12 26,168

KYAUKSE, the head-quarters, near the centre of the District, is the
only town. The District is one of the most thickly populated in Upper
Burma. The density varies enormously from tract to tract; thus
while the Kyaukse township exhibits the comparatively high figure of
258 persons per square mile, in Yeyaman the density is only about 2.
Between 1891 and 1901 the population of the Kyaukse township
decreased; but the fall was confined to the town of Kyaukse, and the
rural area showed an increase during the decade. Immigrants from
Mandalay, Sagaing, Meiktila, and Myingyan are numerous; but there
has been no corresponding emigration to those Districts, nor has the
emigration to Lower Burma been sufficient to cause a net decrease.
This is to some extent due to the greater certainty of agricultural
success in Kyaukse, owing to the protection afforded by canals. About
98 per cent, of the people are Buddhists. There were 3,400 Musal-
mSns and 700 Hindus in 1901, and the number of Christians was 438.
Burmese is the vernacular of all the inhabitants except about 1 per
cent., who chiefly speak Indian languages.

The number. of Burmans in ;1901 was 135,400, or just,under 96 per
cent, of the total population. = There are a few. Shans and Danus in the
eastern part of the District, and the Indian immigrants numbered 1,200
in 1901. Only a portion, however, of the Musalmans and Hindus enu-
merated in the District were pure natives of India. Several Musalman
villages are inhabited by the half-bred descendants of Mughal mer-
cenaries who settled in the country several centuries ago, and the total
of these Zairbadis was returned in 1901 as 2,800. The population
directly dependent on agriculture in 1901 was only 52 per cent, of the
total. The very low figure is explained by the fact that a large number
of field-labourers were treated for enumeration purposes as coolies, and
entered in the census returns under a non-agricultural head.

There were 346 native Christians in 1901, the majority of whom
were Roman Catholics. The Roman Catholic Mission has three village
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churches, served by local priests, in the Singaing township. At Chan-
thagon are maintained a hospital and a boarding-school for Burmese
orphans. The English Wesleyan Methodists manage an Anglo-
vernacular school at Kyaukse town, where there is a missionary.
The main feature of Kyaukse from an agricultural point of view is its
system of irrigation, which has been in existence, in a more or less
modified form, for many years. Boththe plain and
the hills on the eastern border, from which vast
quantities of detritus are washed down annually, appear to contain
elements extraordinarily favourable for rice cultivation ; and ajudicious
use of the streams that water the country has converted portions of it
into vast fertile stretches, which it is hard to recognize as forming a part
of the dry zone of Upper Burma, and which, according to tradition,
have never been fallow for centuries. The most important agricultural
area is the extensive irrigated tract lying, for the most part, in the long
wedge of land between the Zawgyi and Samon rivers, where the
soil is watered chiefly by means of small distributaries, bringing the
water to the fields from the main canals. The land, enriched with
the silt brought down by the early rains, is thoroughly ploughed, gener-
ally by bullocks, but in the wetter tracts by the more powerful
buffalo, and harrowed as early in the season as practicable. In a few
of the best-irrigated lands kaukyin rice, sown broadcast in April and
reaped in August, is followed immediately by kaakkyi rice, which has
been sown in the nurseries in June and July and is transplanted late in
August or in September, to be reaped in December and January.
This rapid succession of crops naturally throws a considerable strain on
the soil, and it is calculated that the out-turn of the second crop is
reduced 33 per cent, by having to follow closely on the first. The
earlier kaukyin rice is often sown in nurseries in March, transplanted in
May, and reaped in August Mayin rice is planted in December when
water is available, and reaped between March and June. , Kaukkyi rice
does not-as a rule do well after ‘mayin, but in.a few cases three crops
a year have been gathered on one holding. Manuring, which is
common, increases the out-turn by about 12 to 15 per cent. The
place of the kaukyin rice, as a first crop, is often taken by early
sesamum {hnanyin). When the irrigation is deficient or untimely,
plantains are grown for two or three years, and then rice for two years.
In the non-irrigated tracts, which lie for the most part to the west of
the Samon river, cultivation depends directly on the timeliness of the
rainfall, and here the harrow is used only when the rains have set in.
On these lands mogaung (rain-irrigated) rice is grown as well as various
'dry crops." In the hill tracts taungya (shifting) cultivation prevails.
Before the monsoon breaks, the jungle on the hill slopes in the taungya
areas is cleared and burnt, and when the rains set in the seed is
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inserted in small holes made with pointed bamboos. The harvest is
reaped at the end of the rains, and when the soil is exhausted the
taungya-cutter flits to a new clearing.

The following table shows the main agricultural statistics of the
District for 1903-4, in square miles :—

Township. totalarea  |Cultivated. | Irrigated.  Forests.

Singaing . . 825 67 47
Kyaukse . 172 82 625

yittha . . 277 104 75
Total 1274 276 204 625

Of the area cultivated in 1903-4, the greater part, 187 sgquare miles,
was under rice, while early and late sesamum in nearly equal proportions
covered 38 sguare miles. In the non-irrigated land in the south-west
of the District, chillies are the standard crop, small portions of the
holdings being devoted to late sesamum and tomatoes. The area
under chillies amounts to 8,000 acres. Pulse has an acreage about
the same as that of chillies, and orchards, covering 8,600 acres, are
planted to a large extent on the richer irrigated lands. Of the total
orchard area, 7,000 acres consist of plantains, which are very nume-
rous on the banks of the Zawgyi. Mango groves are plentiful along
the course of the Myitnge river, and toddy-palms are common on the
Samon. Wheat is increasing in popularity, and the area under this
crop in 1903-4 (4,200 acres) exceeded that of Mandalay, and was
smaller only than that of Sagaing. The greater part of the District
is state land, the cultivators being the tenants of Government; but
there is a large amount of hereditary freehold known as bobabaing, i.e.
ancestral or non-state land. Certain lands are held for life by members
of the late Burmese royal family on specia conditions. In some cases
they enjoy. exemption from +both; revenue and- water rate; in. others
revenue-is not levied, ‘but the land is 'subject to water rate,~and on
others again reduced revenue rates are assessed. The total area of
these special life-term grants is, however, only 866 acres.

The cultivated area has increased by more than 40 per cent, since
1893-4, the first year of supplementary survey. From time to time
new varieties of seed have been tried locally, among others Havana
tobacco, but so far little success has attended the experiments
made. Large sums of money are advanced every year under the
Agriculturists' Loans Act to cultivators, to assist them in purchasing
plough-cattle and seed-grain. These loans are eagerly sought after,
and are undoubtedly an important factor in the increase of cultivation.
They are usually made repayable in two years by instalments, and
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little or no difficulty is experienced in recovering them. During the
four years ending 1904 they averaged over Rs. 30,000 per annum.

The Kyaukse buffaloes are inferior to the beasts ordinarily used in
Lower Burma, but the bullocks are well-bred, handsome animals.
Ponies are fairly numerous, but are mostly undersized. There are a
few flocks of sheep and numerous herds of goats belonging to natives
of India, while in most villages hogs are kept by the Burmans.

Kyaukse is remarkable for its complete system of irrigation, which
dates, if local tradition is to be believed, from the days of king
Anawrata of Pagan.  Several of the works have since been remodelled,
weirs have been rebuilt, and proper regulators and sluices have been
introduced; but the credit for the initial scheme restswith the country's
early rulers. The canals and their tributaries serve an area of nearly
400 square miles, covering the whole plain between the hills in the east
and the Samon river in the west. The Panlaung, immediately after
entering the District at its south-eastern corner, is crossed by the Kinda
weir, from which starts a system of canals about 33 miles in length with
33,miles of distributaries, irrigating that part of the Myittha subdivision
which lies to the right of the Panlaung, and commanding 78 square
miles. So much of the Myittha subdivision as stretches between the
Panlaung and the Samon is watered by canals starting from the Natlwe
and Kyime weirs, lower down the Panlaung. The first system consists
of one canal, 14 miles long, with a westerly course, which commands
23 square miles. The second includes one short water-cut and the
Sama canal, which runs for 25 miles along the narrow strip of land
between the Samon and the Panlaung, both together commanding
41 sguare miles. The Zawgyi soon after entering the Kyaukse sub-
division is crossed by the Nwadet weir, whence the Nwadet canal
starts from its left bank and follows the river to near Kyaukse. It is

27 miles long, has 45 miles of branches and distributaries, and com-
mands 53 square miles. - Below. the Nwadet. are two. weirs where
smaller .channels branch' off ' northwards from' the. right “bank, at
Ngapyaung and Thindwe. From the Minye weir at Kyaukse the
Minye cana runs northwards past Bilin and the Tamok cana north-
west towards the Panlaung, commanding between them 39 square
miles. From the Zidaw regulator the Zidaw canal, 20 miles in length,
zigzags across the line of the railway. With its Myaungzon branch,
running north-west for 15 miles from the Sedo weir near Bilin, and
28 miles of distributaries, it serves in all 64 square miles. The Zawgyi
thus irrigates the whole of the Kyaukse subdivision between the hills
and the Panlaung. In 1903-4 these canals supplied 204 square miles,
about two-thirds from the Zawgyi system and one-third from the
Panlaung. Each system is controlled by an Assistant Engineer under
the Executive Engineer in charge of the Eastern Irrigation division,
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whose head-quarters are at Kyaukse. The gross expenditure on the
canals in 1903-4 was 3 lakhs, Rs. 49,000 being spent on establishment,
Rs. 76,000 on repairs, and 1.6 lakhs on works. The tract west of the
Samon is irrigated to a limited extent by tanks, and, in the case of
the fields at the foot of the hills, by small streams.

There are two 'reserved' forests, the Yeyaman and the Pyetkaywe-
taung. The area of the Yeyaman Reserve is 306 square miles, about
one-third of which is teak-bearing. The teak is found chiefly towards
the sources of the streams, the tract in the immediate vicinity of the
river being covered with dry scrub growth, gradually merging into dry
hill forest, in which thitya (Shorea obtusa), ingyin (pentacme siamensis),
andpadauk (Pterocarpus indicus) are characteristic species. Along the
crest of the higher ridges are found the Khasya pine, the thitya, thitsi
(Melanorrhoea usitata), and other species. The pyetkaywetaung Re--
serve, which is on the southern border of the District, east of the rail-
way, has an area of 38 square miles. Before this forest was reserved,
the western portion was being denuded of forest growth by fuel-cutters.
The chief trees are than (Terminalia Oliveri), ingyin, thitya, teak, and
pyingado (Xylia dolabriformis\ while the south-western portion contains
various bamboos and a few padauk trees. In addition to these two
Reserves, there are 281 miles of unclassed forest. A good deal of
timber is floated through, but practically all of it comes from forests in
Meiktila and Yamethin. Cutch is found chiefly near Sunye, Shangan,
Zeywa, and Pyaukseikpin. The forest receipts in 1903-4 amounted
to only Rs. 3,200.

Sandstone for the use of the Irrigation department and the railway
is quarried in the hills close to Kyaukse and Bilin, the output in 1900
amounting to about 13,000 tons, valued at Rs. 48,000. Limestone is
extracted from the hills east of the railway, and burnt in kilns near the
villages in the neighbourhood. The lime is largely for export, but it is
also used- locally for.the construction of masonry irrigation works and
for white-washing pagodas, &c. ‘A royalty of Rs. 10 per kilnis levied
by Government. Brick and pottery clays are found in the District,
also chalk in small quantities; and soap-sand, mica, and marble exist
in the hills to the east of the railway, but have not yet been worked.

The majority of the population being dependent on agriculture and
petty trading, there are no manufactures of any importance. Cotton
garments for daily wear are woven on hand-looms
everywhere, and in a few villages silk pasos and
longyis are made for sale, but even in these villages
the people depend mainly on agriculture for their livelihood. Two
small rice-mills have lately been built at Myittha, but they receive
little patronage and employ very few workmen.

A considerable trade passes between the District and the Southern
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Shan States, the greater part of which follows the Myittha route via the
Natteik pass, or an easier and longer track by way of Dahatbin. The
merchandise is carried on pack-bullocks or ponies, which are owned
and driven by Shans. This trade, with that going to Kume from the
Natteik pass, is registered at Langwa, 4 miles from Myittha. In 1903-4
the imports by the Langwa route were valued at 9.4 lakhs. Of this
total, no less than 5 lakhs represented the value of silver treasure
required to make up the balance of trade, which is very much against
the Shan States. Unmanufactured articles are the chief imports, the
most notable being cigar wrappers (thanatpet), and fruit and vegetables
(valued at Rs. 50,000 in 1903-4). Other commodities brought in are
apparel, Shan slippers, wood-oil (thits), paper, and ground-nuts. The
exports to the Shan States were valued in the same year at 6% lakhs,
the chief articles being manufactured silk piece-goods (1% lakhs),
European cotton piece-goods (1-3 lakhs), salted fish, salt, European
cotton twist and yarn, raw silk, woollen piece-goods, and betel-nuts.

Another and more northerly trade route to the Shan States runs via
Taungdaw eastwards to Myogyi in the Maw State. The trade by this
route, which is registered at Taungdaw, is not very considerable, but
shows signs of expansion. In 1900-1 the imports were valued at
Rs. 34,000, and the exports at Rs. 33,000, while in 1903-4 the corre-
sponding figures were 2.2 lakhs and 2.1 lakhs. The chief imports are
fruit and vegetables and lac, and the chief exports rice, paddy, and
piece-goods. Merchandise by this route is usually carried in carts,
though pack-bullocks are sometimes employed. The imported goods
are taken to the railway station at Minzu, and thence by rail to Rangoon
or Mandalay.

Besides the trans-frontier commerce with the Shan States, there
is a considerable trade with the neighbouring Districts and within the
District itself. Large quantities of paddy are exported by rail from
the Kyaukse, Myittha, and Kume Road stations, and smaller quantities
also from Minzu. Chillies are sent from all the stations in the District,
plantains from Minzu, lime from Minzu, Kyaukse, and Bilin, and pulse
from Myittha; but three-fourths of the bulky exports reach the railway
at Kume Road. The internal trade is of a petty nature, carried on for
the most part by itinerant sellers. Bazars have been built in most
of the more important villages for their benefit.

The railway from Rangoon to Mandalay passes north and south
through the centre of the District, with eight stationsin its limits, all of
them connected by feeder roads with the surrounding country. The
principal highways are the road from Kyaukse southwards to Kume
Road station and thence into Meiktila District; that from Myitthato
Ingon, used by trading caravans to and from the Shan States via the
Natteik pass; and that from Minzu to Taungdaw, employed by the
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Shan caravans that follow the Taungdaw route. Roads from Minzu to
Dayegaung connect the villages to the west of Minzu with the railway,
while others pass from Kyaukse to Dwehla, and on into Sagaing
District, and from Singaing eastwards to Mogaung and westwards to
Sawye. All these, with a few other tracks of less importance, are
maintained from Provincial funds, their total length being 97 miles.
The District fund maintains 79 miles of road, the most important
tracks being from Kyaukse to Bilin, from Myittha to Dayegaung, and
from Kasun to Hmaingmaw. The District contains no metalled
roads, except in the towns of Kyaukse and Myittha. During the dry
season carts can make their way over the greater part of the plain, but
while the rains last many of the tracks are impassable. A good deal
of boat traffic is carried on the Myitnge and Panlaung rivers, as well
as on a few of the irrigation canals. Ferries are provided wherever
required for the public convenience, and the canals are all bridged
at suitable intervals.

The District is divided into two subdivisions: Kyaukse, comprising
the KYAUKSE and SINGAING townships; and the subdivision and town-
ship of MYITTHA. These are under the usual execu- .,

Administration,

tive officers. the Yeyaman tract is in charge of

a myothugyi, who is subordinate to the subdivisional officer, Kyaukse.
Under these officials are 326 village headmen, the Y eyaman myothugyi
having ten villages under him. At head-quarters are an akunwun,
a treasury officer, and a superintendent of land records, with a staff of
6 inspectors and 45 surveyors. For ordinary public works purposes
the District forms a subdivision of the Meiktila Public Works division,
conterminous with the civil Division. As stated above, the canals are
under an Executive Engineer at Kyaukse. The forests form part of
the Mandalay Forest division.

The jurisdiction of the civil and criminal courts is identical with the
administrative divisions already described, and the Deputy-Commis-
sioner and the subdivisional and township officers have the usual civil
and criminal powers. There are two other judicial officers: namely,
the head-quarters magistrate, who is also an additional judge of the
Kyaukse township court; and the myothugyi in charge of the Yeya
man tract, who has third-class magisterial powers. Crime in the Dis-
trict is light, and the civil work is not heavy, though it is steadily
increasing.

Under Burmese rule the land revenue was aways paid in paddy,
which the cultivators had to cart themselves to certain specified
landing-places, where it was loaded in boats for conveyance to Man-
dalay. The contributions levied were very heavy, and were rendered
still heavier by the dishonesty and malpractices of the receiving officers.
To arrive at the demand a rough survey was made by running a rope
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round each holding, the area being calculated by squaring half the
circumference thus obtained. No effective check was made of the
surveyors' work, and they were at liberty to estimate the area as they
pleased. From the estimated area the demand was from 6 to 20 bas
kets of paddy per pe (1.75 acres) on irrigated crops, 3 to 6 baskets
per pe on 'dry ' ya (upland) crops, 10 baskets from the second year's
plantain crop, 40 baskets from the third year's, and 30 baskets from
sugar-cane.  There were fourteen revenue circles, each under a segyi,
who collected the paddy revenue in his own canal tract with the assis-
tance of village headmen and myothngyis. The revenue so collected
amounted in average years to 758,000 baskets. In 1246 B.E.
(A.D. 1884) king Thibaw farmed out the District for a stipulated
sum to an official, who in turn sublet tracts to various contractors.
Matters were found at this stage at the time of annexation. In 1888
temporary rates of assessment were sanctioned, as the District was
almost depopulated, and had hardly begun to recover from the disturb-
ances following annexation. They were considerably lower than those
imposed by the Burmese, and the consequence was that a sudden and
pronounced increase took place in the area brought under cultivation.
The next year a cadastral survey and settlement were taken in hand,
and rates were sanctioned in 1893.  All rice lands were divided into
five classes, based on the relative facilities of irrigation, and the land
rates were fixed at Rs. 6, 5, 4, 3, and 2 per acre. For other crops the
following specia rates per acre were fixed : betel-vines, Rs. 20; sugar-
cane and areca palms, Rs. 12 ; plantains (full grown) and Goa beans,
Rs. 8; orchards, tobacco, onions, chillies, turmeric, yams, tomatoes,
gram, and wheat, Rs. 3; and sesamum, plantains (young), and all other
crops, Rs. 1-8 per acre. This settlement was sanctioned provision-
ally for five years, subject to such revision as might be found necessary
from time to time, and its rates are still in force. Supplementary
survey followed immediately on settlement, and in time accurate agri-
cultural statistics became available. = A revision survey and settlement
was commenced in 1902, and has recently been completed. Revenue
is assessed only on crops which have matured; and where two crops of
rice are taken off any field in one year, the revenue on that field for
the second crop is assessed at one-half the full rate. On unirrigated
non-state lands the rates of assessment are three-fourths, and on
irrigated non-state lands seven-eighths, of the state land rates given
above. The rates for irrigated lands include water rate.

The table on the next page illustrates the growth of the revenue of
the District since 1890-1. The figures are given in thousands
of rupees.

After land revenue, thathameda is the most important item of receipt.
It brought in rather more than a lakh and a half in 1903-4.
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Mission, which maintains a school and a dispensary. It also contains
the court-house of the Thakur of Lahul, and an observatory 10,087
feet above sea-level.

Kymore.—Hill range in Central India. See KAIMUR.

Kynchiang.—River in Khasi and Jaintia Hills District, Eastern
Bengal and Assam. See JADUKATA.

Kyong (Burmese, Kyon)—Small State in the Myelat division of
the Southern Shan States, Burma, lying in 20°47' N. and 96° 39' E.,
with an area of 24 sguare miles. It is bounded on the north by
Kyawkku and Poila, on the east and west by Poila, and on the south
by Hsamonghkam. It consists entirely of grassy downs, and is very
dry. The population in 1901 was 2,340 (distributed in 20 villages),
of whom about 1,000 were Taungthus, and the remainder Shans,
Taungyos, and Danus. The residence of the Ngwegunhmu is at Kyong
(population, 292), in the centre of the State. The revenue in 1904-5
amounted to Rs. 2,500 (mainly from thathameda), and the tribute
to the British Government is Rs. 1,350.

Kyonpyaw.—North-eastern township of the Ngathainggyaung sub-
division of Bassein District, Lower Burma, a level stretch of country
intersected by tidal creeks, lying between 17° 8' and 17° 30' N. and
95° 9" and 95° 28' E., with an area of 292 square miles. It contains
466 villages, and the population was 50,002 in 1891, and 70,010
in 1901. It is the most thickly populated township in the District,
and its rate of increase during the decade has been far more rapid
than that of any other portion. Kyonpyaw (population, 5,358),
on the right bank of the Daga river, near the western border of
the township, is the head-quarters. In 1903-4 the area under
cultivation was 171 square miles (an increase of 45 per cent, in ten
years), paying a land revenue of Rs. 2,29,000. The Inye Lake in this
township is an important fishery, the lease of which fetches about
Rs. 28,000 annually.

Kyunhla.— North-western' township of ' Shwebo ' District, Upper
Burma, extending from the Mu river to the Upper Chindwin District,
between 23° 15" and 23° 52' N. and 94° 56' and 95° 33' E., with
an area of 955 square miles. The country is hilly; and the population,
which is very sparse, was 6,246 in 1891, and 8,560 in 1901, distributed
in 84 villages, the largest of which, Kyunhla (population, 360), close
to the west bank of the Mu, is the head-quarters. The area cultivated
in 1903-4 was 98 square miles, and the land revenue and thathameda
amounted to Rs. 25,600.

Labdarya.—Taluka of Larkana District, Sind, Bombay, lying
between 27° 6' and 27° 30' N. and 67° 59' and 68° 24' E., with
an area of 356 square miles. The population in 1901 was 68,872,
compared with 62,659 in 1891. The taluka contains 57 villages,
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of which Dokri is the headquarters. The density, 194 persons per
square mile, largely exceeds the District average. The land revenue
and cesses in 1903-4 amounted to 2.4 lakhs. The soil, though lacking
facilities for irrigation, is more fertile than elsewhere. Rice is the chief
crop, the water supply being obtained from the Western Nara canal;
but wheat of excellent quality and gram are grown on the lands
annually flooded by the Indus. Mango groves and gardens are more
numerous here than in the rest of the District.

Lab pur.—Village in the head-quarters subdivision of Birbhum Dis-
trict, Bengal, situated in 23° 49' N. and 87° 49' E., on the Suri-Katwa
road, 7 miles east of Ahmadpur station on the East Indian Railway.
Population (1901), 750. It contains a temple of the goddess Phullara,
where there is a curious practice of feeding jackals. Labpur is
a pithasthan or sacred place, where the lips of the goddess Sati are
said to have fallen.

Laccadive Islands (Laksha divi, ' the hundred thousand isles).—
A group of coral atolls lying off the Malabar coast in the Madras
Presidency, between 8° and 14° N. and 71° 40' and 74° E. The
nearest, Androth, is about 140 miles from the mainland. The five
northern islands, specifically known as the AMINDIVI [SLANDS, are
attached to the District of South Kanara. The remainder, sometimes
called the Cannanore Islands, belong to Malabar District. They
comprise Androth (population in 1891, 2,999; and in 1901, 2,441),
Kavaratti (2,021 and 1,959), Agatti (1,183 and 1,215), Kalpeni (1,236
and 1,562), and MINICOY (3,198 and 3,097), all of which are between
r and 2 sguare miles in area, and also Suheli and Pitti, which are
uninhabited. There are eight other smaller dependent islets. Minicoy
lies 100 miles south of the others and belongs ethnically and geo-
graphically to the Maldives, though politically it is attached to the
Laccadive group.

The conformation of all the islands is almost/ identical. They are
crescent-shaped banks, not more than 10 or 15 feet above sea-level,
lying along the eastern arc of an oval cora reef which stretches from
north to south for 1 to 6 miles in length by under a mile in breadth.
The western arc of the reef is a line of coral rocks, visible only at low
water, with one or more outlets to the open sea Inside the reef is
a shallow lagoon, large enough to act as a harbour for the native craft,
and so sheltered by the reef that even in the worst weather coco-nut
fibre can be soaked in it without danger of being washed away. Out-
side is a gradually sloping bank of dead coral, which varies from
roo yards to three-quarters of a mile in width, and ends abruptly in
a precipice, at which soundings drop suddenly from 20 fathoms to
over 200. It seems probable that these atolls have been formed on
the summits of a mountain range, that they first rose to the surface in
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the form of shallow oval basins, and that under the protection of the
reef the eastern rim gradually developed towards the centre, forming
the island. This process of development towards the centre of the
lagoon is still going on in some of the islands; whilein Androthitis
practically finished and no lagoon is left.

The superficial geological structure of the islands is asfollows :—

' Beneath a thin layer of vegetable humus there is fine coral-sand,;
a few feet below this comes a compact crust of fine conglomerate that
looks like coarse oolitic limestone with embedded bits of shell;
beneath the crust of coral-stone, which—as it is essy to cut and
becomes hard when exposed to the air—makes a good building stone,
there is another layer of fine sand, and then at a depth of about 6 feet
from the surface the ground water is tapped.'

Wells and pits for soaking coir are thus easily made, and are plentiful
on all the islands. The water in them is good, though slightly
brackish. It rises and falls with the tide. The surface soil of coral-
sand or loose coral-stones is naturally so barren that there is little
spontaneous vegetation in most of the islands; but the conditions are
especially favourable to the growth of the coco-nut palm, which is the
staple product of all of them. Both the tree and the nut are smaller
than those of the mainland, but the tree bears much more quickly, in
some cases within two years. In most of the islands the coral sub-
stratum has been quarried out in patches and the damp subsoil of
sand laid bare for cultivation. These patches of arable land, which
are known as tottam or garden, are used for raising ragi, millet,
plantains, yams, and other vegetables. No rice is grown, and the
islands are entirely dependent for it on the mainland. Limes and
jack-trees flourish on all the islands, and a few areca palms on the
more fertile. An attempt to grow casuarina for firewood was made
in 1893, but it was a failure. Androth, which is the most fertile of
the islands, contains about 100 acres of tottam, while Minicoy is prac-
tically ‘monopolized’ by the coco-nut. 'The annual rainfall  averages
50 inches.

There are cattle and goats on all the inhabited islands, though very
few in Minicoy, and many fowls and cats. Rats (Mus rufescens)
abound and do much damage to the coco-nut trees. The Govern-
ment has tried various remedies, such as the importation of snakes,
mongooses, and owls, to get rid of the pest, but with little effect; and
the numbers are only kept down by the native institution of the koot
(kuttam), or periodical rat-hunt, in which the whole male population
is forced to join. Turtles and the sea-slug (Holothuria), originally
avaluable article of commerce, are plentiful; corals and shells of all
kinds, from the cowrie to the king conch, are found; the lagoons
are full of fish of every kind and colour; while in the open water
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sharks, porpoises, and mas or bonito {Thynnuspelatnys) occur. There
are no land-birds on the islands except tits, golden plovers, and a few
specimens of the ubiquitous crow. The heron, peregrine, and kestrel
are occasional visitors. Of sea-birds the commonest are turnstones,
sand-pipers, and many varieties of tern, but no gulls. Insects are few,
but the mosquito abounds in Minicoy, and most of the inhabitants use
mosquito curtains.

Tradition assigns the first settlement of the islands to a shipwrecked
party of Malayalis who were on their way to bring back king Cheraman
Perumal from Mecca in the ninth century ; and the similarity of the
language and customs of the islands to those of the coast leave no
doubt that, with the exception of Minicoy, they were originally colonized
by Hindus from Malabar. These are said to have been converted to
Islam in the thirteenth century. The colonists acknowledged the
supremacy of the Kolattiri Raja, with whose dominions they carried
on most of their trade; but their government was practically in-
dependent until the rise of the family of the Ali Raja of CANNANORE,
the chief admiral of the Kolattiri Raja, to whom the islands were given
by the latter in the sixteenth century as an estate. The Ali Raas
continued to rule over them till- 1791, when they fell to the British
with the conquest of Cannanore. After long discussion, a settlement
was made with the Bib! of Cannanore in 1796, by which she agreed to
pay an annual peshkash for the Laccadives and her property at Canna-
nore, retaining the administration of the former; and this settlement
continues in force to the present day, though the islands are now
administered by the British Government, having been sequestered for
arrears of revenue in 1875.

The people are all Muhammadans. In habits and customs they
resemble the Mappillas of North Malabar, except that the women hold
a more important position, and are not veiled or secluded. They
follow the Marumakkattayam system of linheritance (i. e. succession in
the female'ling). Their language is Malayalam; but in writing it they
use the Arabic characters. They are divided into three main castes:
Karnavans or Koyas, the aristocracy, who claim descent from Nam-
budris and Nayars, and originally monopolized land- and boat-owning;
Malumis or Urukkars, the sailor caste, who sailed the Karnavans'
boats, and were allowed small holdings of land on various conditions
of service on their lords' lands and in their boats; and Melacheris or
climbers, the serfs, whose duty was to pick coco-nuts, till their lords'
lands, row the boats, and so forth. In Minicoy both the people and
their customs differ from those of the other islands.

The population of the islands has remained fairly stationary. In
1845 it was estimated at 7,700 for the four northern islands, and in
1901 it was 7,180; but individual islands have experienced great
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fluctuations. In the great cyclone of 1847, 300" °"® killed on Androth
and 500 on Kalpeni, while in 1894 nearly 1,000 persons are said to
have died from cholera on Androth. Education makes slow progress.
Out of 10,274 persons, only 461 were returned as literate in 1901; of
these 51 were females. The chief industries are the preparation and
exportation of coir fibre, the manufacture being done by the women,
and fishing. Besides coir, quantities of coco-nuts, copra (dried coco-
nut kernels), tortoise-shell, and cowries are exported to the mainland in
exchange for rice. The original organization of society was patriarchal.
The Ali Raa governed by means of agents (karyakars), who were
assisted by heads of families. At present there is an Amin on each
island, who is appointed by the Collector of Malabar, and is responsible
for all details of administration.

The revenue is derived from the Government monopoly of the
trade in coir, cowries, tortoise-shell, and ambergris, of which the first
is the most important. During the last twenty years the average out-
turn of coir fibre has been about 1,400 candies of 560 Ib. Since the
sequestration of the islands in 1875, the receipts have averaged
Rs. 56,820, and the expenditure Rs. 47,460.

Lachhmangarh.—Head-quarters of a tahsil of the same name in
the State of Alwar, Rajputana, situated in 27° 22' N. and 76° 52' E.,
23 miles south-east of Alwar city, and 15 miles east of Malakhera
station on the Rajputana-Malwa Railway. The old name of the place
was Taur. The village possesses a post office, a vernacular school,
and a hospital with accommodation for 4 in-patients. In 1901 it
contained 2,660 inhabitants. The tahsil is situated in the south-east
of the State, and at the last Census consisted of 175 villages, with
a total population of 61,727, of whom nearly 80 per cent, were Hindus
and 19 per cent. Musalmans. It was formerly held by semi-
independent Thakurs of Jaipur, but was seized about 1776 by Pratap
Singh, the first chief of Alwar.

Lachhmangarh.—Town belonging to the Slkar'chiefship in the
Shekhawati nizamat of the "State of Jaipur, Rajputana, situated in
27° 49' N. and 75° 2' E., about 80 miles north-west of Jaipur city.
Population (1901), 10,176. The town is named after Rao Raja
Lachhman Singh of Slkar, by whom it was founded in 1806. It is
fortified and built after the model of Jaipur city, and possesses a com-
bined post and telegraph office, 5 schools attended by 240 boys, and
many handsome buildings occupied by wealthy bankers.

Ladakh.—The most westerly province of the high mountainous
land spoken of as Tibet is called Ladakh or Ladag. It is now politi-
cally a division of the Kashmir State, lying between the Himalayas
and the Kuenlun mountains, and between Baltistan and Chinese
Tibet. The Karakoram range forms the northern boundary as far
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east as the Karakoram pass. The country is known to educated
Tibetans by other names—Mangy al, Nearis, Maryul.

Ladakh is one of the most elevated regions of the earth, its sparse
cultivation ranging from 9,000 to 14,000 feet. The scanty population
is found in scattered and secluded valleys, where
along the river banks and on alluvial plateaux crops
are raised by irrigation. Central Ladakh, which lies
in the Indus valley, is the most important division of the country.
To the north is Nubra, consisting of the valley of the Nubra river and
a portion of the valley of the Shyok. The great floods of the Indus,
caused by the descent of glaciers across its stream and that of the
Shyok, and the consequent damming back of the Nubra river have
caused great destruction to riverain lands, once cultivated but now
wastes of granitic sand. Here the fields are fenced to guard the crops
from the ponies of traders on their way to Yarkand. The south is the
Rupshu country with its great lakes. Rupshu Lake covers an area of
60 to 70 square miles. Tsomoriri is 15 miles in length, and lies at
an elevation of 14,900 feet. The lakes are land-locked and brackish.
East of Central Ladakh is the lake of Pangkong, and in its neighbour-
hood crops of beardless barley and peas are raised at an elevation of
14,000 feet. South-west is the country of Zaskar, with a very severe
climate chilled by the lofty snow ranges.

The flora of Ladakh is scanty, and timber and fuel are the most
pressing wants of the people. The burtse (Eurotia) is a low-growing
bush which gives a fair fuel; and in the high valleys the dama, a kind
of furze, is burnt. On some hill-sides the pencil cedar (padam) occurs,
and in occasional ravines the wild willow is found. Arboriculture used
to be discountenanced under the Gialpos, on the ground that trees
deprived the land of fertility.

On the plains up to 17,000 feet wild asses or kiang (Equus hemi-
onits), ‘antelope (Pantholops -hodgsoni), wild. yak (Bos grunniens), ibex
(Capra sibiricd),” and several kinds of wild ' sheep (Ovis “hodgsoni,
O. vignei, and O. nahura) are found; and the higher hill slopes up
to 19,000 feet contain hares and marmots, the beautiful snow leopard
(Felts uncia), and the lynx (F. lynx). Knight, in Where Three Empires
meet, remarks:—

' Not only man, but also all creatures under his domination— horses,
sheep, goats, fowls—are diminutive here, whereas the wild animals on
the high mountains are of gigantic size.'

Drew counted as many as 300 kiang in a day's march. In outward
appearance the kiang is like a mule, brown in colour with white under
the belly, a dark stripe down the back, but no cross on the shoulder.
One kiang shot by Drew was 54 inches in height. The flesh is rather
like beef. They are common on the Changchenmo, and are met with
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in many parts of Ladakh, where their curiosity often disconcerts sports-
men by alarming game worth shooting. A curious fact in the fauna
of Ladakh is the absence of birds in the higher parts of the country.
An occasional raven is the only bird to be seen.

The climate is very dry and healthy. Rainfall is extremely slight,
but fine dry flaked snow is frequent, and sometimes the fall is heavy.
There is a remarkable absence of thunder and lightning. The air is
invigorating, and all travellers notice the extraordinary extremes of cold
and heat. In Rupshu the thermometer falls as low as 9° in September.
The minimum temperature of the month is 23-5°, and the mean tem-
perature 43°.  As Knight remarks :—

'So thin and devoid of moisture is the atmosphere that the varia-
tions of temperature are extreme, and rocks exposed to the sun's rays
may be too hot to lay the hand upon, at the same time that it is freez-
ing in the shade. To be suffering from heat on one side of one's
body, while painfully cold on the other, is no uncommon sensation
here.’

The history of Ladakh, until its conquest by Raja Gulab Singh in the
first half of the nineteenth century, is intimately connected with Tibet,
with which country it still holds commercial and re-
ligious relations.  Stories are told of invasions in the
seventeenth century by the neighbouring Ealtis, sometimes successful,
sometimes repulsed.  About the end of the seventeenth century the
Ladakhis called in the aid of the governor of Kashmir to repel the
Sokpos, a Mughal tribe. Help was promptly given, and the Sokpos
were driven out of Ladakh, after which it paid tribute to Kashmir.
Prior to annexation by the Dogras, the government of the country was
amild form of monarchy. The ruler was called Gialpo or king, but
the real power rested with the minister or Kahlon. The only check
on the latter was the widespread authority of the monasteries. The
chief of these is Himis Gompa, on the. left bank of -the. Indus,
18 miles above Leh. ' This monastery, which contains 400.to 800
monks and nuns, stands at the head of a wild glen and covers a con-
siderable space of ground. An important festival, called the Himis
Tsheshu, is held annually on the tenth day of the fifth month (about
June 7), when the whole country-side flock to the monastery and
witness the weird devil-dance of the Buddhist Lamas. A constant
spectator is the Gialpo of Ladakh. The monastery is believed to
contain great wealth, and the treasure is kept under guard in order
to prevent its being carried over the border to Lhasa. The chief
shrine is faced entirely with silver plate. Its treasure-house has
small vases filled with pearls, turquoises, and rubies, said to be of
value.

Leh (population, 2,079) is the only place of importance in Ladakh,

History.
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and there are besides 463 villages. With the exception of one village
of Shiah Musalmans in Chhachkot, and of the Arguns or haf-
breeds, practically the whole population, excluding
the town of Leh, is Buddhist. The people style
themselves Bhots. According to the last Census, there are now
30,216 Buddhists living in Ladakh. They have the Mongolian cast
of features, and are strong and well made, ugly, but cheerful and good-
tempered. If they do quarrel over their barley beer (chang), no bad
blood remains afterwards. They are very truthful and honest, and it
is said that in court the accused or defendant will almost invariably
admit his guilt or acknowledge the justice of the claim.

There are five main castes (riks) : the Rgrial riks, or ryot caste; the
Trangzey riks, or priestly caste; the Rjey riks, or high officias; the
Hmang riks, or lower officials and agricultural classes; and the Tolbay
riks, or artificers and musicians.  This last caste, also known as Bern,
is considered inferior.

The Ladakhis may be divided into the Champas or nomads, who
follow pastoral pursuits on the upland valleys, too high for cultivation ;
and the Ladakhis proper, who have settled in the valley and the side
valleys of the Indus, cultivating with great care every patch of cul-
tivable ground. These two classes do not, as a rule, intermarry, and
Champas rarely furnish recruits to the monasteries. The Ladakhis
are mostly engaged in agriculture, and in spite of the smallness of their
holdings they are fairly prosperous. Their great wants are fuel and
timber. For fuel they use cow-dung and the bush known as burtse.
Their only timber trees are the scattered and scanty willows and
poplars which grow along the watercourses.

There can be little doubt that the modest prosperity of the Ladakhis,
in contrast to the universal poverty of Baltistan, is due to the practice
of polyandry, which acts as a check on population. Whereas the
Baltis, used to the extremes of temperature, are able to seek employ-
ment in hot countries, the Ladakhis would die.if they were long away
from their peculiar climate. In a family where there were many
brothers, the younger ones could neither marry nor go abroad for
their living. When the eldest son marries, he takes possession of the
little estate, making some provision for his parents and unmarried
sisters. The eldest son has to support the two brothers next him in
age, who share his wife. The children of the marriage regard all three
husbands as father. If there be more than two younger brothers,
they must go out as Lamas to a monastery, or as coolies; or, if he be
fortunate, a younger son can marry an heiress, and become a Magpa.
(1f there is no son in a family the daughter inherits, and can choose
her own husband, and dismiss him at will with a small customary
present. The Magpa husband is thus aways on probation, as the
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heiress can discard him without any excuse or ceremony of divorce.)
When the eldest dies or becomes a Lama, the next brother takes his
place. But the wife, provided there are no children, can get rid of
his brothers. She ties her finger by a thread to the finger of her
deceased husband. The thread is broken, and she is divorced from
the corpse and the surviving brothers. The woman in Ladakh has
great liberty and power. She can, if she likes, add to the number
of her husbands. Drew, who had a very intimate knowledge of
Ladakh, thinks that polyandry has had a bad effect on the women,
making them overbold and shameless. But others, who are equally
entitled to form an opinion, consider this an unfair criticism.

In the town of Leh are many families of half-castes known as
Arguns, the results of the union between Ladakhi women and Kash-
miris, Turkl caravan-drivers, and Dogras. The Dogra children were
known as Ghulamzadas, and were bondmen to the State. The
half-castes of Leh are no more unsatisfactory in Tibet than ese
where, and many travellers have testified to the good qualities of
the Argun.

The monasteries {gompa) play an important part in the life of the
Ladakhis. Nearly every village has its monastery, generaly built in
a high place difficult of access. At the entrance are prayer cylinders,
sometimes worked by water-power, and inside a courtyard is a lofty
square chamber .in which the images and instruments of worship are
kept. No women may enter this chamber. Every large family sends
one of its sons to the monastery as a Lama. He goes young as
a pupil, and finishes his studies at Lhasa. In a monastery there
are two head Lamas: one attends to spiritual, the other to temporal
matters. The latter is known as the Chagzot or JVupa. He looks
after the revenue of the lands which have been granted to the
monastery, carries on a trade of barter with the people, and super-
vises the alms given by the villagers. | He aso enters into money-
lending and grain transactions with' the surrounding villages. Many
monasteries receive subsidies from Lhasa. The Lamas wear a woollen
gown dyed either red or yellow. The red Lamas predominate in
Ladakh. The red sect known as Drukpas are not supposed to marry
while in the priesthood. Nunneries are frequently found near the
monasteries of both sects, but the Chomos, or nuns of the yellow sect,
have a higher character than those of the red sisterhood. About
a sixth of the population of Ladakh is absorbed in religious houses.
The Lamas are popular in the country, are hospitable to travellers, and
are always ready to help the villagers.

There are two missions at Leh—the Moravian and the Roman
Catholic. The Moravian Mission is an old and excellent institu-
tion, much appreciated by the people for its charity and devotion in
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times of sickness. The mission has a little hospital, whither the
Ladakhis, whose eyes suffer from the dustiness of the air and the
confined life in the winter, flock in great numbers.

The soil is sandy, and requires careful manuring, and nothing can

be raised without irrigation. The chief crops are wheat, barley, beard-
less barley, peas, rapeseed, and beans m the spring;
buckwheat, millets, and turnips in the autumn.
Lucerne grass is grown for fodder. The surface soil is frequently
renovated by top-dressings of earth brought from the hill-sides, and
it is a common practice to sprinkle earth on the snow in order to
expedite its disappearance. Fruit and wood are scarce, except in
villages situated on the lower reaches of the Indus.

Beardless barley (grim) is the most useful crop, and can be grown
at very high elevations (15,000 feet). In the middle of Ladakh the
crop is secure if there be sufficient water ; and in the lower villages the
soil is cropped twice a year, as there is ample sunshine ; but in Zaskar,
which is near the high snowy range, the crops often fail for lack of sun-
warmth. Ploughing is chiefly done by the hybrid of the yak bull and
the common cow, known as zo (male) or zomo (female). This animal
is also used for transport purposes. Grazing is limited, and conse-
quently the number of live-stock is not large: but there are a fair
number of ponies, those from Zaskar being famous. The food of
the Ladakhis is the meal of grim, made into a broth and drunk warm,
or else into a dough and eaten with butter-milk. The Ladakhis have
no prejudices, and will eat anything they can get.

Borax is produced in Rupshu, and sdt is found. x\bout 1,436
maunds of borax are extracted annually, but the industry is profitable
neither to the people nor to the State. In former days sulphur, salt-
petre, and iron were manufactured in factories at Leh, but the scarcity
of fuel has now rendered these industries impossible.

Practically the only manufacture is that of woollen cloth, known
as pattu and pashmina.

The people trade in agricultural products with the
Champas of Tibet and with Skardu. Salt is largely
exported to Skardu, and in aless degree to Kashmir, being exchanged
for grain, apricots, tobacco, madder, and ponies. The chief commerce
is the Central Asian trade between Yarkand and India.

Ladakh is in the charge of a Wazir Wazarat, who is responsible for
Baltistan and the three tahsils of Ladakh, Kargil, and Skardu. His
duties are light. There is little crime and scarcely
any litigation. The chief cases are disputes regard-
ing trees, or complaints that one villager has stolen the surface soil
of another. No"police force is maintained, but a small garrison of
State troops is quartered in the fort at Leh, a building with mud walls.

G 2



94 LADAKH

The Wazir Wazarat and his establishment cost the State Rs. 9,166 per
annum. One of the chief functions of the Wazir is the supervision
of the Central Asian trade which passes through Leh. For this
purpose he is ex-officio Joint Commissioner, associated with a British
officer appointed by the Indian Government. Each subdivision of
Ladakh isin the charge of a kardar, who is a Bhot. His chief duties
are to see that all reasonable assistance is rendered to the Central
Asian traders and travellers. For this purpose the villages of each
kardari are made responsible for furnishing baggage animals and
supplies in turn, and according to the capacity of each village to
the stages situated within the limits of the kardari. This is known
as the reis system. Primary schools are maintained at Skardu and
at Leh.

The land revenue system in the past has been of a very arbitrary
description, the basis of assessment being the holding or the house.
The size of the holding or the quality of the soil receives little con-
sideration. Taken collectively, it has perhaps not been heavy, though
the rates are considerably higher than those now applied in Baltistan;
but its incidence has been unfair, oppressive to the poor, and very easy
to the rich. A redistribution of the old assessments on a more equi-
table principle, and a summary revision where the assessments were
obviously too high or unnecessarily light, have recently been carried
out by a British official lent to the State. The greater part of the
revenue is paid in cash, but some is taken in grain and wood, which
are necessary for the supply of the Central Asian traders. The grain
is stored at convenient places on the caravan route in the charge
of officials who sell to the traders. But for this system trade would
be hampered; for after leaving the Nubra valley and crossing the
Karakoram range no fodder is available on the Yarkand road till
Shahidullah *in Chinese territory is reached, and grain for feeding
animals must be carried from Nubra.  The strain of forced labour
is heavy.in Ladakh.' Not only is unpaid transport taken for political
missions, assistance to the trade route, & c, but several monasteries
are allowed to impress unpaid labour for trading purposes.

Agricultural advances, chiefly seed-grain, are made for the most part
not by the State, but by the monasteries, and the poorer classes are
heavily in debt to the religious institutions. These .are not harsh
creditors.  When the debtor is hopelessly involved, the monastery
takes possession of half of his land for a period of three years. If
the debt is not liquidated within three years, the land is restored to
the debtor and the debt written off. The monastery will never sue a
debtor, nor is land ever permanently alienated for debt.

Ladnun.—Head-quarters of the jagir estate of the same name in
the Didwana district of the State of Jodhpur, Rajputana, situated in
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27° 39" N. and 74° 24' E., about 130 miles north-east of Jodhpur city
and within 4 miles of the Bikaner border. Population (1901), 8,064.
The place is the home of some of the wealthy Marwari merchants of
Calcutta and other large cities, and is locally famous for the manufacture
of gold ornaments. The estate of Ladnun consists of seven villages
yielding a revenue of about Rs. 20,000, and is held by a Thakur
belonging to the Jodha sept of Rathor Rajputs.

Ladol.—Town in the Vijapur taluka. Kadi prant, Baroda State,
situated in 23° 37' N. and 72° 44' E. Population (1901), 6,641. It
possesses a vernacular school, and has a fair trade in grain.

Ladwa.—Town in the Thanesar tahsil of Karnal District, Punjab,
situated in 29° 59' N. and 77° 3' E. Population (1901), 3,518. The
town and neighbourhood belonged to a Sikh family, and were confiscated
in 1846 in consequence of their conduct in the first Sikh War. The
place is of no commercial importance. The municipality was created
in 1867. The income and expenditure during the ten years ending
1902-3 averaged Rs. 5,300. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 4,500,
chiefly derived from octroi; and the expenditure was Rs. 4,900. The
town has a vernacular middle school and a dispensary.

Laharpur.—Town in the District and tahsil of Sltapur, United
Provinces, situated in 27° 42' N. and 80° 55' E., 17 miles north-east
of Sitapur town. Population (1901), 10,997. It is said to have been
founded by Firoz Shah Tughlak in 1374, when on his way to the shrine
of Saiyid Salar at Bahraich. Some years afterwards, one Lahurl, a Pasl,
took possession of it, and changed its name to Laharpur. The Pasis
gave way in the fifteenth century to the Musalmans, who were ousted
about 1707 by the Gaur Rajputs. Laharpur is famous as the birth-
place of Raja Todar Mai, Akbar's great finance minister and general.
It is administered under Act XX of 1856, with an income of about
Rs. 1,800. It contains a dispensary and two schools.

L aheria Sarai.—Suburb-of Darbhanga town, Darbhanga District,
Bengal. " See - DARBHANGA TOWN.

Lahore Division.—Central Division of the Punjab, stretching
roughly from the Chenab to the Sutlej. It lies between 29° 58' and
32° 51' N. and 72° 27" and 75° 56' E. The Commissioner's head-
quarters are at Lahore and Dalhousie. The total population of the
Division increased from 4,696,636 in 1881 to 5,321,535 in 1891, and
5,598,463 in 1901. The total area is 17,154 square miles, and the
density of population is 326 persons per square mile, compared with
209 for British territory in the Province as awhole. In 1901 Muham-
madans numbered 3,332,175, or 60 per cent, of the total; while other
religions included Hindus, 1,567,402; Sikhs, 661,320; Jains, 5,507
Buddhists, 6; Parsis, 228; and Christians, 31,815, of whom 25,248
were natives.
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The Division contains six Districts, as shown below : —

Lang revenue
- Areain Population, ana cesses,
pistrict square miles. 1901 in thousands
of rupees.
Montgomery 4,771 497,706 6,90
Lahore 3.704 1,162,109 12,55
Amritsar . 1,601 1,023,828 14,54
Gurdaspur. 1,889 940,334 17,72
Sialkot 1,991 1,083,909 17,27
Gujranwala 3,198 890,577 12,89
Total 17,154 5,598,463 81,87

Gurdaspur includes a few square miles of mountainous country,
enclosing the hill station of Dalhousie (highest point, 7,687 feet); but
otherwise the Division is flat. It contains 9,869 villages and 41 towns,
of which the largest are LAHORE (population, 202,964, including
cantonment), AMRITSAR (162,429), SIALKOT (57,956), GUIRANWALA
(29,224), BATALA (27,365), and KASUR (22,022). In commercial
importance Lahore and Amritsar dwarf all other towns in the Division,
but Sialkot and Batala are considerably more than local centres. The
history of LAHORE, and the religious importance of AMRITSAR, are
described under those cities.

Besides the administrative charge of six British Districts, the Com-
missioner of Lahore has political control over the Native State of
Chamba, which has an area of 3,216 square miles and a population
(1901) of 127,834.

LahoreDistrict {Lahaur).—District inthe Lahore Division, Punjab,
lying between 30° 38" and 31° 54' N. and 73° 38' and 74° 58' E., with
an area of 3,704 square miles. In shape it is nearly square, its south-
east side resting on the Sutlej, beyond which lies Ferozepore. It is
bounded by, the Districts of Sialkot.and Amritsar on the north-east, by
Gujranwala on the north-west, ‘and by Montgomery on the' south-west.

The District falls naturally into four distinct parts. To the north-

west the Ravi runs parallel with its border and cuts off

aspects. about 900 square miles of the Rechna Doab, mostly
included in the Sharakpur tahsil—a barren tract,

three-fourths of which lies waste, while the Muhammadan cultivators
of the remainder show a marked inferiority in both effort and ability to
the Hindus south of the Ravi. The Ravi alluvial tract, or Bet, stretches
for 300 sguare miles along the south bank of the river, a low-lying
country, bare and desolate, and constantly subject to diluvion. In
striking contrast to it is the Lahore MANJHA, a plateau of 1,60onsquare
miles, bounded north and south by high banks, which look down on
the valley of the Ravi to the north and the old bed of the Beas to the
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south. Formerly a wilderness, the Manjha has been turned by the Bari
Doab Canal into afertile and prosperous tract. South of the Manjha
lies the old valley of the Beas, a low-lying triangular patch of broken
country, known as the Hithar, inundated by the Sutlej. Besides the
Sutlej and Ravi, the only stream of any importance is the Degh
torrent, which traverses the Sharakpur tahdl. There are no hills of
any kind.

The District is of no geological interest, asits soil is entirely alluvial
The indigenous flora in the south-west is that of the Western Punjab.
but only on a meagre scale. Trees are largely planted. Indigenous
kinds are rare, except on the waste lands, where, before the construction
of recent canal extensions, miles of scrub existed, composed chiefly of
van (Salvadora oleoides), jand {Prosopis spicigera), and kari or kair
(Cappan's aphylla). The tamarisk-tree (Tamarix articulata), found
throughout the drier parts of the Punjab, is abundant and conspicuous.
The ber (Zizyphus Jujuba) is sometimes naturalized, and often planted.

Wolves are occasionally met with in the low-lying wastes of the
Chunian tahsil and in parts of Sharakpur. In the Changa Manga
forest nilgai and wild hog are to be found. The fox, jackal, and wild
cat are common. Game-birds are few.

The climate of Lahore does not differ from that of the Punjab plains
in general, save that it is moister in June owing to the canal-irrigation.
The monsoon as a rule lasts a very few days, and the great heat of July
and August is rendered more intolerable by the excessive moisture in
the air. The average annual rainfall varies from 22 inches on the
north-east border to 13 inches on the south-west.

The history of the District is that of its chief towns, LAHORE and
KASUR. It was created in 1849, when the Punjab was annexed, and the
greater part of the Sharakpur tahdl was added in
1855. During the Mutiny of 1857, a plot among the
sepoys at Mian Mir to seize the fort of Lahore was fortunately discovered
in time, and frustrated by the disarming of the mutinous regiments
under the guns of a battery of horse artillery, supported by a British
infantry regiment. Throughout the rebellion Lahore continued in
a disturbed state. In July the 26th Native Infantry Regiment mutinied
at Mian Mir, and, after murdering some of their officers, succeeded in
effecting their escape under cover of a dust-storm. They were, however,
overtaken on the banks of the Ravi, and destroyed by a force under
Mr. Cooper, Deputy-Commissioner of Amritsar. The strictest pre-
cautions were adopted in and around the city, until the fall of Delhi
removed all further cause of apprehension.

The only pre-Muhammadan remains are a number of mounds on
the Gujranwala border. They have never been excavated, but coins
of the Indo-Parthian and Kushan dynasties have been found, as well
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as a few fragments of terra-cotta figures. For the principal antiquities
of the District see LAHORE CITY.
The District contains 7 towns and 1,533 villages. Its population
at the last four enumerations was: (1868) 788,409, (1881) 924,106,
(1891) 1,075,379, and (1901) 1,162,109. In the last
decade there was a marked decrease in the popula-
tion of the Sharakpur tahdl and of the Ravi valley, and a slight
decrease in the Sutlej lowlands, while the population of the Manjha
and of Lahore city increased largely. The District is divided into
the four tahsils of Lahore, Chunian, Kasur, and Sharakpur, the head-
quarters of each being at the place from which it is named. The
towns are the municipalities of LAHORE, the administrative head-
quarters of the Province and the District, KASUR, KHEM KARAN,
PATTI, CHONIAN, KHUDIAN, and SHARAKPUR.
The following table shows the chief statistics of population in
1901 -—
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Lahore . 730 372 474,181 649.6 +10.2 33,807
Chunian 1,166 2 430 257,281 2207 +11.4 7,436
Kasur . 820 3 345 311, 690 380.1 +11.1 7,069
Sharakpur sss > W 118957 1:9 0
Fo 3,11951, 431
District total 3 704 | 1533 L162,109 3137 o Pl
: , + 8

NOTE.—The figures for the areas of tahsils are taken from tevenue returns. The
total area of the District is that given in the Census Report.

Muhammadans number 717,519, or 62 per cent, of the total;
Hindus, 276,375, or 24 per cent.; and Sikhs, 159,701, or 14 per
cent. /Lahore city contains the  head-quarters: of 'severa religious
organizations, including ‘branches of the Arya Sama and. of the
Sanatan Dharm Sabha, two influential Hindu societies. The density
is 314 persons per square mile, which is very much higher than the
Provincial average (209). It varies from 650 in the Lahore tahsl',
which includes the city, to 134 in the Sharakpur tahsil, three-fourths
of which is uncultivated. Punjabi is the language both of the District
and of the city, though Urdu is known and on occasions used by most
of the city folk.

Jats (192,000) are the most important tribe. The Sikh Jat is
a better cultivator and a better fighter than the Hindu or Muham-
madan, and the Sikh of the MANJHA has been described in the article
on AMRITSAR DISTRICT. Next to the Jats in numbers come the
market-gardener tribe of Arains (128,000), who are settled on either
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bank of the Ravi. Raputs (60,000) here, as elsewhere, are poor
farmers and heavily in debt. Kambohs (23,000) and Dogars (8,000)
are agricultural and pastoral tribes. The Mahtams (10,000) are a wild
tribe, proclaimed under the Criminal Tribes Act. Brahmans number
25,000 and Saiyids 10,000. Commercial castes include the Khojas
(17,000), who are Muhammadans, the Khattrls (42,000), and the
Aroras (38,000), who are almost all Hindus, with a few Sikhs. Of the
artisan classes, the Julahas (weavers, 44,000), Telis (oil-pressers, 34,000),
Tarkhans (carpenters, 40,000), Kumhars (potters, 40,000), Mochis
(shoemakers and leather-workers, 24,000), and Lohars (blacksmiths,
16,000) are the most important; and of the menials, the Chuhras
(scavengers, 127,000), Machhis (fishermen and water-carriers, 28,000),
Jhinwars (water-carriers, 20,000), Chhimbas and Dhobis (washermen,
18,000), and Nais (barbers, 16,000). The Mirasis (village minstrels)
number 13,000. Other castes which appear in strength are the Kash-
miris (16,000), who are immigrants from Kashmir, and generaly live
by wool-weaving; and the mendicants (15,000). The Labanas (11,000)
were formerly carriers, but their trade having been superseded by the
railway they have now taken to cultivation. About 40 per cent, of the
population are supported by agriculture.

The District contained 2,990 native Christians in 1901. Lahore
was occupied in 1849 by the American Presbyterian Mission, which
has out-stations at Kasur and Wagah; the principal institution is the
Forman Christian College. The Church Missionary Society, which
established a branch at Lahore in 1867, maintains a Divinity School for
the purpose of training native Christians as clergy and catechists, and
also a settlement at the village of Clarkabad. The Methodist Episcopal
Mission started work at Lahore in 1883. The Punjab Religious Book
Society has its central depository in Lahore, for supplying religious and
other works in English and in the vernacular languages.

With a rainfall ranging from, 20 inches in. the east to, 8 inches in the
west, cultivation naturally depends mainly on artificial irrigation. The
soil is for the most part loam, varying in fertility
according to the amount of sand it contains. In
the low-lying land where surface drainage collects, the soil is stiff, with
little sand. In the river tracts a pure alluvial loam is found, and the
east of the Kasur Manjha is formed of good fertile land covered with
a slight coating of sand. In places a still sandier soil occurs, fit only
for growing the inferior pulses; and there are, chiefly in the low-lying
river lands, considerable tracts of sandy and salt-impregnated soils which
are worthless even under irrigation. In the Manjha, however, the un-
cultivated waste is almost entirely confined to tracts to which the Bari
Doab Canal has not been extended. In the western Manjha the rainfall
is too feeble and uncertain to ripen crops by itself; and where there
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is no irrigation, the cultivated land is surrounded by an expanse of
waste which serves as a catchment area for the rainfall.

The District is held amost entirely by small peasant proprietors,
large estates covering about 202 square miles and lands leased from
Government 90 square miles.  The area for which details are available
from the revenue records of 1903-4 is 3,594 square miles, as shown
below:—

Tahsil. Total. | Cultivated. | Irrigated. | Cultivable
L ahore 730 | 500 322 %
Chunian 1,161 671 538 275
Kasur 816 660 436 o
Sharakpur . 887 291 259 357
Total | 3594 | 2122 1555 805

Wheat, the chief crop of the spring harvest, occupied 801 square
miles, gram 236 square miles, and barley only 33 sguare miles. In the
autumn harvest, cotton, the chief crop, covered 193 square miles, while
maize is the principal food-grain (123 square miles), followed by rice
(60) and great millet (38).

The area under cultivation increased by 8 per cent, during the ten
years ending 1901, and the tendency is for it still to rise, partly owing
to the extension of canal-irrigation and partly from the increased
pressure of the population on the soil. In 1896-7 a colony was
established on 35,000 acres of state lands irrigated by the Bari Doab
Canal in the Chunian tahsil, and an additional area of 4,000 acres was
thrown open in 1903. In this colony 24 new villages have been
founded, the land having either been sold, or leased to carefully
selected occupancy tenants. Little has been done to improve the
quality of the seeds sown, though experiments in growing indigo and
cultivating the bara variety of rice have been made..  Loans for the
construction ' of ‘wells ‘are | growing in ' popularity, and more than
Rs. 40,000 was advanced during the five years ending 1903-4 under
the Land Improvement Loans Act. Loans for the purchase of
bullocks and seed amounted to Rs. 1,88,000 in the same period.

Few cattle are bred in the District, as most of the cultivators are
supplied by itinerant dealers from Hissar, Multan, Montgomery, or
Bahawalpur with picked animals suitable for well and plough-work,
while the north of the District is supplied chiefly from Amritsar,
Gujranwala, and Jhang. The cattle found in the Manjha present, in
strength and condition, a great contrast to the weakly half-starved
animals of the Ravi and Sutlej valleys, partly because the Manjha
people can better afford the luxury of good cattle, and partly because
only the strongest animals are able to stand the work entailed by
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the deep Manjha wells, the heavy ploughing of the canal-irrigated
lands, and the long distances to which produce has to be transported
in carts. There is a large trade in ghi and milk in the villages within
easy reach of Lahore. Horses and ponies are most numerous in the
Manjha; 5 pony stallions are kept by the District board and 14 by the
Army Remount department; 5 donkey stallions are kept by the Dis-
trict board and 13 by the Army Remount department. There are not
many mules in the District, but donkeys are largely used as pack
animals. Large numbers of sheep and goats are bred, and camels
are used both as pack animals and for riding.

Of the total area cultivated in 1903-4, 1,555 square miles, or 73 per
cent., were classed as irrigated. Of this area, 543 square miles were
supplied from wells, 77 from wells and canals, 881 from canals, and
54 from streams and tanks. In addition, 116 sguare miles, or nearly
5% per cent, of the cultivated area, are subject to inundation from the
Ravi and Sutlej. On the left bank of the Ravi the greater part of the
Manjha is irrigated by the BARI DOAB CANAL, while the low-lying
lands of the Sutlej are irrigated from wells and by the Katora,
Khanwah, and Upper Sohag canals of the UPPER SUTLEJ INUN-
DATION CANALS system. In the Ravi valey, and in the alluvial land
on the north bank of the Sutlej, cultivation depends largely on river
inundation. In the Sharakpur tahsl, north of the Ravi, wells afford
the only permanent irrigation, supplemented by inundation and
channel irrigation from the Degh stream. There are 15,461 masonry
wells, all worked with Persian wheels by cattle, besides 221 lever wells,
water-lifts, and unbricked wells.

The District contains 23 sguare miles of ‘reserved' and 187 of
unclassed forests under the Forest department. The most important
is the Changa Manga plantation, a 'reserved' forest with an area of
37 square miles, chiefly covered with shisham, which is irrigated from
the Bari Doab Canal. The Shahdara plantation, another 'reserved'
forest, has' an area 'of 2/ square miles.” In 1903-4 the total forest
receipts were 2-1 lakhs. In addition, 19 square miles are held as
Reserves by the Military department, and 429 acres of unclassed
forest are under the control of the Deputy-Commissioner.

Kankar or nodular limestone is found in most parts, and saltpetre
is produced to some extent, chiefly in the Sharakpur tahsil. There are
no other mineral products of any value.

Arts and manufactures are mostly confined to Lahore city, and
comprise chiefly the making of cotton fabrics, vegetable oils, ivory
bangles, leather, furniture, and bricks, and printing
on cloth. In all parts coarse cotton cloth is
woven, and cotton cleaning, baling, and pressing
are carried on. The District contains 20 cotton-ginning factories,
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7 cotton-presses, and one combined ginning and pressing factory,
which give employment to a total of 1,434 persons. The great
factory centres are LAHORE, CHUNIAN, and KASUR. In addition,
Lahore city contains two cotton-spinning and weaving mills, em-
ploying 771 hands, the North-Western Railway workshops with 4,669
employe's, an iron foundry with 57, an oil and flour-mill with 65, and
two printing presses with 229. At Kasur leather and cotton carpets
are manufactured.

Lahore city is the commercial centre of the District, but Kasur,
Chunian, and Raiwind are important for local trade. Large quantities
of wheat, cotton, and oilseeds are exported to Karachi, and cotton-seed
to Ferozepore. The chief imports are piece-goods, brass and copper
vessdls, and iron; while Lahore city and cantonment import a great
variety of supplies for their inhabitants. At Lahore are the head-
quarters of the Punjab Banking Company, with a branch in the
cantonment, and branches of the Alliance Bank of Simla, the Com-
mercial Bank of India, and the National Bank of India.

Lahore is the point of junction of railways from Karachi, Peshawar,
and Delhi, and the head-quarters of the North-Western State Railway.
A branch from Ferozepore joins the Karachi line at Raiwind, and the
Tarn Taran-Pattl section of the Amritsar-Patti branch was opened in
December, 1906. The grand trunk road passes through Lahore, and
an important metalled road runs from Lahore to Ferozepore. The
total length of metalled roads is 199 miles, and of unmetalled roads
856 miles. Of these, 103 miles of metalled and 17 of unmetalled
roads are under the Public Works department, and the rest are main-
tained by the District board. Besides these, the roads along the banks
of the main branches of the Bari Doab Canal are perhaps the best
unmetalled roads to be found in the District. The grand trunk road
crosses the Ravi by a bridge of boats, and wheeled traffic can also
pass over the railway bridge. There are twenty-seven ferries on the
Ravi; ‘those on the Sutlej are maintained by the Ferozepore District
board.

A severe famine occurred in 1759, and the District was devastated
by the terrible distress of 1783.  Subsequent famines occurred in 1813,
1823, 1833, 1867, and 1896. The construction of
the Bari Doab Canal has now, however, rendered the
District practically secure from famine, except as regards the unirri-
gated Sharakpur tahsil, which is in course of protection. In 1896-7
an area of 625 sguare miles was affected; the highest daily average
relieved in any week was 10,425, and the total amount expended was
Rs. 64,000. In 1899-1900 the whole of the Sharakpur taksil (894
square miles) was affected; but the highest daily average relieved in
any week was only 2,559, and the expenditure was Rs. 34,000.



ADMINISTRA  TION 103

The District is in charge of a Deputy-Commissioner, aided by eight
Assistant and Extra-Assistant Commissioners, of whom one is the
subdivisional officer in charge of the Kasur outpost.

There are four tahsils, each under a tahsildar and

a naib-tahsildar. Lahore is the head-quarters of the Deputy-Inspector-
General of Police, Central Range, an Assistant Conservator of Forests,
a Superintending Engineer, and two Executive Engineers of the Canal
department.

The Deputy-Commissioner as District Magistrate is responsible for
criminal justice, while civil judicial work is under a District Judge,
supervised by the Divisional and Sessions Judge of the Lahore Civil
Division, which includes this District only. The District Judge is
assisted by a Subordinate Judge and four Munsifs, one for each tahsil,
those for Lahore and Sharakpur both sitting at Lahore, and those for
Kasur and Chunian at the tahsil head-quarters. A Small Cause Court
Judge also sits at Lahore. The criminal work of the District is heavy.
Dacoities have, however, decreased of late, owing to the strenuous
measures that have been taken in conjunction with the Ferozepore
local authorities to suppress them.

The Sikhs collected revenue in their usual way—taking one-quarter
of the gross produce in kind, or levying acreage rates in cash on the
more valuable crops, while in some cases Rs. 12 wes paid in a lump
sum on the land irrigated by a single well. A great part of the District
was granted in jaglr, and the land reserved by the State was partly
farmed out to lessees, who exacted the legal amount and as much more
as they dared. The cultivator, whether owner or not, was responsible
for the revenue, and the distinction between owner and occupier was
hardly recognized.

After annexation in 1849, a summary settlement was made, based on
a deduction of 10 per cent, from the assumed value of the kind rents
taken by the Sikhs.. In_each tahsil, however, the reduced assessment
was pitched too high. 'The demand was rigid and payable in.cash, so
that, when prices began to fall rapidly, a bad harvest in 1851 completed
the general distress and amplified the growing distrust of the British
revenue system. The regular settlement began in 1852 with grants of
large ad interim reductions to the distressed villages, whereby the
people were induced to return to their homes. The settlement report,
completed in 1856, showed an all-round deduction of 10 per cent, on
the summary settlement. The relief thus given seems to have been
sufficient; and the rise in prices which followed on the drought of 1861
made the assessment very moderate, so that by 1864 the resources of
the people had generally doubled. The revised settlement took one-
sixth of the gross value of the produce as the share of Government, and
distributed the result thus obtained 6ver all villages by an acreage rate.
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In addition, a separate assessment was fixed on every well and every
acre of canal-irrigation. The result was an increase of 33 per cent, on
the regular settlement. The settlement was arigid one, and rates were
firmly adhered to, with the natural result that the distribution of an
assessment, moderate in the aggregate, fell lightly on some villages and
unduly heavily on others. In 1888 the District once more came under
settlement. It was found that village prices had risen 20 to 25 per cent.,
and that cultivation had increased 33 per cent., almost entirely owing
to the extension of the Bari Doab Canal to the uplands of the Manjha,
while the population had risen 36 per cent. The half net ‘'assets,
calculated at produce rates, amounted to 14 lakhs. The initial demand
of the new settlement was 9% lakhs. The average assessment on ' dry'
land is R. 0-9-6 (maximum 15 annas, minimum 4 annas), and that
on 'wet' land Rs. 6-5-0 (maximum Rs. 12, minimum 4 annas).
The demand, including cesses, for 1903-4 was 12.5 lakhs. The average
size of a proprietary holding is 4-4 acres.

The collections of [and revenue and of total revenue are shown below,
in thousands of rupees :(—

1880-1. 1890-1. 1900-1. 1903-4.

Land revenue . 7,00 8,22 10.21 10:47
Total revenue. 11,58 16,31 25,80 26,62

The District contains seven municipalities : LAHORE, KASUR, KHEM
KARAN, PATTI, CHUNIAN, KHUDIAN, and SHARAKPUR. Outside these,
local affairs are managed by the District board, whose income in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 1,22,895, mainly derived from a local rate. A large
portion of the income is expended on public works.

The police force consists of 1,663 men of all ranks, including
70 cantonment and 685 municipal police, under a Superintendent, who
usually has 2 Assistants, 2. Deputy-Superintendents. (one.in charge of
Lahore city and the other in charge of the Kasur subdivision), and
10 inspectors under him. Village watchmen number 1,387, besides
some 12 town watchmen in Patti and Sharakpur. There are 25
police stations. Lahore city contains three jails—the Central jail,
District jail, and female penitentiary, all under one Superintendent.
The Central jail has accommodation for 1,721 prisoners, the District
jail for 578, and the female penitentiary for 364.

Lahore stands eighth among the twenty-eight Punjab Districts in
literacy, 44 per cent, of its population in 1901 being able to read and
write (7.4 per cent, males and 07 females). The proportion is highest
in the Lahore tahsil The number of pupils under instruction was
6,279 in 1880-1, 14,437 in 1890-1, 19,271 in 1900-r, and 18,370 in
1903-4. Inthe last year the District contained 5 Arts colleges, 3 pro-
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fessional colleges, 28 secondary schools, 112 primary schools, 8 special
(public) schools, and 8 advanced and 154 elementary (private) schools,
with 1,802 girlsin public and 1,182 girls in private schools. The Arts
colleges are the Government, Forman Christian, Dayanand, Islamiya,
and Oriental Colleges; the professional colleges are the Medical, Law,
and Government Central Training Colleges. Other special institutions
are: the Normal School, the Mayo School of Arts, the Medical School,
the Railway Technical School, the Veterinary School, the Victoria
Hindu Technical Institute, and classes in Y unani and Vedic medicine.
All these institutions are in Lahore city. The District possesses 13 high
schools for boys—one at Kasur, and the rest, of which 3 are for European
boys, at Lahore. The total expenditure on education in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 10,08,000, of which the District fund contributed
Rs. 29,000, municipal funds Rs. 23,000, and Government Rs. 6,16,000.
There was also an income of Rs. 2,04,000 from school fess and
Rs. 1,36,000 from other sources.

The medical institutions in Lahore city are the Mayo and Lady
Aitchison Hospitals, and two dispensaries—one maintained by the
municipality, and one for females by the American Presbyterian
Mission. There is a hospital at Kasur, and six outlying dispensaries.
The number of cases treated in 1904 was 130,300, of whom 4,666 were
in-patients, and 10,395 operations were performed. The expenditure
was Rs. 1,00,000, of which municipal funds contributed Rs. 20,000.
The Punjab Lunatic Asylum is situated at Lahore, as also are the
Medical and Veterinary Colleges.

The number of persons successfully vaccinated in 1903-4 was 35,437,
representing 30*9 per 1,000 of the population. The Vaccination Act
has been extended to Lahore city.

(G. C. Walker, District Gazetteer (1893-4), Settlement Report (1894),
and Customary Law of the Mam Tribes in the Lahore District (1894);
Saiyid Muhammad Latlf, Lahore, its History, &c.:(1892).]

L ahoreTahsil.—Tahsll of Lahore District, Punjab, lying.between
31° 14' and 31° 44' N. and 74° o' and 74° 40' E., with an area of
730 square miles, of which three-fourths are in the tract known as the
MANJHA, and the rest in the Ravi lowlands. It is traversed by the
Ravi, the northern high bank of which roughly coincides with
the northern borders of the tahsl The upland portion is irrigated
by the Bari Doab Canal. The population in 1901 was 474,181,
compared with 430,378 in 1891. The head-quarters are at LAHORE
CITY (population, 186,884), and there are also 372 villages. The
land revenue and cesses in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 3,90,000.

Lahore City (Lahaur)—Capital of the Punjab and of the Division
and District which take their names from it, situated in 31° 35' N. and
74° 20" E., on the river Ravi, at the junction of railway lines from
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Karachi, Peshawar, and Calcutta: distance by rail from Calcutta,
1,252 miles; Bombay, 1,280; Karachi, 784; and Delhi, 298. The
city is the second largest in the Province; and the
population, excluding that of the cantonment, was
138,878 in 1881, 159,597 in 1891, and 186,884 in 1901. The popu-
lation in 1901 included 113,253 Muhammadans, 62,922 Hindus,
5,964 Sikhs, and 4,199 Christians.

Though legend attributes the founding of Lahore or Lohawarana to

Lava, the son of Rama, it is not probable that Lahore was founded

before the first century A.D., as we neither find it

mentioned in connexion with Alexander, nor is it
described by Strabo or Pliny. On the other hand, it may possibly be
the Labokla of Ptolemy, as Amakatis, which is mentioned by that
author as near Labokla, has been identified by Cunningham with
the ruins of Amba Kapi, about 25 miles from Lahore. The first
certain historical record of Lahore is, however, that of Hiuen Tsiang,
who mentions it as a large Brahmanical city visited by him in A.D. 630
on his way to Jullundur. About this time it is probable that the
capital of the kingdom of Lahore was transferred to Sialkot, as Albiruni
speaks of Lahore as a province whose capital was Mandhukur, and it
is noticeable that Al Masudi makes no mention of Lahore.

At the end of the tenth century the kingdom of Lahore was in the
hands of a Brahman dynasty, and in A.D. 988 Jai Pal, the reigning
monarch, was decisively beaten by Sabuktagin. Mahmud did not visit
Lahore for more than twenty years after his first invasion of the Punjab,
though he defeated Jai Pal in 1001 and Anand Pal in 1008. Lahore
city was not at this time a place of great importance. In 1034 Lahore
was seized by Nialtigin, the revolted governor of Multan. He, how-
ever, was expelled, and in 1036 Lahore was made the capital of the
Ghaznivid dominions east of the Indus. A final insurrection by
the Hindus at, Lahore in. 1042 was quelled- by -Maudud, and the city
was left in‘charge of Malik-Ayaz, whom Muhammadan tradition regards
as the founder. During the reign of the first eight Ghaznivid princes
I"ahore was governed by viceroys as the head-quarters of a province,
but during the reign of Masud |11 (1099-1114) it was made the seat
of government of the empire. After Masud's death Muhammad
Bahlim, governor of Lahore, rebelled against Bahram Shah in 1119,
but was defeated; and in 1153 Khusru Shah again transferred the
seat of government to Lahore, where it remained till 1193. The city
was put to ransom by Muhammad of Ghor in 1181, and taken in 1186.
From this time onwards Lahore was the centre of the opposition to
the authorities at Delhi, while subject to the constant incursions of the
turbulent Khokhars, who devastated the country round in 1205. On
the death of Muhammad of Ghor in 1206 Kutb-ud-din Aibak was
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crowned at Lahore; his lieutenant Kubacha lost the city to Taj-ud-
din Yalduz in 1206, but it was recovered by Kutb-ud-din in the same
year. From the death of Aram Shah in 12 11the province of Lahore
became the bone of contention between Altamsh at Delhi, Nasir-
ud-din Kubacha at Multan, and Taj-ud-din Yalduz at Ghazni. Yal-
duz in 1215 took Lahore from Nasir-ud-din; but Altamsh defeated
him in the following year, and made himself master of the city in
1217. On the death of Altamsh in 1236, Malik Ala-ud-din Jani
of Lahore broke out in revolt; and after he had been defeated and
killed, Kabi-Khan-i-Ayaz of Lahore likewise rebelled in 1238, but
submitted later.

Then follows a century during which Lahore lay at the mercy of
incessant Mongol raids. It was taken by them in 1241, and put to
ransom in 1246. The city was rebuilt by Balban in 1270; but in 1285
the Mongols returned, and Balban's son, prince Muhammad, was slain
in an encounter on the banks of the Ravi, the poet Amir Khusru being
captured at the same time. Muhammad's son, Kai Khusru, was
appointed governor of the Punjab in his stead, but was murdered in
1287. The suburb of Mughalpura was founded about this time by
Mongol settlers, and Dua the Chaghatai made a raid on Lahore in
1301. Under Ala-ud-din Khilji, Ghazl Malik, afterwards the emperor
Tughlak Shah, received charge of the territories of Dlpalpur and Lahore
as warden of the marches against the Mongols, an office he seems
to have discharged with some success. However, the Khokhars took
Lahore in 1342, and again in 1394, when it was recovered by Sarang
Khan. In 1398 Lahore was taken by a detachment of Timur's army,
and seems to have lain desolate till it was rebuilt by Mubarak Shah
in 1422. Jasrath Khokhar attacked Lahore in the same year, and
again in 1431 and 1432, but without success; but in 1433 Shaikh Ali
took the city, which, however, he had almost immediately to surrender.
In 1441 Bahlol .Khan Lodi was appointed to the fiefs of Lahore and
Dipalpur, tand seizedthe opportunity of turning against his: master
Muhammad Shah. Lahore seems to have enjoyed a period of peace
under the Pathans; but in the reign of Ibrahim Lodi, Daulat
Khan Lodi, governor of Lahore, revolted and called in the aid
of Babar. Lahore was plundered by Babar's troops in 1524, but
in his final invasion in the next year he passed to the north through
Sialkot.

The period of Mughal rule was the golden time of the history
of Lahore, which again became a place of royal residence and grew
to be, in the language of Abul Fazl, ' the grand resort of people
of all nations'; it still retains many splendid memorials of this period.
On the accession of Humayun, Kamran, his younger brother; took
possession of Lahore and obtained the Punjab together with Kabul
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and Kandahar. In the struggle between Humayun and Sher Shah,
Ignore was the military head-quarters of the Mughals, and narrowly
escaped destruction on their temporary defeat. Humayun entered
Lahore triumphantly in 1554, being received with every expresson
of joy; but after Akbar had come to the throne, the place was
sdized in 1563 by his younger brother Hakim, who, though expelled,
made another assault in 1581, from which he was repelled by Akbar
in person. Akbar held his court at Lahore from 1584 to 1598,
where he was visited by some Portuguese missonaries, and by the
Englishmen Fitch, Newbery, Leedes, and Story. He enlarged and
repaired the fort, and surrounded the town with a wall, portions
of which till remain, embedded in the modern work of Ranjit
Singh. Specimens of the mixed Hindu and Saracenic style adopted
by Akbar survive within the fort, though largely defaced by later
alterations. Under that great emperor, Lahore rapidly increased
in area and population. The most thickly inhabited portion covered
the dte of the existing city, but long bazars and populous suburbs
sporead over the now desolate tract without the walls.

Some time after Jahangir's successon in 1605 prince Khusru escaped
from Agra, seized the suburbs of Lahore, and beseged the citadel;
but he was quickly defeated and his followers put to death with great
barbarity. Guru Arjun was implicated in this rebellion and died
in captivity, or, as the Sikh tradition has it, disappeared miraculously
beneath the waters of the Ravi. His shrine still stands between the
Mughal palace and the mausoleum of Ranjit Singh. Jahangir fixed
his court at Lahore in 1622 and died near by in 1627. He erected
the greater Khwabgah or ' deeping-place; the Moti Masjid or ' pearl
mosque,’ and the tomb of Anarkali, now used as a repository of secre-
tariat records. The palace originally conssted of a large quadrangle,
surrounded on three sdes by a colonnade of red stone pillars, with
capitals intricately carved. with -figures of. peacocks €elephants, and
griffins.._In the centre of the fourth side, overlooking the Ravi, stood
a lofty pavilion in the Mughal syle flanked by two chambers with
elaborately decorated verandas of Hindu architecture. A garden
filled the interior space of the quadrangle, with a raised platform
of marble mosaic, while beneath the colonnade and pavilion under-
ground chambers afforded cool retreats from the midday sun. The
beauty of this building was largely disfigured by Sikh and European
alterations, but a great deal has been done recently towards its
restoration. Jahangir's mausoleum at Shahdara forms one of the
chief ornaments of Lahore, though even this has suffered. The tombs
of Nur Jahin, his devoted wife, and of her brother Asaf Khan, have

fared worse, having been stripped of their marble facings and coloured
enamels by the Sikhs.
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Shah Jahan erected a smaller palace by the side of his father's
building, the beauty of which can still be discerned through the
whitewash which covers the marble slabs and hides the depredations
of the Sikhs. To the same emperor is due the range of buildings to
the left of the Khwabgah, with octagonal towers, the largest of which,
known as the Samman Burj, contains the exquisite pavilion, inlaid
with flowers wrought in precious stones, which derives its name
of 'the Naulakha' from its original cost of 9 lakhs; together with
the Shish Mahal, afterwards the reception-room of Ranjit Singh,
and the scene of the transfer by Dalip Singh of the sovereignty of the
Punjab to the British Government. Lahore was seized by Shahryar
on Jahangir's death; but he was soon defeated, and between 1628
and 1637 Lahore enjoyed peace and prosperity under the rule of
Ali Mardan Khan and Hakim Alf-ud-din, generally known as Wazir
Khan. The mosque built by the latter in 1634, in a Perso-Mughal
style, contains in the panellings of its walls and minarets the finest
known examples of khashi or inlaid pottery. This form of decoration,
which must be reckoned among the lost arts of India, may also be
studied to advantage in the mosque erected by Dai Anga, the wet-
nurse of Shah Jahan, in 1635, which, after being used for several
years as an office, has now been vacated anc® restored ; in the
Chauburji, or 'four-turreted gateway,” built in 1641 by the princess
Zeb-un-nisa, daughter of Aurangzeb; and in the Lahore fort, where
the khashi panels cover a surface of about 8,000 square yards. The
panelling in the fort was carried out during the reigns of Jahanglr
and Shah Jahan, and possesses a special interest in the fact that,
contrary to the almost invariable rule in Muhammadan art, figures
of men and animals are freely introduced. During the reign of Shah
Jahan, Lahore must have had a circuit of some 16 or 17 miles, the
portion of the city outside the walls consisting of numerous thickly
inhabited  suburbs connected with the city gates by long bazars.
The people of Lahore warmly ‘espoused the cause of Dara Shikoh,
and supplied-him with men and money -onhis flight westward in
1658.

The Shalamar gardens and pleasure-ground, situated 4 miles east
of Lahore city, were laid out in 1667 by Ali Mardan Khan, the
celebrated engineer of Shah Jahan, in imitation of the garden planned
by the emperor Jahanglr at the sources of the Jhelum river in Kashmir.
The garden consisted of seven divisions representing the seven degrees
of the Paradise of Islam, of which only three are included in the
present area of about 80 acres, the remainder having fallen into
decay. In the centre is a reservoir, bordered by an elaborately
indented coping and studded with pipes for fountains. A cascade
fals into it over a slope of marble corrugated in an ornamental
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carved diaper. During the troublous times of Ahmad Shah the
gardens were neglected, and some of the decorative works were
defaced and removed. Ranjit Singh restored them ; but at the
same time he laid ruthless hands upon the marble pavilions of the
central reservoir, using them to adorn the Rambagh at Amritsar,
and substituting structures of brick and whitewash in their stead.
Under Aurangzeb Lahore began to decline in population. Even
before his time the foundation of Shahjahanabad, or modern Delhi,
had drawn away the majority of the classes dependent upon the
court; and the constant absence of the emperor contributed still
more to depress the city. Aurangzeb also constructed an embankment
for three miles along the Ravi, to prevent inundations, but with such
undesirable success that the river completely altered its course, and
left the town at a considerable distance. Among his other works,
the Jama Masjid or ' great mosque' ranks first, a stiff and somewhat
ungraceful piece of architecture, which, in its poverty of detail,
contrasts with the gorgeous profuseness of Agra and Delhi.

With the reign of Aurangzeb the architectural history of Lahore
may be said to close, later attempts marking only the rapid decadence
of art, which culminated in the tawdry erections of the Sikhs. From
the accession of Bahadur Shah till the establishment of Ranjit Singh's
authority at the beginning of the nineteenth century, the annals of
Lahore consist of successive invasions and conquests by Nadir Shah,
Ahmad Shah, and many less famous depredators. The magnificent
city of the Mughal princes and their viceroys sank into a mere heap
of ruins, containing a few scattered houses and a couple of Sikh
forts within its shrunken walls; while outside, a wide expanse of
broken remains marked the site of the decaying suburbs which once
surrounded the capital.

As the capital of an outlying province Lahore early felt the effects
of the decay of, the empire. "It was threatened by Banda's:insurrection,
and Bahadur-Shah marched there'in 1712, but died"before he could
effect anything. A conflict ensued outside the walls of Lahore between
his son Jahandar and Azlm-ush-shan, in which the latter was defeated
and drowned in the Ravi. Under Farrukhsiyar the governor of
Lahore was defeated by the Sikhs. He was succeeded by Abdus
Samad Khan, who defeated the rebels and took Banda prisoner;
and under his son Zakariya Khan the province had peace for twenty-
one years (1717-38). He, however, found it prudent to submit to
Nadir Shah, who accepted a ransom in lieu of plundering the city.
Ahmad Shah Durrani occupied Lahore in 1748, and again in his
second invasion, after some resistance from Mir Mannu (Muin-ul-mulk),
the new governor. Mir Mannu was succeeded by his widow, and
her abduction by the Wazir was the pretext for Ahmad Shah's fourth
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invasion (1755). Lahore was occupied and placed under prince Timur,
from whom, however, it was taken by the Sikhs under Jassa Singh.
They were expelled"by the Marathas in 1758, who installed Adina
Beg as governor. He died a few months later, and the Maratha power
was broken by Ahmad Shah's victory at Panlpat in 1761, while the
Sikhs, who again besieged Lahore, were defeated in the following year
with great slaughter at Barnala, Kabuli Mai being left as governor
of Lahore. The Sikh cavalry ravaged the country round, and after
Ahmad Shah's seventh invasion Kabuli Mai was ejected and the
Sikhs again became masters of Lahore.

For the thirty years following Ahmad Shah's fina departure
(1767-97) the Sikhs ruled in Lahore unmolested ; then in 1797 Shah
Zaman appeared before the city and put it to ransom. The next
year he appeared again, and on this occasion Ranjit Singh re-
ceived from him on his retirement a formal grant of the govern-
ment of Lahore. The rise of Ranjit Singh's power made Lahore
once more the centre of a flourishing, though ephemeral, kingdom.
The great Maharaja stripped the Muhammadan tombs of their orna-
ments, which he sent to decorate the temple at Amritsar; but he
restored the Shalamar gardens, erected a really beautiful baradari
in the space between the palace and the Jama Masjid, and aso built
a number of minor erections in the very worst taste. His mausoleum,
a mixed work of Hindu and Muhammadan architecture, forms one
of the latest specimens of Sikh workmanship. The collapse of the
Lahore kingdom under Ranjit Singh's successors forms a chapter
of Provincial history (see PUNJAB). | n December, 1846, the Council
of Regency was established, and the British Resident became the
real central authority at Lahore. On March 29, 1849, at the con-
clusion of the second Sikh War, the young Mahargia Dalip Singh
resigned the government to the British. In 1849 the environs still
remained a mere expanse of crumbling ‘ruins; and the houses of the
first European residents: clustered ‘around the ‘old cantonment, on
a strip of alluvial lowland, south of the town, running parallel to
a former bed of the Ravi. Gradually, however, the station spread
eastward; and now a new town covers a large part of the area once
given over to ruins and jungle, while every year sees fresh additions
to the renovated capital.

The native city covers an area of about one square mile. It was
formerly surrounded by a brick wall, rising to a height of 30 feet and
strengthened by a moat and other defences. But
the moat has been filled in and the wall razed, and
a garden now occupies the site of the trench and wall, encircling the
city on every side except the north. Though situated in an alluvial
plain, the present town stands high on the debris of ages. A metalled
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road runs round the outer side of the rampart, and gives access to the
city by thirteen gates. The citadel or fort rises upon a slight but
commanding eminence at the north-eastern angle, and abuts north-
ward on the old river bed, while the esplanade stretches over an open
space to the south and east. Within the city, narrow and tortuous
streets, as well as lanes, some of them ending in culs-de-sac, and lined
by tall houses, give Lahore a mean and gloomy appearance; but the
magnificent buildings of the Mughal period serve to relieve the dullness
of its domestic architecture, and many of the houses are adorned with
beautiful wood-carving. On the north-eastern side especialy, the
mosque of Aurangzeb, with its plain white marble domes and simple
minarets, the mausoleum of Ranjit Singh, with its rounded roof and
projecting balconies, and the desecrated facade of the Mughal palace,
stand side by side in front of an open grassy plain, exhibiting a grand
coup d'aeil.

The European quarter, or civil station, lies on the south and east of
the city. The older part, known as Anarkali, lies to the south, and
originally contained a cantonment, abandoned in 1851-2 on account
of its unhealthiness. Anarkali is connected with the city by a fine
road known as the Old Mall, and contains the Secretariat buildings,
District court-house, Government College, Punjab University, Senate
Hall, the new University Hall, Town Hall, Museum, the Punjab Public
Library converted from an old Mughal pavilion, Mayo and Lady
Aitchison Hospitals, the Volunteer Club and many other public
buildings, and a fine public garden. At the south end of the Old
Mall stands the Chauburji, which formed the gateway of the garden
of Zeb-un-nisa, the accomplished daughter of Aurangzeb. To the east
is the railway colony, grouped about the station in the quarter known
as the Naulakha. It contains a railway school building, a theatre, and
well-laid-out playgrounds. Near the railway station to the west are
a large temple and dharmsala built by  Mul Chand, merchant. On
the Empress Road a large building has been constructed for railway
offices. To the south-east the Upper Mall stretches out for a distance
of 3 miles to Government House and the Lawrence and Montgomery
Halls. This road is the main thoroughfare of the newer residential
quarter; and on or near it are situated the Cathedral and Orphanages,
and the Chief Court, besides sundry Government orifices and most of
the European shops. A large public garden surrounds the Lawrence
and Montgomery Halls, containing a zoological garden, with a good
collection of water-fowl. The village of Mozang on the south-east of
the city is now almost surrounded on three sides by European resi-
dences. Beyond Government House on the way to LAHORE CANTON-
MENT is the Aitchison Chiefs' College.

The municipality was created in 1867. The income during the ten
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years ending 1902-3 averaged 5.3 lakhs, and the expenditure 5.1 lakhs.
In 1903-4 the income and expenditure were 6.4 lakhs

and 6.1 lakhs respectively. The chief source of in-

come was octroi (Rs. 4,58,000), while the main items of outlay were
conservancy (Rs. 72,000), education (Rs. 11,000), hospitals and dispen-
saries (Rs. 33,000), water-supply and drainage (Rs. 81,000), adminis-
tration (Rs. 72,000), public safety (Rs. 1,15,000), and public works
(Rs. 62,000).

A system of water-works was opened in 1881. The supply is drawn
from wells outside the city, whence it is pumped by engines direct
into four connected tanks. The city, civil station, railway colony, and
the village of Mozang are supplied by this system, and the estimated
daily supply is ten gallons per head according to the population in
1901. A separate engine with a separate main to the reservoir is aso
being erected, to guard against accidents and to relieve the strain on
the one engine now working. A drainage system, which was completed
in 1883, is being remodelled. The Upper Mall is now lighted by
electricity.

Most of the decorative arts for which Lahore was once famous have
greatly declined or vanished altogether. The silk-workers, who once
were famous for superior cloths of Bokhara thread,
now turn out only inferior and coarse materials,
though the trade in these is flourishing enough.  The
mystery of gold and silver wire-drawing has entirely disappeared, and
so has the production of glass, enamel, and arms, and but little gold
embroidery is now done. On the other hand, trades of a useful
character have largely increased, among which may be mentioned the
manufacture of vegetable oils, candles, and soap, sulphuric and nitric
acids, and printing, lithography, and book-binding. The leather trade
is an important one, and a large quantity of saddlery and shoes is
turned out annually. Cotton fabrics are .largely made, and.a great
deal of printing on coarse: cotton stuffs is done. “Good woollen blankets
are produced, and fine pashmma woollen stuffs. There is a consider-
able output of wooden furniture, decorated as well as plain. A large
quantity of bricks and tiles are burnt. Lahore is, moreover, an im-
portant centre for the collection of agricultural produce; and five
cotton-ginning factories, three cotton-presses, and one combined ginning
and pressing factory employed 427 hands in 1904. Of the other
factories, the most important are the North-Western Railway work-
shops, with 4,669 employes ; two spinning and weaving mills, with 771;
the Punjab Oil and Flour Mills, established in 1881, which turn out
large quantities of flour and of castor and other vegetable oils, and in
1904 employed 65 hands; and an iron foundry, which in the same
year employed 57. Two printing presses give employment to 229.
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The Punjab Banking Company, the Punjab National Bank, and the
People's Bank have their head-quarters at Lahore; and the Bank of
Bengal, the Alliance Bank of Simla, the Commercial Bank of India,
and the National Bank of India have branches in the city.

As the head-quarters of the Local Government, Lahore naturally
contains the principal educational institutions of the Province. These

comprise the Punjab University, with five Colleges—

the Government, Forman Christian, Dayanand Anglo-
Vedic, Islamia, and Oriental; also the Medical and Law Colleges, and
the Central Training College. The city possesses twelve high schools:
the Central Model High School, the Aitchison Chiefs' College, and the
Dayanand, Union Academy, Madrasat-ul-Musalmin, and Sanatan Dharm
Sabha schools, a school maintained by the Presbyterian Mission, the
Victoria and Oriental schools, and three schools for Europeans.
Its girls' schools include two high schools (one for Europeans) and
three middle schools (two for Europeans). Technical and special
education are provided by the Mayo School of Art, the medical school,
the railway technical school, the Veterinary College, the Hindu Techni-
cal Institute, and the Government normal school. Classes are also
held in Yunani and Vedic medicine. Printing presses are humerous,
and produce 20 English and 66 vernacular periodicals, of which
the most important are the Civil and Military Gazette, the Tribune,
and the Observer.

Lahore is the head-quarters of the Anglican diocese of that name.
The Cathedral of the Resurrection, a fine building in the later Early
English style, was consecrated in 1887. There is aso a railway church
in Naulakha. The Church Missionary Society has a theological
training school at Lahore. The city is also the head-quarters of the
Roman Catholic diocese of Lahore, and contains the Pro-Cathedral.
A fine new Cathedral, in a style which is a mixture of Roman and
Byzantine,;- will: shortly be completed., The American Presbyterian
Mission has a church, and several native churches exist in the city.
Missions are conducted by .the Church Missionary Society and the
Methodist Episcopal Mission.

Lahore is the head-quarters of the Punjab Light Horse and of the
1 st Punjab Volunteer Rifles, the Lahore contingent consisting of
a troop of the former and three and a half companies of the latter.
The fort is garrisoned by small detachments of British and Native
infantry. The chief medical institutions are the Mayo and Lady
Aitchison Hospitals, besides the Medical College above mentioned.

Lahore Cantonment.—Cantonment and head-quarters of the third
or Lahore division of the Northern Command in the District of the
same name, Punjab, situated in 31° 31" N. and 74° 22' E., 3 miles east
of the civil station of [Ahore. It has two railway stations: Lahore
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Cantonments East, on the branch of the North-Western Railway to
Delhi; and Lahore Cantonments West, on the branch to Multan.
Population (1901), 16,080. Till 1906 the cantonment was called Mian
Mir. The troops were moved here from the Anarkali quarter of Lahore
in 1851-2 on account of the unhealthiness of the latter; but the new
site is, partly on account of its defective water-supply, a notoriously
unhealthy station. The ordinary garrison consists of two batteries of
field artillery, one regiment of native cavalry, and two battalions of native
infantry. The cantonment stands on an open and arid plain, originally
bare of trees, but now gradually growing greener as canal-irrigation
extends and the avenues of trees along the roadside grow up. The site
is said to have been at one time named Haslimpur. Prince Dara
Shikoh, brother of Aurangzeb, who was put to death by that emperor
on ascending the throne, was a disciple of a famous Muhammadan
saint or pir, Mullan Shah, known as Mian Mir. He purchased the
village of Haslimpur, and bestowed it on his religious preceptor, after
whom it was renamed. The mausoleum of the holy man is a hand-
some domed building of white marble and red Agra sandstone, with
a mosque in the courtyard. The income and expenditure from canton-
ment funds during the ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 50,000.
The Punjab Banking Company has a branch here.
Lahul.—Himalayan wazri or canton of the Kulu subdivision of
Kangra District, Punjab, lying between 32° 8' and 32° 59' N. and 76° 49"
and 77° 47' E., with an area of 2,255 square miles. The population
(1901) is only 7,205, or less than 4 persons per square mile. It is
separated from Kangra and Kulu proper on the south, and from Spiti
on the east, by two mountain ranges which give off southwards the
Beas and Ravi and eastwards the Spiti river, a tributary of the Sutlej;
they culminate at their junction in the Shurgan Tunga or Deo-Tibba
peak (21,000 feet). On the north Lahul is bounded by the Ladakh
province of Kashmir, and on.the west by Chamba State. The Chandra
and Bhaga streams rise on.the Bara Lacha, or pass, (16,500 feet) in the
north, and, flowingat first in almost opposite directions, unite at Tandi,
whence the combined waters of the Chandra-Bhaga or Chenab flow
into Chamba. Between the two rivers, an isolated mass of mountains
attains still greater dimensions, consisting of one almost unbroken ice-
field, with, at rare intervals, impassable barriers of naked rock. South
of the highest peak, 21,415 feet above the sea, a glacier stretches
downward for 12 miles; while east and west the hills, though slightly
inferior in elevation, still reach the limits of the snow-line, and flank the
valley on every side, except along the narrow outlet of the Chenab. In
such a waste of rock and ice, villages can be planted only in a few
comparatively favoured spots, among the lower valleys of the Chandra
and Bhaga, from Old Koksar on the former to Darcha on the latter



116 LAHUL

river. The remainder of lahul is entirely uninhabited, except for
a few weeks in summer, when the Kangra shepherds bring up their
flocks for pasturage. Picturesque knots of houses, however, nestle here
and there in sheltered nooks, amid green irrigated fields made beautiful
by the exquisite Himalayan flora. The summer is ailmost rainless, but
there is heavy snowfall in winter, the whole country being covered
from December to April. The mean temperature at Kardang in the
valley of the Bhaga is 29° in December and 59° in June. The inhabi-
tants of the valleys of the Chandra and Bhaga are Buddhists, and of that
of the united Chandra-Bhaga Hindus. The inhabited portions of the
Lahul valley have an estimated elevation of 10,000 feet above sea-level.
Kangser, the highest village, stands at a height of 11,345 feet. The
principal villages are KYELANG and Kardang on opposite sides of the
Bhaga, on the trade route between the Rohtang pass from Kulu and
the Bara Lacha leading into Ladakh.

The Lahul valley is mentioned as early as the seventh century in the
itinerary of Hiuen Tsiang, the Chinese Buddhist pilgrim, who notices
it under the name of Lo-hu-lo, as a district lying north-east of Kulu. In
the earliest times, it probably formed a dependency of the Tibetan
kingdom; and on the disruption of that kingdom in the tenth century,
it seems to have been included in the principality of Ladakh. We have
no information to show the period at which it became independent,
though reasons have been adduced for believing that that event pre-
ceded the reorganization of Ladakh about 1580. An epoch of native
rule under petty chiefs (Thakurs) ensued, during which the various
local families appear to have paid tribute to Chamba. Four or five of
these families have survived to the present day, and are still in posses-
sion of their original territories, which they hold in Jagir, subject to the
payment of tribute or nazardna. About the year 1700, the supremacy
passed to Kulu, in the reign of Budh Singh, son of Raja Jagat Singh,
a contemporary of Shah Jahan and. Aurangzeb. . Thenceforward, Lahul
followed the fortunes of Kulu, until they passeditogether under British
rule in 1846. Out of a total area of 2,255 square miles, less than
5 square miles are returned as under cultivation. Barley forms the
principal crop, but wheat grows in the lower glens. Cultivation depends
entirely on small irrigation canals, constructed and kept in repair by the
village landowners. The grain produced does not suffice for local
consumption, being supplemented by imports from Kulu. The Lahulls
hold in their hands the trade between Ladakh and Central Asia on the
one hand, and Kulu and the Punjab on the other. Collecting the
merchandise from the north at Patseo, a few miles north of Darcha,
where a large encampment of traders from Ladakh, Central Asia,
Tibet, and Kulu is formed, they pass annually into Kulu at the end of
summer, driving their ponies and donkeys, goats and sheep, laden
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with pashm or shawl-wool, borax, and cloth; while on their return
journey they bring metal vessels, sugar, rice, wheat, tobacco, pepper,
ginger, and turmeric.

The Lahulfs keep only a few sheep and goats, as the snow lies too
long and too deep in the winter for the flocks to live out of doors
as they do in Ladakh. For a very long time, therefore, the upper ends
of the main valleys, which are uninhabited, and the grounds high above
the villages in the inhabited parts, have been utilized by the shepherds
of Kangra, Chamba, and KulQ. The snow begins to disappear in these
places about the beginning of June; the shepherds do not ordinarily
enter Lahul before the end of that month, and they leave it again early
in September, by which time the frost is keen, and the rainy season in
the Outer Himalayas has come to an end. In the fine dry climate of
Lahul the sheep escape foot-rot and other diseases which constantly
attack flocks kept during the rains on the southern slopes of the Outer
Himalayas. The sheep arrive wretchedly thin, but by the time they are
ready to leave are in splendid condition.

Lahul is administered by the Assistant Commissioner of Kulu, under
whom Thakur Amar Chand, a descendant of one of the old rulers
and a magistrate of the second class and a Munsif, exercises consider-
able local influence. The land revenue, as reassessed in 1891, amounts
to Rs. 4,916.

Laihka (Burmese, Legya)—A large State in the eastern division of
the Southern Shan States, Burma, lying between 20° 47' and 21° 36' N.
and 97° 19' and 98° 9' E., with an area of 1433 square miles. It is
bounded on the north by Mongkiing and Mongnawng; on the east by
Mongnawng and Mongnai; on the south by Mongnai, Mongsit, and
Mongpawn; and on the west by Mongpawn and Lawksawk. The
country is hilly and broken, the Nam Teng, an important affluent of
the Salween, running north and south through the centre of the State.
The early annals of Laihka.are largely legendary. . Its history in the
years following the annexation of Upper Burma'is briefly referred to in
the article on the SOUTHERN SHAN STATES. The country to the east
of the Nam Teng is only now gradually recovering from the ravages
caused by the troops of the Linbin confederacy in 1886. The greater
part of therice cultivation of the State is low-lying, and irrigated by
the Nam Teng and Nam Pawn and their tributaries. The Taungthus
work taungyas on the hills in the south-west of the State, and small
gardens near their villages. Laihka is chiefly noted for its ironwork.
Iron ore is found in the south-west corner near Panglong, where it is
worked into all kinds of domestic and agricultural implements. The
population, which in 1881 was estimated at 30,000, had been reduced
by 1887, in consequence of the attacks of the Linbin confederacy,
to something like 100. In 1891 it was estimated at about 9,000,
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and in 1901 was found to be 25,811, or almost what it was before
annexation. Of the total in 1901, 21,197 were returned as speaking
Shan, 1,877 Taungthu, 1532 Palaung, and 1,008 Yin. The State
contains 531 villages, the Sawbwa having his head-quarters at Laihka
near the Nam Teng, an old fortified post of some importance, with
a population in 1901 of 1,150. The head-quarters of the Assistant
Superintendent in charge of the eastern division are at Loilem near
the Taunggyi-Kengtung road. The revenue in 1903-4 amounted to
Rs. 24,000 (mainly from thathameda); and the chief items of ex-
penditure were Rs. 10,000 tribute to the British Government, Rs. 6,000
spent on officials' salaries and administration charges, Rs. 6,000 paid
into the privy purse, and Rs. 2,000 devoted to public works.

L ake Fife (Kharakvasla).—Reservoir in the Haveli taluka of Poona
District, Bombay, situated in 18° 25' N. and 73° 47' E., 12 miles south-
west of Poona city, constructed in 1868 to feed the MUTHA CANALS.
The work cost 31 lakhs, and has a surface area at full supply level
of 3,753 acres.

L ake Whiting.—Reservoir in the Bhor State, Bombay, situated in
18° 11’ N. and 73° 51" E., constructed in 1881, to feed the NIRA
CANAL. The work cost 21 lakhs, and has a surface area of 3,584 acres.
Its extension is under consideration.

Lakhapadar.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Lakhi Hills (Laki)—An offshoot of the KIRTHAR range in the
Kotri taluka of Karachi District, Sind, Bombay. The Lakhi is the
most easterly of a number of hill ranges in the western part of Sind,
extending between Baluchistan and the alluvial tract of the Indus, and
also between the desert of Shikarpur and Karachi. Length of range,
about 50 miles; greatest elevation, 1,500 to 2,000 feet; situation
(centre) 26° N. and 67° 50' E., the latitude of the northern limit being
26° 20' and of the southern 25° 12'. The hills are for the most part
of recent formation, containing-marine remains in: great quantities.
Huge fissures, apparently ‘produced by earthquakes, traverse the range;
and the frequent occurrence of hot springs and sulphurous exhalations
is a sign of volcanic action. Some parts, again, appear to be of more
ancient formation, as they yield lead, antimony, and copper. The
whole tract iswild and dreary. Near the town of Sehwan the Lakhi
range terminates abruptly on the Indus, in a nearly perpendicular face
of rock 600 feet high, which presents an imposing appearance from
the river.

Lakhimpur District. — District in Eastern Bengal and Assam,
occupying the extreme eastern portion of the Brahmaputra Valley.
The actual boundaries have never been definitely determined; but an
inner line has been laid down, which serves as the limit of ordinary
British jurisdiction, without prejudice to claims to the territory on the
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farther side. The tract of land thus defined lies between 26° 49' and
27° 52' N. and 93° 46" and 96° 5' E., with an area of 4,529 square
miles. In its broader sense, the District is bounded on the west by
Darrang and Sibsagar; on the north by the Dafla, Miri, Abor, and
Mishmi Hills; on the east by the Mishmi and Khamti Hills; and on
the south by the hills inhabited by independent tribes of Nagas.
The portion of the District included within the inner

line consists of a broad plain surrounded on three

sides by hills, and divided by the channel of the

Brahmaputra. Near the river lie extensive marshes covered with reeds
and elephant-grass, but as the level rises these swamps give place to
rice-fields and villages buried in thick groves of fruit trees and bamboos.
South of the Brahmaputra a great portion of the plain is covered with
trim tea gardens, many of which have been carved out of the dense
forest, which still lies in a belt many miles broad along the foot of the
hills; but on the north bank the area under tea is comparatively small,
and there are wide stretches of grass and tree jungle. The aspect
of the plain is thus pleasingly diversified with forest, marsh, and river ;
and the hills themselves, with their snow-capped summits, afford
a striking background to the scene on a clear day in winter. The
BRAHMAPUTRA runs through the District, receiving on the north bank
the DIBANG, the DIHANG, and the SUBANSIRI. Even in the dry
season large steamers can proceed to within a few miles of Dibrugarh,
and during the rains boats of considerable burden can go as far as
Sadiya. Beyond that place the river is still navigable for light native
craft almost to the Brahmakund. The principal tributaries on the
south bank are the NOA DIHING, the DIBRU, and the BURHI DIHING.
There are no lakes of any importance, but there are numerous bils
and marshes, of which the largest are at Bangalmari and Pabhamari
on the north bank of the Brahmaputra.

Theplain is of alluvial-origin; consisting of a mixture of clay and
sand in-varying proportions. = The 'hills which 'surround it on three
sides belong to the Tertiary period, and are composed of sandstones
and shales.

Low-lying ground is covered with high grass and reeds, the three
principal varieties being ikra {Saccharum arundinaceum), nal {Phrag-
tnites Raxburghii)) and khagari {Saccharum spontaneuni). The central
portion of the plain islargely under cultivation, but near the hills the
country is covered with dense evergreen forest.

Wild animals are common, including elephants, rhinoceros, buffaloes,
bison, tigers, leopards, bears, and deer. A curious Species of wild
goat or antelope called takin {Budorcas taxicolor) is found in the
Mishmi Hills, but no European has yet succeeded in shooting a speci-
men. In 1904 wild animals killed 1,559 cattle, and rewards were
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paid for the destruction of 58 tigers and leopards; 39 eephauts were
aso captured in that year. Small game include florican, partridge*
jungle-fowl, geese, duck, and snipe.

The climate is particularly cool and pleasant, and only during the
three months of June, July, and August is inconvenience experienced
from the heat. In December and January fogs are not uncommon,
and fires are often needed at night even in the month of March.
The District, as a whale, is healthy, except in places where the forest
has been recently cleared.

The hills with which Lakhimpur is surrounded on three sides, and
the vest expanss of evergreen foredt, tend to produce a very heavy
rainfal. At PathdipSm, under the MIri Hills, the annua rainfall
averages 168 inches, but towards the south it sinks to 100 inches,
and in places to alittle less  The great earthquake of June 12, 1897,
did very little damage, and the District does not suffer much from
either storm or flood.

The earliest rulers of Lakhimpur of whom tradition makes any
mention seem to have been Hindus of the Pal line, whose capital was

situated in the neighbourhood of Sadiya About

the eleventh century they were overthrown by the
Chutiyas, a tribe of Tibeto-Burman origin, who entered Assam from
the north-east and established themselves on the upper waters of the
Brahmaputra. In 1523 the Chutiyas themselves, after some centuries
of conflict, were finaly crushed by the Ahoms, a Shan tribe who had
descended from the Patkal into Shbsagar District nearly 300 years
before; and Lakhimpur, with the rest of Assam proper, formed part
of the territories of the Ahom Rga Towards the close of the
eighteenth century, when the Ahom kingdom was tottering to its fall,
the high-priest of the Moamarias, a Vaishnavite sect, rose in rebellion
againg the reigning king. For atime, the rebels met with a measure
of success, but when the royal arms were again in the ascendant, the
Ahom prime minister 'revenged himself by desolating the whole of
Lakhimpur lying south of the Brahmaputra. A few years later the
Burmans entered the valey, a the invitation of one of the claimants
to the Ahom throne, and were guilty of gross atrocities before they
werefinally expelled by the British in 1825. The District was by this
time amost depopulated and was reduced to the lowest depths of
misery. During the confusion attendant on the break-up of the Ahom
kingdom, the head of the Moamaria sect established himself in a
position of quasi-independence in the Matak territory, a tract of land
lying between the Brahmaputra and the Buri Dihing, and bounded on
the east by an imaginary line drawn due south from Sadiya. On the
occupation of the country by the British this chief, who bore the title
of Bor Sengpati, was confirmed in his fief on the understanding that
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he provided 300 men for the service of the state. The arrangement
was, however, found to be unsatisfactory; and, in lieu of any claim
on the services of his subjects, Government accepted a revenue of
Rs. 1,800, In 1842, after the death of the Bor Senapati, the whole
of the Matak territory was annexed.

Matak was not the only fief carved out of the decaying Ahom
empire. In 1794 the Khamtis crossed the Brahmaputra, and ousted
the Assamese governor of Sadiya. The Ahom king was compelled to
acquiesce in this usurpation, and the Khamti chief was accepted as a
feudatory ruler of Sadiya by the British Government. In 1835 it was
found necessary to remove him for contumaciously seizing some territory
claimed by the Matak chief, in defiance of the orders of the British
officer, and the country was brought under direct administration. Four
years later the Khamtis rose, surprised Sadiya, killed the Political
Agent, Colonel White, and burned the station. The rising was, how-
ever, put down without difficulty, and the tribe has given no trouble
since that date. In 1833 the North Lakhimpur subdivision was
handed over to the Ahom Raja, Purandar Singh, as it was at that time
proposed to establish him as a feudatory prince in the two upper
Districts of the Assam Valley.  Five years later this territory was
again resumed, as the Raja was found unequal to the duties entrusted
to him. The history of the District since it has been placed under
British administration is a story of continuous development and
increasing prosperity. From time to time the tribes inhabiting the
ABOR and MISHMI HILLS have violated the frontier, but their raids
have had no material effect upon the general welfare of the people.
There are few remains of archaeological interest in Lakhimpur,
but the ruins found near Sadiya show that this portion of Assam
must once have been under the control of princes of some power
and civilization.

The population of the District at the last four enumerations was:
(1872) "121,267, (1881) 179,893, (1891) 254,053, and (1901)371,396.
Within twenty-nine years the population has more
than trebled, this enormous increase being partly due
to the fact that Lakhimpur, unlike Lower and Central Assam, has been
healthy, so that the indigenous inhabitants increased in numbers, but
still more to the importation of thousands of coolies required for the tea
gardens and other industries of the District. Lakhimpur is divided
into the two subdivisions of DIBRUGARH and NORTH LAKHIMPUR, with
head-quarters at the places of the same name. It contains one town,
DIBRUGARH (population, 11,227), the District head-quarters; and 1,123
villages.

The following table gives statistics of area, towns and villages, and
population according to the Census of 1901 :—
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About 90 per cent, of the population in 1901 were Hindus,
3 per cent. Muhammadans, and 5 per cent, members of animistic
tribes. The proportion of foreigners is very high, and 41 per cent,
of the people enumerated in Lakhimpur in 1901 had been born outside
the Province. A large number of these immigrants have left the tea
gardens, and settled down to ordinary cultivation in the villages.
Assamese was spoken by only 39 per cent, of the population, while
21 per cent, returned Bengali, and 20 per cent. Hindi or Mundari, as
their usual form of speech.

The principal Assamese castes are the Ahoms (59,100), the Chutiyas
(17,500), the Kacharis (25,200). and the Miris (24,900). The chiet
foreign castes are Mundas (30,200), Santals (17,500), and the Bhumij,
Bhuiya, and Oraon. The higher Hindu castes are very poorly
represented. Members of European and allied races numbered 469
in 1901. In spite of the existence of coal-mines, oil-mills, railways,
and a prosperous trading community, 87 per cent, of the people
are dependent upon the land for their support.

A clergyman of the Additional Clergy Society is stationed at
Dibrugarh, and there are two missionaries in the District. The total
number of native Christians in 1901 was 2,606.

The soil Varies from pure sand to a stiff clay, which combine in
varying.proportions to form, a loam. The high land is admirably

adapted for the growth of tea; and 'the abundance

of the rainfall, the immunity from flood, the large
proportion of new and unexhausted land, and the opportunities for
selection afforded by the sparseness of the population, combine to
render agriculture a more than usually lucrative occupation.

The table on the next page shows what a large proportion of the
District is still lying waste.

Rice is the staple crop, and in 1903-4 covered 231 square miles,
or 57 per cent, of the total cropped area. More than four-fifths of
the rice crop is usualy sali or transplanted winter rice, and the greater
part of the remainder is ahu, or summer rice grown in the marshy
tracts before the floods rise. Tea is the only other crop of any
importance; but minor staples include pulse (6,100 acres), mustard
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(8,000 acres), and sugar-cane (3,500 acres). No agricultural statistics
are prepared for the land occupied by hill tribes, who pay a poll tax
irrespective of the area cultivated. The usual garden crops are grown,
including plantains, vegetables, tobacco, pan or betel-leaf, and areca-
nut The last two were introduced into Lakhimpur after the country
had been occupied by the British.

Areain square miles shown in
. revenue accounts. Forest area
Subdn ision. in square

iles.
Settled. Unsettled, Cultivated. o>

North Lakhimpur 137 1,138 106 29
Dibrugarh 526 2,728 282 311
Total 663 3,866 388 34°

Lakhimpur was the scene of the first attempts at tea cultivation by
Government in 1835, and the Assam Company commenced operations
here in 1840. The industry has passed through many vicissitudes,
which were chiefly due to speculation, but the abundant rainfall and
fertile soil have always given a large measure of prosperity to the
gardens of Upper Assam. Of recent years there has been a great
expansion of the industry. In 1880, 19,700 acres were under cultiva-
tion. By 1896 the area had risen to 48,200 acres, and in the next
five years there was a further increase of 20,000 acres. In 1904 there
were altogether 143 gardens with 70,591 acres under plant, which
yielded more than 30,000,000 |b. of manufactured tea and gave employ-
ment to 199 Europeans and 100,849 natives, the latter of whom had
been recruited from other parts of India. The principal companies
are the Dum Duma Company, with head-quarters at Dum Duma; the
Jokai Company, with head-quarters at Panitola; the Assam Frontier
Tea Company, with head-quarters at Talap; and the Dihing Company,
with head-quarters at Khowang.

Apart from tea, the District has witnessed a rapid increase of
cultivation, and between 1891 and 1901 the area settled at full rates,
excluding land held by planters, increased by 56 per cent. Little
attempt has, however, been made to introduce new crops or to
improve upon old methods. The harvests are regular, the cultivators
fairly well-to-do, and agricultural loans are hardly ever made by
Government. The heavy rainfall renders it unnecessary to have re-
course to artificial irrigation.

The native cattle are of very poor quality, with the exception of
buffaloes, which are fine animals. The inferior character of the live-
stock is chiefly due to neglect, and to disregard of the most elementary
rules of breeding, as there is still abundance of waste land suitable for

VOL. XVi. |
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grazing, and in few places is any difficulty experienced in obtaining
pasture.
The 'reserved' forests of Lakhimpur covered an area of 340 square
miles in 1903-4. The largest Reserves are the Upper Dihing near
Margherita, and the Dibru near Rangagora on the
Dibru river. The wants of the District are, however,
fully supplied from the Government waste lands, which cover an area
of 3,062 square miles; and as there is no external trade in timber, the
out-turn from the Reserves has hitherto been insignificant. The most
valuable timber trees are nahor (Mesua ferrea), ajhar (Lagerstroemia
Flos Reginae\ makai (Shorea assamica), and bola (Morys laevigata); but
the largest trade is done in simul (Bombax malabaricuni), a soft wood
much in request for tea boxes. The duty levied on rubber, whether
collected within or beyond the frontier, is a valuable source of revenue,
the receipts under this head having averaged nearly a quarter of a
lakh during the decade ending 1901. A considerable sum is also paid
for the right to cut cane in Government forests.

The hills to the south contain two important coal-fields, those of
Mcikum and Jaipur. The Makum field is extensively worked near
MARGHERITA, the out-turn in 1903 amounting to
239,000 tons, on which a royalty of Rs. 36,000 was
paid to Government. Petroleum oil is found in the same strata, and
a large refinery has been constructed near the wells at DIGBOI. The
Government revenue from oil in 1903-4 was Rs. 3,750. The coal
measures also contain salt springs, and ironstone and iron ore in the
form of impure limonite, from which iron used to be extracted in the
days of native rule. Boulders of limestone are found in the bed of
the Brahmaputra near Sadiya, and there is a thick deposit of kaolin
near the Brahmakund. Under the Ahom Rgas the gold-washing
industry was carried on in most of the rivers; but this gold is probably
doubly derivative, and 'is washed out of the Tertiary sandstones of the
sub-HimaMayan formations, which 'are 'themselves: the result of the
denudation of the rocks in the interior of the chain. A considerable
sum of money was expended in 1894 on the exploration of the
Lakhimpur rivers, but gold was not found anywhere in paying
quantities, and no return was obtained on the capital invested.
Apart from tea, oil, and saw-mills, and the pottery and workshops
of the Assam Railways and Trading Company, local manufactures are
of little importance. The Assamese weave cotton
and silk cloth, but more for home use than for sae.
Brass vessdls are produced in small quantities by the
Morias, a class of degraded Muhammadans, but the supply is not
equal to the demand. Jewellery is made, but only as a rule to order,
by the Brittial Baniyas. The raw molasses produced from sugar-cane
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is of an excellent quality, and finds a ready sde, but the trade has not
yet assumed any considerable dimensions. There is a large oil refinery
at DIGBOI, and brick and pottery works have been opened at Ledo
near Margherita. In 1904 there were four saw-mills in the District,
employing 743 hands. The largest mills were situated at Sisi, and the
greater part of the out-turn consists of tea boxes.

Till recently, the Brahmaputra was the sole channel of external
trade, but the completion of the Assam-Bengal Railway has provided
through land communication with Chittagong and Gauhati. The
bulk of the external trade of the District is carried on with Calcutta.
The chief exports are tea, coal, kerosene and other oils, wax and
candles, hides, canes, and rubber. The imports include rice, gram,
and other kinds of grain, ghl, sugar, tobacco, salt, piece-goods, mustard
and other oils, corrugated iron, machinery, and hardware. The trade
of the District is almost entirely in the hands of the Kayahs, as the
Marwari merchants are called; but in the larger centres a few shops
for the sale of furniture and haberdashery are kept by Muhammadans
from Bengal. These centres are DIBRUGARH, the head-quarters town,
SADIYA, DUM DUMA, Margherita, JAIPUR, Khowang, and North
Lakhimpur; but the Kayahs' shops are scattered all over the District,
and numerous weekly markets are held, at which the cultivators can
dispose of their surplus products and the coolies satisfy their wants.
Most of the frontier trade is transacted at Sadiya and North Lakhimpur,
and is chiefly carried on by barter. The principal imports are rubber,
ivory, wax, and musk.

A daily service of passenger steamers and a fine fleet of cargo
boats, owned and managed by the India General Steam Navigation
Company and the Rivers Steam Navigation Company, ply on the
Brahmaputra between Goalundo and Dibrugarh. Feeder steamers
also go up the Subansiri to Bordeobam. South of the Brahmaputra,
Lakhimpur is well supplied with means of communication. A metre-
gauge railway runs from Dibrugarh ghat to ‘the Ledo coal-mines, a
distance of 62 miles, with a branch 16 mileslong from Makum junction
to Talap. This line taps nearly all the important tea gardens, and at
Tinsukia meets the Assam-Bengal Railway, and thus connects Dibru-
garh with Gauhati, and with the sea at Chittagong. In addition to
the railway, there were in the District, in 1903-4, 20 miles of metalled
and 211 miles of unmetalled road maintained by the Public Works
department, and 6 miles of metalled and 516 miles of unmetalled roads
kept up by the local boards. The most important thoroughfares are
the trunk road, which runs from the Dihing river to Sadiya, a distance
of 86 miles, and the road from Dibrugarh to Jaipur. On the north
bank of the Brahmaputra population is comparatively sparse, the
rainfall is very heavy, and travelling during the rains is difficult.

12
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Most of the minor streams are bridged, but ferries still ply on the
large rivers.

Famine or scarcity has not been known in Lakhimpur since it came
under British rule, but prices usually range high, as
the District does not produce enough grain to feed

the large immigrant population.

There are two subdivisions: DIBRUGARH, which is under the im-
mediate charge of the Deputy-Commissioner; and NORTH LAKHIMPUR,

which is usually entrusted to a European Magistrate.

The ordinary District staff includes three Assistant
Magistrates, one of whom is stationed at North Lakhimpur, and a forest
officer. The Sadiya frontier tract in the north-east corner is in charge
of an Assistant Political officer. The Criminal Procedure Code is not
in force in this tract, which is excluded from the jurisdiction of the
High Court, and the Deputy-Commissioner exercises powers of life and
death, subject to confirmation by the Chief Commissioner.

The Deputy-Commissioner has the powers of a Sub-Judge, and the
Assistant Magistrates exercise jurisdiction as Munsifs. Appeals, both
civil and criminal, lie to the Judge of the Assam Valley, but the chief
appellate authority is the High Court at Calcutta. The people are as
a whole law-abiding, and there is little serious crime. Special rules are
in force for the administration of justice in the Sadiya frontier tract.

The land revenue system resembles that in force in the lest of
Assam proper. The settlement is ryotwari, being made direct with
the actual cultivators of the soil, and is liable to periodical revision.
The District contains large tracts of waste land, and the settled area of
1903-4 was only 15 per cent, of the total, including rivers, swamps,
and hills. Villagers are allowed to resign their holdings and take up
new plots of.land on giving notice to the revenue authorities, and in
1903-4 nearly 14,000 acres of land were so resigned and 25,000 acres
of new; land taken up. Fresh leases are issued every year for this
shifting.cultivation, and a large' staff of mandals is 'maintained to
measure new land, test applications for relinquishment, and keep the
record up to date. Like the rest of Assam proper, the District was
last resettled in 1893. The average assessment per settled acre
assessed at full rates in 1903-4 was fixed at Rs. 2-7-4 (maximum
Rs. 4-2, minimum Rs. 1-11).

The table below shows the revenue from land and total revenue, in
thousands of rupees :—

1880-1. 1890-1. 1900-1. 1903-4.
Land revenue 1,90 2,59 5,30 5,88
Total revenue . 7,98 11,00 18,03 19,21

* Exclusiv e of forest revenue.
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Outside the municipality of Dibrugarh, the local affairs of each
subdivision are managed by a board presided over by the Deputy-
Commissioner or the Subdivisional Officer. The European non-official
members of these boards, elected by the planting community, give
valuable aid to the administration. The total expenditure in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 1,31,000, more than half of which was laid out on
public works. Less than one-third of the income is derived from local
rates, which are supplemented by a large grant from Provincial revenues.
The District is in a comparatively advanced state of development, but
the population is so scanty that it is impossible to provide entirely
for local requirements out of local taxation.

For the purposes of the prevention and detection of crime, the Dis-
trict is divided into ten investigating centres, and the civil police force
consisted in 1904 of 29 officers and 154 men. There are no rural
police, their duties being discharged by the village headmen. The
military police battalion stationed in the District has a sanctioned
strength of 91 officers and 756 men; but it supplies detachments
for duty in Darrang and Sibsagar, besides holding sixteen outposts in
Lakhimpur. In addition to the District jail at Dibrugarh, a subsidiary
jail is maintained at North Lakhimpur, with accommodation for 30 males
and 3 females.

As far as literacy is concerned, Lakhimpur is a little in advance
of most of the Districts of the Assam Valley. The number of children
at school in 1880-1, 1890-1, 1900-1, and 1903-4 was 2,271, 2,998,
5,501, and 5,219 respectively. The number of pupils in 1903-4 was
nearly treble the number twenty-nine years before, but the proportion
they bore to the total population was less than in the earlier year.
This result is, however, largely due to the influx of illiterate coolies,
and there can be little doubt that education has spread among the
indigenous inhabitants. At the Census of 1901, 35 per cent, of the
population (6-2 males and 0.5 females) were returned as able .to read
and write. ' There ‘were 166 primary, 9 secondary, and 2.  special
schools in the District in 1903-4. The number of female scholars
was 143. A large majority of the pupils under instruction were only
in primary classes, and the number of girls attending secondary schools
was extremely small. Of the male population of school-going age
13 per cent, were in the primary stage of instruction, and of the female
population of the same age less than one per cent. The total expendi-
ture on education in 1903-4 was Rs. 80,000, of which Rs. 13,000 was
derived from fees. About 22 per cent, of the direct expenditure was
devoted to primary schools.

The District possesses 2 hospitals and 6 dispensaries, with accom-
modation for 107 in-patients. In 1904 the number of cases treated
was 72,000, of whom 1,200 were in-patients, and 1,100 operations were
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performed. The expenditure in the same year was Rs. 16,000, the
greater part of which was met from Local and municipal funds.

In 1903-4, 39 per 1,000 of the population were successfully vac-
cinated, which was rather below the proportion for Assam as a
whole. Vaccination is compulsory only in Dibrugarh town.

[Sir W. W. Hunter, A Satistical Account of Assam, vol. i (1879) 5
A. Mackenzie, History of the Relations of the Government with the
Hill Tribes of the North-East Frontier of Bengal (Calcutta, 1884);
B. C. Allen, District Gazetteer of Lakhimpur (1905).]

Lakhimpur, North.—Subdivision of Lakhimpur District, Eastern
Bengal and Assam, lying between 26° 49' and 27° 33’ N. and 93° 46'
and 94° 41' E., with an area of 1,275 square miles.  On the north it is
bounded by the Himalayas ; on the south it is separated by the Suban-
sirl and the Kherkutia channel of the Brahmaputra from Sibsagar
District; on the west it adjoins Darrang. The population in 1901 was
84,824, or 34 per cent, more than in 1891 (63,434). Much of the
country is covered with forest or high grass jungle, and in 1901 the
density was only 67 persons per square mile. The subdivision con-
tains 13 tea gardens, which in 1904 had 9,081 acres under plant and
gave employment to 24 Europeans and 11,179 natives. The annual
rainfall at North Lakhimpur averages 128 inches, but close to the
hills it is nearly 170 inches. The subdivision contains 323 villages.
The head-quarters of the magistrate are situated at North Lakhimpur,
where there are a small jail, a hospital with nine beds, and a bazar
where a certain amount of trade is done with the tribes inhabiting the
lower ranges of the Himalayas. Communications with the outer world
are difficult, as the road to the Brahmaputra, which is more than
30 miles in length, is liable to be breached by flood. The as¥ess
ment for land revenue and local rates in 1903-4 amounted to
Rs. 1,73,000.

Lakhimpur Tahsil.—Central, tahsl of Kheri District, “United
Provinces,” comprising ‘the" parganas- of ‘Bhur, Srlnagar,- Kukra Mail-
anl, Paila, and Kherl, and lying between 27° 47" and 28° 30' N. and
80° 18' and 81° i' E., with an area of 1,075 square miles. Population
increased from 365,622 in 1891 to 366,326 in 1901. There are
666 villages and two towns: LAKHIMPUR (population, 10,110), the
District and tahsil head-quarters, and KHERI (6,223). The demand for
land revenue in 1903-4 was Rs. 4,09,000, and for cesses Rs. 68,000.
The density of population, 340 persons per square mile, is above the
District average. Through the centre of the tahsil flowsthe Ul, which
divides it into two distinct portions. The area to the north-east,
stretching up to the Sarda or Chauka, is a damp low-lying tract,
liable to inundations from the rivers. South-west of the Ul the soil
is a rich loam and agriculture is more stable. In the north of the
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tahsil 150 sguare miles are occupied by forest. In 1903-4 the area
under cultivation was 529 square miles, of which 76 were irrigated.
Wells supply more than half the irrigated area, but tanks or jhih are
of greater importance than in other tahsil of this District.

Lakhimpur Town.—Head-quarters of the Lakhimpur tahsil and
of Kherl District, United Provinces, situated in 27° 57° N. and
80° 47' E., on the Lucknow-Bareilly State Railway. Population
(1901), 10,110. The town stands near the high southern bank of
the Ul in a picturesque situation. It was a place of no importance
till its selection as the District head-quarters in 1859; but it has grown
rapidly, and is now the chief trading centre. There is a large export
of grain and sugar, and a market is held daily. Lakhimpur contains
the usual offices, and also the head-quarters of the American Methodist
Mission in the District and a dispensary. It was constituted a muni-
cipality in 1868. During the ten years ending 1901 the income
and expenditure averaged Rs. 13,400. In 1903-4 the income was
Rs. 19,000, chiefly derived from taxes on houses and professions and
from rents; and the expenditure was Rs. 21,000. These figures
include a grant of Rs. 3,500 from Provincial revenues for sanitary
purposes. There are five schools for boys with 290 pupils and two
for girls with 50.

Lakhisarai.—Village and railway .station in Monghyr District,
Bengal. See LUCKEE.SARAI.

Lakhnadon.—Northern tahsil of Seoul District, Central Provinces,
lying between 22° 18" and 22° 57' N. and 79° 19' and 80° 17' E., with
an area of 1,358 sguare miles. The population decreased from
151,483 in 1891 to 135,345 in 1901. The density in the latter year
was 87 persons per square mile. The tahdl contains 712 villages,
but no town. The head-quarters are at Lakhnadon, a village of
2,148 inhabitants, distant 38 miles from Seoni. Excluding 360 square
miles of Government forest; 59 per, cent, of -the available area is occu-
pied for-cultivation. " The'cultivated area in '1903-4 was'663 square miles.
The demand for land revenue in the same year was Rs. 1,11,000,
and for Rs. 12,000. The most fertile portions of the tahsil
are an open plain to the east towards Mandla and a small tract
on the banks of the Narbada in the north. The remainder consists
of the succession of ridges and valleys characteristic of the Satpura
country.

Lakhsetipet.— Taluk in Adilabad District, Hyderabad State, with
an area of 499 sguare miles. The population in 1901, including
jagirs, was 50,835, compared with 52,589 in 1891, the decrease being
due to famine and cholera  The taluk contains 123 villages, of which
9 are jagir; and Lakhsetipet (population, 1,438), on the left bank of
the Godavari is the head-quarters. The land revenue in 1901 was
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Rs. 69,000. Extensive rice cultivation is carried on with irrigation
from tanks and wells.

Lakhtar (Than-Lakhtar). — State in the Kathiawar Political
Agency, Bombay, lying between 22° 49' and 23° N. and 71° 46'
and 72° 3' E., with an area of 248 square miles. The population in
1901 was 15,114, residing in 51 villages. The revenue in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 70,250.

The State consists of two distinct portions, Than and lakhtar,
together with some outlying villages in Ahmadabad District. There
are some rocky tracts, but neither rivers nor hills of any size. About
48 square miles were under cultivation in 1903-4, of which 1% square
miles were irrigated. Cotton and the usual grains are grown. The
potters (Botiers) of Than enjoy a wide reputation for the excel-
lence of their work. Lakhtar ranks ab a third-class State in Kathiawar.
The Lakhtar taluka was granted by the Dhrangadhra State to Abhai-
singhjl, son of Ra Sahib Chandrasinghji of Halavad. He conquered
Than and the surrounding country from the Babrias in about 1604-15.
The present chief is descended from this family. His title is Thakur
of Lakhtar.

Laki.—Mountain range in the Kotri taluka of Karachi District,
Sind, Bombay. See LAKHI.

L akki.—Head-quarters of the Marvvat tahsil, Bannu District, North-
West Frontier Province, situated in 32° 36' N. and 70° 56' E.  Popula-
tion (1901), 5,218. In 1844 Fateh Khan Tiwana, the revenue collector
of the Sikh government, built and garrisoned a fort in the heart of
Marwat which he called lhsanpur. A town grew up under its walls
and became the capital of Marwat until 1864, when the site was
abandoned and the inhabitants removed to Lakki on the right bank
of the Gambila. The municipality was constituted in 1874. The
income during the ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 5,200, and
the expenditure Rs. 5,300. In.-1903-4 the .income was' Rs. 5,500,
chiefly derived from' octroi; and the expenditure was Rs. 5,100. The
town has a dispensary and a vernacular middle school maintained by
the municipality.

Lakkundi.—Place of antiquarian interest in the Gadag taluka
of Dharwar District, Bombay, situated in 15° 23' N. and 75° 43' E.,
7 miles south-east of Gadag town. Population (1901), 4,454. It
contains fifty temples and thirty-five inscriptions. The temples are
ascribed to Jakhanacharya. They suffered severely in the Chola
invasion about 1070, but were afterwards rebuilt. The finest and
most remarkable is the temple of Kashivishveshwar. There are
numerous step-wells.  Of the thirty-five inscriptions, the earliest
deciphered is dated A.D. 868. In 1192 the Hoysala king Ballala | | ,
better known as Vira Ballala (1192-1211), established his capital at
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Lakkundi, then styled Lokkigundi, and in the vicinity met and
defeated the forces of the Deogiri Yadava Bhillam, commanded by
the latter's son Jaitugi. Lakkundi contains a school.

Laksham.—Village in the head-quarters subdivision of Tippera
District, Eastern Bengal and Assam, situated in 23 15 N. and
91° 8 E. It is a railway junction, where the branch lines to
Chandpur and Noakhali leave the main line of the Assam-Bengal
Railway.

Lakshmantirtha.—Tributary of the Cauvery in Mysore. It
rises in Brahmagiri, on the southern frontier of Coorg, and runs
north-east through the Hunsur taluk of Mysore District into the
Cauvery, beyond Sagarkatte, at the common boundary of the Mysore
and Yedatore taluks, after a course of about 70 miles. It is a peren-
nial stream, with seven dams in Mysore, from which are drawn
channels 133 miles in length, irrigating nearly 8,000 acres.

Lakshmeshwar.—Head-quarters of a subdivision of the same
name in the Miraj State, Bombay, situated in 15° 7' N. and 75° 31' E.,
about 40 miles south-east of Dharwar. Population (1901), 12,860.
Weaving of cotton cloth is largely carried on. There are temples of
Someshwar and Lakshmiling about a thousand years old, Jain bastis,
and a Musalman mosque about four hundred years old. In honour
of the god Someshwar a fair, attended by about 5,000 people, is held
yearly on the tenth of the bright half of Vaishakh (May-June). About
fifty inscriptions have been found referring to the early dynasties
ruling in this part of the country. The town is administered as a
municipality with an income in 1903-4 of Rs. 7,300.

Lakshmlpasa.—Village in the Naral subdivision of Jessorc Dis-
trict, Bengal, situated in 23° 11' N. and 89° 39' E., on the right bank
of the Nabaganga river, where it joins the Bankana 10 miles east of
Naral. It is the home of a well-known colony of Kulin Brahmans;
they trace their origin to Ramananda Chakrabartti, who emigrated from
Sarmangal near Kaila in Backergunge, a great Kulin settlement.

Lakshmlpur.—Village in the head-quarters subdivision of Noa-
khali District, Eastern Bengal and Assam, situated in 22° 57' N. and
90° 51' E. Population (1901), 4,794. In 1756 a cloth factory was
established here by the East India Company. It is still a busy trade
mart.

Lakshmisarai.—Village and railway- station in Monghyr District,
Bengal. See LUCKEESARAI.

Lakvalli.—Village in the Tarikere taluk of Kadur District, Mysore,
situated in 13° 42' N. and 75° 38' E., on the Bhadra river, 13 miles
from Tarikere railway station. Population (1901), 1,196. West of it
are vast forests on each side of the Bhadra, containing some of the
most valuable teak timber in the country. Close by is the site of
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Ratnapuri, the ancient capital of Vajra Makuta Raya. Subsequently
included in the Humcha and Ganga territories, it afterwards formed
part of the Hoysala and Vijayanagar kingdoms. The chiefs of Tari-
kere acquired it later, but were forced to yield it to Bednur, the
conquest of which by Haidar Ali in 1763 led to the absorption of
the country into Mysore.

Lala Musa.—Junction of the Sind-Sagar branch of the North-
western Railway with the main line, situated in 32° 38" N. and
74° i' E., in the Kharian tahsil of Gujrat District, Punjab. Popula-
tion (1901), 547.

Lalbagh Subdivision. — Central subdivision of Murshidabad
District, Bengal, lying between 24° 6' and 24° 23' N. and 87° 59'
and 88° 3c/ E., with an area of 370 square miles. The subdivision
is divided almost equally by the Bhagirathi, flowing from north to
south; the eastern portion is an alluvial flat, while the western portion
is high and undulating. The population in 1901 was 192,978, com-
pared with 181,726 in 1891, the density being 522 persons per square
mile. It contains two towns MURSHIDABAD (population, 15,168) and
AZIMGANJ (13,385) and 632 villages.

Lalbagh Town.—Official name for the town of MURSHIDABAD,
Murshidabad District, Bengal; the head-quarters of the Lalbagh sub-
division.

Lalganj. -Town in the Hajipur subdivision of Muzaffarpur District,
Bengal, situated in 25° 52" N. and 85° 10' E., on the east bank of the
Gandak, 12 miles north-west of Hajipur town. Population (1901),
11,502. Lalganj is an important river mart, the principal exports
being hides, oilseeds, and saltpetre, and the imports food-grains (chiefly
rice), salt, and piece-goods. The bazar lies on the low land adjoining
the river, but is protected from inundation by the Gandak embank-
ments. The shipping ghat lies a mile to the south of the town,
which is connected by road with-Sahibganj,-Muzaffarpur, and Hajipur.
Lalganj-was constituted a municipality in' 1869. " The income during
the decade ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 5,600, and the expenditure
Rs. 4,700. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 6,500, mainly from a tax
on houses and lands; and the expenditure was Rs. 6,000.

Lalgarh.—Thakurat in the MALWA AGENCY, Central India.

Lalingi—Ruined hill fort in West Khandesh District, Bombay,
situated in 20° 49' N. and 74° 45' E., 6 miles south of Dhulia. The
fact that this, and not Thalner, was granted to his eldest son, would
seem to show that Laling was the chief fort of Malik Raja (1370-99),
the first of the Faruki kings; and here in 1437 Nasir Khan and his son
Miran Adil Khan were besieged by the Bahmani general till relieved
by the advance of an army from Gujarat. Early in the seventeenth
century (1629-31) the fort is more than once mentioned in connexion
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with the movements of the Mughal troops in their campaigns against
the Deccan. Besides the fort, there are two small Hemadpanti
shrines and a square Hemadpanti well.

Lalitpur Subdivision.—Subdivision of Jhansi District, United
Provinces, comprising the LALITPUR and MAHRONI tahsils.

Lalitpur Tahsil.—Tahsll of Jhansi District, United Provinces,
comprising the parganas of Lalitpur, Bansl, Talbahat, and Balabahat,
and lying between 24° i6' and 25° 12' N. and 78° 10" and 78° 40" E.,
with an area of 1,058 sguare miles. Population fell from 157,153
in 1891 to 144,638 in 1901. There are 368 villages and two towns:
LALITPUR (population, 11,560), the tahsll head-quarters, and TALBAHAT
(5,693). The demand for land revenue in 1903-4 was Rs. 80,000, and
for cesses Rs. 16,000. The density of population, 137 persons per
square mile, is below the District average. Lalitpur is bounded on the
west and north-west by the Betwa. In the south lie the outer scarps
of the Vindhyan plateau, while gneiss hills crop up in the north. The
space between is largely occupied by black soil, which gradually changes
in the north to a thin red, and there is a little alluvium along the
Bctwa. The black soil has for some years been in a poor state owing
to the spread of katts (Saccharum spontaneum), but the red soil is fairly
protected by well-irrigation. In 1903-4 the area under cultivation
was 244 square miles, of which 38 were irrigated, almost entirely from
wells.

Lalitpur Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision and tahsil
of the same name in Jhansi District, United Provinces, situated
in 24° 42' N. and 78° 28' E., on the Great Indian Peninsula Railway
and on the Cawnpore-Saugor road. Population (1901), 11,560.
Tradition ascribes the founding of the town to Lalita, wife of a Raja
Sumer Singh, who came from the Deccan. It was taken from the
Gonds early in the sixteenth century by Govind Bundela and his
son, Rudra Pratap. A _hundred years later it/ was included. in the
Bundela State of Chanderl. " About 1800 an indecisive battle was
fought close by between the Bundelas and Marathas; and in 1812
it became the head-quarters of Colonel Baptiste, who was appointed
by Sindhia to manage Chanderl. On the formation of a British
District of Chanderl in 1844, Lalitpur became the head-quarters,
and it remained the capital of the District, to which it gave its name
in 1861, up to 1891, when Lalitpur and Jhansi Districts were united.
The story of the Mutiny at Lalitpur has been narrated in the history
of JHANSI DISTRICT. The town contains a number of Hindu and
Jain temples, some of which are very picturesque. A small building,
open on three sides save for a balustrade, and supported on finely-
carved columns, obviously derived from a Chandel building, bears
an inscription of Firoz Shah Tughlak, dated 1358. Lalitpur is the
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headquarters of a Joint-Magistrate and of a Deputy-Collector, and
also contains a dispensary and a branch of the American Mission with
an orphanage. It has been a municipality since 1870, but is one of the
few towns in the United Provinces where none of the municipal com-
missioners is elected. During the ten years ending 1901 the income
and expenditure averaged Rs. 15,000 and Rs. 13,000 respectively.
In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 19,000, chiefly derived from octroi
(Rs. 11,000) and from rents and fees (Rs. 6,000); and the expenditure
was Rs. 21,000. Lalitpur has a large and increasing export of oilseeds,
hides, and ghi besides a considerable road traffic with the neighbouring
Native States. Large quantities of dried beef are exported to Rangoon.
There are four schools with 247 pupils, including 25 girls.

Laliyad.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Lalsot.—Head-quarters of the tahsil of the same name in the
Daosa nizamat of the State of Jaipur, Rajputana, situated in 26° 35' N.
and 76° 21' E., in acleft in a long range of hills about 40 miles south-
east of Jaipur city, and 24 miles south of the town of Daosa, with
which 'it is connected by a road for the most part metalled. Popu-
lation (1901), 8,131. There are three schools attended by 140 boys, and
a hospital with accommodation for 4 in-patients. About 1787 a battle,
more commonly known as that of Tonga, was fought here, the com-
bined troops of Jaipur and Jodhpur defeating the Marathas under
De Boigne.

Lambagraon.—Estate in Kangra District, Punjab, with an area
of 125 square miles. The present holder, Raja Jai Chand, is a descen-
dant of the ancient Katoch kings of Kangra. On the annexation
of that District, Ludar Chand, a nephew of the famous Raja Sansar
Chand, was confirmed in his jagir; and in 1851, on the death of
Sansar Chand's grandson Parmodh Singh, Partab Chand, the eldest
son of Ludar Chand, was acknowledged as head of the Katoch family
and received the title of Raja. The jagir has descended by . primo-
geniture_to 'the present 'Raja, who is' an honorary magistrate and
Munsif in his jagir, and &' maor in the 37th Dogras. In 1904
he was nominated a member of the Punjab Legislative Council.
His jagir consists of 20 villages and brings in about Rs. 40,000
a year.

Landi Khana.—Post in the KHYBER Pass, North-West Frontier
Province.

Landi Kotal.—Post in the Khyber Pass, North-West Frontier
Province, situated in 34° 6' N. and 71° 8' E., and the westernmost point
on that route occupied by the British Government. The kotal or pass
crosses a small subsidiary watershed 3,600 feet above sea-level, and
thence descends to the frontier of Afghanistan near Landi Khana. In
August, 1897, the post was attacked by the Afridib and carried, despite
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a stubborn defence by the Khyber Rifles. The fort is of the ordinary
type, consisting of a keep and an outer fort with accommodation for
5 British officers and 500 native officers and men. Since 1899 it, like
the other posts in the Khyber, has been garrisoned by the Khyber
Rifles, an irregular corps of militia recruited from the tribes of the
Khyber Agency.

Land our (Landhaur).—Hill cantonment and sanitarium in Dehra
Dun District, United Provinces, situated in 30° 27' N. and 78° 7' E.
Population in the cold season (1901), 1,720. In September, 1900,
the population was 3,711, of whom 1516 were Christians. A con-
valescent station for European soldiers was established in T827, the
year after the foundation of MUSSOORIE, which adjoins Landour. The
cantonment contains a large school for Europeans and Eurasians, with
college classes.

Langat.—River of Assam, which rises in the hills to the south
of Sylhet District, and flows north to within a few miles of Karimganj
town. Here it turns to the south-west and finally disappears in the
Hakaluki haor (depression). During the rainy season it is connected
with the Kusiyara branch of the Surma river, near Karimganj, by
a channel called the Natiakhal. On entering Sylhet, the river flows
through a ' reserved' forest, part of which has recently been thrown
open to cultivation, and then through low hilly country, planted out
with tea, and from this point its banks are fringed with tea gardens and
villages. There is little wheeled traffic in Sylhet, and the Langai is
largely used as a trade route for forest produce, tea, rice, cotton,
mustard, mats, and other country products. During the rainy season
boats of 4 tons burden can proceed as far as Hathikira tea estate; in
the cold season traffic is carried on in light vessels. The most impor-
tant places on the banks of the Langai are Patharkandi, Nilam Bazar,
Latu, and Jaldhub. Itstotal length is 73 miles.

Langiong.-Petty State in the Khasi Hills, Eastern. Bengal and
Assam.". The population in 1901 was 596, and the gross'.revenue
in 1903-4 was Rs. 120. The principal products are potatoes and
millet.

Langrin. - Petty State in the Khasi Hills, Eastern Bengal and
Assam. The population in 1901 was 1,138, and the gross revenue
in 1903-4 was Rs. 2,050. The principal products are rice and millet.
Deposits of coal and lime have been found in the State, but only the
latter is worked.

L ansdowne.—Cantonment in Garhwal District, United Provinces,
situated in 29° 52' N. and 78° 41' E., on a ridge of the Outer Hima-
layas, 5,500 to 6,600 feet above sea-level. A cart-road from Kotdwara
railway station, 19 milesaway, has recently been constructed. Population
(1901), 3,943. The cantonment was founded in 1887. It extends
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through beautiful pine and oak forests for a distance of more than
three miles, and can accommodate three battalions of native troops.
Lansdowne is aso the head-quarters of the Ganges Forest division, and
of a Deputy-Collector belonging to the District staff. During the ten
years ending 1901 the income and expenditure of the cantonment fund
averaged Rs. 7,500. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 11,900, and the
expenditure Rs. 12,600.

Lar.—Town in the Deoria tahsil of Gorakhpur District, United
Provinces, situated in 26° 12' N. and 83° 59' E., 2 miles from a station
on the Bengal and North-Western Railway. Population (1901), 7,305.
It contains a few mosques, and is a considerable trading centre for the
export of local produce. The town school has 160 pupils.

Larka Kol.—Tribe of Bengal. See Ho.

Larkana District.—District in Sind, Bombay, lying between
5° 53 and 28° N. and 67° 11' and 68> 33' E., with an area of
5,091 square miles. The District is bounded on the north by Suk-
kur and Upper Sind Frontier Districts; on the east by the river
Indus, which separates it from Sukkur District, the Khairpur State,
and Hyderabad District; on the south by Karachi District; and on
the west by the territory of the Khan of Kalat, the Kirthar range of
mountains and the Pab mountains forming a natural line of demarca-
tion on that side. The name is derived from the tribe of Larak or
Ladak, which once resided in the Larkana subdivision and is found in
Kathiawar at the present day.

With the exception of the western portion, which is mountainous,
the general aspect is that of a flat plain, intersected by canals. The

. southern portion (Sehwan subdivision) differs in

Physical ) : ;
apedts some respects frqm the remainder, in being more
hilly and possessing the only lake of importance in
Sind, known as the MANCHHAR. Patches of kalar or salt soil are met
with in different parts of the District. - Many of the pesks of the
Kirthar-range are lofty, ‘one of-them, known-as the Kutta-jo-Kabar
('dog's tomb'), attaining an altitude of 6,200 feet. For the rest,
Larkana does not differ in appearance from other parts of Sind.
Of the hills in the southern portion of the District, the most con-
spicuous are the LAKHI range and the Jatii hills running just outside
the boundary south-west from Sehwan to Duba. The latter are steep
and of considerable height, probably in few places lessthan 2,000 feet.
The Western Nara, which is a natural river artificially improved, is the
largest canal in the District. The portions of the District lying between
this canal and the Indus or the Ghar Canal are one dead flat of rich
alluvial soil, well cultivated and, on the whole, thickly populated. Hill
torrents or mil's are frequent. The principal is Nai-Gaj, which takes its
rise in Baluchistan and enters the District south of the Danna Towers.
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It usually rises in flood once or twice in the year. The Irak river, rising
in the Hathul hills between Karachi and Sehwan, after a south-easterly
course of 40 miles, fals into the Kinjhar lake, while the Aral is one
of the main channels by which the waters of the Manchhar lake are
discharged into the Indus, Other hill-streams are insignificant and
rarely hold water.

It is only in the Kirthar range, forming the frontier between
Sind and Baluchistan, that Larkana contains any rocks older than
recent, the remainder of the area being occupied by Indus alluvium.
The Kirthar range consists of the following series: Manchhar beds,
corresponding with the strata known elsewhere as Sivvaliks, which are
of middle and upper miocene age; the Gaj group, marine beds of
lower to middle miocene age, named after the Ga river in this
District; the Upper Nari, or oligocene; the Lower Nari, highly
fossiliferous Nummulitic strata of the upper eocene; the Kirthar
Nummulitic limestone, middle eocene, corresponding with the Spin-
tangi limestone of Baluchistan. On the western side of the range,
beyond the frontier, this limestone is underlaid by a thickness of
several thousand feet of shaly beds corresponding with the Ghazij
and Khojak shales of Baluchistan. A spring of sulphurous water at
Lakhi, having a temperature ranging from 102° to 124°, flows from the
base of a calcareous precipice, 600 feet high, known as the Dhara
hill.  The spring, popularly known as the Dhara Tirth, is much
frequented by persons suffering from skin diseases and rheumatism.
Recently it has been cleared, and bathing cisterns have been erected
for the convenience of visitors.

The vegetation is mainly tamarisk, which attains a fair size and is
much used by the inhabitants for firewood. The other important trees
are the nim, babul, and pipal. The ak, the fibre of which is aso used
for nets and the smaller kind of ropes, is common in the plains. The
mango, plantain, lime, and.pomegranate are grown extensively. . Groves
of date-palms are met with in: Kambar and Larkana on the banks
of cands, and in rice land ; and the wild olive, almond, and medlar
trees abound in the hills.

Wild animals include leopards, black bears, hog, antelope, ibex,
hog deer, hyenas, jackals, wolves, foxes, and porcupines. Wild sheep
and badgers are aso found. Among birds, there are many varieties
of duck, the tiltur, partridge, geese, swans, flamingoes, herons, sand-
grouse, snipe, and quail, and water-fowl of various kinds.

The climate of the two northern subdivisions does not materially
differ from the rest of Upper Sind. In the Sehwan subdivision
the heat is greatest in the northern area, where the proximity of
the Lakhi range, devoid of vegetation and radiating heat, causes
a perceptible increase in the temperature of the adjacent country.
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The average annual maximum and minimum temperatures are 1x5°
and 43° respectively *

The average annual rainfall in the Larkana and Mehar subdivisions
is estimated at 3 and 2 inches. The fall is somewhat heavier in
SehwSh, where it generally averages between 6 and 9 inches. During
the hot season, the prevailing wind is from the south; in the cold
season it is from the north and east, and is at times piercingly cold
and cutting. During March, dust-storms are frequent with high winds
and occasional showers of rain, while fierce hot winds called [ih blow
in May and June, often lasting far into the night. They are fiercest in
the forty days succeeding April 15, which are called the chahho.

The Larkana subdivision is subject to floods or lets, which at times
cause great destruction to life and property. In 1874, before the con-
struction of the Kashmor embankment, the /et, starting from the town
of the same name in the Frontier District, conjointly with the Jhali let,
originating in the Sukkur and Shikarpur subdivisions, inundated nearly
100,000 acres of waste and cultivated land, besides destroying portions
°f 53 villages. Strong embankments have been raised to stop these
overflows, and the evil has been greatly reduced. Mehar is subject also
to frequent floods from the Western Nara.

The history of Larkana can be gathered from the articles on
SUKKUR and KARACHI DISTRICTS, of which it formed a part until 1901.
In the feuds which led to the expulsion of the
Kalhora dynasty, a large portion of the District was
conferred on a Brahui chieftain in compensation for the murder of
a tribesman, but was subsequently resumed by the Talpurs. The
Brahuis are still numerously represented. After the battle with Shah
Shuja, the Larkana subdivision was divided between the Talpur Mirs,
from whom it passed to the British on the annexation of Sind.

Among the few antiquities of the District are the tombs of Shah
Baharah, at. Larkana town, and -of Shahal .Muhammad Kalhora,
at Fatehpur.' 'SEHWAN has a fort ascribed to: Alexander 'the Great,
and a fine tomb of Lai Shahbaz, portions of which date from the
fourteenth century. At Khudabad in the Dadu taluka, once a flourish-
ing town but now in ruins, are the tomb of Yar Muhammad Kalhora
and an old Jama Masjid adorned with some fine tile work.

According to the Census of 1901, the population of the District was
656,083. The population of the present area in
1891 was 594,896, the increase in ten years being
10 per cent. Statistics of the population in 1901 are given in the
following table:—

History.

Population

! There is no meteorological station in the District, and the temperatures given
arethose recorded inside dispensaries. If taken under the usua conditions, the average
maximum and minimum would be about 7° higher and lower respectively.
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District total 509 5 708 656,083 129 + 10 15, 335

The District contains five towns: LARKANA, the head-quarters,
SEHWAN, KAMBAR, RATO-DERO, and BUBAK. Owing to its hilly tracts,
the Sehwan taluka is less densely populated than the rest of the
District. Larkana is the most thickly populated. The language of
the District is Sindi, which is spoken by 94 per cent, of the inhabitants.
Distributing the population by religion, Musalmans form 85 per cent,
and Hindus 15 per cent.

The Musalmans are chiefly Sindis, Baluchis, and Brahuis. The
chief Baloch tribes are the Chandias (12,000), Rinds (37,000), Lagharis
(7,000), and Jamalis (6,000); Sindis include Abras (24,000) and Sam-
mas (188,000); while Jats number 12,000. It is from the Chandia
Baluchis that the Larkana subdivision formerly obtained the name
of Chanduka or Chandko. They are to be found in the west of the
District, in the vicinity of the hills. The Jamalis reside on the borders
of the desert, the Abras in the south-west of the Larkana subdivision;
Jats are found dispersed all over the District, and are mainly
cultivators'and cattle-breeders. ~The Hindus are mostly Brahmans and
Lohanas, including Amils.  As the District was formed after 1901, no
statistics of occupation are available *.

Of 115 Christians, 33 are natives, mostly Roman Catholics. There
are no missions.

Larkana contains one of the finest alluvial tracts in the whole of
Sind, lying between the Indus, the Nara, and the Ghar. There is,
perhaps, no part of the province so admirably suited
for irrigation ; and the soil is so productive that it
has procured for this tract the name of the ' garden of Sind' The

! The agricultural population is roughly 500,000—of the rest about 8,000 are
employed in petty industries, about 70,000 are traders, and the balance is made up of
day-labourers, Government and railway clerks, and unemployed.

VOL. XVI. K
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villages in the Gharo tappa of the Mehar taluka produce good rice;
but floods from the Nara are frequent and often prevent the cultivation
of this crop. The Dadu and Sehwan tdlukas contain the finest wheat
land in the whole of Sind. Much cultivation is carried on in the
neighbourhood of the Manchhar lake after the subsidence of the
annual inundation.

The chief statistics of cultivation in 1903-4 are shown below, in
square miles:—

* This differs from the area shown in the Census Report of 1901, being based on
more recent information

The staple food-grains are rice and wheat, the areas under which in
1903-4 wen2 435 and 218 square miles respectively. Jowar occupied
362 square miles. Excellent rice crops are produced in the Kambar
taluka, and rice has generally been more largely cultivated in the
northern tdlukas of recent years, owing to improvements in cana
irrigation. Wheat is the most prominent crop of the Sehwan taluka.
Pulses occupied 228 square miles, the principal being lang (202 square
miles). « The area under sesamum and rapeseed in the same year was
66 sguare miles, and under cotton one square mile. . Sugar-cane,
tobacco, indigo, and a large variety of garden vegetables and fruits are
grown, principally in the Larkana and Mehar tdlukas. Since the
District was formed, advances of 4 lakhs have been made to culti-
vators under the Land Improvement and Agriculturists' Loans Acts,
of which 1.9 lakhs was advanced in 1903-4.

The domestic animals are the same as in other parts of Sind, the
camel being the most useful. They are bred to a considerable extent
in the south. Large numbers of dumba or fat-tailed sheep are pas-
tured on the western hills. In Sehwan there are two varieties of sheep,
pf which one is remarkable for having four horns.

Of the total area cultivated, 1,093 square miles, or 49 per cent., were
irrigated in 1903-4. The areas supplied from each source are:
Government canals, 231 square miles; private canals, 757 square
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miles; wells, 7 square miles; and other sources, 98 square miles. Of
the numerous Government canals, the principal are: the Western
Nara (irrigating 457 square miles), Ghar (569 square miles), Sukkur
(109 square miles), Phitta canads (9 square miles), Dadu canal
(19 square miles), Aral canal (17 square miles), Pritchard canal
(13 sguare miles), Marvi Wah (7 square miles), Nara bands (7 square
miles), Ghar bands (1 square mile), Wahur Wah (5 square miles),
Raj Wah and Begari canal (0.l square mile). The Western Nara,
navigable by boats from May to September, is a river artificially
improved. After flowing through the Larkana and Mehar subdivisions,
it falls into the Manchhar lake. The Ghar, which is supposed also to
be a natural channel, is very winding, broad, and deep, with level
banks. It is largely used for boat traffic, and forms a great highway to
Sukkur via the Indus, as aso between Kambar and Larkana. Nearly
all the canals obtain their supply from the Indus. Of smaller Govern-
ment canals, the Shahaji Kur and Dateji Kur are the most important.
They draw their supply from the Ghar canal. None of the zamtndari
canals is important. The Manchhar lake provides for the irrigation
of a considerable area (25 square miles) in the Sen wan taluka.
Numerous hill torrents and rivers are utilized for irrigation in the
Mehar subdivision.

The Government 'reserved' forests in Larkana cover an area of
92 square miles, chiefly situated in the Sehwan subdivision, and are
administered by a Deputy-Conservator. These forests lie close to the
Indus and were planted by the Talpur chiefs as shikdrgahrs or shoot-
ing preserves. The revenue from forests, which amounts to over
Rs. 15,000, is mainly derived from the sale of firewood and timber.
With the exception of some good babul plantations, the tree growth
is small. In the hills of Sehwan, the pis or pish, a kind of dwarf-
palm, is much used by the Brahui tribes for manufacturing ropes,
twine, sandals, mats, and baskets.

Thelprincipal minerals are coarse sat and saltpetre. = Alum; sulphur,
and mica occur in the hills'to the west, but are not worked.

The manufactures include coarse cotton cloth, carpets, rugs, mats,
salt, metal-work, shoes, native saddles, and other leathern goods;
dyeing is also an important industry. Bubak is
the chief centre of carpet-manufacture; but both
carpets and saddle-bags, worked by Baloch and
Brahui women, are imported from Kalat and sold in the Johi and
Sehwan tdiukas. Native saddles are manufactured in Larkana
and cotton iungis in Sehwan. There are atogether 33 rice-cleaning
factories in the District, situated chiefly at Larkana town, Rato-dero,
Kambar, and Nasirabad. The District has an extensive trade, the
exports comprising grain of sorts, wool, cotton, and other agricultural

K 2
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products, and the imports being English piece-goods, silks, and fruits*
Larkana town is one of the chief grain marts of Sind.

The North-Western Railway runs through the District from Nao-
dero in the Rato-dero talnka to Sehwan. There are numerous ferries
on the Indus and the Western Nara. The total length of roads
is 1,440 miles, of which only 3 miles are metalled. The most
frequented roads are covered with dry grass, in order to lay the dust
and preserve the surface. The main road runs from Larkana to
Shikarpur and southwards through Mehar to Sehwan.

The tdiukas are for administrative purposes grouped into three sub-
divisions, of which two are in charge of Assistant Collectors and one in

Administration. charge of a Deputy-Collector. The subdivisions are

Larkana, comprising the LARKANA, RATO-DERO, LAB-
DARYA, and KAMBAR talukas ; Mehar, comprising KAKAR, MEHAR, and
NASIRABAD ; and Sehwan, comprising SEHWAN, JOHI, and DADU.

The District is within the jurisdiction of the District and Sessions
Judge of Sukkur.  There are four Subordinate Judges, whose jurisdic-
tion is confined to civil matters and extends to the same class of
suits as are tried by the Subordinate Judges in the rest of the
Presidency. Besides the criminal courts of the head munshh,
mukhtydrkarS) and  subdivisional officers, three resident magistrates
sit at larkana, Mehar, and Dadu. Cattle-theft is prevalent; and
wherever Baloch tribes are settled, blood-feuds are not uncommon.
The Sind Frontier Regulations are applied to the Rato-dero, Kambar,
Mehar, Kakar, Johi, and Sehwan talukas.

Before the conquest of Sind by the British in 1843, the northern
portion of the District was known as the Chandko pargana, and the
ownership of the entire lands in each village seems then to have been
vested in the zamindars or headmen and their heirs. They cultivated
a portion. themselves, leasing the rest to hereditary occupants, who
paid lapo or rent to the zaminddr, generally iin kind, at so many kasas *
per bigha. A fee, known as wajah zawindari, was ‘aso claimed by
the headman, and levied on the produce. When land was sold, the
purchaser became entitled to the lapo, but the wajah was still given
to the headman. The zamindar aone dealt with government or the
revenue contractor, and made his own collections from the tenants.
The prevailing tenure is still zamindari about 419 square miles of the
whole area being held in jagir or revenue free. The first settlement
of the Larkana subdivision was made by Major Goldney in 1847.
It was for seven years, and expired in 1853-4. In 1855-6 the rates
in the Larkana and Kambar talukas were reduced, and a separate
assessment fixed on cultivation by wheel or well. The topographical
survey commenced in 1859, and the new settlement was introduced

! A kisais adry mesaure equa to about one-third of a maund.



ADMINISTRATION 143

in all the talukas for periods ranging from nine to ten years. The
rates have since been revised from time to time. The rates per acre
of the latest revenue settlement (1893) are: garden land, Rs. 3-10
(maximum Rs. 5-4, minimum Rs. 2-8); rice lands, Rs. 3-9 (maximum
Rs. 5-4, minimum Rs. 2-8); and dry land, Rs. 2-11 (maximum
Rs. 3-0, minimum Rs. 1-12).

Collections on account of land revenue and revenue from all sources
have been, in thousands of rupees :—

1880-1. 1890-1. 1900-1. 1903-4.
Land revenue . 12,22 20,45 2545 24,50
Total revenue . 22,14 27,14 29,00

There ae five municipalities: LARKANA, KAMBAR, RATO-DERO,
SEHWAN, and BURAK. Outside the limits of these, local affairs are
managed by a District board and 10 taluka boards, with an income
and expenditure of nearly 2 lakhs in 1903-4. The principal source
of income is the land cess. In 1903-4 nearly Rs. 75,000 was expended
upon buildings and the maintenance of roads.

The District Superintendent of police is assisted by three inspectors.
There are four police stations in the District. The total force numbers
559, of whom 15 are chief constables, 109 head constables, and 435
constables. There are ten subsidiary jails in the District, with accom-
modation for 322 prisoners. The average number of prisoners in T904
was 68, of whom one was a female.

Larkana stands twenty-first among the twenty-four Districts of the
Presidency in the literacy of its population, of whom 23 per cent.
(2-8 males"and 0-4 females) are able to read and write. The number
of schools in 1903-4 was 574 (inclusive of 235 private), with 16,527
pupils, of whom 1,890 were females. There were only two schools for
girls. Of the 339 educational institutions. classed as public, secondary
schools numbered 7 and primary 332. 'Of these, 122 are managed by
local boards and 10 by municipalities, 206 are aided and one unaided.
The total expenditure on education in 1903-4 was over one lakh, of
which Rs. 9,100 was derived from fees. Of the total amount, 86 per
cent, was devoted to primary schools.

The District possesses 8 dispensaries containing accommodation for
68 in-patients. In 1904 the number of cases treated was 70,100,
including 604 in-patients, and 2,848 operations were performed. The
expenditure was Rs. 15,700, of which Rs. 13,000 was met from Local
and municipal funds.

The number of persons successfully vaccinated in 1 903-4 was
14,631, representing a proportion of 22 per T,000.

[A. W. Hughes, Gazetteer of the Province of Sn7/ (1876).]
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Larkana Subdivision.—Subdivision of Larkana District, Sind,
Bombay, composed of the LARKANA, LABDARYA, KAMBAR, and
RATO-DERO tdlukas.

Larkana Taluka.—Tdluka of Larkana District, Sind, Bombay,
lying between 27° 27" and 27° 46' N. and 68° 1'and 68° 28' E., with
an area of 267 square miles. The population in 1901 was 100,827,
compared with 90,151 in 1891. The tdluka contains one town,
LARKANA (population, 14,543), the head-quarters, and 72 villages.
The density, 378 persons per square mile, is the highest in the
District. The land revenue and in 1903-4 amounted to
42 lakhs. The tdluka is flat and is chiefly watered by the Ghar
canal and its branched. The south-western portion, irrigated by the
Western Nara, is said to produce the finest rice in Sind. Wheat is
largely grown on the banks of the Indus; and several mango groves
and date plantations surround Larkana town.

Larkana Town.—Head-quarters of Larkana District, Sind, Bom-
bay, situated in 27° 33' N. and 68° 16' E., on the south bank of the
Ghar canal, 40 miles south-west of Shikarpur town, and 36 north-east
of Mehar, and on the North-Western Railway. Population (1901),
14,543* The country surrounding Larkana is fertile and populous,
and perhaps the finest tract in the whole of the province. The spa
cious walks, well laid-out gardens, and luxuriant foliage, have gained
for Larkana the title of the ' Eden of Sind." It is one of the most
important grain marts of Sind,* and is famous for a variety of rice
called sugdasi. There is a large local traffic in metals, cloth, and
leather. The principal manufactures are cloth of mixed silk and
cotton, coarse cotton cloth, metal vessels, and leathern goods. The
town contains a dispensary, an Anglo-vernacular school attended by
80 pupils, and a vernacular school with three branches, attended
altogether by 379 pupils. The chief local object of interest is the
tomb of Shah Baharah, who was a military officer of Nur Muhammad
Kalhora and died in 1735.' Of modern buildings the most noteworthy
are the Collector's office, a fine domed building with an ornamental
Darbar hall, erected in 1902 ; and a neatly-built school and boarding-
house for the sons of zamindars, erected by public subscription in the
same year. This school has 60 inmates and teaches English and
Sindl. The municipality, established in 1855, had an average income
of Rs. 46,000 during the decade ending 1901. In 1903-4 the income
was Rs. 54,000.

Las Bela.—Native State on the southern coast of Baluchistan,
lying between 24° 54' and 26° 39' N. and 64° ' and 67° 29' E., with
an area of 6,441 sguare miles. It is bounded on the north by the
Jhalawan division of the Kalat State; on the south by the Arabian
Sea; on the east by the Kirthar range, which separates it from Sind;
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and on the west by the Hala offshoot of the Pab range. The whole
of the eastern part of the State is mountainous; )

the centre consists of a triangular level plain with F;g%’gégl

its base on the sea; on the west the State has

a narrow strip of coast stretching past Ormara. The hills include
the western slopes of the KIRTHAR mountains as far north as Lak
Phusi; the main ridge of the PAB range, with part of the Khude or
Khudo and the whole of the Mor offshoot; and on the west the lower
slopes of the MAKRAN COAST RANGE, including Taloi and Batt. The
largest rivers are the PORALI and HAB. Minor streams include the
Windar, Kharrari, and Phor. The floods of the Windar, Kharrari,
and Porali afford most of the irrigation in the central plain. The
Porali carries a small permanent supply of water at Welpat. The
HINGOL is another river which falls into the sea within the State limits.
The coast-line extends from the mouth of the Hab river westward
for about 250 miles, and possesses two roadsteads in SONMIANI and
Ormara. Close to the former lies the large backwater known as
Miani Hor. A little to the north of Sonmiani is the SIRANDA
lake.

The State has never been geologically examined.  Alluvial deposits
cover the central plain, while the hills consist chiefly of limestone.
The vegetation consists of a desolate scrub, represented by such plants
as Boucerosia Aucheriana, Capparis aphylla, Prosopis spicigera, Salva-
dora oleoides, Acacia Farnesiana, and many Astragali, Mangrove
swamps occur on the coast. Sind ibex and mountain sheep are
numerous in the hills. ' Ravine-deer' (gazelle) are plentiful, and some
hyenas, wolves, and wild hog occur. Pangolins are not uncommon.
Black and grey partridge afford good sport. Many kinds of fish are
caught off the coast.

The climate of the northern parts is extremely hot for eight months
of the year. . From November to. February-the air. is crisp and cool,
causing pneumonia among. the ill-clad inhabitants. = Along.the coast
a more moderate and moist climate prevails. Throughout the summer
a searbreeze springs up at midday, to catch which the houses of all the
better classes are provided with windsails in the roof. The rainfall is
capricious and uncertain, and probably does not exceed the annual
average of Karachi, or about 5 inches.

Reference has been made in the article on BALUCHISTAN to the
march of Alexander the Great in 325 B.C. through the southern part
of the State. ~ We know that the ruler in the seventh
century was a Buddhist priest. The country lay on
the route followed by the Arab general, Muhammad bin Kasim,
and Buddhism probably gave place to Islam about this time. The
succeeding period is lost in obscurity ; but chiefs of the Gujar, Rilnjha,

History,
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Gunga, and Burfat tribes, which are still to be found in Las Bela, are
said to have exercised a semi-independent sway previous to the rise
of the Aliani family of the Jamot tribe of Kureshi Arabs, to which
the present ruling chief, known as the Jam, belongs. The following
is the list of the Aliani Jams :—

i. Jam All Khan | (surnamed | 5. Jam Mir Khan |1, circa 1830.

Kathuria), 1742-3. 6. Jam Ali Khan! |1, 1888.
2. Jam Ghulam Shah, 1765-6. 7. Jam Mir Kamal Khan, 1896
3. Jam Mir Khan |, 1776. (ruling 1908).

4. Jam All Khan | I, 1818. |

The most prominent of these Jams was Jam Mir Khan |11, who
proved himself a skilful organizer during his long reign. He allied
himself with the chiefs of the Jhalawan country in three rebellions
against Mir Khudadad Khan of Kalat, but in 1869 he was obliged
to fly to British territory. In 1877 he was restored to the mas?iad.
On his death in 1888 the appointment of a Wazir, selected by the
British Government, was created to assist his successor. The ruling
Jam, Mir Kamal Khan, did not receive full powers at his accession,
but since 1902 they have been increased. The existing relations of
the State with the British Government have been detailed in the
section on Native States in the article on BALUCHISTAN.

The shrines of HINGLAJ and Shah Bilawal; the caves at Gondrani,
north of Bela, hewn out of the solid conglomerate rock and possibly
of Buddhist origin; and the highly ornamented tombs at Hinidan
and other places, affording evidence of a system of superterrene
burial, constitute the more important archaeological remains in the
State.

Las Bela is divided into seven niabats: Welpat, Uthal, Sheh-Liari,
Miani, Hab, Kanrach, and Ormara. It aso includes the Levy Tracts
along the Hab valley. - The permanent villages
number'139; *-the population. (1901) 'is- 56,109.
BELA is the capital town; SONMIANI, Uthal, Liari, and Ormara are
the only other places of importance. The language is Jadgali, closely
allied to Sindf. Some Baluchi is spoken on the coast. The majority
of the inhabitants are Sunni Muhammadans ; along the coast are
a good many Zikris; a few Khojas and Hindus are engaged in trade.
The Gadras (7,900), who are distinctly negritic in type and generally
servile dependants or freedmen, indulge in a kind of fetish worship said
to have been brought from Africa. The population is distributed into
tribal groups, none of which is, however, numerically strong. The
principal are the Jamot (2,900), Runjha (3,800), and Angaria (2,700).
The latter, together with the Sabra, Gunga, Burra, Achra, Doda, and
Mandra, are termed Numria, and are believed to be the aborigines

Popul ation.
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of the country. Landholders and agriculturists compose about half
the population; about a quarter are engaged in sheep- and goat-
breeding; while the rest are fishermen, traders, labourers, and servile
dependants.

The soil of the country is a fertile, sandy alluvium. Almost the
whole of the land depends on flood-irrigation, and for this purpose
embankments have been constructed in all the prin-
cipal rivers except the Hab. The area irrigated
from permanent irrigation is small, and most of it lies in the Welpat
niabat. The number of wells isinsignificant. They are worked with
a leathern bucket and bullocks. The land is in the hands of peasant
proprietors. Cash rents are unknown. Tenants, where they exist,
receive a share of the grain heap. Cash wages, except for agricul-
tural labour, which is remunerated in kind, are now coming into vogue.
The rates vary from five annas per diem for a common labourer to ten
annas for a potter. The staple food-grain of the country isjowar,
mixed with which mung is grown. These crops constitute the autumn
harvest, while the spring harvest consists chiefly of oilseeds.

Sheep, goats, and camels are bred in large numbers, especialy the
two latter. Camels are used for both transport and riding. Horses
and ponies are few in number. Bullocks and cows of moderate size
are kept for agricultural purposes. Fishing forms an important industry
along the coast.

The forests are not systematically ' reserved. The State derives
a small income from those at Malan and Batt, and from the man-
groves which grow in the swamps along the coast. In years of good
rainfall much excellent forage grass grows on the lower hills and is
exported to Karachi. The minor forest products are gum arabic,
bdellium, and honey. Little is known about the minerals in the
State.  Marcasite is of frequent occurrence, but not in quantities
sufficient to be of commercial value.. Limestone is burnt and exported
to Karachi, the ‘State deriving about Rs. 1,500 per annum from it as
duty. Salt is obtained from surface excavations at Brar.

Rugs of excellent quality are manufactured in the da?'l stitch, and
good embroidery is done on cloth and leather with a steel crochet-
needle. Trade finds its way to Karachi by land,
and by sea from Gagu, Sonmiani, and Ormara.
Caravans proceed to Makran to exchange grain
for dates. The land trade with Sind in 1902-3 was valued at
69 lakhs, exports being 56 and imports 13 lakhs. No separate
figures are available for maritime trade. The imports include piece-
goods and food-grains, especially rice; and the exports wool, oilseeds,
sheep and goats, ghi, and fish-maws.

The only road is a track, 101 miles long and 12 feet wide, from the
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Hab river to Bela. Caravan routes connect SonmiSni with Ormara,
Bela with Makran, and Bela with Kalat via Wad. The Indo-
European Telegraph line traverses the coast for 226 miles, with an
office at Ormara. The Jam receives a subsidy of Rs. 8,400 per annum
for its protection. A daily post, organized by the State, is carried
between Karachi and Bela, and a bi-weekly service runs between Liari
and Ormara. Postal expenditure amounts to about Rs. 4,200 annually,
and the receipts from stamps to about Rs. 600.

Las Bela is liable to frequent droughts. The longest in living
memory took place between 1897 and 1900, when large numbers of
cattle died and a sum of Rs. 5000 was spent by
the State in relief. The poorer classes at such times
resort to Karachi, where a large demand for labour exists.

A description of the system of administration has been given in the
paragraphs on Native States in the article on BALUCHISTAN. The
suits tried in 1903 aggregated 1,094, including
267 criminal, 658 civil, and 169 revenue and mis-
cellaneous cases. Cases are seldom referred to jirgas. The most
common form of crime is cattle-lifting. Special mention may be
made of the administration of the Levy Tracts. They formerly
belonged to KalSt; but, in the struggles which occurred during Mir
Khudadad Khan's reign (1857-93), the Chhutta inhabitants developed
raiding propensities, directing their attacks against both Sind and Las
Bela. A force of Sind Border Police had been organized in 1872 to
guard the frontier, but it was not successful; and in 1884 a system
of tribal responsibility, under the direction of the Jam, was introduced,
the funds being found by the British Government. The Las Bela
State has since acquired the right to the collection of transit dues in
this tract, from which it receives an income of between Rs. 2,000 and
Rs. 3,000 per annum.

The revenue varies from-about 13/4 lakhs.to 2% lakhs, according to
the character of the agricultural seasons. ' The expenditure is generally
about 2 lakhs. The principal sources of income are land revenue,
about Rs. 85,000, and transit dues, which are levied on a complicated
system, about Rs. 95,000. Fisheries produce about Rs. 24,500. The
expenditure includes the personal alowances of the Jam, about
Rs. 40,000 ; civil establishments, Rs. 50,000 ; and military, Rs. 45,000.
A surplus of Rs. 1,50,000 has been invested in Government securities.
Most of the revenue is collected direct by the State officials, but in
some cases contracts are given to local traders.

The systematic organization of the land revenue system is of recent
growth. Up tothetime of Jam Mir Khan | | , military service appears
to have been the only obligation on the cultivators. This chief began
by assessing land in the possession of traders, and the assessment
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has since been extended to lands newly brought under cultivation.
Revenue-free grants are held chiefly by Saiyids, Shaikhs, Jamots,
Shahoks, and Numrias. The system of assessment is by appraisement
(tashkhls), the State share being fixed by the tahsildar or his represen-
tative. The general rate is one-fourth of the produce. Cultivators
of crown lands pay one-third.

A force of military police, consisting of 104 Punjabis, is maintained
at Bela under the orders of the Wazir. They were raised in 1897 and
are armed with Snider carbines. The State troops, known as Fauj
Last, consist of 212 foot, 36 cavalry, and 5 guns. The naibs are
assisted by sixty-one local levies, known as fasli sepoys. Twelve
chaukidars are also maintained. The tribal service of the Levy
Tracts consists of five officers, thirty-five footmen, sixteen mounted
men, and five clerks, maintained at a total annual cost to Provincial
revenues of about Rs. 10,000. The jail at Bela has accommodation
for about 70.prisoners. Bela and Uthal each possess a primary school
in which 115 boys are under instruction. A dispensary is main-
tained at Bela at a cost of about Rs. 1,800 per annum. In 1903,
4,750 patients were treated. @ The commonest diseases are malarial
fever, diseases of the eye, and ulcers. A vaccinator is attached to the
dispensary, but vaccination is unpopular. Inoculation is practically
unknown.

[J. C. Stocks, New Journal of Botany, vol. ii (1850); A. W. Hughes,
Baluchistan (1877).]

L ashio.—Head-quarters of the Superintendent of the Northern Shan
States, Burma, situated in 22° 56' N. and 97° 45' R., at the western
corner of North Hsenwi, about 2,800 feet above the sea It consists
of a civil station, a military police post, small settlements of natives of
India, Burmans, and Chinese, and some scattered hamlets of Shans.
The civil station proper is situated on a low spur overlooking the upper
valley of the Nam Yao. - The railway station, which is the. present
terminus_of ‘the Mandalay-Lashio branch, is 2! miles distant in the
valley. By cart-road Lashio is 178 miles, and by railway 180 miles,
from Mandalay.

The climate is good, though, like most places in the Shan States,
there is a very considerable range of temperature. During the five
years ending 1904 the average maximum temperature was 8i°, and the
average minimum 60° (mean temperature 70°). The annual rainfall
for the same period averaged 62 inches. The population in 1901
(before the railway was opened) was 1,613, including military police.
In April, 1904, however, the limits of the station were extended, and
the population of the area now included was 2,565 according to the
Census of 1901. The native population comprises Shans, Burmans,
natives of India, Palaungs, and Chinese. The civil hospital has 20 beds,
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and a military police hospital 24. At the former, 408 in-patients and
7,087 out-patients were treated in 1904. Lashio has recently been
constituted a ‘notified area, and its affairs are managed by a committee
of five members. There is a small daily bazar, and a large market
is held every five days, the latter being fairly well attended by people
from the neighbouring villages. The immediate vicinity of the station
does not produce any commodities for export, but several traders have
settled since the opening of the railway, and a certain amount of
merchandise changes hands here. The Shan village of Old Lashio,
about 2 miles off in the valley, has a considerable market for opium.
The great want of the place hitherto has been a good and permanent
water-supply.  Steps have been taken recently to supply this defect,
and a pipe water-supply is in course of construction.

L ash-Jawain.—A fort rather than a town in the Lash-Jawain (Hok
or Hokat) district of the Farrah province of Afghanistan, situated in
31%41' N. and 61° 85' R. It stands on the right bank of the Farrah
Rud, on the end of a promontory projecting from the Dasht-i-Panjdeh.
The population of the surrounding district is small, chiefly Ishakzai
Purranis, with some Tajiks; and there are no local industries. The
ruins everywhere met with testify to the former prosperity of the
country, and contrast strangely with the wretched mud hovels now
forming its villages. The ruins are of Arab origin, but include the less
artistic and inferior remains of more modern structures. This decay
has been caused by the successive invasions and revolutions that have
for centuries devastated the district, from the time of Chingiz Khan.

Lashkar (= 'Camp').—Modern capital of Gwalior State, Central
India, situated in 26° 13' N. and 78° 10'E., 2 miles south of the fort
and old town of Gwalior, and 763 miles by rail from Bombay. The
original capital of Sindhia's dominions was Ujjain. Lashkar, now the
largest and most important city in the Central India Agency, owes its
foundation to Daulat Rao.Sindhia, who, in 1810, after wresting the
district from his vassal, Ambaji ' Inglia, fixed on this spot for his.standing
camp. A year or so later a few buildings were erected, notably the old
palace now called Maharajwara. Even in 1818, however, the place was
little more than a great encampment, as the following description by an
eyewitness shows.—

"It presents the appearance of an immense village, or rather collec-
tion of villages, with about a dozen " chunamed " buildings, shapeless,
coarse, without any air of ornament. . . . And here and there many
small trees and hedges of the milk-plant, all of quick growth and late
planting, but yet giving the whole a fixed and settled aspect. ... At
the second gaze, however, you see interspersed many tents and " palls,”
flags and pennons, in some parts hutted lines and piles of aims . . .

in one range a large regular park of artillery, in all open spaces horses
picketed, strings of camels, and a few stately elephants. On the skirts
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of this large mass a few smaller and more regular encampments belong-
ing to particular chiefs with their followers, better armed and mounted.
The sounds, too, of neighings of horses, drums and firearms, and
occasionally the piercing trump of an elephant mingled in the confusion
with the hum of a population loud, busy, and tumultuous, convincingly
tell you that the trade here is war, the manufacture one of armsV

By 1829, however, the city had assumed a more settled appearance,
the main street having many large houses built of stone.

In 1858, during the Mutiny, the Rani of Jhansi and Tantia Topi
joined forces, and on May 30 appeared before Lashkar, and called on
Sindhia for assistance. Sindhia not only refused, but attacked them.
His army, however, mutinied and, except for his Maratha guard, went
over en masse to the enemy. Sindhia was protected by his Marathas,
and reached Agra fort in safely. He was reinstated at Lashkar on
June 20 by Sir Hugh Rose and the Resident, Major Macpherson.

The city is picturesquely situated in a horseshoe-shaped valley
opening eastwards. Just below the fort are the palaces, standing in
a walled enclosure, known as the Pliul Bagh, or flower garden. The
modern residence of the chief, the Jai Bilas palace, and the older
Moti Mahal, now used for departmental offices, a museum and other
buildings, are all situated within this enclosure. Outside it, to the
south, are the Elgin Club for the Sardars of the State, managed on the
lines of a European club, the Victoria College, and the Jayaji Rao
Hospital. The city proper lies beyond the palaces. It is bisected by
the main road, leading from the Gwalior railway station, and is divided
into numerous quarters. The Sarrafa or bankers' quarter is, however,
the only street with any pretensions. This is a fine broad road, not
unlike the Chandni Chauk at Delhi; but the houses, on close inspec-
tion, are seen to be in bad taste, Italian finials and balustrades being
mingled with exquisite native stone-work, while the thin, poorly built
walls are-but inadequately concealed by a certain veneer of smartness.

The architecture of the city generally has little to recommend it,
although Gwalior is still the centre of a stone-carving industry which
has been famous for centuries, a fact only to be explained by the
demoralizing effect which the Maratha inroads of the eighteenth century
had on all the arts. The great Jai Bilas palace, built in 1874, is con-
structed on the general plan of an Italian palazzo, but is unfortunately
disfigured by an incongruous mingling of European and Indian styles.
It contains a fine Darbar hall, 100 feet long by 50 wide and 40 high.
The earlier Moti Mahal paace is a copy of the Peshwas palace at
Poona, and is an example of the debased style of the eighteenth
century. The modern Jayaji Rao Hospital and Victoria College are,
however, really handsome buildings. The Chhatrls or cenotaphs of

! Sketches of India by an Officer for Fireside Travellers, p. 254.
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the Sindhias, which are situated to the south of the city, are good
examples of modern Hindu architecture, especially that of the late
Maharaja.

The population has been : (1881) 88,066, (1891) 88,317, and (1901)
102,626. Hindus number 77,606, or 76 per cent., and Musamans
22,512, or 22 per cent. These figures include the population of the
cantonment or Lashkar Brigade, which amounted to 13,472 in 1901.
The people are on the whole well-to-do, many of the merchants being
men of great wealth. The principal sources of trade are banking and
exchange, stone-carving, and the export of building stone and grain.
There are many temples in the city, but none is of special interest.
Lashkar is well supplied with metalled roads, and a branch of the
Gwalior Light Railway runs from the Gwalior station to the Jai Biias
palace. The General Post Office belonging to the State postal system
is in the Jayendraganj quarter, with branches in other quarters.

The city is administered by a municipal board, originally established
in 1887. It now consists of 70 members, of whom 22 are officials, and
the rest elected. They have control of the city proper, which isdivided
into eighteen wards. The management of the lighting, conservancy,
roads, markets, drainage, and sanitation, and the acquirement of land
for public purposes are in their hands. In 1903 the total income was
Rs. 72,000, chiefly derived from taxes on lighting, bazars, hackney
carriages, and the rent of certain lands; and the expenditure was
Rs. 50,600, including conservancy (Rs. 14,000) and public works
(Rs. 9,900). Public institutions include the Jayajl Rao Hospital with
two branches, an asylum for the blind, the Victoria College with three
connected schools, a free library in the old Maharajwara paace, a
school for the sons of State nobles, besides a military school, a service
school, and two girls' schools. State guesthouses are maintained
near the palace and railway station for Europeans; and there are two
sarais for native visitors, of which the Dufferin sarai is a picturesque
building close ta the station.

At the south-east corner of the city lies the cantonment or Lashkar
Brigade, known popularly by its earlier title of the Kampu. It isin
charge of a special magistrate, who is responsible for the sanitation as
well as the magisterial work. The land on which the Brigade stands
was originally part of two villages, Gura-Guri and Rajpura. Daulat
Rao Sindhia selected this site for the encampment of the troops under
his immediate personal command. Three other plots were added for
the regular battalions under his European generals, Alexander, Jean
Baptiste Filose, and Jacob. By the seventh article of the treaty
entered into with the British Government in 1844, these camps were
broken up; and the Alexander Kampu was added to the Mahargja's
to form a cantonment for the State troops which he was permitted to
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maintain under that treaty. Houses and a few shops gradually sprang
up round the lines. In 1859 a large building was erected, known as
the Kampu Kothi, in which Jayaji Rao resided from 1866 to 1874.
Subsequently it was used for the military offices, and since 1900 the
military school has been located there. The chief officers of the
military department reside in Lashkar Brigade, including the com-
mander-in-chief, adjutant-general, and the quartermaster-general of the
State forces and their staffs.  The State workshop is also here. Insti-
tuted originally for military purposes, it has developed into a general
workshop in which work of all kinds is carried out, including repairs
for the Gwalior Light Railway. Some of the State troops are quartered
at MORAR, 4 miles away.

Lasur. —Village in the Chopda taluka of East Khandesh District,
Bombay, situated in 21°18'N. and 75° 15'E., 8 miles north-west of
Chopda town.  Population (1901), 2,557. Lasur is now nothing but a
collection of mud huts and irregularly built houses, but the ruins of
a fort, a fine well, and the remains of a mosque attest its former
importance. The fort was dismantled by the British, and the Thoke's
mansion was burnt down a few years ago. The history of the family
illustrates the state of Khandesh in the beginning of the nineteenth
century. The Carnatic mercenaries, employed by every petty pro-
prietor, had made themselves so obnoxious that Gulzar Khan Thoke,
the holder of the strong fort of Lasur, enlisted a body of Arabs to
oppose them. Unable to control or pay his Arabs, he used to let
them loose on the country round, till at last the other proprietors,
entering into a league against him, bribed hib Arabs to assassinate him
at Lasur and his eldest son Aliyar Khan at Chopda. A second bon,
Alaf Khan, escaping from Lasur, took refuge with Suragjl Rao Nimbal-
kar of Yaval. Returning with some Carnatic mercenaries lent him by
the Nimbalkar, Alaf Khan, on pretence of paying the Arabs theii
arrears; entered the fort, and. the Carnatic troops seized the Arabs and
put them to death. | Butiinstead of being in possession of his own fort,
Alaf Khan found that his hired force had orders to hold the fort for
their master the Nimbalkai. Driven to despair, Alaf Khan allied
himself with the Bhils and plundered without mercy. At last the Nim-
balkar agreed to give up the fort for a money payment of Rs. 10,000.
This sum Captain Briggs advanced to the Thoke family and occupied
the fort with British troops. Subsequently a member of the Thoke
family was appointed keeper of the hills and of the Bhirram pass, and
the family now serve as headmen of the village. Hie village contains
a boys' school with 8 pupils.

Laswari.™Village in the Ramgarh tahsil of the State of Alwar,
Rajputana, situated in 27°33' N. and 76° 56' E., on the left bank of
the Ruparel river, about 20 miles east of Alwar city. the place is
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famous as the scene of the great battle of November i, 1803, which
terminated in the utter defeat of the Marathas by the British under
the command of General (afterwards Lord) Lake. The battle is thus
described by Marshman :(—

'He [General Lake] had received an unfounded report that the
Maratha army was endeavouring to avoid him, and, with his usual
impetuosity, started at midnight in search of it, with his cavalry
alone, leaving orders for the infantry to follow. He came up with the
encampment of the enemy at daybreak on November 1, at the village
of Laswari, and found them, as usual, entrenched in a formidable
position, with their guns drawn up in the front. The general led his
cavalry up in person to the attack; a fearful discharge of grape and
double-headed shot mowed down column after column, and rendered
the fiery valour of the troops useless. To prevent their utter extinc-
tion, the general was obliged to withdraw them from the conflict, and
await the arrival of the infantry, who had marched 65 miles in the
preceding forty-eight hours, and 25 miles since midnight. After a brief
rest and a hasty meal, they were launched on the enemy's guns and
battalions. The engagement was the severest in which the Company's
troops had ever been engaged, not excepting that of Assaye. Sindhia's
sepoys fought as natives had never fought before. They defended
their position to the last extremity, contesting every point inch by inch,
and refusing to give way while a single gun remained in their posses
sion. But they were at length overpowered, and lost their ammunition
and camp equipage, together with 71 pieces of cannon. It was even
reported that one-half their number was left on the field, killed or
wounded. On the British side, the casualties amounted to 824, one-
fourth of which belonged to the 76th Regiment, which bore the brunt
of the action.'

[See also Appendix 1V, pp. 302-9 of The Rajputana Gazetteer,
vol.iii (Simla, 1880).]

Lathi State.—State in the Kathiawar Political Agency, Bombay,
lying between 21°41' and 21°45' N. and 71° 23" and 71°32' E., with
an area.of 42 square miles. The population ‘in' 1901 was. 8,831,
residing in nine villages. The revenue in 1903-4 was Rs. 1,37,500,
and 33 sguare miles were cultivated. The State ranks as a fourth-class
State in Kathiawar. The Lathi chiefs are descended from Sarang;jl,
one of the sons of the Gohel Sejakji, the common ancestor of the
Bhaunagar, Pali tana, and Lathi houses. One of the Thakurs of Lathi
wedded his daughter to Damaji Gaikwar and gave the estate of
Chabharia, now called Damnagar, in dowry, being exempted from
tribute in return. He now offers a horse yearly. In 1807 the Gaikwar
became security for the Thakur's engagements to keep order in his
territory.

Lathi Town.—Chief town of the State of the same name in Kathi-
awar, Bombay, situated in 21° 43' N. and 71° 28' E., on the Bhavnagar-
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Gondal-Junagarh-Porbandar Railway. Population (1901) 5,997. It
contains a dispensary and is well supplied with public offices.

Latur.—Town in the Owsa taluk of Osmanabad District, Hyderabad
State, situated in 18° 25' N. and 76°35' E. Population (1901), 10,479.
Latur is a great centre of the cotton and grain trade in communication
with Barsi railway station, 64 miles distant. It has three ginning
factories, a British sub-post office, and a State post office, as well as a
vernacular school and a travellers' bungalow.

Launglon.—Western township of Tavoy District, Lower Burma,
lying between 13° 31' and 14° 13' N. and 98° 5' and 98° 14' E., with
an area of 355 square miles. It consists of a narrow strip of country,
covered with low hills running north and south between the sea and
the lower reaches of the Tavoy river. The population was 27,209 in
1891, and 33,187 in 1901, distributed over 112 villages. The density
in the latter year was 99 persons per square mile. The* population
is almost wholly Burman. The head-quarters are at Launglon, a village
of 1,461 inhabitants, situated about 8 miles south-west of Tavoy town.
Maungmagan, a village on the coast north-west of Tavoy, is resorted
to for sea-bathing by the residents. It has a fine sandy beach and
picturesque surroundings. The area cultivated in 1903-4 was 70 square
miles, paying Rs. 88,000 land revenue.

Laur.—The name of an old Hindu kingdom, which at one time
occupied the north-western portion of what is now the District of
Sylhet, Eastern Bengal and Assam.  Gor or Sylhet proper was con-
quered by the Muhammadans in A.D. 1384, but Laur retained its
independence for another two hundred years. One of the Rajas,
named Gobind, was summoned to Delhi and there embraced the
Muhammadan faith; and his grandson, A bid Reza abandoned Laur
and built the town of BANIYACHUNG at the beginning of the eighteenth
century. Under the Mughal empire the Rajas of Laur were held
responsible. for .the defence of the frontier, and their estates were
not actually assessed to' revenue till the middle of the eighteenth
century. — In 1765 Laur came under the civil administration of the
British, with the rest of Bengal.

Lauriya Nandangarh.—Village in the Bettiah subdivision of
Champaran District, Bengal, situated in 26° 59' N. and 84° 25' E.
Population (1901), 2,062. The village contains three rows of huge
conical mounds, which General Cunningham believed to be the tombs
of early kings, belonging to a period antecedent to the rise of Buddhism.
Near these mounds stands a lion pillar inscribed with the edicts of
Asoka. It is a single block of polished sandstone, 32 feet 9 inches
high, the diameter tapering from 355 inches at the base to 26-2 inches
at the top. The capital supports a statue of a lion facing the north ;
the circular abacus is ornamented with a row of Brahmani geese. The
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pillar is now worshipped as a linga> and is commonly known as Bhim
Singh's lath or club.

Lawa.—Estate or thakurat in Rajputana. Though its area is but
19 square miles, it is important from the fact of its being a separate
chiefship under the protection of the British Government and inde-
pendent of any Native State. It lies between 2 6° 18' and 26° 25' N.
and 75° 31" and 75° 36' E., being surrounded by Jaipur territory on
all sides except the east, where it borders on Tonk; it is about 45 miles
south-west of Jaipur city and 20 miles north-west of Tonk city.

The lands comprising the estate formerly belonged to Jaipur, and
in 1772 were granted in jagir to Nahar Singh, a member of the ruling
family. Subsequently Lawa and other Jaipur territory in its vicinity
fell under the domination of the Marathas, represented by the Pindari
leader Amir Khan, and in 1817 became part of the State of Tonk then
founded. For many years there was constant fighting, arising from
the desire of the Tonk Darbar to reduce the stuidy Thakurs of Lawa
to greater submission than they had been accustomed to yield; and in
1865 a force dispatched from Tonk unsuccessfully laid siege to Lawa,
losing 300 men in killed and wounded. The Nawab of Tonk, Muham-
mad Ali Khan, continued to harass his feudatory, and affairs reached
a climax when the Thakur's uncle and his fourteen followers were
treacherously murdered at Tonk in 1867. It was fully proved that
this crime was perpetrated with the knowledge, and at the instigation,
of the Tonk chief; and a proclamation issued to the people by order
of the Governor-General announced the deposition of the Nawab and
the succession of his son. * Lawa,'. it went on to say, ' will nhow become
a separate chiefship, and will so remain for ever under the protection
of the British Government. In 1868 Lawa was placed under the
political supervision of the Resident at Jaipur. The tribute of Rs. 3,000
(local currency), formerly paid to Tonk, became payable to the British
Government; but the latter, in-consequence of the indebtedness of
the estate, held iits claim in abeyance till 1883, when the tribute was
reduced to the nominal sum of Rs. 225 a year. In 1879 the Thakur
agreed to suppress the manufacture of salt, and to abolish all taxes and
transit duties on every article except ganja, spirits, opium, or other
intoxicating drugs; as compensation for these concessions, he receives
from Government annually Rs. 700 and 10 maunds of salt.

The Thakurs of Lawa belong to the Naruka sept of the Kachwaha
Rajputs. The present Thakur, Mangal Singh, was born in 1873, and
succeeded to the estate in May, 1892. He is a Rao Bahadur, and
holds the title of Raja as a personal distinction.

The population of the estate, which consists of one large village
and five attached hamlets, was 2,682 in 1881, 3,360 in 1891, and
2,671 in 1901; the decrease since 1891 was mainly due to the famine
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of 1899-1900. At the last Census Hindus numbered 2,350, or about
88 per cent, of the population, Muhammadans 161, and Jains 160.
One-third of the people are engaged in agriculture, and the area
ordinarily cultivated is about 8,000 acres, of which one-eighth is
irrigated.  Irrigation is from wells, which number 150, and from
tanks, of which there are 7. The land revenue, amounting to about
Rs. 0,000, is for the most part collected in kind, the chief taking one-
third of the produce as his share. The normal revenue and expenditure
of the estate are approximately Rs. 11,000. The Thakur disposes of
all petty criminal and civil cases; but in serious or important cases,
which are very rare, the preliminary inquiry is made by him, and the
record is then submitted to the Resident at Jaipur for final decision.

Lawar.—Town in the District and tahsil of Meerut, United Pro-
vinces, situated in 29° 7' N. and 77° 47' E., 12 miles north of Meerut
city. Population (1901), 5046. It belongs to the descendants of
Mir Surkh, a native of Mazandaran, who acquired forty-five villages
in the neighbourhood. It contains a fine house, called the Mahal
Sarai, built about 1700 by Jawahir Singh, who also excavated the
Surgj Kund (tank) at Meerut. Lawar is administered under Act XX
of 1856, with an income of about Rs. 1,500. In 1904 the primary
school had 80 pupils.

Lawksawk (Burmese, YatsauU).—State in the central division
of the Southern Shan States, Burma, lying between 20° 58' and
22° 16' N. and 96° 37" and 97° 20' E., with an area (including its
dependency of Mongping) of 2,197 square miles. On the north it
is bounded by the Hsipaw State, from which it is separated by the
Myitnge or Nam Tu river; on the east by Mongkung, Laihka, and
Mongnai; on the south by Yawnghwe and two small Myelat States;
and on the west by the Myelat States of Yengan and Maw and by
Kyaukse District. The Mongping (Burmese, Maingpyiri) dependency
occupies-the south-eastern portion, from which it is cut off by the Nam
Et river. t The State is’broken and mountainous, the hills having
ageneral north and south trend, with high ranges running along the
eastern and western boundaries and down the centre. The eastern
portion drains into the Nam Lang and its tributary the Nam Et, which
run northwards throughout the length of the State to join the Nam
T u; the western portion is watered by the Zawgyi, which is a tributary
of the Irrawaddy, and irrigates a largearea of Kyaukse District. The
middle and southern portions of the State consist of a fine rolling
plateau, 3,500 feet above the sea, on which clumps of pine and oak
stand in fine grassy glades. Of the several important forest areas,
the richest is known as the Pyaungshu forest. The crops grown in
the State are rice, sesamum, cotton, ground-nuts, and oranges. The
Taungthus cultivate the hill-sides, and the Shans and Danus irrigate
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their crops in the valleys. Thanatpet is cultivated for cigar-wrappers.
The State had been ravaged and almost entirely depopulated at the
time of annexation (see article on SOUTHERN SHAN STATES). In 1901
the population numbered only 24,839 (distributed in 397 villages), of
whom 11,847 spoke Shan, 10,077 Burmese (Burmans or Danus), and
2,056 Taungthu, There are a few Palaungs and Taungyos. The
capital, Lawksawk (population, 1,648), is well situated on a slope rising
from the valley of the Zawgyi, and was once strongly fortified. The
revenue in 1903-4 amounted to Rs. 27,000, the main source being
thathameda; and the expenditure included Rs. 14,000 tribute to the
British Government, Rs. 6,700 contribution to the privy purse,
Rs. 2,600 pay of officials, Rs. 2,500 cost of general administration,
and Rs. 1,300 public works.

L ebong.—Mountain range in Almora District, United Provinces,
forming part of the Himalayan system, and separating Bians from the
Darmavalley. It is crossed by a difficult pass, situated in 30° 20" N.
and 80° 38’ E., which is covered with snow throughout the year. The
crest of the pass has an elevation of 18,942 feet above sea-level.

Lebong.—Cantonment in the head-quarters subdivision of Dar-
jeeling District, Bengal, situated in 27° 4' N. and 88° 17 E., below
the station of Darjeeling, at an altitude of 5,970 feet. Population
(1901), 208. Barracks built in 1896 contain accommodation for about
450 men, but Government has purchased land on the Lebong spur
with the intention of building sufficient barracks to accommodate
a whole battalion of British infantry.

Ledo.—Coal-mines in Lakhimpur District, Eastern Bengal and
Assam. See MARGHERITA.

L egaing.—Central township of Minbu District, Upper Burma, lying
in the Mon valley, between 20° 9' and 20° 29' N. and 94° 26' and
94° 48' E;, with an area of 533 square miles. The population was
35,895 in 1891, and 36,397 in 1901, distributed in, 146 villages,
Legaing- (population, 2,787), a village about 15 miles north-west of
Minbu, being the head-quarters. A large tract of the township, which
is undulating and dry, will be irrigated by the Mon canals now under
construction. The area cultivated in 1903-4 was 70 square miles,
and the land revenue and thathameda amounted to Rs. 1,15,000.

Legya.—State in Southern Shan States, Burma. See LAIHKA.

L eiah Tahsll.—Southernmost cis-Indus tahdl of Mianwali Dis-
trict, Punjab, lying between 30° 36' and 31° 24' N. and 70° 46'
and 71° 50" E., with an area of 2,417 square miles. The population
in 1901 was 122,678, compared with 113,451 in 1891. The tahsil
contains the towns of LEIAH (population, 7,546), the head-quarters,
and KAROR LAL ISA (3,243); and 118 villages. The land revenue
and ceses in 1903-4 amounted to 1.6 lakhs. The tahsil is divided
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into the Thal and the Kacchi, the former a high sandy tract to the
east and the latter alow-lying strip of country along the Indus.

Leiah Town.—Head-quarters of the tahsil of the same name in
Mianwali District, Punjab, situated in 30° 58' N. and 70° 56' E., on
the high bank of the Indus, east of the river. Population (1901),
7,546. Founded by Kamal Khan, a Mirani Baloch and a descendant
of the founder of Dera Ghazi Khan, about 1550, the town was taken
about 1620 from the Mirani rulers by the Jaskani Balochs, who held it
till 1787. After that year Abdun Nabi Sarai was appointed governor
by TImur Shah Durrani, but three years later it was included in the
governorship of Muhammad Khan Sadozai, who transferred his seat of
government to MANKERA. In 1794 Humayun Shah, the rival claimant
to the throne of Kabul, was captured near Leiah and brought into the
town, where his eyes were put out by order of Zaman Shah. Under
the Sikh government the town once more became the centre of
administration for the neighbouring tract, and on the British occupa-
tion in 1849 it was for a time the head-quarters of a District. In
1861, however", the District was broken up, and Leiah became a part of
Dera Ismail Khan, but in 1901 was transferred to the new District
of Mianwali. The municipality was created in 1875. The income
during the ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 9,900, and the expen-
diture Rs. 10,100.  In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 10,000, chiefly
derived from octroi; and the expenditure was Rs. 10,600. The chief
industry of Leiah is the manufacture of blankets. The town con-
tains a dispensary and a municipal Anglo-vernacular middle school.

Leiktho.—Karen township of Toungoo District, Lower Burma,
lying between 18° 53' and 19° 29" N. and 96° 22' and 97° 2' E., with
an area of 1,006 square miles. It is mountainous throughout, and well
watered, the greater part of the cultivation being taungya (shifting).
The population was 10,616 in 1891, and 18,675 in 1901 (mostly Karen
Christians), distributed in 181 villages, Leiktho (population, 275) being
the head-quarters. Only 11,100 acres were cultivated (apart from taun-
gyas) in 1903-4, and the land revenue was Rs. 1,000.

Lemyethna Township.—Township of Henzada District, Lower
Burma, lying between 17° 24' and 17° 47' N. and 94° 54' and
95° 18 E., with an area of 438 square miles. The greater part lies
between the Arakan Yoma and the Ngawun river, and is quite unpro-
tected from the rise of the river during the rains. The smaller
portion, east of the Ngawun, is protected by embankments. The
population increased from 57,049 in 1891 to 60,314 in 1901, almost
entirely Burmans, Karens numbering only 3,000. There are 354 vil-
lages and one town, LEMYETHNA (population, 5,813), the head-
guarters. The area cultivated in 1903-4 was 89 square miles, paying
Rs. 1,33,000 land revenue.
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Lemyethna Town.—Head-quarters of the township of the same
name in Henzada District, Lower Burma, situated in 17° 36' N. and
95° n' E., on the Bassein river, near the south-west corner of the
District. Population (1901), 5,813. Its affairs are managed by atown
committee. The income and expenditure of the town fund in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 10,000 and Rs. 11,000 respectively. The civil hospital,
supported by local funds, has accommodation for 8 in-patients.

Letpadan Township.—Township of Tharrawaddy District, Lower
Burma, lying between 17° 37' and 18° 10' N. and 95° 26' and
96° 10' E., with an area of 526 square miles. The population in 1901
was 56,098. The eastern portion of the township on the Pegu Yoma
is hilly, the western is level and fertile. The head-quarters are at
LETPADAN TOWN (population, 8,772), and there are 213 villages. The
area cultivated in 1903-4 was 112 square miles, paying Rs. 2,19,000
land revenue.

Letpadan Town.—Head-quarters of the township of the same
name in Tharrawaddy District, Lower Burma, situated in 17° 47" N.
and 95° 45' E., on the railway, 77 miles from Rangoon, and about
8 miles due north of the District head-quarters. Population (1901),
8,772. It was constituted a municipality in 1894. The receipts and
expenditure of the municipal fund to the end of 1900-1 averaged
Rs. 23,000. In 1903-4 the receipts and expenditure amounted to
Rs. 35,000 and Rs. 38,000 respectively. The chief sources of income
were house and land tax (Rs. 4,500), and tolls on markets and
slaughter-houses (Rs. 20,300); and the principal items of expenditure
were conservancy (Rs. 4,300), hospitals (Rs. 4,800), and roads
(Rs. 5,000). The town contains an Anglo-vernacular school main-
tained by subscriptions, under the management of a local committee,
and a municipal hospital. It is an important centre of the paddy trade.
The Bassein railway joins the main line from Prome to Rangoon at
Letpadan station.

L ewe.—South-western township of Y amethin District, Upper Burma,
lying between 19° 27" and 19° 49' N. and 95° 43' and 96° 31' E., with
an area of 783 square miles. The greater part is forest. The popu-
lation has increased very rapidly from 10,328 in 1891 to 30,558 in
1901, distributed in 209 villages. The increase is due to immigration
from neighbouring areas, where there have been extensive crop failures.
The head-quarters are at Lewe (population, 1,638), on the Yonbin
chaung, 10 miles from Pyinmana, and connected with that town by
a good road. In 1903-4 the area cultivated was 56 square miles, and
the land revenue and thathameda amounted to Rs. 1,11,0Co0.

LikhL—Petty State in MAHI KANTHA, Bombay.

Limbda.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Limbdi State.—State in the Kathiawar Political Agency, Bombay,



LIMBDI  STATE 161

lying between 2 2° 30" and 22° 37' N., and between 71° 44' and
71° 52'E., with an area of 244 square miles. The country is flat. The
Bhogava river flows through the State, but like some of the smaller
streams it becomes brackish in the hot season. The climate of
Limbdi, though hot, is healthy. The temperature ranges between a
maximum of 114° and a minimum of 46°. The annual rainfall averages
25 to 30 inches.

The Limbdi house is sprung from Harpaldeo, who was aso the an-
cestor of the Dhrangadhra house. Harpaldeo had three sons, the eldest
of whom was the founder of the house of Dhrangadhra; the second
was Manguji, the founder of the house of Limbdi; the third received
Sachana and Chor Vadodra. The chief executed the usual engage-
ments in 1807. The succession follows the rule of primogeniture, and
the family holds a sanad authorizing adoption. The chief is entitled
to a salute of 9 guns, and his official title is Thakur Sahib. The late
chief, who died in 1907, had been created a K.C.l.E. in 1887.

The population at the last four enumerations was: (1872) 40,186,
(1881) 43,063, (1891) 48,176, and (1901) 31,287, showing a decrease of
35 per cent, in the last decade, owing to the famine of 1899-1900.
In 1901 Hindus numbered 24,001, Muhammadans 2,982, and Jains
4,296. The State contains one town, LIMBDI, the capital, and 46
villages, and supports 91 persons per square mile.

The soil, in some parts black and others red, is largely composed of
sand. In 1903-4 the area under cultivation was returned at 87 square
miles. There was practically noirrigation. The territory of Limbdi is
peculiarly liable to inundations, and suffered severely from this calamity
in the years 1878-9 and 1899-1900. Cotton and grain are exten-
sively cultivated, and coarse cloth is manufactured. The State has
one cotton-ginning factory. Agricultural produce, which was formerly
exported from Dholera, is now carried by the Bhavnagar-Wadhwan
Railway.

Limbdi‘ranks as a second-class State in Kathiawar. “The ‘chief has
power to try his own subjects for capital offences. The revenue in
1903-4 was about 2 lakhs, chiefly derived from land (if lakhs).
Revenue is collected in cash in all but four villages, in which a share
of the produce is taken. No transit dues are levied. A tribute of
Rs. 45,534 is paid jointly to the British Government and the Nawab
of Junagarh. The only municipality is Limbdi. The chief maintains
a military force of 77 men, of whom 27 are mounted. There is aso
an armed police force of 74 men. There is one jail, with a daily
average (1903-4) of 13 prisoners. The State had 17 schools in 1903-4,
with a total of 1,447 pupils. One dispensary is maintained, which
treated 6,212 patients. In 1903-4 the number of persons vaccinated
was 680.
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Limbdi Town,—Capital of the State of the same name in
Kathiawar, Bombay, situated in 22° 34' N. and 71° 53' E., on the
north bank of the Bhogava river, 14 miles south-east of Wadhwan and
90 miles north-west of Bhaunagar. Population (1901), 12,485. It was
formerly fortified. It is a railway station on the branch between
Bhaunagar and Wadhwan of the Bhavnagar-Gondal-Junagarh-Por-
bandar Railway. The town contains a dispensary and a library. The
old palace in which the Thakur Sahib lived was destroyed by fire
in 1906, when several lives were lost and damage was done to the
amount of about 8 lakhs.

Lingampet.—Town in the District and taluk of Medak, Hyderabad
State, situated in 18° 11’ N. and 78° 5' E., 20 miles north-west of
Medak town. Population (1901), 5,102. Nodular ironstone is smelted
for the manufacture of agricultural implements, and brass vessels are
aso made and exported.

Lingsugur District’.—Frontier District in the Gulbarga Division
of the Hyderabad State, situated in the south-west corner adjoining the
Bombay Districts of Bijapur and Dharwar, which bound it to the west;
Gulbarga and Raichur, which border it to the north and east; and the
Madras District of Bellary, from which it is separated by the Tunga-
bhadra river to the east and south. It lies between 15° 3' and
16° 20' N. and 75° 48 and 77° 2' E., and has a total area of
4,879 square miles; but the area of State and crown lands is only
2,968 square miles, the rest being comprised in the two largejagirs of
the Salar Jang family and other smallerjagirs and the two samasthans
of Gurgunta and Anegundi. A range of hills 14 miles long, known as

) the Yamnigadh range, begins at the village of Darya-

Physeé:tal pur in the Gangawati taluk and ends in the same

ageas taluk at Bamsugur. In the Shahpur taluk is a small

range called the Muhammadapur hills, 5 miles long, and the town of

Shahpur is built on part of this. A third range takes its .name from
Surapur.and is 8 miles in/ength.

The most important river is the Kistna, which flows from west to
east right through the District for a length of 94 miles. It enters the
District in the Lingsugur taluk, and receives the Bhima at a point
16 miles north of the town of Raichur near the boundary of Raichur
District. The next important river is the Tungabhadra, which enters
the south of the Gangawati taluk and flows along the borders of that
and the Sindhnur taluk for a distance of 44 miles, when it enters
Raichur. The Bhima enters Lingsugur near Raoza in the Shahpur
taluk in the north, and falls into the Kistna after a course of 42 miles
in the District. The other rivers are the Maski and the Sindhnur

' In 1905 the District of Lingsugur was abolished, the Shahpur and Surapur taluks
being transferred to Gulbarga and the other four to Raichur.
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nullahs, both tributaries of the Tungabhadra. The Devapur nullah
flows through the Surapur taluk for 24 miles and fals into the
Kistna.

The chief geological formations are the Archaean, including various
forms of gneiss and groups of crystalline schists known as the Dharwar
series\ the Kaladgi rocks, occupying a few spurs and outliers near the
western frontiers, extensions of the main area situated in Dharwar and
Belgaum; and the Bhima series, north, west, and south-west of Sagar,
forming a narrow strip between the gneiss and the Deccan trap which
constitutes the frontier beyond them. Complete accounts have been
published by R. B. Foote in Memoirs, Geological Survey of India, vol. Xii,
parti, and in Records, vols, xv, partiv; xix, partii; xxi, partii; xxii,
part i. The Hatti gold-mine is situated in the auriferous Dharwar
schists.

The flora of the District is scanty and is characteristic of the dry
zone. The predominant trees are babul (Acacia arabica), nim, mango,
and species of fig.

,I'n the hills of Gangawati, Shahpur, and Surapur, leopards, hunting
cheetahs, hyenas, and bears are found ; and black-faced monkeys are
abundant in the Lingsugur and Gangawati taluks. Game-birds are
represented by peafowl, partridges, and quails, while duck, teal, and
water-fowl are met with in the vicinity of tanks and rivers.

From September to May and June the climate is dry and healthy,
but during the monsoons the taluks of Gangawati and Surapur are very
malarious. The Sindhnur, Kushtagi, and Shahpur taluks are the
healthiest. Though the temperature in May rises to 112° in the day,
the nights are cool. In December it fals to 56°. The annual rain-
fall averages about 21 inches.

The District formed part of the Vijayanagar kingdom in the four-
teenth century. After the foundation of the Bahmani dynasty it became
part of that kingdom, but was taken and retaken' by
the rulers of the two States, until it fell ‘'to the 'Adil
Shahi rulers of Bijapur. Upon the conquest of Bijapur by Aurangzeb
it was annexed to the empire of Delhi, but was separated from it when
the Hyderabad State was founded by Asaf J ah, early in the eighteenth
century. It was assigned to the British Government under the treaty of
1853, but was restored to the Nizam in i860.

The forts of ANEGUNDI, MUDGAL, Jaldrug, KOPPAL, and Shahpur
are interesting from an historical as well as an archaeological point of
view. Ittugi, 60 miles south-west of Lingsugur, contains a fine old
temple, which dates from A.D. 1112-3. In the village of Gugi are a
Jama Masjid and the tomb of a local saint, named Pir Chanda Husain.
The villages of Kallur and Kukanur also contain ancient temples.

The number of towns and villages in the District, including large

History.
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and small jagirs, is 1,273. The population at the last three enumera-
tions was: (1881) 480,715, (1891) 620,014, and (1901) 675,813. It
is divided into six taluks as shown below, and also
contains the two large jagirs of Koppal and Y elbarga,
and the two samasthans of Anegundi and Gurgunta. The towns are
KOPPAL, SURAPUR, MUDGAL, GANGAWATI, SAGAR, SINDHNUR, and
LINGSUGUR. About 90 per cent, of the population are Hindus; while
87 per cent, speak Kanarese and 7 per cent. Urda. The following
table gives the chief statistics of population in 1901 :—

Population,

% Number of . By E.EEHF‘ “6%-0

g, g 5t $55%% zmEs

Taluk. == Q2 g’ - BY CREE §H gg =

E 2 Sz B3Zgp E£F=
o] g = g as 8228 = Be
: B g7 §>8°" “g
Lingsugur 499 1 o5 47487 95+ 198 )
Surapur . Bee 1 493 87,675 . 159 Lo 4.4 %
Shahpur . 490 1 110 81,884 167 ¢ 13.0 £
Sindhnur . 476 1 6 40,788 8  + 314 g
Gangawati 429 1 103  54.539 127 + 180 ®
Kushtagi. 524 121 51,769 99 —10.2 B
Jagirs, &c. 1,911 _2 640 311,671 163 + 127 z
(o]

District total 4,879 7 1267 675,813 138 + 89 8‘ 8

The most numerous caste in the District is that of the Kapus,
an agricultural caste, numbering 181,100, two-thirds of whom are
Lingayats. Kommaras or potters number 104,100; Bedars, 72,000;
Sadlas or weavers, 30,500; and Upparas, 30,100, of whom 17,700 are
extractors of salt from saline earth. The Dhers number 18,200, and the
Chamars or workers in leather, 14,600. The number of persons engaged
in, and supported by, agriculture is about 66 per cent, of the total.

At Mudgal there is a Roman Catholic mission, which was established
about 1557, during the reign of the Adil Shahis of Bijapur; who-granted
lands to-the mission and ‘exempted them from taxes.  The mission is
one of the oldest in India, and is said to have been established by
priests dispatched from Goa by St. Francis Xavier. The native
Christian population of the District in 1901 was 524, of whom 481
were Roman Catholics.

The larger portion of the District is composed of masab, a mixture
of reddish and white sandy soils, interspersed with regar or black soil
and kharab. In contrast to the Sindhnur taluk, in
which regar predominates and rabi crops are exten-
sively grown, the soils of the remaining five taluks are chiefly masab,
and are used for kharif crops. White jowar, gram, wheat, cotton, and
linseed are the chief rabi crops, being raised on the regar; while red
jowar, baj'ra, tuar and other pulses, and sesamum are sown in the

Agriculture.
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masab as kharif crops. The kharab soils are utilized for garden
produce, and require heavy manuring. The alluvial soils in the valleys
of the rivers also produce rabi crops, and are very fertile.

The tenure of land is mainly ryottvari. In 1901, out of a total area
of 2,968 square miles comprised in the khalsa and crown lands, 2,205
were cultivated, 22 being irrigated, while 124 were occupied by culti-
vable waste and fallows, 130 by forests, and 509 were not available
for cultivation. The staple food of the people consists of jowdr,
bajra, and kangni, produced from 42, 10, and 8 per cent, respectively
of the net area cropped. Cotton was grown on 303 and wheat on
39 square miles. Sugar-cane is raised in small quantities with well-
irrigation in all the taluks, and in the Gangawati taluk it is irrigated
from the Tungabhadra channel.

In 1888, when the District was settled, there were 331 square miles
of unoccupied land, but in 1901 only 124 sguare miles remained
unoccupied. The ryots have done nothing to improve the cultivation
by the introduction of new varieties of seed or better agricultural
implements.

No special breed of cattle is characteristic of the District. Those
in use are strong and well suited for ordinary agricultural work, but
not for deep ploughing, for which cattle have to be imported. Up to
1887 Arab stallions were maintained for breeding purposes, but owing
to the hot climate breeding operations were not successful. Ponies,
sheep, and goats of the ordinary kind are kept.

In the Gangawati taluk there is some wet cultivation supplied by an
old channel 9 miles long, taking off from the Tungabhadra. The
total irrigated area in the District is only 22 square miles, supplied by
this channel and by wells, of which there are 1,404. Tanks number
89, large and small, but they are used for drinking purposes only.
There is great scope for extensive irrigation in the District, and surveys
and estimates have been completed for the two Kistna channels and
the Bennur project, which would cost more than 20 lakhs and irrigate
107 square miles, yielding a revenue of about 11v4 lakhs. The repair
of the large tank at Kachkanur will cost 2% lakhs, and it is estimated
that it will irrigate 27,170 acres, yielding a revenue of nearly 2% lakhs.

The District has 130 square miles of unprotected forests in the
Shahpur and Surapur taluks, and on the Yamnigadh hills in the
Gangawati taluk.

The most important mineral is gold, obtained from auriferous quartz.
The mines in the Raichur Doab were leased in 1894 to the Hyderabad
Deccan Company, but are not being worked now. Laminated lime-
stone like the Shahabad stone is found and worked in the Shahpur,
Surapur, and Kushtagi taluks.

There is no important industry in the District. Coarse cotton cloth
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dhotis, and saris are woven in decreasing quantities, as mill-made cloth
is imported at cheaper rates. Blankets are manufactured by the
shepherds from the wool of their sheep, and sold
at from Rs. 2 to Rs. 4 apiece. Wooden toys are
made at Kanakgiri in the Gangawati taluk.

The chief exports are jaivar, pulse, and other cereas, cotton, oil-
seeds, chillies, jaggery, tobacco, tarvar, bark, hides, bones, and horns.
The principal imports consist of salt, salted fish, opium, spices, gold
and silver, copper and brass vessdls, refined sugar, iron, kerosene oil,
yarn, raw silk, and silk, cotton, and woollen stuffs.

There are five commercial centres in the District—Rangampet in
Surapur, Mudgal and Maski in Lingsugur, Sindhnur, and Gangawati—
from which the whole of the imported articles are distributed to
different parts. Besides these, 37 weekly bazars are held at various
places. The trading castes are the Komatis and Marwaris, who do
banking business also.

The south-west corner of the District is crossed by the Southern
Mahratta Railway.  The total length of gravelled roads is 219 miles,
all under the Public Works department. The principal routes are :
Lingsugur to Pamankalur (11 miles), to Surapur (30), to Jantgal (59),
and Surapur to Nailkal (27).

In 1793 and 1803 the District was visited by two great famines
known as the dogibara or ‘skull' famine and ragibard or ragi famine,
when people and cattle died by thousands. Jowar
in 1793 sold at two seers per rupee and ragi in
1803 at the same price. The District suffered in 1814, 1819, 1831,
and 1866 from famines more or less severe, but worse than all these
was that of 1877-8, the effects of which were felt far and wide.
Thousands of persons lost their lives, or emigrated to other regions,
and many villages were deserted. The rainfall in 1876 was 10 inches,
and in 1877 only 2-4 inches, sand rabiand- kharif crops in both
years entirely- failed. ‘More than' 100,000 persons died" during this
famine, and cholera and small-pox also carried away a large number.
These figures refer only to the four taluks of which the District was
then composed. More than 75 per cent, of the cattle died for want
of water and fodder. In 1892 there was scarcity, and in 1897 there
was famine which cost the State 3 lakhs. The great famine of 1900
did not affect the District beyond causing scarcity.

The District is divided into three subdivisions: one consists of the
two sarf-i-khas or crown taluks of Shahpur and Surapur under the
Second Talukdar; the second consists of the Ling-
sugur taluk only, under the Third Talukdar; and
the remaining three taluks are under the First Talukdar. There is
a tahsildar in each taluk.

Trade and
communications,

Famine.

Administration.
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The Naztn~i-Dlwdnii or District Civil Judge, presides over the
District civil court There are five subordinate civil courts: those of
the tahsildars of Lingsugur, Gangawati, Kushtagi, and Sindhnur, and
that of a Munstf for the taluks of Shahpur and Surapur. The First
Talukdar is the chief magistrate of the District, and the Nazim-i-
Diwani is also a joint-magistrate, exercising magisterial powers during
the absence of the First Talukdar from head-quarters. The Second
and Third Talukdars and the six tahsildars exercise second and third-
class magisterial powers. There is little serious crime in ordinary
years, but in adverse seasons dacoities and cattle and grain thefts
increase in proportion to the severity of the season.

Nothing is known of the revenue history of the District beyond the
fact that lands were formerly leased on contract. This system was
abolished in 1866, and a light rate was fixed per bigha (-| acre)
according to the nature of the land. The revenue survey was completed
in 1888, and assessments were fixed for fifteen years. The survey
showed that the cultivated area had increased by 29% per cent. The
enhancement of revenue was Rs. 33,600, or nearly 3% per cent, the
demand having risen from 9.8 lakhs to 10-2. The average assessment
on 'dry' land is 12 annas (maximum Rs. 1-10, minimum one anna);
and on 'wet' land Rs. 7-8 (maximum Rs. 15, minimum Rs. r-8).

The land revenue and the total revenue of the District are shown
below, in thousands of rupees :—

1881. 1801, 1901. 1903.
Land revenue . 6,83 11,90 11,07 11,90
Total revenue . 9,06 15,71 14,95 15.80

Since 1887 a cess of one anna in the rupee on the land revenue has
been levied for local purposes, of which a quarter, or Rs. 17,000,
is set apart for public works. - The District board at, Lingsugur is
presided- over by the First Talukdar, and ‘there are taluk boards at
the head-quarters of the six taluks.

The First Talukdar is the head of the District police, with a Super-
intendent (Mohtamifri) as his executive deputy. Under him are seven
inspectors, 73 subordinate officers, 420 constables, and 25 mounted
police. These are distributed among 26 thanas and 27 outposts, and
also guard the District treasury and the jail  The District jail is in the
village of Karkal, near the head-quarters; prisoners whose terms exceed
six months are transferred to the Central jail at Gulbarga. There are
lock-ups in the six taluk offices.

The proportion of persons in 1901 who were able to read and
write was 2.5 per cent (4 males and o-l females). The first State
school in the District was opened in 1869, and board schools were



168 LINGSUGUR DISTRICT

opened in 1896. The total number of pupils under instruction in
1881, 1891, 1901, and 1903 was 775, 1,990, 3,012, and 3,070
respectively. In 1903 there were 29 primary and 3 middle schools,
with 130 girls under instruction. The total amount spent on education
was Rs. 20,525, of which the State contributed Rs. 13,600. Of the
total, 69 per cent, was spent on primary schools. The fee receipts
in 1901 amounted to Rs. 1,076.

There are three dispensaries, with a total accommodation for 12
in-patients. The number of cases treated in 1901 was 18,669, including
43 in-patients, and the number of operations performed was 516. The
total expenditure amounted to Rs. 7,226. The number of cases
successfully vaccinated in 1901 was 2,583, or 3-87 per 1,000 of
population.

Lingsugur Taluk.—Taluk in Raichur District, Hyderabad State.
Including jagirs, the area is 703 square miles, and the population
in 1901 was 87,547, compared with 73,063 in 1891. It contains two
towns, LINGSUGUR (population, 5,r6i) and MUDGAL (7,729), the taluk
head-quarters; and 180 villages, of which 86 arejagir. The samasthan
of Gurgunta, consisting of 38 villages, with a population of 19,937,
is included in this taluk. The river Kistna enters the State at
Opanhal in the west and flowsin a north-easterly direction.  The land
revenue in 1901 was 1.6 lakhs.

Lingsugur Town.—Town in Raichur District, Hyderabad State,
situated in 16° 7 N. and 76° 3" E. Population (1901), including
the Mahbub Bazar, 5,161. It was the head-quarters of Lingsugur
District till 1905, and contains the usual offices, a middle school,
a State post office, a dispensary, the District jail, and a British post
office.  Two weekly markets are held, on Saturdays and Sundays. The
Mahbub Bazar, 2 miles north of the town, was the site of a canton-
ment while the District was held by the British from 1853 to 1860.

Lockhart, \Fort;—Military  post on:the ‘Samana range,~ Kohat
District, ~North-West Frontier Province: See FORT LOCKHART.

Lodhika.—Petty State in KATHIAWAR, Bombay.

Lodhran.—Southernmost tahsll of Multan District, Punjab, lying
between 29° 22" and 29° 56' N. and 71° 22" and 72° 9' E., with an area
of 1,057 sguare miles. On the south the Sutlej divides it from
Bahawalpur State. A narrow strip of low-lying country along the river
is periodically flooded; between this and the still uncultivated Bar
lies a tract irrigated by inundation canals from the Sutlej. The popula-
tion in 1901 was 113,359, compared with 109,752 in 1891. It contains
the towns of KAHROR (population, 5,552) and DUNYAPUR (2,150),
a place of some historical interest; and 262 villages, including Lodhran,
the head-quarters. The land revenue and cesses in 1903-4 amounted
to 2-1 lakhs.
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L ohajang.—Market in the Munshiganj subdivision of DaccaDistrict,
Eastern Bengal and Assam, situated in 23° 25' N. and 90° 19' E., on
the north bank of the Padma, and, after Goalundo, the principal steamer
station on that river. Population (1901), 464. The Jhulanjatra fair,
held here in July or August, is attended by about 800 persons daily.

Lohardaga.—Town in the head-quarters subdivision of Ranchi
District, Bengal, situated in 23° 26/ N. and 84° 41' E., 47 miles west
of Ranchl town. Population (1901), 6,123. Lohardaga was until 1840
the head-quarters of the District, which was formerly called after it. It
was constituted a municipality in 1888. The income during the decade
ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 4,600, and the expenditure Rs. 3,700.
In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 4,400, half of which was obtained from
a tax on persons (property tax); and the expenditure was Rs. 4,700.
A small leper asylum is maintained by a German mission.

Loharu State.—Native State in the Punjab, under the political
control of the Commissioner of the Delhi Division, lying between 28°
21" and 28° 45' N. and 75° 40' and 75° 57' E., with an area of 222
sguare miles. Population (1901), 15,229. The State contains the town
of LOHARU (population, 2,175), i* capital: and 56 villages. |t consists
of a sandy plain, interspersed with sandhills. The founder was Ahmad
Bakhsh Khan, a Mughal, who was employed by the Raja of Alwar in
negotiations with Lord Lake in 1803. In recognition of his services, he
received Loharu in perpetuity from the Raja, and the pargana of Flroz-
pur, now in Gurgaon District, from Lord Lake on condition of fidelity
and military service. He was succeeded by his eldest son, Shams-ud-
din Khan, who was executed at Delhi for compassing the murder of
Mr. Eraser, the Resident, in 1835. The Firozpur pargana was then
confiscated, but the Loharu estate was made over to Amin-ud-din Khan
and Zia-ud-din Khan, the two brothers of Shams-ud-din. Thetwo chiefs
remained in Delhi during the siege in 1857, and after its fall were placed
under surveillance, but were eventually released iand restored to their
position. 'Ala-ud-din, who succeeded his father:Amin-ud-din.in 1869,
received the title of Nawab, together with a sanad of adoption. The
present Nawab, Sir Amlr-ud-din Ahmad Khan, K.C.1.E., had for some
years managed the State on behalf of his father, Ala-ud-din, and suc-
ceeded on the death of the latter, in 1884. From 1893 to 1903 its
management was in the hands of his younger brother, as the Nawab
had been appointed Superintendent of the Maler Kotla State. Nawab
Sir Amir-ud-dinAhmad Khan enjoys a salute of 9 guns, granted as a
personal distinction on January 1, 1963. The revenue of the State from
all sources amounts to Rs. 66,000, but the finances were adversely
affected by the famines of 1889 and 1901. The State receives an allot-
ment of one chest of 1.25 cwt. of Malwa opium annually, for which it
pays duty at the reduced rate of Rs. 280. This is refunded, with a view
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to securing the co-operation of the State officials in the suppression of
smuggling. Theimport of opium from Loharu into British territory is
prohibited,

Loharu Town.—Capital of the Loharu State, Punjab, situated in
28° 24'N. and 75°52' E., 52 miles south of Hissar. Population (1901),
2,175. The town once contained a mint of the Jaipur State, and derives
its name from the Lohars or blacksmiths employed therein. It is a
straggling village rather than a town, but contains the residence of the
Nawab of Loharu, the State offices, a hospital, ajail, postal and telegraph
offices, & c.

Lohawat.—Town in the Phalodi district of the State of Jodhpur,
Rajputana, situated in 26° 59' N. and 72° 36' E., about 55 miles north
by north-west of Jodhpur city. Population (1901), 5,322. Lohawat is
a commercial mart of some importance, and the home of many enter-
prising Marwari traders carrying on business in various parts of India.

Lohit.—Riverin Assam. See LUHIT.

Lohogarh.—Fort in the Maval taluka of Poona District, Bombay,
situated in 18° 42" N. and 73° 29' E., near the top of the Bor pass,
about 4 miles west of Khandala. Population (1901), 237. Loho-
garh is a fort of some antiquity and importance, and was possibly the
Olochoera of Ptolemy. In modern times it is mentioned as one of the
Bahmani forts taken by Malik Ahmad, the founder of the Nizam Shahi
dynasty. In 1648 Sivaji surprised it, but eighteen years later had to
surrender it to the Mughals. It was retaken in 1670, and was afterwards
made a subdivisional head-quarters and a treasury. Kanhoji Angria,
the Maratha pirate, seized it in 1713. Subsequently, during the British
operations against the last Maratha Peshwa Baji Rao in 1818, Lohogarh
was occupied by Lieutenant-Colonel Prother. Till as late as 1845 °
fort was garrisoned by a British commandant and a few troops..

Loi-ai (Burmese, Lwe-€).—State in the Myelat division of the
Southern Shan States, Burma,  lying between 20° 26' and 20° 50" N.
and 96%.33' and 96° 41" E., with an area of 200 square miles. It is
bounded on the north by Hsamonghkam ; on the east by the Hsihkip
dependency of Yawnghwe, and by Namhkai; on the south by Namhkai;
and on the west by the Yamethin District of Upper Burma. The
western portion of the State is hilly, and is watered by affluents of the
Panlaung river. The eastern part consists of open rolling downs, and
drains into the Nam Pilu. The population in 1901 was 5,442, distri-
buted in 70 villages. More than 4,000 of the total were Taungthus,
and the rest Danus, Karens, and Shans. Lonpo (population, 249) is
the chief village, and the residence of the Ngwegunhmu. The revenue
in 1904-5 amounted to Rs. 5,300, and the tribute to the British
Government is Rs. 3,000.

Loilong (Burmese, Lwelon).—Largest and most southerly State in
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the Myelat division of the Southern Shan States, Burma, lying between
19°41'and 20° 14' N. and 96° 20' and 96° 58' E., with an area of
1,600 square miles. On the north it is bounded by Namhkai; on the
east by Samka and Sakoi; on the south by Mongpai and Yamethin
District; and on the west by Yamethin District. The whole State is a
mass of hill ridges running north and south, and culminating in the
lofty Byingye range which overlooks Yamethin. It is watered by the
numerous hill affluents of the Paunglaung river, which flowsin a south-
erly direction right through it. It is well wooded, but the forests are
of little value. Rice is the main crop, and is cultivated both in the irri-
gated valleys and in taungyas. Other products are tobacco, sesamum,
indigo, ground-nuts, and vegetables. The Myoza resides at Pinlaung
(population, 425), in the north-east corner of the State, near the head-
waters of the Balu stream. The population in 1901 was 30,731, distri-
buted in 437 villages. Classified according to language, 17,551 were
Taungthus, 4,141 Shans, 2,986 Zayeins, and 2,839 Burmans and Shan-
Burmans. The revenue in 1904-5 amounted to Rs. 16,500 (all from
thathameda). The tribute to the British Government is Rs. 9,600,
and Rs. 4,300 is spent on salaries and administration.

Loimaw (Burmese, Lwemaw).—Small State in the Myelat division
of the Southern Shan States, Burma, lying in 20° 30' N. and 96° 45' E.,
with an area of 49 sguare miles. It is bounded on the north by
Hsamonghkam and Y awnghwe; on the east by Yawnghwe; on the south
by Namhkai; and on the west by the Hsihkip dependency of Yawnghwe.
The population in 1901 was 4,576 (distributed in 59 villages), of whom
four-fifths were Taungthus, and the rest Shans and Danus. The resi-
dence of the Ngwegunhmu is at Minywa, avillage of 109 inhabitants.
The revenue in 1904-5 amounted to Rs. 4,000 (mainly from thathameda),
and the tribute to the British Government is Rs. 2,500.

Loktak.—Lake situated in the south of Manipur State, Assam,
between 24° 27'.and. 24° 34' N. and 93° 47" and 93° 52' E. It now
covers about 27 square miles, but is said to ‘be gradually decreasing
in size The surface is dotted with floating islands of aquatic plants,
forming a refuge for fish and wild-fowl, which are found here in large
quantities. At the southern end, where a range of low hills runs into
the lake, there are rocky islands, the sites of fishing villages.

Lonar.—Village in the Mehkar taluk of Buldana District, Berar,
situated in 19° 59' N. and 76° 33' E. Population (1901), 3,085. Itis
a place of great antiquity, standing on a hill amid undulating highlands,
among which lies the salt lake of Lonar, the fabled den of the demon-
giant Lonasur, who was overcome in single combat by an incarnation
of Vishnu. The god assumed the form of a beautiful youth, and, with
the aid of the giant's two sisters, discovered his subterranean abode.
With a single touch of his toe he threw off thelid of the den, and found
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the giant sleeping on his couch. A hill near Dhakephal, about 36 miles
south-west of Lonar, is said to be the lid of the lake thrown off by
Vishnu, and to coincide in shape and size with the top of the lake.
Lonasur was buried in the den or hollow now occupied by the great
lake, the water of which is supposed to be the giant's blood. Lonar has
ever since been held in great veneration.

The view of the lake is very striking. It is surrounded by a circular
ridge of hills about 400 feet high, among which are several old temples
and ruins of other monuments. From a crevice on the southern ridge
flows an ample spring of sweet water, with a temple at the fountain
head. This temple is the finest specimen of Hemadpanti architecture
in Berar. The hollow isvery nearly circular, a little more than a milein
diameter and from 300 to 400 feet deep. At the bottom lies a shallow
lake of water, without any apparent outlet, and charged with sodium
chloride and sodium carbonate. The sides of the hollow to the north
and north-east are absolutely level with the surrounding country, while
on other sides there is a raised rim, from 40 to 100 feet in height, com-
posed of irregularly piled blocks of basalt similar to that which forms the
horizontal sheets of lava around. The most plausible explanation for this
peculiar hollow is that which ascribes it to a violent gaseous explosion,
which must have occurred long after the eruption of the Deccan traps,
and in comparatively recent times. Similar explosion-craters occur in
the Lower Chindwin District in Upper Burma. Lonar is described
in the Ain-i-Akbari where it is mentioned that the Brahmans call the
place Bishan (Vishnu) Gaya.

Lonauli (Londvla)—Town in the Maval taluka of Poona District,
Bombay, situated in 18° 45" N. and 73° 24' E., about 40 miles north-
west of Poona city at the top of the Bor pass. Lonauli is an impor-
tant station on the south-east line of the Great Indian Peninsula
Railway. Population (1901), 6,686. A railway reservoir, about 2 miles
to the 'south, affords a fair supply of drinking-water. . Close to the
town is_an'ancient’ wood of fine trees, covering an area of about
56 acres. The municipality, established in 1877, had an average
income during the decade ending 1901 of Rs. 11,300. In 1903-4 the
income was Rs. 17,400, including Rs. 5,800 derived from the sale of
Government securities and withdrawals from the Savings Bank. Lonauli
contains locomotive works, Protestant and Roman Catholic chapels,
a dispensary, 8 schools (including two supported by missions) with
246 boys and 72 girls, a Masonic lodge, and co-operative stores.
Branches of the Methodist Episcopal Mission and the United Free
Church of Scotland Mission are at work in Lonauli. There are three
hotels, and the place is much frequented by visitors from Bombay in
the hot months owing to its temperate climate.

Loralai District.—District of Baluchistan, lying between 29° 37'
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and 31° 27" N. and 67° 43" and 70° 18' E., withan area of 7,999 square
miles. It derives its name from the Loralai stream, an affluent of the
Anambar or Nari. On the north it is bounded by Zhob District;
on the east by the Dera Ghazi Khan District of the Punjab; on
the south by the Marri country; and on the west by Sibi District.
It consists of a series of long but narrow valleys
hemmed in by rugged mountains, which vary in
elevation from 3,000 to 10,000 feet. Those occupy-
ing the west and centre have a direction from east to west, and form
the upper catchment area of the Anambar river. Those on the east
run north and south, and their drainage bursts through the Sulaiman
range into the Indus valley. The western ranges, which are highest,
contain much juniper and some fine scenery. The central hills consist
of three parallel ranges stretching out to meet the Sulaiman range.
They are known locally as the Damangarh on the north; the Kru and
Gadabar hills in the centre ; and the Dabbar range with its eastern
continuation on the south?. The Anambar, which debouches into
Kachhi under the name of the NARI, is the principal river of the District.
It is formed by the junction of the Loralai, Mara, and Sehan streams,
and is joined lower down by the Lakhi and Narechi. On the east
three rivers carry the drainage into the Indus valley : the Vihowa and
Sanghar in the Musa Khel tahsil, and the Kahain Barkhan. Each of
these has a small perennia flow, which frequently disappears, however,
beneath the stony bed.

The strata exposed in Loralai include the upper, middle, and lower
Siwaliks (upper and middle miocene); the Splntangi limestone and
Ghazij group (middle eocene); volcanic agglomerates and ash-beds
of the Deccan trap; the Dunghan group (upper Cretaceous); belemnite
beds (neocomian); and some inliers of the massive limestone (Jurassic).
A Triassic belt occurs between the District and the Zhob valley.

The District is barely clothed with vegetation. The trees include
juniper and pistachio at' the higher levels, and acacia and olive on
the lower hills.” The poplar (Populus euphratica) and willow are also
to be found. Tamarisk, the wild caper, and dwarf-palm occur in the
valleys. Myrtle groves are found in the Smallan valley, and box on
the summit of the Musa Khel hills. Shisham {Dalbergia Sssoo) has
been introduced at Duki and grows well. Orchards are numerous in
Sanjawi, Duki, and Bori, containing apricots, mulberries, and pome-
granates. Vineyards are also common in Sanjawi, Thal, and round
Loralai town. Grapes in Thal sell for R. 1 per donkey-load in the
Season.

Game is not abundant. Some mountain-sheep and markhor are to
be found in the hills, while leopards, black bears, and numerous wolves
and hyenas also occur. A few wild hog are occasionally met with.

M 2
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Snakes are numerous. Fishing is to be had in the Anambar and
larger streams.

The climate varies with the elevation, but on the whole is dry and
healthy. In the west of the District the seasons are well marked ; the
summer is cool and pleasant, but the winter is intensely cold, with hard
frosts and falls of snow. In the south and east the temperature is
more uniform, but the heat in summer is great. The Bori valley is
subject to high winds, which are very cold in early spring and have
been known to cause considerable mortality. The rainfall is light, the
annual average being about 7 inches. In the western parts both
summer and winter rain and also some snow are received. The rest
of the District depends chiefly on the summer rainfall, which every-
where exceeds that in winter.

The District in ancient times formed the most eastern dependency
of the province of Kandahar, and, like that place, its possession alter-
nated from time to time between Mughal, Safavid,
and Afghan. Its capital was Duki, which was
generally garrisoned. The District lay across one of the main routes
from India to Western Asia via the Sakhi Sarwar pass and Pishin. It
provided a contingent of 500 horse and 1,000 foot for Akbar, besides
other contributions. In 1653, when Dara Shikoh, son of the emperor
Shah Jahan, advanced against Kandahar from India, he occupied Duki,
which had been held by Persian troops. Later, the District passed to
the Durranis and their successors.

The steps by which different parts of the District have come under
British control were gradual. In 1879 the Duki tahdl was ceded
under the Treaty of Gandamak, and a force under General Biddulph
was sent with Sir Robert Sandeman to explore the country, in the
course of which a successful engagement was fought with the Zhob
and Bori Kakars at Baghao. The country had long been the battle
and raiding-ground of rival-tribal factions, the Marris fighting the Lunis
and Khetrans, the Tarins of Duki being at constant' war with the
Dumars and Utman Khels, ‘and the Musa Khels raiding the Baloch
of the Punjab. In conseguence, the inhabitants of Sanjawi were
brought under British protection in 1881. In 1879 a detachment had
been stationed at Vitakri in the Khetran country to check the Marris,
but it was shortly afterwards withdrawn, and in 1887 the valley (now
the Barkhan tahsil) was also taken under protection. In 1884 frequent
raids by the Kakars from the north culminated in an attack on coolies
employed at Duki, which led to a small punitive expedition being
dispatched under General Tanner. The tribesmen submitted, and the
expedition eventually resulted in the occupation of the Bori valley in
1886. A settlement had been made with the Musa Khels after the
expedition of 1884; and on the occupation of Zhob in 1889 the Musa

History,
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Khel country was included in that Agency, a tahsil being established
there in 1892. The District, as it now exists, was formed in 1903,
the Musa Khel and Bori tahsh being transferred from Zhob District
and the Duki, Sanjawi, and Barkhan tahsils from Thal-Chotiali
District.

Interesting mounds and ruins mark the course of the ancient trade
route from India to Central Asia, but they have never been explored.
Remains of large dams, probably used as water reservoirs, exist here
and there. A find of coins of the Caliph Marwan Il (A.D. 745) has
been made at Dabbar K ot.

The District has 400 inhabited villages and a population (1901) of
67,864, or 8 persons per square mile. Of these,
about 95 per cent, are Muhammadans of the Sunni
sect, and most of the remainder Hindus. The following table gives
statistics of area, & ¢, by tahsils in 1901 :—

Population.

Areain Number of ' Population
Tahsil. square Population | per square
miles. | Towns. | Villages. mile.
Musa Khel i 2,213 55 15,537 7
Barkhan . 1,317 114 14,922 5
Duki 1,951 66 12,365 6
Sanjawi sub-iaksil . 446 37 6,866 15
Bori 2,072 | 128 18,174 9
District total 7,999 I 400 67,864 8

The principal inhabitants are the Kakars (18,400), Khetrans (13,600),
Musa Khels (10,500), Dumars (5,300), Tarins (3,400), Lunis (2,600),
and Pechi Saiyids (800). With the exception of the Khetrans, they
ae all Afghans. The Khetrans claim both Baloch and Afghan
affinities, but the majority of them are probably of Jat extraction.
Most of the people are cultivating proprietors, but. some sections
are almost entirely flock-owners. 'A small number of weavers. live in
the Barkhan tahsil. Hindus carry on the retail trade of the District.
In Duki a curious instance of the assimilation by Hindus of Muham-
madan traits and dress is to be found in the Ramzais, who have long
shared the fortunes of the Hasni section of the Khetrans. They dress
as Baloch, and are expert swordsmen and riders. The language of the
Afghans is Pashtu, and that of the Khetrans is a dialect akin to
Western Punjabi.

The soil of the Bori valley consists of a reddish loam, and is highly
productive if properly cultivated. In Duki a pale grey loess occurs;
elsewhere extensive gravel deposits are to be found,
mixed occasionally with tracts of cultivable red clay.
The principal harvest is the dobe or spring crop, which is sown after

Agriculture.



176 LORALAI DISTRICT

the autumn rains, and matures with the aid of the winter moisture.
The mane, or autumn crop, is sown on the summer rainfall. [~nds
which depend on rain or floods are generally cropped each year, if the
rainfall is sufficient; irrigated lands are allowed to lie fallow for one
to four years, but lands close to villages which can be manured are
sometimes cropped twice a year.

Of the five tahstls, Sanjawi alone has been brought under settlement.
Its total cultivable area is 9,700 acres, of which 7,600 acres are
cultivated. The irrigated area represents 74 per cent, of the whole,
but in other tahsils the ' wet-crop' area is not so large. A record-of-
rights has been made in the Bori tahsl The principal crops are
wheat, jowar, maize, and rice, with a small amount of tobacco grown
in Sanjawi. There has been a considerable extension of fruit gardens,
and quantities of grapes, apricots, and pomegranates are produced.
Melons of a superior kind, vegetables, and lucerne are cultivated in
some parts. With the introduction of peace and security, the inhabi-
tants are settling down to cultivation, which is gradually extending.
Under an arrangement made in 1897, the Leghari chief is bringing
lands in Barkhan under cultivation which had lain waste for ages
owing to their exposure to Marri - marauders. Most of the cultivators
readily avail themselves of Government loans, but a few have religious
scruples about paying interest. Between 1897-8 and 1903-4, Rs. 83,700
was advanced for agricultural improvements, and Rs. 56,000 for the
purchase of seed and bullocks.

Much of the wealth of the District consists in its herds of cattle,
sheep, and goats, which find ample grazing in the plains of Sahara,
in Musa Khel, of Ranrkan in Barkhan, of Thal and Chamalang
in Duki, and round the base of Akhbarg in the Dumar country.
The Musa Khels possess a comparatively larger number of camels
and donkeys, while Barkhan, Sanjawi, and Bori have more sheep
and goats. = The Buzdar breed of donkeys.is excellent.. .Some of the
best horses in the country were to be had.in' Duki and " Barkhan
in the early days of the British occupation; but many of the mares
were bought up, and the breed has somewhat deteriorated. Govern-
ment stallions are stationed at Loralai, Duki, and Barkhan. The
branded mares numbered 73 in 1904. Many camels, sheep, and
goats are brought into the District by nomads at certain times of
the year.

The principal sources of irrigation are streams, springs, and karez
The Persian wheel is used in the Barkhan tahsil. Of the 475 revenue
villages, 173 have permanent irrigation, 111 are partially irrigated,
and 191 depend entirely on rainfall and floods. Besides the Sanjawi
tahsil,the chief irrigated areas are the Duki and Luni circles in the
Duki tahsil) and the Nahar Kot circle in the Barkhan tahsil. The
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Bori tahsil possesses the largest number of karez, 62. A flood-water
channel was constructed by Government in 1903, at a cost of Rs.
40,000, to take off the flood-water of the Anambar to irrigate lands
in the Thai plain.

The District contains about 55 square miles of Government forests.
They include two tracts of juniper forest, covering 4,000 acres, in the
Sanjawi tahsil; the Gadabar forest, chiefly Acacia modesta, of about
35 square miles on the Gadabar hill; and Surghund and Nargasi,
with an area of 14 square miles, the former containing Prunus eburnea
and some juniper, and the latter pistachio. Timber fellings are also
regulated in the Kohar pistachio forest. A grass Reserve is maintained
on the banks of the Narechi.

A coa seam in the Chamalang valey in Duki was examined
by an officer of the Geological Survey in 1874, but he held out
no hopes of a workable thickness being obtained. Traces of coal
have also been noticed in the Sembar hills in the same tahsil, and
an extensive seam occurs within 1% miles of Duki village.

Felts and felt coats (khosa), which are in daily use, are made
by the women of the country. Mats and many other articles are
woven from the dwarf-palm (pish or dhora), aso Trade and
for domestlc purposes. Barkhan possesses an in- comrrnurgeiciarfEions
dustry in the manufacture of carpets, saddle-bags,
nose-bags, & c, in the dari stitch, which were once much admired ;
but the use of cheap aniline dyes has injuriously affected the trade,
and the products are now inferior in quality. The articles are sold
locally and also exported to the Punjab. The District produces grain,
ghi, and wool, of which the last two are exported. Trade is carried
on either with Sind through Harnai, or with Dera Ghazi Khan
District. Transit dues, which formerly caused much hindrance to
trade, have now been abolished.

The District possesses two .excellent roads- which ,intersect near
Loralai; the Harnai-Fort 'Sandeman road, of which 76 miles lie-in the
District; and the Pishin-Dera Ghazi Khan road, of which 175 miles
are within the District boundaries. The total length of communica-
tions consists of 288 miles of metalled or partially metalled roads,
and 737 miles of unmetalled tracks and paths.

Bori and Sanjawi are best protected from famine. The Musa
Khel and Barkhan tahdls and large portions of the Duki tahsil
depend on the rainfall for their cultivation, and are
severely affected by its local failure. The Barkhan
tahsil suffered from drought in 1840, in 1860, and also in 1883.
Scarcity again occurred in 1897-8; and Rs. 20,000 from the Indian
Famine Relief Fund was spent in the Duki and the Barkhan tahsils
during that year and in 1900-1, chiefly in providing cattle and seed

Famine.
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grain. The grazing tax was remitted and advances were made in
other parts. The drought continued until 1900, and revenue to the
amount of Rs. 23,700 was suspended, nearly half of which repre-
sented the grazing tax of the Musa Khel tahsil. Further advances
were made in the following year to enable the people to recover.
Between 1899 and 1901 about Rs. 69,000 was also spent on relief
works from Imperial revenues.

The District is composed of two units, officialy known as the
Duki and Loralai Districts, the former belonging to British Baluchistan
and the latter to Agency Territories. For purposes
of administration it is treated as the single charge
of a Political Agent, who is also Deputy-Commissioner. It is divided
into three subdivisions: BORI, which is in charge of an Assistant
Political Agent; and MUSA KHEL-BARKHAN and DUKI, each of which
is in charge of an Extra-Assistant Commissioner. A tahsildar
and a naib-tahsildar are posted to each tahsil except Sanjawi, which
is in charge of a naib-tahsildar who has the powers of a tahsildar.

The tahsildars and naib-tahsildars exercise both civil and criminal
jurisdiction, appeals from their decisions lying to the officers in charge
of subdivisions. The Political Agent and Deputy-Commissioner is the
principal Civil and Sessions Judge. In 1903-4 the civil suits decided
in the District numbered 273 and the criminal cases 62. Cases in
which the people of the country are concerned are generally referred
to councils of elders (jirgas) for an award according to tribal custom
under the Frontier Crimes Regulation, the final order being passed
by the Political Agent. Such cases numbered 1,652 in 1903-4,
including 14 cases of murder, 32 of adultery, and 13 of adultery
with murder, as well as 71 inter-Provincial cases with the Punjab.

In the time of Akbar the territory of Duki paid Rs. 120 in money,
1,800 kharwars of grain, 12,000 sheep, and 15 Baluchi horses, besides
contributing a military contingent; and under. Afghan rule the same
system appears to have been continued. © Since the submission of the
tribes to British rule, the revenue has been levied at a uniform rate
of one-sixth of the gross produce. The Government share is generally
determined by appraisement. The small tahsil of Sanjawi is under
a fixed cash assessment for a period of ten years from 1901. Grazing
tax is collected either by actual enumeration of the animals or in
a lump sum fixed annually. In Musa Khel it forms the largest
part of the revenue. It amounted for the whole District in 1903-4
to Rs. 28,600.

The receipts from land revenue and grazing tax, including the
royalty levied on firewood, amounted in 1903-4 to 2a lakhs, which
gives an incidence of Rs. 3 per head of population. The revenue
from all sources in the same year was 2.3 lakhs.

Administration,
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In addition to the Loralai bazar fund, two other Local funds are
maintained, the money raised being spent on sanitary establishments
and watch and ward. The receipts in 1903-4 were Rs. 12,300, and
the expenditure was Rs. 15,100.

The regiments at Loralai furnish cavalry detachments at Gumbaz
and Murgha Kibzai, and infantry guards for the sub-treasuries at
Hindubagh and Kila Saifulla in Zhob District. Detachments from
the cavalry regiment at Fort Sandeman are located at Miisa Khel
and Khan Muhammad Kot, and a small infantry detachment is
stationed at Drug. Owing to the recent formation of the District,
police arrangements are still in a state of organization. The police
force is at present directly controlled by the police officer at Fort
Sandeman. In 1904 it consisted of 5 deputy-inspectors and 112
men, including 14 horsemen, and held five posts. The levies
numbered 392 men, of whom 7 were headmen and 224 mounted
men. They were distributed in twenty-eight posts, and included
74 men employed on postal and telegraph service. The number
of subsidiary jails or lock-ups was five, with accommodation for 125
male and 20 female prisoners. Convicts whose term exceeds six
months are generally sent to Shikarpur in Sind.

In 1904 the number of primary schools was five, with 84 boys;
the total cost was Rs. 1,800, of which Rs. 951 was paid from
Provincial revenues, the balance being met from fees and Local
funds. Elementary instruction, chiefly of a religious character, is
also given to about 850 boys and 180 girls in mosque schools, the
largest number being in the Barkhan tahsil.

Each of the five tahsils possesses a dispensary. That at Sanjawi
is moved, during the summer months, to Ziarat in Sibi District.
There is accommodation for 20 in-patients. The average daily
attendance of such patients in 1903 was 19, and the total average
daily attendance of all patients. 208. The cost of the dispensaries
was about Rs. 10,000, which was wholly met from.Provincial revenues.

Vaccination is optional, and the majority of the people still resort
to inoculation. It is only when small-pox breaks out that the services
of the Government vaccinators are requisitioned. Statistics of vaccina-
tion are not available.

[' Report on the Geology of Thal-Chotiali and a part of the Marri
Country," Records, Geological Survey of India, vol. xxv, part i;
Surgeon-Major O. T. Duke, An Historical and Descriptive Report
of the Districts of Thal-Chotiali and Harnai (Calcutta, 1883).]

Loralai Town (Zorali)—A cantonment and, since 1903, the
head-quarters station of Loralai District, Baluchistan, situated in
30° 22' N. and 68° 37" E. It lies in the Bori tahsl, 4,700 feet
above sealevel, at the junction of the* Harnai-Fort Sandeman and
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Pishin-Dera Ghazi Khan roads, about 55 miles from Harnai railway
station. The climate is moderate, but high winds frequently prevail.
It was selected and occupied as a military station in 1886. The
population (1901) numbers 3,561, including a regiment of native
cavalry and one of native infantry. Conservancy is provided for
by a bazar fund, the income of which in 1903-4 was Rs. 10,900
and the expenditure Rs. 13,800. In the same year the income of the
cantonment fund, which receives one-third of the net revenue from
the octroi levied for the bazar fund, amounted to Rs. 10,900. In
1901 a piped water-supply of 75,000 gallons per diem was provided,
at a total cost of about 1% lakhs of rupees.

Lower Chindwin District.—See CHINDWIN DISTRICT, LOWER.

Lower Jhelum Canal.—See JHELUM CANAL, LOWER.

Lower Sutlej Inundation Canals.—See SUTLEJ INUNDATION
CANALS, LOWER.

Luckeesarai (Lakshmisarai)—Village in the head-quarters sub-
division of Monghyr District, Bengal, situated in 25° 11' N. and
86° 6' E., on the west bank of the Kiul river. Population (1901),
6,199. A broad handsome railway bridge here crosses the Kiul
river, and Kiul station on its east bank forms the junction of the
chord-line of the East Indian Railway with the loop-line and with
the South Bihar Railway. Numerous sculptures found at the neigh-
bouring village of Rajaona have been removed to the Indian Museum ;
the remains of a stupa still exist.

Lucknow Division (Lakhnau). — Western Division of Oudh,
United Provinces, lying between 25° 49' and 2 8° 42' N. and 79° 41
and 81° 34' E., with an area of 12,051 square miles. It extends from
the damp submontane tract on the borders of Nepal to the thickly
populated area of Southern Oudh. The Division lies entirely between
the Ganges on. the south-west and the Gogra on the north-east. The
head-quarters of the Commissioner: are at- LUCKNOW . CITY. . Popu-
lation is increasing steadily. The numbers at ‘'the four. enumerations
were as follows : (1869) 5,315,583, (1881) 5,325,601, (1891) 5*856,559,
(1901) 5,977,086. The Census of 1869 probably overstated the truth.
The density, 496 persons per square mile, is higher than the Pro-
vincial average. The Division stands fourth in the United Provinces
in respect of area and also in respect of population. Hindus formed
87 per cent, of the total in 1901, and Musalmans nearly 13 per cent.
There were 9,237 Christians, of whom 2,150 were natives. The Divi-
sion includes six Districts, as shown in the table on the next page.

Kheri, which is the most northern District, includes a considerable
area of forest land. The remaining Districts resemble those of the
Gangetic plain generally. Hardoi, Unao, and Rae Bareli lie north-
east of the Ganges; Sitapur is bounded on the north-east by the
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Gogra; and Lucknow is situated in the centre of the Division. There
are 44 towns and 10,150 villages. The largest towns are LUCKNOW
CITY (population, 264,049, with cantonments), the most populous in
the Provinces; SITAPUR (22,557, with cantonments); and SHAHABAD
(20,036). Lucknow, Shahabad, Sitapur, RAE BARELI, KHAIRABAD,
and LAKHIMPUR are the chief places of commercial importance.
Lucknow was the capital of the kingdom of Oudh for nearly a century
before annexation. DALMAU on the Ganges is the site of an important
bathing-fair.

Land revenue|
‘e Area in Population,
District. square miles. ot infposa,
0} rupees.
Lucknow 967 793,241 10,24
Unao 1,79 976,639 17,59
Rae Bareli 1,748 1,033,761 17,88
Sitapur . 2,250 1,175,473 18,67
Hardoi . 2,331 1,092,834 18,41
Kherl . 2,963 905,138 11,48
Total 12,051 5,977,086 94,27

Lucknow District (Lakhnau)—Central District in the Lucknow
Division of the United Provinces, lying between 26° 30' and 27° 9' N.
and 80° 34' and 81° 13' E., with an area of 967 square miles. In
shape the District is- an irregular oblong. It is bounded on the north-
west by Hardoi and Sitapur; on the north-east by Bara Bank!; on the
south-east by Rae Bareli; and on the south-west by Unao. The
general aspect is that of a level champaign, studded .
with villages, finely wooded, and in parts most fertile Phygéasl
and highly cultivated. The two principal rivers are ap
the Gumti and Sai, and near these streams and their small tributaries
the surface is broken by.-ravines, while the banks of the rivers are
generally sandy. | The Gumti enters the District! from ‘the north, and
after passing Lucknow city turns to the east and forms part of the
boundary between Lucknow and Bara Banki. It is liable to sudden
floods of great magnitude. Its chief tributary is the Behta, a small
perennial stream rising in Hardoi. The Sai forms part of the south-
west boundary, running almost parallel to the Gumti, and receiving
the Nagwa or Lon and the Bakh.

The District exposes nothing but Gangetic alluvium. A boring for
an artesian well was made to a depth of 1,336 feet, but passed only
through sand with occasional beds of calcareous limestone.

The flora of the District is that of the Gangetic plain generally.
There is very little jungle, the only considerable tract being in the
north-east, where a dhak (Butea frondosd) jungle forms a fuel and



182 L UCKNO W DISTRICT

fodder reserve. Groves are, however, numerous; and excellent
mangoes, oranges, pomegranates, guavas, custard-apples, and bers
{Zizyphus Jujuba) are grown.

There are few wild animals of any size. Jackal and hog are the
commonest, while antelope and nilgai are occasionally seen. Wild-
fowl abound in the larger swamps. Fish are found in the rivers and
tanks, and are also imported for sae in the city.

The climate of Lucknow is a mean between that of the cooler sub-
montane Districts and the dry hot tracts south and west of it. Frosts
are rare, and the maximum shade temperature is about 110°. Hot
westerly winds are prevalent from March to May, often accompanied
by dust-storms.

The annual rainfall averages 36 inches, and is on the whole evenly
distributed; the tract along the Gumti, however, appears to receive
slightly more than other parts of the District. There are great varia-
tions from year to year, ranging from 13 inches in 1877 and 1880
to 70 inches in 1894.

Legend relates that Lucknow city was founded by Lakshmana,
brother of Rama Chandra of Ajodhya, and connects other places with
episodes in the Mahabharata. At the close of the
Hindu period the country was, according to tradi-
tion, held by the Bhars, who were never conquered by the Kanauj
Rajas. Many tombs are pointed out as those of heroes who fell in the
raids of Saiyid Salar Masud. The Rajputs declare that their ancestors
first entered the District in the eleventh or twelfth century, and in the
thirteenth century the Musalmans began to obtain afooting. In the
fifteenth century Lucknow was included in the kingdom of Jaunpur,
and the town first became of importance about 1478, when it is
referred to as the capital of a small division. Under Akbar a sarkar
of Lucknow was formed in the Subah of Oudh. The District, apart
from the city, has no further history. | It was included in the tract
granted.to Saadat Khan, the first Nawab of Qudh; but Lucknow did
not become the regular seat of government till after Asaf-ud-daula suc-
ceeded in 1775. In 1856 Oudh was annexed by the British owing to
the misgovernment of the king, and a year later the Mutiny broke
out. An account of the great rebellion will be found in the article on
LUCKNOW CITY.

The District contains many ancient mounds which have never been
examined. Local tradition assigns them to the Bhars, but some pro-
bably date from Buddhist times. The chief architectural monuments
are the buildings at Lucknow city, dating from the close of the
eighteenth century. The earlier edifices, though built of brick and
stucco, are not unpleasing; but the later ones are disfigured by vul-
garities of style copied from debased European models.

History.
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Lucknow contains 6 towns and 932 villages. At the four enumera-
tions the numbers were: (1869) 778,195, (1881) 696,824, (1891)
774,163, and (1901) 793,241. The first Census pro-
bably overstated the actual population, but the District
suffered severely from famine in 1877-8. There are three tahsils—
LUCKNOW, MALIHABAD, and MOHANLALGANJ—the head-quarters of
each being situated at a place of the same name. The principal town
is LUCKNOW CITY, the District head-quarters. The following table
gives the chief statistics of population in 1901:—

Population,

o Number of . o 2
g WA ¢ | Ba Befalea,
. = = GE | §503 |pR&y
Tahsi. e 4 < 88 | §E8§L |£omE
i 2 = Sz | gE380 ESgS
8 = £ | 3@ pogswm |22°
E S £ |2>8 g
Lucknow . 360 | 3| 327 | 45489 |1264| + 14 |30844
Malihabad " 334 | 1| 379 184,230 552 +4.9 3417
Mohanlalganj .| 273 | 2| 226 | 154115 | 565 +26 | 3156
District total | 967 | 6 | 932 | 793,241 820 +25 |37417

Hindus form 78 per cent, of the total, and Musalmans more than
20 per cent. About one-seventh of the latter are Shiahs; this is
a large proportion for India, due to the fact that the Oudh kings
belonged to that sect. About 80 per cent, of the population speak
Eastern Hindi and about 20 per cent. Western Hindi, chiefly Hin-
dustani.

The Hindu castes most largely represented are the Pasls (toddy-
drawers and labourers), 84,000; Ahirs (graziers and agriculturists),
77,000; Chamars (tanners and cultivators), 75,000; Lodhas (culti-
vators) 57,000; Brahmans, 46,000; Rajputs, 30,000; and Kurmis
(agriculturists), 22,000. Among Muhammadans are Shaikhs, 50,000;
Pathans, 26,000; Saiyids, 17,000;-and Mughals, 12,000. ; Agriculture
supports-only- 52 per cent, of the total, but about ‘one-third of the
population of the District is included in Lucknow city. Personal
services support 9 per cent., cotton-weaving nearly 7 per cent., and
general labour 5 per cent. The cultivating castes are chiefly Rajputs,
Brahmans, Ahirs, Pasls, Chamars, Lodhas, and Musalmans, with a
certain proportion of the more skilful castes of Kurmis and Muraos.

Out of 7,247 Christians in 1901, natives numbered 2,150. The
latter include 846 members of the Anglican communion, 562 Metho-
dists, 363 Roman Catholics, and 152 Presbyterians. A Zanana
mission was established in 1852, the Church Missionary Society
Mission in 1858, the American Methodist Mission in 1859, and
a Wesleyan mission in 1863.

The District is the smallest in the United Provinces, and the only
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variations in the agricultural conditions of different portions are due to
diversity of soil. The bed of the Gumti lies low, and in places contains
belts of moist alluvial land, which are flooded in the
autumn but produce excellent spring crops. The
sandy land on the banks of this river produces only scanty crops of
millet or pulse, except near the city where an abundant supply of
manure can be applied to it. Beyond the sandhills the soil becomes
a fertile loam, which gradually turns to heavy clay. The clay soil is
interspersed with patches of barren usar and tanks or jhils but is
the chief tract for rice.

The tenures found are those common to the province of OUDH.
About a quarter of the District is held by talukdars, a quarter by
zaminddrs, and the remainder by coparcenary bodies of pattidars.
Sub-settled mahals are not very numerous, but many small plots are
held in under-proprietary right. The main agricultural statistics for
1903-4 are given below, in square miles : —

Agriculture.

Tahstl. Total. | Cultivated. | Irrigated. C‘d\l,g;’[%l?le
Lucknow . 360 218 69 27
Malihabad 334 213 73 60
Mohanlalganj . 373 150 66 53

Total 967 58| 208 140

Wheat is the chief food-crop, covering 143 square miles or 25 per
cent, of the net area cultivated, the other important staples being gram
(97), rice (93), pulses (79), bajra (68), and barley (53). Poppy covers
4 square miles, but very little sugar-cane, cotton, or oilseeds are grown.

The cultivated area increased by about 9 per cent, between 1870
and 1895, and during the last ten years the net area under cultivation
has further risen by 7 per cent. There has been a striking increase in
the area under; rice and the -coarser grains; such as gram, peas;jowar,
and maize, on'which the people-chiefly subsist. - But no decrease has
been observed in the area sown with wheat, and the cultivation of the
most valuable crops—poppy, cotton, and garden produce—shows
alarge relative increase. These results are due to an extension of the
system of double-cropping. A small but steady demand exists for
advances under both the Land Improvement and the Agriculturists'
Loans Acts. Out of 4 lakhs advanced during the ten years ending
1900, 29 lakhs was taken in the famine year 1896-7. In the four
years ending 1904, loans averaged Rs. 9,200.

The District contains very little pasture land, and the agricultural
stock is of poor quality. The best cattle are imported from Northern
Oudh. There is very little horse-breeding. Sheep and goats are kept
in some numbers to supply meat and wool.
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In 1903-4 the irrigated areawas 208 square miles, of which 106 were
supplied from wells, 93 from tanks or j'hils, and 9 from other sources.
Lucknow is fairly protected in ordinary years, but is less secure than the
neighbouring Districts of Southern Oudh. In seasons of drought the
tanks and j'hils fail almost entirely. During the last few years there has
been a very large increase in the number of wells, which add materially
to the security of the District. The increase has been especialy rapid
since the famine of 1896-7, when Government advanced more than a
lakh of rupees for the construction of wells. Water is generally raised
by bullock power in leathern buckets; but in the south the spring-level
is high enough for the use of levers. Tank-irrigation is most common
in the south, and is carried on by the use of swing-baskets. A canal
was constructed early in the nineteenth century from the Ganges to the
Gumti, but has never carried water except during the rains.

The chief mineral product is kankar or nodular limestone, which is
used for metalling roads and for making lime. Saline efflorescences
called reh are used in the manufacture of paper and in other arts.

There are few industries deserving mention outside LUCKNOW CITY.
Common cotton cloth is the chief article produced in the small towns
and villages; and dyers, bangle-makers, brass-workers,
and potters supply local needs. The city is, however,
celebrated for its cotton fabrics, cotton-printing, dye-
ing, embroidery, gold and silver work, ivory and wood-carving, orna-
mental pottery, and clay modelling. It aso contains a number of
factories and workshops, employing 5,300 hands in 1903.

The District imports grain, piece-goods, metals and hardware, sugar,
and salt, and chiefly exports the manufactures of the city. Lucknow
city is the principal centre of trade, but the extension of railways
has caused small subsidiary markets to spring up at wayside stations.
There is aso an immense through trafficc.  MALIHABAD, Gosainganj,
Mohanlalganj,, and Chinhat. are the principal- trading towns- outside
the city; and Banthara is the chief cattle market.

Lucknow city is the most important railway centre in the United
Provinces. It is the head-quarters of the Oudh and Rohilkhand Rail-
way, the main line of which passes through the District from south-east
to north-west. A branch from Cawnpore and the loop-line from Benares
through Jaunpur and Fyzabad meet the main line at Lucknow. A
narrow-gauge line worked by the same railway, which traverses the
District from south-west to north-east, connects the Rajputana-Malwa
Railway at Cawnpore with the Bengal and North-Western Railway, and
thus gives through communication between Rajputana, Northern Oudh,
and Bengal. Another narrow-gauge line striking north from Lucknow
connects the city with Bareilly through Sitapur. Communications by
road are also good. Out of 349 miles of roads, 142 are metalled. Most

Trade and
communications.
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of the latter are in charge of the Public Works department, but the cost
of all but 52 miles is met from Local funds. Avenues of trees are
maintained on 90 miles. The most important route is the road from
Cawnpore to Fyzabad, passing through Lucknow city. Other roads
radiate from the city to Sitapur, Hardoi, Rae Bareli, and Sultanpur.

The District has suffered repeatedly from famine, and occasionally
distress has been very acute. In 1784 the Nawab instituted large relief
works, and it is said that the works were kept open at
night so that the respectable poor could earn food
without being recognized. In 1837 the king attempted to stop exporta-
tion of grain and to fix prices. Under British rule there was some
distress in 1860, and acute scarcity in 1865 and 1869. The famine of
1873 was of no intensity, but in 1877 the rainfall was only 13 inches and
the autumn crop failed completely. Relief works were opened in 1878
and were largely attended. There was scarcity in 1880 ; but it was local,
and prices did not rise. The rains failed in 1896 and famine was
severely felt. By July, 1897, there were 107,000 persons in receipt of
relief. The following harvest was, however, good, and the works were
closed by the middle of September.

The Deputy-Commissioner is usually assisted by two members of the
Indian Civil Service, one of whom is City Magistrate, and by three
Deputy-Collectors recruited in India. Two other
Deputy-Collectors are engaged in the administration
of various trusts, and in the management of Government property and
the payment of pensions. A tahsidar resides at the head-quarters of
each tahsil, and an officer of the Opium department is stationed in the
District.

The civil courts include those of two Munsifs, a Subordinate Judge,
and a Judge of the Small Causes Court. The Sessions Judge has juris-
diction also over the District of Bara Bank!. The City Magistrate is
entirely employed in the criminal, work of -the-city and miscellaneous
duties connected with the municipality and various 'charitable funds.
The District is fairly free from crime, which chiefly consists of ordinary
cases of theft and burglary, and Lucknow city is responsible for most
of these.

At annexation in 1856 a District of Lucknow, consisting of ten
farganas, was formed; but two of these were subsequently transferred
to Bara Bank! and one to Unao. A summary settlement was made in
1856, the records of which perished in the Mutiny of the following year.
When order had been restored a second summary settlement was made
in 1858, the revenue assessed amounting to 69 lakhs. The District
was surveyed in 1862-3, and the first regular settlement was completed
in 1869. The valuation of the land was made by applying assumed
rates of rent, which were sometimes selected from those actually paid,

Famine.
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and sometimes averages of the actual rents. As in the rest of Oudh,
the settlement courts had to decide on disputed claimstorightsinland,
and the judicial work was particularly heavy in Lucknow. The revenue
demand amounted to 8 lakhs, subsequently reduced to 72 lakhs. This
settlement was revised between 1893 and 1896 by successive District
officers in addition to their regular work. There was no survey, and the
assessment was based on the patwdris' maps and papers. The revenue
fixed amounted to 8.8 lakhs, representing 47 per cent, of the net rental
"assats’  Theincidence stands at Rs. 1.6 per acre, varying from about
R. 1 to Rs. 1.8in different parganas.

Collections on account of land revenue and revenue from all sources
have been, in thousands of rupees :—

1880-1. 1890-1. 1900-1. 1903-4.

Land revenue 6.09 7,16 8,48 8,77
Total revenue 10,81 16,50 21,30 3497

There is only one municipality, LUCKNOW CITY ; but five towns are
administered under Act XX of 1856. Local affairs beyond the limits
of these are in charge of the District board, which had in 1903-4 an
income and expenditure of 1.2 lakhs. More than half of the income
was derived from a grant from Provincial revenues, while Rs. 62,000 of
the total expenditure was devoted to roads and buildings.

The District Superintendent of police usually has 2 Assistants, and
commands a force of 6 inspectors, 116 subordinate officers, and 762
constables, besides 656 municipal and town police, and 1,192 rural and
road police, distributed in 14 policecircles. The Central jail contained
a daily average of 1,336 prisoners in 1903, and the District jail 352.
Thereis aso a military prison in the cantonment.

Lucknow takes a high place as regards the literacy of its population,
of whom-4.8 per. cent. (8.2 males and 0-9 females) could read and write
in 1901. Muhammadans (6 per cent.) are much in advance of Hindus
(3.4 per cent.) in this respect, - The number of public institutions fell
from 135 in 1880-1 to 125 in 1900-1, but the number of pupils rose
from 5,834 to 6,330. In 1903-4 there were 147 such institutions with
8,436 pupils, of whom.1,183 were girls, besides 69 private schools with
436 pupils. Nearly athird of the total number of pupils had advanced
beyond the primary stage. Six colleges and schools were managed by
Government, and 109 by the District and municipal boards. The total
expenditure on education was 2.4 lakhs, towards which Government
contributed Rs. 49,000 and Local and municipal funds Rs. 64,000,
while the receipts from fees were Rs. 49,000. LUCKNOW CITY contains
five colleges.

There are 21 hospitals and dispensaries, with accommodation for 391
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in-patients. In 1903 the number of cases treated was 217,000, of whom
4,000 were in-patients, and 7,600 operations were performed. The
expenditure amounted to Rs. 61,000. The Balrampur Hospital at
Lucknow city is one of the finest in the United Provinces.

About 26,000 persons were successfully vaccinated in 1903-4, repre-
senting a proportion of 32 per 1,000 of population. Vaccination is
compulsory only in the municipality and cantonment of Lucknow.

[P. Gray, Settlement Report (1898); H. R. Nevill, District Gazetteer
(1904).]

Lucknow Tahsil.—Central tahsil of Lucknow District, United
Provinces, comprising the parganas of Lucknow, Bijnaur, and Kakori,
and lying between 26° 39' and 27° N. and 80° 39' and 81° 6' E., with
an area of 360 square miles. Population increased from 448,461 in 1891
t0 454,896 in 1901. There are 327 villages and three towns, LUCKNOW
(population, 264,049), the District and tahsil head-quarters, and KAK ORI
(8,933) being the largest. The demand for land revenue in 1903-4
was Rs. 2,95,000, and for cesses Rs. 54,000. Thedensity of population,
1,264 persons per square mile, is raised by the inclusion of the largest
city in the United Provinces. Through the centre of the tahsil flows
the Gumti, while the Sai and its tributary the Nagwa drain the south.
Near the rivers the soil is sandy, but beyond the sandy dunes lie
stretches of loam which deteriorate near the south into heavy clay,
interspersed with patches of barren usar and Jhils. In 1903-4 the
area under cultivation was 218 square miles, of which 69 were irrigated.
Wells supply two-thirds of the irrigated area.

Lucknow City (Zakhnau)—Former capital of the province of
Oudh and cantonment, situated in 26° 52' N. and 80° 56' E., on the
banks of the Gumti. It is the junction of severa branches of the Oudh
and Rohilkhand Railway with metre-gauge lines connecting the railway
systems of Rajputana and Northern Bengal, and the centre from which
radiate important roads to the surrounding Districts. - Distance by rail
from Calcutta 666 miles, and from Bombay 885 miles.  Lucknow is the
largest city in the United Provinces, and the fourth largest in British
India. Population is, however, decreasing. At the four enumerations
the numbers were: (1869) 284,779, (1881) 261,303,
(1891) 273,028, and (1901) 264,049. In 1901
Lucknow contained 154,167 Hindus, 101,556 Musalmans, and 7,247
Christians, of whom 5,097 were Europeans or Eurasians. The
population within municipal limits was 240,649, while that of the
cantonments was 23,400.

The oldest part of Lucknow is the high ground within the Machchhi
Bhawan fort, which is known to Hindus as the Laksh-
man Tila, from the tradition that a city was founded
here by Lakshmana, brother of Rama Chandra of Ajodhya. Nothing
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is known of the early history of the place; but after the Muhammadan
conquest of India it was occupied by Shaikhs and Pathans. The former
became of some importance and built a fort, and according to one
account the place derives its name from Likhna, the architect of the
fort. In the fifteenth century one of the Shaikhs, who was celebrated
for his piety, assumed the name of Shah Mina. Histombis still visited
by pilgrims, who offer pieces of cloth, and it is specially resorted to
when a man has a case pending in court. In 1526 Lucknow was
occupied by Humayun, who abandoned it; but it was again taken by
Babar in 1528. A few years later Humayun defeated Mahmud, brother
of the last L odi king, near here. Under the Suri kings Lucknow began
to rise into importance, and in the reign of Akbar it was the chief town
of a sarkar. Its growth, however, like that of so many of the modern
cities of India, was most rapid in the eighteenth and nineteenth cen-
turies. It rose to greatness as the capital of the dynasty which
established itself in Oudh during the decay of the Mughal empire,
and spread its rule, not only over the modern province, but aso
through the neighbouring tracts now included in Rohilkhand, the
Gorakpur and Benares Divisions, and the Allahabad Division north
of the Ganges. Saadat Khan, the first Nawab, had a residence at
Lucknow, but seldom lived there. His son-in-law, Safdar Jang, built
afort at Jalalabad, three miles south of the city, to keep in check the
Rajputs of Baiswara, and also commenced the stone bridge over the
Gumti. He rebuilt the old stronghold of Lakshman Tila, which was
henceforward known as the Machchhl Bhawan or ' fish palace,' from the
fish which he was entitled to bear on his standard. Shuja-ud-daula, the
third Nawab, resided chiefly at Fyzabad; and under the reigns of
the first three Nawabs Lucknow increased in size, but received few
architectural embellishments.

With Asaf-ud-daula, the fourth Nawab, a new political situation
developed.. The grandeur of Lucknow dates from his reign, and the
works 'heconstructed- did “not’ degenerate into the ‘mere personal
extravagances of his successors. He built bridges and mosques, as well
as the Imambara, the chief architectural glory of Lucknow, in which he
lies buried, ther adjacent mosque, the Rum! Darwaza or Turkish Gate,
and the magnificent palace which afterwards became the Residency.
Outside the city lies the palace of Bibiapur, built by him as a country-
house and hunting-lodge. Numerous other handsome edifices in various
parts of the city attest the greatness of this Nawab, whose memory is
still preserved in popular rhymes as the embodiment of liberality and
magnificence. The Lucknow court had now reached its highest
splendour. The dominions of the Nawab extended over a wider area
than at any earlier or later period. All the wealth of the state was
devoted to the persona aggrandizement of its ruler and the accumula-
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tion of the materials of Oriental pomp. The burden on the people was
crushing, and when the English traveller, Tennant, passed through
Oudh, he found almost everywhere a plundered and desolate country.
Saadat Ali Khan, half-brother to Asaf-ud-daula, ceded a large territory
to the British in return for their protection; and thenceforward the
Nawab and his successors, the kings of Oudh, degenerated into a mere
fainiant dynasty of pleasure-seekers, whose works no longer partook of
any national or utilitarian character, but ministered solely to the gratifi-
cation of the sovereign. In the place of mosques, wells, forts, or bridges,
palace after palace sprang up in succession, each more ungraceful and
extravagant than the last. At the same time European influence began
to make itself felt in the architecture, which grew gradually more and
more debased from reign to reign. Awkward imitations of Corinthian
columns supported Musalman domes, while false Venetian blinds and
stucco marble replaced the solid brickwork of the earlier period.
Palaces were erected for the kings, for their wives, and for their concu-
bines, and hardly less palatial buildings to house the royal menageries.
Saadat Ali Khan set the fashion by erecting the Farhat Bakhsh or
"giver of delight,’ the chief royal residence till the last king, Wajid Ali
Shah, built the Kaisar Bagh. He also built the portion of Lucknow
which extends east of the Machchhi Bhawan, besides numerous small
palaces, including the Dilkusha. In his time Lucknow reached very
nearly its present size.

Ghazl-ud-din Haidar (1814), son of Saadat Ali Khan, was the first of
his line who bore the title of king. He built for his wives the two
palaces called the Great and Lesser Chhattar Manzil (' umbrella' or
'‘dome palace’), and aso erected fine mausoleums to his father and
mother, and the Shah Najaf, in which he himself was buried. Other
memorials of this king are the Moti Mahal, the Mubarak Manzil, and
the Shah Manzil, where the wild-beast fights took place for which
Lucknow was famous. 'He attempted to dig.a canal for irrigation from
the Ganges, but it proved:a complete failure.

Nasir-ud-dm Haidar (1827), son of the last-named monarch, founded
the Tarawali Kothi or ' observatory,' under the superintendence of
Colonel Wilcox, his astronomer-royal. It contained several excellent
instruments. On the death of Colonel Wilcox in 1847, the establish-
ment was dismissed, and the instruments disappeared during the Mutiny.
The building was the head-quarters of the Fyzabad Maulvi, Ahmad-
ullah Shah, during the rebellion, and the insurgent council frequently
held its meetings here. It is now occupied as a bank. Nasir-ud-din
also built a great karbala in Iradatnagar, under which he lies buried.

Muhammad Ali Shah (1837), uncle of Nasir-ud-din Haidar, raised
his own monument, the Husainabad Imambara, a tawdry building in
which the degeneration of architectural taste is distinctly marked. A
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magnificent stone tank near the road from the Great Chhattar Manzil
to Husainabad dates from this reign; and near it stands an unfinished
building, called the Sat Khanda or ' seven-storeyed tower," though only
the fourth storey was ever completed. Muhammad All Shah also
erected a mosgue close to his mausoleum; but its courtyard and the
buildings attached were never completed, and the mosque itself stood
unfinished for many years.

Amjad Ali Shah (1842), the fourth king, built his own mausoleum in
Hazratganj, and laid down an iron bridge across the Gumti. This
bridge had been brought out from England by Ghazi-ud-din Haidar,
who, however, died before it arrived. His son, Nasir-ud-din Haidar,
directed that it should be put up opposite the Residency; but the
operations for sinking wells to receive the piers proved unsuccessful,
and the work was thus delayed till the accession of Amjad Ali.

Wajid Ali Shah, the last king of Oudh (1847-56), bears the whole
opprobrium for the erection of the Kaisar Bagh, the largest, gaudiest,
and most debased of all the Lucknow palaces. It was commenced
in 1848 and finished in 1850 at a cost of 80 lakhs. Only the rear
portion is now standing.

The annexation of OUDH is described under the account of that
province. For a year the work of inaugurating the new administration
was busily carried on under General Outram, the last Resident, and
Mr. C. C. Jackson of the Civil Service. A couple of months before
the outbreak at Meerut, Sir Henry Lawrence (March 20, 1857) had
assumed the Chief Commissionership. The garrison at Lucknow then
consisted of the 32nd British Regiment, a weak company of European
Artillery, the 7th Native Cavalry, and the 13th, 48th, and 71st Native
Infantry. In or near the city were aso quartered two regiments of
irregular local infantry, together with one regiment of military police,
one of Oudh irregular cavary, and two batteries of native artillery.
The town thus contained nearly ten Indian soldiers to every/ European,
or 7,000 to 750. Symptoms of disaffection occurred as early.as the
month of April, when the house of the surgeon to the 48th was burned
down in revenge for a supposed insult to caste. Sir Henry Lawrence
immediately took steps to meet the danger by fortifying the Residency
and accumulating stores. On April 30 the men of the 7th Oudh
Irregulars refused to bite their cartridges, on the ground that they had
been greased with cows fat. They were induced with some difficulty
to return to their lines. On May 3 Sir Henry Lawrence resolved to
deprive the mutinous regiment of its arms—a step which was not
effected without serious delay.

On May 12 Sir Henry held a darbar, and made an impressive
speech in Hindustani, in which he called upon the people to uphold
the British Government, as most tolerant to Hindus and Muhanv
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madans alike. Two days earlier the outbresk at Meerut had taken
place, and a telegram brought word of the event on the morning
dter the darbar. On May 19 Sir Henry Lawrence received the
supreme military command in Oudh. He immediately fortified the
Residency and the Machchhi Bhawan, bringing the women and chil-
dren into the former building. On the night of May 30 the expected
insurrection broke out in Lucknow. The men of the 71, with a few
from the other regiments, began to burn the bungaows of their officers
and to murder the inmates. Prompt action was taken, and early next
morning the European force attacked, dispersed, and followed up
for ten miles the retreating mutineers, who were joined during the
action by the 7th Cavalry. The rebelsfled towards Sitapur. Although
Lucknow thus remained in the hands of the British, by June 12 every
station in Oudh had fallen into the power of the mutineers. The Chief
Commissioner still held the cantonments (then situated north of the
Gumti) and the two fortified posts; but the symptoms of disaffection
in the city and among the remaining native troops were unmistakable.
In the midst of such a crisis, Sir Henry Lawrence's health unhappily
gave way. He delegated his authority to a council of five, presided
over by Mr. Gubbins, the Financial Commissioner; but shortly after
he recovered sufficiently to resume the command. On June 11, how-
ever, the military police and native cavary broke into open revolt,
followed on the succeeding morning by the native infantry. On
June 20 news of the fall of Cawnpore arrived; and on the 29th the
enemy, 7,000 strong, advanced upon Chinhat, a village on the Fyzabad
road, eight miles from the Residency. Sir Henry Lawrence marched
out and gave the enemy battle at that spot. The result proved dis-
astrous to our arms through the treachery of the Oudh artillery, and
a retreat became necessary.  The troops fell back on Lucknow, aban-
doned the Machchhi Bhawan, and concentrated all their strength upon
the Residency. 'The Sege of the enclosure began upon July 1. On
the 2nd, as Sir Henry |Lawrence lay on his bed, a shell entered the
room, burst, and wounded him mortally. He lingered till the morning
of the 4th, and then died in great agony. Major Banks succeeded
to the civil command, while the military authority devolved upon
Brigadier Inglis. On July 20 the enemy made an unsuccessful assaullt.
Next day Mgor Banks was shot, and the sole command was under-
taken by Inglis. On August 10 the mutineers attempted a second
assault, which was again unsuccessful. A third assault took place
on the 18th; but the enemy were losing heart as they found the
small garrison so well able to withstand them, and the repulse proved
comparatively essy.

Meanwhile the British within were dwindling avay and eagerly
expecting reinforcements from Cawnpore. On September 5 news
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of the relieving force under Outram and Havelock reached the gar-
rison by a faithful native messanger. On September 22 the relief
arrived at the Alambagh, a walled garden on the Cawnpore road
held by the enemy in force. Havelock stormed the Alambagh, and
on the 25th fought his way againgt continuous opposition through
the eastern outskirts of the city. On the 26th he arrived at the
gate of the Residency enclosure, and was welcomed by the gallant
defenders within.  Genera Neill fell during the action outside the
walls. The sufferings of the besieged had been very great; but even
after the first relief it became clear that Lucknow could only be
temporarily defended till the arrival of further reinforcements should
alow the garrison to cut its way out. Outram, who now resssumed the
command which he had magnanimoudly yielded to Havelock during
the rdlief, accordingly fortified an enlarged area of the town, bringing
many important outworks within the limits of defence; and the Sege
began once more till a second relieving party could set the besieged
a liberty. Night and day the enemy kept up a continuous bombard-
ment of our position, while Outram retaliated by frequent sorties.

Throughout October the garrison maintained its gallant defence,
and a small party shut up in the Alambagh and cut off unexpectedly
from the main body aso contrived to hold its dangerous post. Mean-
while Sir Colin Campbell's force had advanced from Cawnpore, and
arrived at the Alambagh on November 10.  From the day of his
landing a Calcutta Sir Colin had never ceased in his endeavours to
collect an army to relieve Lucknow, by gathering together the liberated
Delhi field force and the fresh renforcements from England. On
the 12th the main body threw itself into the Alambagh, after a smart
skirmish with the rebels.  Sir Colin next occupied the Dilkusha palace,
e of the city, and then moved against the Martiniere, which the
enemy had fortified with guns of position. After carrying the post
he forded the cand, and.on the 16th attacked the Sikandra Bagh,
the chief rebel |stronghold.  The 'mutineers, driven to bay, fought
desperately, but before evening the whole place was in the hands
of the British. As soon as Sir Colin Campbell reached the Moti
Mahal, on the outskirts of the city proper, Genera Havelock came
out from the Residency to meet him, and the second relief was
successfully - accomplished.

Even now, however, it was impossible to hold Lucknow; and Sir
Colin Campbell determined, before undertaking any further offensve
operations, to return to Cawnpore with his army, escorting the civilians,
women, and children rescued from their long imprisonment in the
Residency, with the object of forwarding them to Calcutta. On the
morning of November 20, the troops received orders to march for
the Alambagh; and the Residency, the scene of so long and stirring
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of the relieving force under Outram and Havelock reached the gar-
rison by a faithful native messenger. On September 22 the relief
arrived at the Alambagh, a walled garden on the Cawnpore road
held by the enemy in force. Havelock stormed the Alambagh, and
on the 25th fought his way against continuous opposition through
the eastern outskirts of the city. On the 26th he arrived at the
gate of the Residency enclosure, and was welcomed by the gallant
defenders within.  General Neill fell during the action outside the
walls.  The sufferings of the besieged had been very great; but even
after the first relief it became clear that Lucknow could only be
temporarily defended till the arrival of further reinforcements should
allow the garrison to cut its way out. Outram, who now reassumed the
command which he had magnanimously yielded to Havelock during
the relief, accordingly fortified an enlarged area of the town, bringing
many important outworks within the limits of defence; and the siege
began once more till a second relieving party could set the besieged
at liberty. Night and day the enemy kept up a continuous bombard-
ment of our position, while Outram retaliated by frequent sorties.

Throughout October the garrison maintained its gallant defence,
and a small party shut up in the Alambagh and cut off unexpectedly
from the main body also contrived to hold its dangerous post. Mean-
while Sir Colin Campbell's force had advanced from Cawnpore, and
arrived at the Alambagh on November 10.  From the day of his
landing at Calcutta Sir Colin had never ceased in his endeavours to
collect an army to relieve Lucknow, by gathering together the liberated
Delhi field force and the fresh reinforcements from England. On
the 12th the main body threw itself into the Alambagh, after a smart
skirmish with the rebels. Sir Colin next occupied the Dilkusha palace,
east of the city, and then moved against the Martiniere, which the
enemy had fortified with guns of position. After carrying the post
he forded the canal, and on the 16th attacked the Sikandra Bagh,
the chief rebel stronghold. " The 'mutineers, driven. to bay, fought
desperately, but before evening the whole place was in the hands
of the British. As soon as Sir Colin Campbell reached the Motl
Mahal, on the outskirts of the city proper, Genera Havelock came
out from the Residency to meet him, and the second relief was
successfully  accomplished.

Even now, however, it was impossible to hold Lucknow; and Sir
Colin Campbell determined, before undertaking any further offensive
operations, to return to Cawnpore with his army, escorting the civilians,
women, and children rescued from their long imprisonment in the
Residency, with the object of forwarding them to Calcutta. On the
morning of November 20, the troops received orders to march for
the Alambagh; and the Residency, the scene of so long and stirring
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a defence, was abandoned for awhile to the rebel army. Before the
final departure, Sir Henry Havelock died from an attack of dysentery.
He was buried in the Alambagh, without any monument, a cross on
a neighbouring tree marking for a time his last resting-place. Sir
James Outram, with 3,500 men, held the Alambagh until the Com-
mander-in-Chief could return to recapture the capital. The rebels
used the interval for the fortification of their stronghold to the utmost
of their knowledge and power. They surrounded the greater part of
the city, for a circuit of 20 miles, with an external line of defences,
extending from the Gumti to the canal. An earthen parapet was
raised behind the canal: a second line of entrenchments connected
the Moti Mahal, the Mess-house, and the Imambara; while the Kaisar
Bagh constituted the rebel citadel. Stockades and parapets closed
every street; and loopholes in all the houses afforded an opportunity
for defending the passage inch by inch. The computed strength of the
insurgents amounted to 30,000 sepoys, together with 50,000 volunteers ;
and they possessed 100 pieces of ordnance, guns and mortars.

On March 2, 1858, Sir Colin Campbell found himself free enough in
the rear to march once more upon Lucknow. He first occupied the
Dilkusha, and posted guns to command the Martiniere. On March 5
Brigadier Franks arrived with 6,000 men, half of them Gurkhas sent
by the Raja of Nepal. Outram's forces then crossed the Gumti, and
advanced from the direction of Fyzabad, while the main body attacked
from the south-east. After a week's hard fighting, from March 9 to 15,
the rebels were completely defeated, and their posts captured one by one.
Most of the insurgents, however, escaped. As soon as it became clear
that Lucknow had been permanently recovered, and that the enemy as
a combined body had ceased to exist, Sir Colin Campbell broke up the
British Oudh army, and the work of reorganization began. On October
18, 1858, the Governor-General and Lady Canning visited Lucknow in
state, and found the city already. recovering from the devastation to
which 'it_had been 'subjected.  ‘Lucknow remained the capital of a
separate administration till 1877, when the post of Chief Commissioner
of Oudh was united with that of Lieutenant-Governor of the North-
western Provinces.

The city of Lucknow covers a vast area on the south of the Gumti,
with suburbs extending across the river. The large cantonment forms

an irregular quadrilateral adjoining the south-east

corner of the city. Up to the Mutiny, bazars reached
to the river almost throughout the whole of its course on the northern
boundary of the city ; but a space has gradually been cleared, with an
average breadth of about half a mile. Most of the buildings already
mentioned lie in this clearing, and within the last few years have been
enclosed in verdant lawns which have justly earned for Lucknow its
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description as the City of Parks. On the extreme west lies the
unfinished mosque of Muhammad Ali Shah, known as the Jama Masjid.
It was intended to rival the great mosque at Delhi, but is remarkable
only for its size and gaudy colour decoration, which has recently been
renewed. The Husainabad buildings erected by the same king consist
of two enclosures at right angles. One of these, which is now lined with
shops, contains the tomb of Muhammad All Shah's daughter, a poor
model of the Taj at Agra. The other, which is laid out as a garden
adorned with stone water-channels, fountains, and badly executed
statuary, contains the Imambara, in which Muhammad A || was buried.
The buildings are richly endowed, the surplus income being devoted to
charity. East of Husainabad, and extending to the Ruml Darwaza, is
a beautiful garden, called the Victoria Park, which was laid out in 1887,
enclosing the Sat Khanda, the house first occupied by Asaf-ud-daula
when he transferred his government to Lucknow, the large tank built
by Muhammad Ali Shah, and a baradari constructed by the same king,
which contains a series of portraits of the Nawabs and kings of Oudh.
Close to the tank is a clock-tower of Moorish design, 221 feet in height
and 20 feet square, which was built between 1880 and 1887, and con-
tains a chime of bells. On the eastern border of the Park lies the finest
group of buildings in Lucknow, including the Rumi Darwaza, the great
Imambara, and a mosque, all of which were built by Asaf-ud-daula.
The first of these is a massive gateway, popularly believed to be an
imitation of the gate at Constantinople from which the Sublime Porte
derives its name. It leads into the Machchhl Bhawan, in which are
situated the other buildings. The great Imambara consists of an
immense hall, 162 feet long and 54 feet wide. On either side are
verandas 27 feet wide, and at the ends octagonal apartments 53 feet in
diameter. The whole building is covered with a roof of bricks set in
concrete several feet thick, which stands without the thrust entailed by
vaulting. 'No wood is used anywhere in the construction, which isbuilt
on very deep foundations.. A plain slab marks the resting-place of the
founder. In the same enclosure stands the beautiful mosque raised by
the Nawab. The Machchhi Bhawan also contains the mound known
as the Lakshman Tila, now surmounted by a mosque built by Aurangzeb,
and a fine schoolhouse has recently been erected south-east of the
Imambara. The mound occupied by the ruins of the Residency lies at
a distance of half a mile south-east of the Machchhl Bhawan, being
separated from the Gumti by a road and open ground. At the time of
the Mutiny bazars were situated close to the low wall surrounding it,
but these have been cleared away. The shattered walls of the main
block of buildings in which Sir Henry Lawrence received his fatal
wound, Dr. Fayrer's house where he died, the noble banqueting hall
used during the siege as a hospital, the cellar where the women and
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children took refuge, and several other buildings are still standing, while
high above all the topmost tower still rears its battered sides. Further
decay has been prevented by carefully executed repairs, and the grounds
have been levelled and turfed. In one corner, under the shade of many
cypresses, are the tombs or cenotaphs of some 2,000 Europeans who
perished during the Mutiny. The palaces of Saadat Ali Khan and
Ghazi-ud-din Haidar lie eas of the Residency, adjoining each other.
Only portions remain of the vag Farhat Bakhsh. The part of this
building which overlooks the river was constructed by General Claude
Martin and sold by him to Saadat Ali Khan. It is now joined to the
Great Chhattar Manzii built by his successor, and the whole building is
used as a club. Other portions of the Farhat Bakhsh are the Lai Bara-
dari and the Gulistan-i-lIram, which are now the Provincial Museum.
The former building was the throne-room of the Oudh kings; and in it
a serious disturbance took place in 1837, when an attempt was made
to prevent the accession of Muhammad Ali Shah. A fine court for the
Judicial Commissioner of Oudh has recently been completed opposite
this building, with a chamber used for meetings of the Provincial Legis-
lative Council. A short distance to the south are the stately tombs of
Saadat Ali Khan and his wife, and behind them the Canning College
and the large quadrangle forming the Kaisar Bagh. The latter has
already commenced to decay and one side has been removed. The
other sdes have been allotted to the talukdars of Qudh as residences!
East of these buildings lie the Tarawali Kothi, the Khurshed Manzil,
called after the wife of Saadat All Khan who commenced it, the M oti
Mahal, which also includes the Mubarak Manzil and the Shah Manazil
or arena, and the Shah Najaf, where Ghazi-ud-din Haidar is buried. A
large horticultural garden then intervenes, on the east of which is the
Sikandra Bagh, where fierce fighting took place on the second relief.
Another large public garden, called the Wingfield Park after a Chief
Commissioner, lies on the east of the city, and south-east of this is
situated the Martiniere College. - This bizarre erection, which was built
by General Martin as his own residence during the time of Asaf-ud-
daula, resembles a colossal Italian villa on an exaggerated scale.  The
founder's bones were buried within the Martiniere to prevent its confis-
cation by the Nawab, but were dug up and scattered during the Mutiny.
The Dilkusha palace is situated in cantonments.

Viewed from a distance, Lucknow presents a picture of unusual
magnificence and architectural splendour, which fades on nearer view
into the ordinary aspect of a crowded Oriental town. Some of the most
striking buildings, which look like marble in moonlight, are shown by
the disillusioning sun to be degraded examples of stucco and brick.
Flying buttresses to support nothing but one another, copper domes gilt
from top to bottom, burnished umbrellas, and balustrades of burnt clay
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form frequent features in the tawdry architecture which renders the
distant aspect of Lucknow so bright and sparkling. Immediately after
the Mutiny a wide glacis was cleared round the Machchhi Bhawan,
and three military roads, radiating from this point as a centre, were
cut right through the heart of the native quarter. The city itself
contains shops of the ordinary style and a few large private residences.
The civil station, which adjoins the eastern side of the city, has a
fine thoroughfare lined with the shops of European tradesmen, called
Hazratganj, at the end of which is the Lucknow residence of the
Lieutenant-Governor.

Lucknow is the head-quarters of the principal court in Oudh, the
Inspectors-General of Civil Hospitals and of Jails, the Postmaster-
General in the United Provinces, the Conservator
of Forests in the Oudh Circle, the Commissioner of
the Lucknow Division, an Executive Engineer, a Superintendent of
Railway Police, and an Inspector of Schools. - The Church Missionary
Society, the American Methodists, the Wesleyan and the Zanana
Bible and Medical Missions have important stations here. There are
ten hospitals and dispensaries for both sexes, besides three female
hospitals. The magnificent hospital founded by the late Maharaja of
Balrampur and added to by the present Maharaja is exceptionally
well equipped.

The city has been administered as a municipality since 1862. A
special Act was passed to regulate it in 1864, which remained in force
till 1873, since which date it has been under the ordinary municipal law
of the United Provinces. During the ten years ending 1901 the income
and expenditure averaged 52 lakhs, including a loan from Government
of 13-2 lakhs to meet the cost of a water-supply from the Gumti. In
1903-4 the total income was 5-3 lakhs, chiefly derived from octroi (3.6
lakhs), sde of water (Rs. 38,000), water-rate (Rs. 26,000), and conser-
vancy receipts, (Rs. 22,000).. The expenditure of 56 lakhs included
1-3 lakhs for.conservancy; Rs. 76,000 repayment 'of loans and.interest,
Rs. 67,000 public safety, Rs. 50,000 maintenance of water-works, and
Rs. 45,000 administration and collection. A drainage scheme is now
under construction, and a scheme for electric tramways has been sanc-
tioned.

The cantonment, which is the largest in the United Provinces, is
garrisoned by British and Native regiments of both cavalry and infantry
and by garrison andfield artillery. The cantonment fund had an income
and expenditure averaging Rs. 53,000 during the ten years ending 1901;
in 1903-4 the income was Rs. 78,000 and the expenditure Rs. 74,000.
Lucknow is the head-quarters of the Oudh and Rohilkhand Rail-
way Volunteer Rifles, the Lucknow Volunteer Rifles, and the Oudh
squadron of Light Horse.
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The city is more noted for its manufactures than for general trade;
but its industries have suffered from the changes brought about by
British rule. Under the prodigal waste and lavish
display of its latest kings Lucknow was a centre for
the production of rich fabrics and costly jewellery®. The kings have
departed, and their descendants and those of the nobles of the court
who still inhabit the city live on pensions which are fast becoming sub-
divided to a'vanishing point. Cotton fabrics are still manufactured of
all grades, from the coarsest cloth to the finest muslin and cotton prints.
An important industry connected with cotton is the famous chikan or
embroidery in silk or cotton on muslin. The work affords employ-
ment to many women and children of good family who are now
impoverished, and very tasteful articles are produced. Lucknow is aso
celebrated for embroidery with gold and silver thread, but the demand
for this is decreasing. The silver work has some reputation and is
largely sold to European visitors, while bidri or damascening of silver
on other metals has been revived within recent years. The brass and
copper industry is still of importance, and vessels for use by Muham-
madans are especially made. Wood-carving is still carried on, and
there is a little carving in ivory. The potters of Lucknow produce
various kinds of art-ware, some of which are distinctly good; while the
clay modellers are pre-eminent in the whole of India. Their models of
fruit and vegetables have a large sde among natives and are exported
to Calcutta and Bombay, and clay figures representing various types of
native life are wonderfully artistic. Minor products are tobacco, shoes,
and perfumes.

There are some large industries worked on European lines. Two
railway workshops employed 3,400 hands in 1903, while four large
printing presses employed 930, a large paper-mill 526, an iron foun-
dry 200, a brewery 156, and an ice and flour mill 84.

Lucknow is.important as an, educational -centre. , The chief.institu-
tion is the Canning College, founded in 1864 and. partly supported by

. the talukddrs, which contained 336 students in 1904,
Education, of whom 47 were in the Oriental department and 78
were studying law. There is also a school for the sons of the talukdars
and gentry, called the Colvin School. The Reid Christian College,
which contains a business department and is managed by the American
Methodist Mission, several other mission schools, a normal school, the
Jubilee high school, and a number of schools under native manage-
ment, may aso be mentioned. The secondary schools contain nearly
2,000 pupils, and there are five primary schools with about 150 pupils.
Lucknow city possesses more facilities for female education than
any other place in the United Provinces. It contains a high school

! See W. Hoey, Monograph on Trades and Manufactures (1880).

Commerce.
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for girls maintained by the American Mission with 150 pupils, of
whom 18 were reading in college classes in 1904, while 600 girls are
taught in a number of primary schools. The chief school for Euro-
peans and Eurasians is the Martiniere, which contains nearly 100 boys.
It is partly supported by the endowments bequeathed by General
Martin, but the fees amount to more than half a lakh annually.
A qgirls' school, now in the Khurshed Manzil, which was founded in
1866, contains 75 pupils. Lucknow is also a centre of literary activity,
and five English and eighteen vernacular newspapers and periodicals
are published here. The former include an Anglo-Indian paper called
the Indian Daily Telegraphy and the Advocate, which is the leading
organ of native public opinion in the United Provinces, and is also
published in avernacular edition. The Newal Kishore Press is one
of the most important publishing houses in India for Hindustani
literature.

[ M. R. Gubbins, Mutinies in Oudh (1858); McLeod Innes, Lucknow
and Oudh in the Mutiny (1902).]

Ludhiana District.—District in the Jullundur Division of the
Punjab, lying between 30° 34" and 31° 1' N. and 75° 22' and
76° 24' E., with an area of 1,455 square miles. It is bounded on
the north by the Sutlej, which separates it from the District of
Jullundur; on the east by Ambala District and the Patiala State ; on
the south by the territories of the chiefs of Patiala, Nabha, and Maler
Kotla; and on the west by the District of Ferozepore. In the south,
several of its outlying villages are scattered among the States of Patiala,
Jind, Nabha, and Maler Kotla; while, on the other hand, in the east
two or three groups of Patiala villages lie within its territory. It is
divided into two portions by the high bank which )
marks the ancient bed of the Sutlej. Beneath Phyxgj
lies a half-deserted watercourse, called the Budha a
nullah, ‘still full in all but the driest seasons, ‘and: once the main
channel .of the Sutlej. " The principal stream of that river now runs
farther north, leaving a broad alluvial strip, 2 to 6 miles in width,
between its ancient and its modern beds. This strip, known as the
Bet, forms the wider channel of the river, and is partly inundated
after heavy rain. It is intersected in every direction by minor water-
courses or nullahs, and, being composed of recent alluvium, is for the
most part very fertile, but its eastern extremity has been injuriously
affected by percolation from the Sirhind Canal. The uplands to the
south of the high bank consist of a level plain, sloping gently to the
south-west and broken only by some lines of sandhills which are
very common in the Jangal, the south-western portion of the uplands;
this tract is traversed throughout by the Sirhind Canal.

There is nothing of geological interest in the District, which is
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situated entirely in the alluvium. It includes the extreme north-west
corner of the Upper Gangetic plain, but to the south-west it approxi-
mates to the desert region. Trees are few, unless where planted ; but
the reru (Acacia leucophloea) is frequent locally, and the kikar {Acacia
arabica), which is perhaps not aboriginal, is plentiful. The ber (Zizy-
phugujuba) is common in gardens and near homesteads.

Wolves are not uncommon. Nilgai, antelope, and 'ravine deer'
(Indian gazelle) are found throughout the southern part of the District,
and hog in the rank grass near the Sutlej and Budha nullah.

The heat in May and June is intense, but no worse than in most
parts of the Punjab plains. During the monsoon the air is damp and
the climate relaxing, except in the Jangal with its dry climate and pure
water; and this tract is free from the outbreaks of autumnal fever,
which sometimes occur after heavy rains in September. The Bet is
peculiarly liable to these epidemics, and enlarged spleen and anaemia
due to malarial poisoning are there common.

The rainfall is normal for the Punjab plains, ranging from 29 inches
per annum at Samrala to 22 at Jagraon.

The early history of the District is obscure. SUNET, near Ludhiana,
MACHHIWARA, and Tihara are all places of some antiquity, dating from

History the pre-Muhammadan period. The last, which lies
X in the north-west corner of the District, is identified
by tradition with the Vairata of the Mahabharata, and was a place
of some importance ; but the ancient site has long been washed away
by the Sutlej. The town of LUDHIANA dates only from the Lodi
period, and the principality of RAIKOT originated in a grant of the
Saiyid kings of Delhi. Under Akbar the tract formed a part of the
sarkar of Sirhind, but the later Mughals leased the western part of
the present District to the Rais of Raikot. Early in the eighteenth
century they became semi-independent; and though the imperial forces
successfully withstood Ahmad Shah near Khanna in: 1747, his subse-
quent invasions' so ‘weakened the Mughal power that the Rais were
suffered to take possession of Ludhiana town in 1760. Meanwhile the
Sikhs had become a political power, especially on the south and south-
west borders of the District; and after their capture of Sirhind the
Samrala tahsil fell into the hands of Sikh leaders, while the Rais
retained most of the Ludhiana and Jagraon tahsils. In 1798 the Rai,
a minor, was attacked by the Sikhs under Bedi Sahib Singh of Una,
who invested Ludhiana, but raised the siege when the Rai called in
George Thomas. Finally, in 1806, Ran jit Singh crossed the Sutlej on
his first expedition against the Cis-Sutlej chiefs, and stripped the Rais
of their possessions, leaving a couple of villages for the maintenance
of two widows, who were the only remaining representatives of the
ruling family.
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In 1809, after Ranjlt Singh's third invasion, a treaty was concluded
between him and the British Government, by which his further con-
quests were stopped, although he was allowed to retain all territories
acquired in his first two expeditions. At the same time, all the Cis-
SUTLEJ STATES that had not been absorbed were taken under British
protection. In the same year (1809) a cantonment for British troops
was placed at Ludhiana, compensation being made to the Raja of Jind,
in whose possession it then was. In 1835, on the failure of the direct
line of the Jind family, a tract of country round Ludhiana town came
into British possession by lapse, and this formed the nucleus of the
present District.

On the outbreak of the first Sikh War, Ludhiana was left with a
small garrison, insufficient to prevent part of the cantonments being
burnt by the chief of Ladwa or to oppose the passage of the Sutlej by
Ranjodh Singh. Sir Harry Smith threw some 4,000 men into the
place, after losing nearly all his baggage at the action of Baddowal.
This reverse was, however, retrieved by the battle fought at ALIWAL,
close to the Sutlej, in which Ranjodh Singh was driven across the
river, and the upper Sutlej cleared of the enemy.

On the conclusion of the first Sikh War in 1846, the District
assumed very nearly its present limits, by the addition of territory
annexed from the Lahore government and its adherents south of the
Sutlej.  Since the British occupation, the town of Ludhiana has grown
in wealth and population, but its history has been marked by few
noticeable events. The cantonment was abandoned in 1854. During
the Mutiny in 1857 an unsuccessful attempt was made by the Deputy-
Commissioner, Mr. Ricketts, with a small force, to stop the rebellious
sepoys from Jullundur on their way to Delhi; but, with the assistance
rendered by the chiefs of Nabha and Maler Kotla, he was able to pre-
vent an outbreak in the turbulent and disaffected town of Ludhiana.
In the villages:the Muhammadan Gujars were the only people to show
signs of-disaffection, the"Hindu-and Sikh 'Jats ‘remaining - steadfastly
loyal. In 1872 occurred an outbreak of the fanatical sect of Kukas,
150 of whom, starting from Bhaini in this District, made a raid upon
Malaudh and the Muhammadan State of Maler Kotla. No adherents
joined them, and the outbreak was at once suppressed; Ram Singh,
the leader of the sect, was deported from India. Since the first Afghan
War (1838-42), Ludhiana town has been the residence of the exiled
family of Shah Shuja.

Besides the ruins of Sunet above mentioned there are no antiqui-
ties of importance. Under the Mughal emperors the imperial road
from Lahore to Delhi ran through the District, and is marked by kos
minars and by a large sarai, built in the reign of Aurangzeb, at
Khanna.
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The population of the District at the last four enumerations was:
(1868) 585,547. (188r) 618,835, (1891) 648,722, and (1901) 673,097,
Population dwelling in 5 towns and 864 villages. The District
" is divided into three tahsls—LUDHIANA, JAGRAON,
and SAMRALA—the head-quarters of each being at the place from
which it is named. The towns are the municipalities of LUDHIANA,
the head-quarters of the District, JAGRAON, KHANNA, RAIKOT, and
MACHHIWARA.
The following table shows the chief statistics of population in
1901 :(—
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Ludhiana 685 1 433 333337 488-0 + 39 16,443
Samrala . 291 3 263 154,995 532-6.- 24 7848
Jagraon . KRN 2 5 160=—184.4765 Weanilr+ 11.1 7,605

District total 1 455 5 864 673 097 4626 .+ 38 31,89

NoTE.—The figures for the areas of tahsils are taken from the revenue returns. The
total District area is that given in the Census Report.

Hindus number 269,076, or 40 per cent, of the total; Muham-
madans, 235,937, or 35 per cent.; and Sikhs, 164,919, or 24 per cent.
The language of the District is Punjabi.

The tribes and castes are distinguished by no local peculiarities.
Jats or Jats number 235,000, or 35 per cent, of the total, 132,000 being
Sikhs and 77,000 Hindus. If the Jats are the best peasantry in India,
the Jats of the MALWA (i.e those of Ferozepore and Ludhiana) possess
in a greater degree than any other branch of the tribe the qualities
which have earned for them this distinction. They have a finer
physique, and, as farmers-are more prudent and thrifty, ithan their
brethren.in ‘Lahore "and ‘Amritsar. =~ The Rajputs (29,000) -are un-
doubtedly the oldest of the agricultural tribes now found in the
District. They are almost all Muhammadans, and present a striking
contrast to the Sikh and Hindu Jats, being indolent and thriftless
cultivators. The Gujars (33,000) are mainly Muhammadans, inferior
to the Jats in genera ability, and as a tribe turbulent lawless, and
discontented. Lastly come the Arains (32,000), who are invariably
Muhammadans, excelling as market-gardeners and making more than
any one else out of a small plot of land, but incapable of managing
large areas. The religious castes include Brahmans (25,000), who
generally live on the Jats of the uplands, and the Muhammadan
Madaris (6,000). About 17,000 persons (including the Madaris) are
classed as Fakirs. The Suds (200) deserve mention, as Ludhiana is
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considered the head-quarters of their tribe. They are intelligent, and
take readily to clerical service under Government. Among the artisan
and menial castes may be mentioned the Chamars (leather-workers),
63,000; Chuhras (scavengers), 22,000 ; Jhinwars (water-carriers),
18,000; Kumhars (potters), 10,000; Lohars (blacksmiths), 9,000;
Julahas (weavers), 17,000; Mochls (cobblers), 9,000; Nais (barbers),
12,000; Sonars (goldsmiths), 7,000; Tarkhans (carpenters), 21,000;
and Telis (oil-pressers), 14,000. About 55 per cent, of the total popu-
lation are returned as agricultural.

Ludhiana is the chief station in India of the American Presbyterian
Mission. Founded here in 1834, the mission has established many
branches throughout the Punjab and United Provinces, and main-
tains a large number of dispensaries and schools, among which the
Forman Christian College at Lahore is the best known. In 1901
the District contained 415 native Christians.

The soil of the Sutlej riverain is a stiff moist loam, constantly ferti-
lized in the immediate neighbourhood of the river by the silt deposited
by it. In the uplands south of the high bank every
variety of soil is found, from stiff clay to the lightest
of sand, the lighter soils prevailing along the high bank and to the
south-west of the District, while those of the eastern parts are much
stiffer.  Where there is no irrigation, the light sandy loam is the safest
soil; although with copious rain itsyield is much less than that of the
stiffer soils, it is far more able to resist drought.

The District is held amost entirely by communities of peasant
proprietors, estates belonging to large landowners covering only about
24 square miles.

The area for which details are available from the revenue records
of 1903-4 is 1,394 square miles, as shown below:—

Agriculture.

Tahsil. Total. | Cultivated. | Irrigated. Clwg;ael?le
Ludhiana 685 573 148 57
Samlala 291 245 90 19
Jagiaon 418 376 71 17

Total | 1394 | 1193 309 93

The principal crops of the spring harvest are wheat and gram, the
areas under which were 364 and 285 square miles in 1903-4. Barley
covered 32 square miles and rapeseed 35 square miles. Maize is the
chief crop of the autumn harvest, with 115 square miles ; pulses covered
145 square miles, great millet 47 square miles, and spiked millet
4,110 acres. Sugar-cane covered only 18 square miles, but it is the
most valuable autumn crop.

VOL. XVi. 0
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During the twenty years ending 1901 the cultivated area increased
by more than 30,000 acres, the increase being chiefly due to the con-
struction of the Sirhind Canal. As no more canal water can be
spared for this District, the cultivated area, which now amounts to more
than four-fifths of the total, is not likely to increase much farther.
Loans under the Land Improvement Loans Act are not very
popular, about Rs. 2,000 having been advanced during the five years
ending 1904.

Ludhiana is not a great cattle-breeding District, owing to the small
area available for grazing, and a large proportion of the cattle are
imported from the breeding tracts to the south. The horses of the
Jangai tract, in which part of the Jagraon tahdl lies, are a famous
breed descended from Arab stallions kept at Bhatinda by the Mughal
emperors. The District board maintains 4 horse and 11 donkey
stallions. Sheep and goats are kept in almost every village, and camels
in the Jangai tract. A large number of ducks and geese are reared
in the old cantonment for the Simla market.

Of the total area cultivated in 1903-4, 309 square miles, or 26 per
cent., were classed as irrigated. Of this area, 219 square miles were
irrigated from wells, 513 acres from wells and canals, 89 square miles
from canals, and 103 acres from streams and tanks. In addition,
66 sgquare miles, or 6 per cent., were subject to inundation from the
Sutlej. The canal-irrigation is from the SIRHIND CANAL. The main
line traverses the Samrala tahsll without irrigating it, and then below
Doraha (in Patiala State) gives off the Abohar and Bhatinda branches ;
the former passes through the Ludhiana and Jagraon tahsils, supplying
them from six distributaries, while the extreme south of the District
is watered by a distributary of the Bhatinda branch. Wells in the
uplands are of masonry, worked by bullocks on the rope-and-bucket
system ; in the riverain tract, owing to the nearness of the water to
the surface, lever and unbricked. wells ‘are. largely. used, In.1903-4
the District contained 10,481 masonry wells, and 362 ‘unbricked and
lever wells and water-lifts.

The only forests are two plantations of shisham {Dalbergia Sissod) on
the banks of the Sutlej, 'reserved' under the Forest Act, with an area
of 197 acres. There are also 179 acres of forest land under the District
board. Kankar or nodular limestone is found in many places.

The chief industry is the weaving of shawls, known as Rampur
chadars, from the wool of the Tibetan goat and other fine wools.

Trade and The in.dl'Jstry is.chiefly carried on by a colon.y of
communications, Kashmiris, who in 1833 migrated from Kashmir on
account of afamine, and settled in Ludhiana town,

where shawls used to be made until the trade was killed by the Franco-
German War. Cotton stuffs are produced largely, and Ludhianais



ADMINISTRA TION 205

famous for its turbans, which are imported from Hoshiarpur and
embroidered in the town. Many regiments of the Indian army are
supplied with turbans from Ludhiana. Check cloths known as gabruns
are also made in large quantities from English and American yarns.
Ivory billiard-balls are turned at Ludhiana and Jagraon. The sugar
industry is important, and a great deal of oil is expressed and exported.
The District possesses two factories for ginning cotton, and two flour-
mills. Both the ginning factories and one of the flour-mills are at
Khanna, and the other flour-mill is at Ludhiana town. The number of
employes in the ginning factories in 1904 was 145, and in the flour-
mills 44.

There is a large export of wheat to Karachi, and of rapeseed, oil,
maize, millets, and pulses to the United Provinces and Bengal; woollen
and cotton goods are exported all over India. The chief imports
are piece-goods, cotton yarn, sugar from the Jullundur Doab, and iron,
salt, brass and copper vessels, and barley and inferior grains from the
Native States to the south.

The main line of the North-Western Railway passes through Lud-
hiana town, from which place the Ludhiana-Dhurl-Jakhal Railway (also
broad gauge) runs to Dhurl on the Rajpura-Bhatinda line and Jakhal
on the Southern Punjab Railway. A line connecting Ludhiana with
Ferozepore, Fazilka, and M'Leodganj on the Southern Punjab Railway
has recently been opened. The grand trunk road passes through the
District by the side of the main line of railway, and an important
metalled road runs from Ludhiana town via Ferozepore to lahore.
The total length of metalled roads is 165 miles and of unmetalled
roads 207 miles; of the former, 75 miles are under the Public Works
department and the rest under the District board. The main line and
Abohar branches of the Sirhind Canal are navigable, as is the Sutlej
during the rains. The Sutlej is crossed by twelve ferries.

The District ;suffered, like the rest of the country, in the chalisa
famine of 1783, and famines occurred in 1813 and 1833. | In 1861 and
1869 there was considerable_scarcity, and Rs. 6,000
and Rs. 7,000 respectively was spent on famine relief.
Ludhiana was unaffected by the scarcity of 1878. The opening of the
Sirhind Canal has made the District secure against drought, and food-
grains were exported during the famines of 1897 and 1900. The
area of crops matured in the famine year 1899-1900 amounted to
72 per cent, of the normal.

The District is in charge of a Deputy-Commissioner, aided by four
Assistant or Extra-Assistant Commissioners, of whom
one is in charge of the District treasury. It is
divided into the three tahsils of LUDHIANA, SAMRALA, and JAGRAON,
each under a tahsildar assisted by a naib-tahsildar.

02

Famine.

Administration.
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The Deputy-Commissioner as District Magistrate is responsible for
criminal justice. The civil judicial work is under a District Judge,
subordinate to the Divisional Judge of the Ambala Civil Division, who
is also Sessions Judge. There are four Munsifs, two at head-quarters
and one at each outlying tahsil. There are nine honorary magistrates.
The crime of the District presents no features of specia interest.

Under Akbar the District formed part of the Sirhind division.or
sarkdr.  The revenue system was elaborate, being based on uniform
measurements of the land and a careful classification of soils. Produce
estimates were made, and the Government share fixed at one-third of
the gross out-turn. Under Akbar's successors, and still more under
the Sikhs, revenue assessment degenerated into a system of direct or
vicarious extortion. The government, when it was strong enough, and
its lessees when it was not, were restrained in their exactions only by
the fear of losing their cultivators altogether. A summary assessment
was made in 1847-9, a reduction varying from 3 to 6 annas in the
rupee being allowed on the existing demand. The regular settlement
further reduced the demand by 11 per cent., the amount fixed in 1850
being 9-3 lakhs. This assessment worked well. Despite two periods
of scarcity the revenue was punctually paid, and in no case were
coercive measures found necessary. Transfers of land were few and
credit remained generally good. The current settlement, carried out
in 1879-83, was based on an estimated rise since 1860 of 50 per cent,
in prices, and an increase of 8 per cent, in cultivation; but the propor-
tion of the 'assets taken was one-half instead of two-thirds, and the
enhancement amounted to 18 per cent. The revenue rates average
Rs. 2-7 (maximum Rs. 4, minimum Rs. 1-6) on irrigated land, and
Rs. 1-9 (maximum Rs. 2-10, minimum 8 annas) on unirrigated. The
demand for the first year was 10-9 lakhs, including 1-6 lakhs jagir
revenue; and' in 1903-4, including cesses, it amounted to over 12*4
lakhs. ~The average size of a holding cultivated by an owner is 32 acres,
by an occupancy tenant 1.9, and by a tenant-at-will 1.6 acres.

The collections of land revenue alone and of total revenue are shown
below, in thousands of rupees :—

1880-1. | 1890-l. | 1900-L | 1903-4,
, Land revenue . 7% 9.24 933 9)5°
Tota revenue . 10,32 1243 | 1440 | 1440

The District contains five municipalities: LUDHIANA, JAGRAON,
KHANNA, RAIKOT, and MACHHIWARA. Outside these, local affairs are
managed by a District board, whose income in 1903-4 was Rs. 1,35,000,
and expenditure Rs. 1,47,000. Education is the principal item of local
expenditure.
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The regular police force consists of 508 of all ranks, including
117 municipal police, under a Superintendent, who usualy has three
inspectors to assist him. The village watchmen number 917. There
are 12 police stations, 2 outposts, and 16 road-posts. The District jail
at head-quarters has accommodation for 318 prisoners.

The District stands fourth among the twenty-eight Districts of the
Province in respect of the literacy of its population. In 1901 the pro-
portion of literate persons was 4-7 per cent. (8-3 males and o-1 females).
The number of pupils under instruction was 3,977 in 1880-1, 8,875
in 1890-1, 10,825 in 1900-1, and 8,763 in 1903-4. In the last year
the District possessed 19 secondary, 104 primary, and 2 specia (public)
schools, and 8 advanced and 73 elementary (private) schools, with
633 girls in the public and 351 in the private schools. The com-
paratively high standard of education is largely due to the energy of the
missionaries. The two mission high schools at Ludhiana, one of them
a boarding-school, are aided by Government. — There are fifteen middle
schools throughout the District, including one for girls at Gujarwal.
The District board maintains a technical school, teaching up to the
middle standard, at Ludhiana. The North India School of Medicine
for Christian Women gives professional teaching. The total expendi-
ture on education in 1903-4 was 11 lakhs, of which District funds
supplied Rs. 25,000 and municipal funds Rs. 18,000. Government
grants came to Rs. 5,000, and fees brought in Rs. 28,000.

Besides the civil hospital and branch dispensary at Ludhiana town,
the District has six outlying dispensaries. At these institutions
103,764 out-patients and 1,336 in-patients were treated in 1904, and
5,206 operations were performed. The expenditure was Rs. 20,000, of
which about half came from municipal funds.

The number of successful vaccinations in 1903-4 was 12,090, repre-
senting 18 per 1,000 of the population.

[H. A. Rose, District Gazetteer (in press) \. T. G. Walker, Settlement
Report (1884), ‘and’ The Customary Law of the ' Ludhiana' District
(1885).]

Ludhiana Tahsll.—Tahsll of Ludhiana District, Punjab, lying on
the south bank of the Sutlej, between 30° 34' and 31°i'N. and 75° 36'
and 76° 9' E., with an area of 685 square miles. The population in
1901 was 333,337, compared with 323,700 in 1891. The town of
LUDHIANA (population, 48,649) is the tahsil head-quarters, and there
are 432 villages. The land revenue and cessss in 1903-4 amounted
to 5.8lakhs. The northern portion lies in the Sutlej lowlands, and
the southern in the upland plain irrigated by the Abohar and Bhatinda
branches of the Sirhind Canal.

Ludhiana Town.—Head-quarters of the District and tahsil of
Ludhiana, Punjab, situated in 30° 56' N. and 75° 52' E., on the grand
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trunk road. It is the junction of the North-Western, Ludhiiina-
Dharl-Jakhal, and Ludhiana-Ferozepore-M'Leodganj Railways distant
by rail from Calcutta 1,148 miles, from Bombay 1,215, and from

Karachi 884. Population (1901), 48,649. The town is connected
by metalled roads with Jagraon (24 miles) and Samrala (21 miles).
It was founded in 1481 by two Lodi Pathans, from whom it took
its name of Lodiana, corrupted into Ludhiana. It was the seat of
government for this part of the empire under the Lodis, but under
the Mughals was only the head-quarters of a mahal in the sarkar
of Sirhind, though it continued to be a place of importance. It
passed into the possession of the Rais of Raikot in 1760, and in 1806
was taken by Ranjlt Singh, who gave it to his uncle, Raja Bhag Singh
of Jind. Land west of the town was allotted to the British in 1809
for a cantonment, which was up to 1838 the outpost on the Sutlegj
frontier. The town and surrounding country escheated on the death
of Raja Sangat Singh of Jind in 1835. Ludhiana was in 1842 fixed
on as the residence of the exiled family of Shah Shuja  The
cantonment was abandoned in 1854. The fort, built on the site of
that constructed by the original founders, owes its present shape to
Sir D, Ochterlony.

The municipality wes created in 1867. The receipts and expendi-
ture during the ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 92,800 and
Rs. 92,600 respectively. In 1903-4 the income was 1.2 lakhs, the
chief source being octroi (Rs. 92,000) \ while the expenditure of
1.1 lakhs included conservancy (Rs. 12,000), education (Rs. 24,000),
medical (Rs. 10,000), public safety (Rs. 15,000), and administration
(Rs. 18,000). Ludhiana is famous for its manufacture of pashmina
shawls, which was introduced by some Kashmiri immigrants in 1833.
Cotton fabrics are aso largely woven, checks and gabruns being made
in considerable quantities. Embroidery is largely carried on. The
Ludhiana turbans are aso famous, and a.certain. amount of ivory-
turning.is carried on, including the manufacture of billiard-balls. The
town stands next to Amritsar in the excellence of its dyeing of wool
and silk. It is an important centre for ornamental woodwork and
furniture, and also a large grain mart. A flour-mill has recently been
established, which in 1904 gave employment to 14 hands. The prin-
cipal educational institutions are the four Anglo-vernacular high schools:
one maintained by the municipality, the management of which was taken
over by the Educational department in 1904, two by the mission, and
the Islamiya school. Ludhiana has been since 1834 the head-quarters
of the American Presbyterian Mission, which, in addition to the schools
mentioned, maintains the North India School of Medicine for Christian
Women and a printing press. There is a civil hospital in the town,
with a branch dispensary.
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Lugasi.—Petty sanad State in Central India, under the Bundel-
khand Agency, with an area of about 47 square miles. It lies between
the Hamlrpur District of the United Provinces and the States of
Chhatarpur and Charkhari. Population (1901), 6,285. The chief is
a Bundela Rajput, and the original grant was made to Dlwan Salim
Singh, an adopted son of Hirde Sah, son of Chhatarsal of Panna.
When the British became paramount in the early years of the nine-
teenth century, Dlwan Dhiraj Singh, son of Salim Singh, was in pos-
session of seven villages, which were confirmed to him by a sanad
granted in 1808, he on his part executing the usual deed of allegiance.
In 1814 Dhiraj Singh, who was in ill-health, abdicated in favour of
his second son, Sardar Singh, as the eldest son, Padam Singh, had
revolted, and had only submitted on the arrival of a British force.
In 1857 Sardar Singh's territories were laid waste by the mutineers
on account of his fidelity to the British Government. For his loyalty
at that time he was rewarded in 1860 with a jagir of four villages,
yielding an income of Rs. 2,000 a year, the title of Rao Bahadur,
and a khilat worth Rs. 10,000. The present chief, DIwan Chhatrapati
Singh, succeeded in 1902, and is being educated at the Daly College,
Indore, the State being under superintendence. The State consists
of 17 villages, and has a cultivated area of 9 square miles and a revenue
of Rs. 20,000. The chief town, Lugasi, is situated in 25° 5' N. and
75° 35' E., 8 miles from Nowgong on the Nowgong-Banda road. Popu-
lation (1901), 1,786.

Lugu.—Detached hill south of the central plateau of Hazaribagh
District, Bengal, situated in 23° 47" N. and 85° 42' E., in the head-
quarters subdivision. The northern face has a bold scarp 2,200 feet
in height; and the highest point is 3,203 feet above the sea

Luhit.—A name which is sometimes applied to the BRAHMAPUTRA
in part of its course through Assam, and more particularly to the
channel which separates the Majuli-island from. Lakhimpur District.

Lumding.—Railway junction.in'Nowgong District, Eastern Bengal
and Assam, situated in 25° 45' N. and 93° 11' E., where the Assam
Valley branch of the Assam-Bengal Railway meets the hill section
which connects the Brahmaputra Valley with Chittagong. Prior to
the opening of the railway, the place was buried in dense treejungle;
but a considerable area of land has now been cleared, and the railway
head-quarters of the Assam branch have been moved to this spot. The
line on either side of Lumding passes through miles of almost unin-
habited country, so that there is at present little local trade.

Lunfvada State (or Lunawara).—State in the Political Agency
of Rewa Kantha, Bombay, lying between 22° 50' and 23° 16' N.
and 73° 21' and 73° 47' E., with an area of 388 square miles. It
is bounded on the north by the Rajputana State of Dungarpur; on
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the east by Sunth and Kadana States of Rewa Kantha; on the south
by the Godhra taluka of the District of the Panch Mahals; and on
the west by ldar State (Mahi Kantha) and Balasinor State (Rewa
Kantha). Lunavada is irregular in shape, and has many outlying
villages, the territory being much intermixed with that of Baiasinor
and with the British Panch Mahals. The extreme length from north
to south is 34 miles, and the extreme breadth from east to west 25
miles. The Mahi flows through it. The climate is somewhat cooler
than in the neighbouring parts of Gujarat.

The chief is descended from a Rajput dynasty that ruled at Anhil-
vada Patan, and his ancestors are said to have established themselves
at Virpur in 1225. In 1434 the family removed to Lunavada, having
in all probability been driven across the Mahi by the increasing power
of the Muhammadan kings of Gujarat. Lunavada was tributary both
to the Gaikwar and to Sindhia; the rights of the latter ruler, guaranteed
by the British Government in 1819, were transferred by him with the
cession of the Panch Mahals in 1861. Until 1825 the State was under
the Political Agency of Mahi Kantha. The chief (Maharana) is a
Hindu of the Solanki Rajput caste, and is entitled to a salute of nine
guns. The family hold a sanad authorizing adoption, and they follow
the rule of primogeniture.

The population at the last four enumerations was: (1872) 74,813,
(1881) 75,450, (1891) 90,147, and (1901) 63,967, showing a decrease
during the last decade of 28 per cent, due to the famine of 1899-
1900. The State contains one town (LUNAVADA) and 318 villages.
Hindus number 59,876 and Muhanimadans 3,751; the density of
population is 165 persons to the square mile. The chief castes are
Brahman, Rajput, and Kunbi. About one-third of the area of the
State has been alienated, some lands having been granted in free gift,
and others on* service or other tenures. About 231 square miles are
occupied for cultivation, of which 159 were cultivated in 1903-4.
The soil is generally stony.  Cereas and timber are thel chief pro-
ducts. In 1903-4 exports, consisting chiefly of grain, oil, and ghi,
amounted to 3 lakhs; and imports, consisting of cloth, grain, and
sugar, to about the same amount. Irrigation is chiefly from wells,
though there are many reservoirs. A well-frequented route between
Gujarat and Malwa passes through Lunavada.

The chief has power to try his own subjects for capital offences.
He enjoys a revenue of about 1.8 lakhs, chiefly derived from land
(Rs. 1,25,000), and pays a tribute of Rs. 14,232 jointly to the British
Government and the Gaikwar of Baroda. There is one municipality
(Lunavada) with an income in 1903-4 of Rs. 2,776. The police force
consists of 177 men, including a military body of 43, who are employed
for police and revenue purposes. There is one jail. In 1903-4 the
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State contained 12 schools, with a daily average attendance of 747
boys and 555 girls. There are two dispensaries, one of which treated
9,000 patients in 1903-4, and the other, which prescribes native
medicines only, treated an average of 30 patients a day. Nearly
1,800 persons were vaccinated in the same year.

Lunavada Town.—Capital of the State of the same name in the
Rewa Kantha Agency, Bombay, situated in 23° 8' N. and 73° 39' E.,
about 4 miles east of the confluence of the Mahi and Panam rivers,
and a mile north of the latter stream. Population (1901), 10,277.
The town was founded by Rana Bhim Singhji in 1434. According
to the local legend, the chief one day went hunting across the Mahl,
and having become accidentally separated from his companions, found
himself near the hut of a sadhu or ascetic. He presented himself
before the recluse, saluted him reverentially, and remained standing
until bidden to be seated. The sadhu was pleased with his demeanour,
and, auguring a great future for him and his descendants, advised him
to build a city in the forest. He told him to proceed in an easterly
direction, and to mark the point where a hare would cross his path.
The Rana did as directed, a hare soon jumping out of a bush. The
Rana pursued and killed it with a spear, and marked the spot, which,
it is said, is now within the precincts of the palace. The sadhu was
the devotee of the god Luneswar, in honour of whom the Rana called
the town Lunavada. The shrine of the god still stands outside the
Darkuli Gate. About the beginning of the nineteenth century the town
was a flourishing centre for traffic between Malwa and Central Gujarat.
Its artisans were remarkable for their skill; and a brisk trade in arms
and accoutrements went on. The municipality has an income (1903-4)
of Rs. 2,776, of which Rs. 500 is devoted to the upkeep of a public
park. A road has been constructed to Shera, a British village 15 miles
north of Godhra, on the Godhra-Ratlam branch of the Bombay, Baroda,
and Central India Railway; and a private service of tongas has been
established for the benefit -of ‘passengers to and-from Lunavada. Two
fairs of local importance, one in August and the other in February, are
held close to Lunavada on the Panam river.

L ungleh.—Subdivision of the Lushai Hills District, Eastern Bengal
and Assam, lying between 22° 19' and 23° 23' N. and 92° 21' and
93° 10" E., with an area of 2,526 square miles. The population
in 1901, the first year in which a Census was taken, was 29,498,
living in 114 villages. The head-quarters of the subdivision are
situated at Lungleh village.

Luni (' satriver,' the Lonavari or Lavanavari of Sanskrit writers).—
River of Rajputana, which rises in the hills south-west of Ajmer city
in 26° 25' N. and 74° 34' E., and is first known as the Sagarmati.
After passing Govindgarh it is joined by the Sarsuti, which has its
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source in the sacred lake of Pushkar, and from this point the river
is called the Luni. It at once enters Jodhpur territory, and, after
a course of about 200 miles generally west-by-south-west, is finally
lost in the marshy ground at the head of the Rann of Cutch (24° 40' N.
and 71° 15' E.). It receives the drainage brought by the mountain
torrents down the western slopes of the Aravalli Hills between Ajmer
and Abu, and is a veritable blessing to the southern districts of Jodh-
pur. There is a saying in Mar war that half the produce of the country,
so far as cereals are concerned, is the gift of the Luni. It is for the
most part merely a rainy-season river, and in the hot months melons
and the singhara nut (Trapa bispinosa) are grown in great quantities
in its dry bed. The banks range from 5 to 20 feet in height, and
are in parts covered with bushes of jhao {Tamarix dioica). In heavy
floods, which, however, are rare, the river overflows its banks in the
districts of Mallani and Sanchor; the local name of the overflow is
rei, and on the soil thus saturated fine crops of wheat and barley
are grown. The Luni is, however, most capricious and erratic: on
one bank it may be a blessing, on the other a curse. As far as Balotra
the water is generally sweet; but lower down it becomes more and
more saline in character, till, on the edge of the Rann of Cutch, the
three branches of the river are described as reservoirs of concentrated
brine. By means of a dam thrown across the Luni near the town
of Bilara, one of the largest artificial lakes in India has been formed.
It is called Jaswant Sagar, after the late chief of Jodhpur, and can,
when full, irrigate more than 12,000 acres. Its catchment area
is 1,300 square miles; surface area (when full), 22 square miles;
capacity, 3,800 million cubic feet; greatest depth, 40 feet; length
of canals and distributaries, 40 miles. The total expenditure to
March 31, 1905, has been nearly 9% lakhs, and the annual revenue
since the work was completed in 1895-6 has averaged about Rs.
50,000.

Lushai’ Hills.—District in-Eastern Bengal and Assam, lying
between 22° 19' and 24° 19' N. and 92° 16' and 93° 26' E., with
an area of 7,227 sguare miles. It is bounded on the north by Sylhet
and Cachar, and the State of Manipur; on the west by the Chittagong
Hill Tracts and the State of Hill Tippera; on the south by Northern
Arakan and the Chin Hills; and on the east by the Chin Hills.
The whole surface is covered with ranges of hills, which run almost
due north and south, with an average height of about 3,000 feet on

. the west, rising to 4,000 feet farther east, and here

Phyglcggl and there to over 8,000 feet. The sides of the hills

ap are covered with forest and dense bamboo jungle,
except in those places where they have been cleared for cultivation,
and a stream or river is invariably to be found in the narrow valleys
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at their feet. The most important of these rivers are the Tlong or
Dhaleswari, the Sonai, and the Tuivol, which drain the northern
portion of the country and eventually fall into the Barak. The
southern hills are drained by the Koladyne on the east, with its
tributaries the Mat, Tuichang, Tyao, and Tuipui; while the Karna-
phuli, at the mouth of which stands Chittagong, with its tributaries
the Tuichong, Kao, Deh, Phairang, and Tuilianpui, forms the western
drainage system.

The drainage-levels of the country are unusually complicated. The
Tlong for some 40 miles of its length runs due north, while parallel
to it, on the east the Mat, and on the west the Deh, flow due south.
In the same way, the Tuivol and Tuichang and the Tuilianpui
and Gutur have parallel courses for many miles, but run in opposite
directions. The Tuichong and Phairang flow north till they join
the Deh, which then turns west and delivers their combined waters
into the Karnaphuli, which flows south-west.  Scattered about the
District are several plains of considerable size. These have, as a rule,
an elevation of about 4,500 feet, and are covered with a thick layer
of rich alluvial soil. They are surrounded by hills, which slope
gently towards the plain but are generally very steep and often pre-
cipitous on the other side. Through the centre runs a sluggish stream,
which escapes through a narrow gorge, below which is generally a fall
of some height. It has been suggested that these plains are the silted-
up beds of lakes, a conjecture which is rendered the more probable
by the fact that there are several lakes which at present have no outlet,
and which must in course of time silt up till the water overtops the
lowest point in the surrounding chain of hills. The largest of these
plains is Champhai, which has a length of about 7 miles and at the
widest point is nearly 3 miles across.

The hills consist of sandstones and shales of Tertiary age, thrown
into long folds, the axes .of which run nearly-north: and south. The
rocks are a continuation southwards of those forming the Patkai range,
and were probably laid down in the delta or estuary of a large river
issuing from the Himalayas in the Tertiary period. Marine fossils of
that age have been found near Lungleh, embedded in nodular dark
grey sandstone.

The hill-sides are generally covered with dense forest or bamboo
jungle. Palms, which are common on the lower slopes, give place
to various members of the Ficus family; and such trees as garjan
(Dipterocarpus turbinatus), gugera or maku {Schima Wallichii), oaks,
chestnuts, and firs grow on the higher ridges. Herbaceous plants
are not common, but ferns and orchids are found in large quantities.

Wild animals include elephants, rhinoceros, bison, various kinds of
deer, gural, and serow (Nemorhaedus), tigers, leopards, the Himalayan
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black bear (Ursus torquatus), and the Malay bear (Ursus malayanus).
The mithan or gayal {Bos frontalis) is kept in domestication. Small
game include jungle-fowl and several kinds of pheasant.

The valleys are malarious and unhealthy; and during the rains the
climate, even on the lower hills, is moist and enervating, and malarial
fevers are common everywhere. On the higher ridges it is fairly cool
and pleasant even at the hottest seasons of the year. In March and
April violent storms from the north-west sweep over the hills. The
District, like the rest of Assam, enjoys an abundant rainfall. The
average fall at Aijal, in the northern hills, is 80 inches in the year,
but farther south the precipitation is still heavier, and at Lungleh 131
inches are usually recorded. The rainfall is generally well distributed
and the crops seldom suffer from drought.

The history of the Lushai Hills, as far as known, is the history of
a backwash or eddy of the great wave of immigration that is gener-

ally believed to have started from North-West China

and spread over Assam and southwards towards the
sa. |In the Lushai Hills the movement for the last hundred years
has been northwards; and at the beginning of the nineteenth century
certain tribes, known as the Old Kukis, were driven from this country,
and finding no safety in the plains of Cachar, settled in the hills to
the north of the Surma Valley. Fifty years later there was another
immigration of hillmen, called New Kukis to distinguish them from
their predecessors, who were driven from the southern hills by the
Lushais, who made their first appearance on the Chatachara range
in 1840. Prior to the advent of the British, the hillmen had been
accustomed to make periodical descents upon the plains; and in 1849
four separate raids were committed, one of them on a village within
10 miles of Silchar, in which 29 of the inhabitants were killed and
42 taken captive. These outrages were followed by an expedition
led into the hills by Colonel Lister, ‘who in. 1850 surprised and
destroyed the village of Mullah, one of the chiefs concerned in the
raid. This demonstration ‘kept the hillmen quiet for some years;
but in 1862 they broke out afresh, and the diplomatic efforts that
followed had little practical effect. In the cold season of 1868-9
raids were made on Manipur and Sylhet, and the Noarband and
Maniarkhal tea factories in Cachar were burnt and plundered. An
expedition was dispatched into the hills, but it started too late in
the season and failed to inflict the punishment required. In January,
1871, a determined raid was made down the Hailakandi valley. The
village of Ainakhai was burnt and twenty-five persons killed, the Alex-
andrapur tea factory was destroyed, a tea planter—Mr. Winchester—
murdered, and attacks were made upon four other tea gardens with
varying success. The raiders were eventually driven off, but not before
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they had succeeded in killing twenty-seven persons in addition to those
already mentioned, seven of whom were sepoys sent to protect the
outlying gardens. Raids were also made on Sylhet, Hill Tippera, and
Manipur. Such violent and ferocious forays called for vigorous measures
of repression, and in the cold season of 1871-2 two columns were sent
into the hills, one from Chittagong, the other from Cachar. This ex-
pedition was completely successful, and the peace of the Assam frontier
remained undisturbed for the next twenty years.

In 1888 two serious raids were committed in the Chittagong Hill
Tracts. In one the attacking party killed Lieutenant Stewart and two
corporals of his regiment; in the other they cut up the inhabitants
of a village located only 8 miles from Demagiri. The following cold
season a small force was sent into the hills to exact reparation for
these outrages, and a stockaded post was built at Lungleh and gar-
risoned by 200 men. This demonstration of military activity had
little effect upon the Lushais; and at the very timewhen the expedition
was in the hills, Lianphunga, a son of Sukpilal, dispatched a raiding
party which devastated the Chengri valley on the Chittagong frontier.
Prompt measures for reprisal were taken, and columns were dispatched
into the hills from Silchar and Chittagong during the following cold
season. The captives were surrendered and the offending village
burnt; but the British Government had at last come to the decision
that here, as elsewhere, the only effective method of protecting the
frontier was the establishment of fortified posts in the hills themselves.
Stockades were accordingly erected at Fort Tregear in the South Lushai
Hills, and at Aijal and Changsil in North Lushai. A Political officer,
Captain Browne, was stationed in the northern hills, and at first all
seemed progressing favourably.  Suddenly, without a word of warning,
the Lushais rose in September, 1890, attacked the two stockades, and
killed Captain Browne, who was marching along the road with an escort
of four 'sepoys. ' A fforce was immediately sent up from Cachar, and
though Lieutenant Swintan, the officer in command, was killed, Aijal
and Changsil were relieved~without delay. Active operations were
then commenced, and within two months only one of the western
chiefs responsible for this disturbance was at large. On April 1, 1891,
the South Lushai Hills, which had been controlled by an Assistant
Political officer under the Commissioner of Chittagong, were formed
into a District and placed under a Superintendent.

At the beginning of 1892 the Lushai country was to all appearances
in a condition of profound peace, and Mr. McCabe, the Political
officer of North Lushai, proceeded to the village of a chief named
Lalbura, who had declined to comply with a requisition sent to him for
coolies. He was attacked there by a party of Lushais; but they were
driven off, and a force of police was then sent to the hills east of the
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Sonai, as the chiefs in this quarter had assisted Lalbura in his rising.
Captain Shakespear, the Superintendent of the South Lushai Hills,
heard of the attack on Mr. McCabe, and marched northwards to his
assistance.  When he reached Vansangas village, the whole country
rose in arms, and he was compelled to entrench himself and act on
the defensive. The Lushais made constant attacks upon his camp,
attempted Lungleh, threatened Demagiri, cut the telegraph wires, and
spread themselves over the line of communications. Captain Shake-
spear was relieved by a column dispatched from Burma, and the
combined forces then proceeded to inflict such punishment as they
could during the short time that their scanty supplies enabled them to
remain in the field. In December, 1892, a punitive expedition was
dispatched into the hills, which co-operated with a column sent from
Aijal, and impressed upon the rebellious villages a sense of the futility
of attempting to resist the British Government. No active opposition
was encountered, and since that date the peace of the District has been
undisturbed. In 1898 the South Lushai Hills were transferred to the
Assam Administration, and the District for the first time took its
present form.

The first complete Census of the Lushai Hills was taken in 1901,
and disclosed a population of 82,434, living in
239 villages. The following table gives for each sub-

division particulars of area, villages, population, & ¢.:—

Number
. Areain | Number | 50’)”' of persons
Subdivision. square of Population. | ‘& OSarpeer able to
miles | villages. Sr?wile read and
. write,
Aijal 4701 | 125 | 52,936 I
Lungleh . 2,526 | 114 29,498 12 2058
Digtrict total | 7,227 | 239 | 82,434 1 208

The hills are very sparsely peopled, and only support 11 persons per
square mile. An unusual feature in the constitution of the population
is the great preponderance of females, there being 1,113 women to
every 1,000 men. More than 95 per cent, of the people profess no
other creed than Animism, and a little more than 4 per cent, are
Hindus. All of these Hindus are foreigners, most of them being
members of the military police battalion and their dependents. The
number of the native Christians is still very small (26), but it was
only in 1897 that the Welsh Presbyterian Mission undertook to carry
on the work which had been begun by two pioneer missionaries.
About 87 per cent, of the population of the hills returned Lushai or
Dulien as their usual form of speech, a language which is akin to the



POPULATION 217

"Old Kuki' dialect Rangkhol, and to various forms of speech used by
the Naga tribes.  Agriculture was the means of support of 93 per cent,
of the population in 1901.

The inhabitants of the hills are said to be all members of the same
race, but are divided up into a number of families or clans. These
clans are distinguished from one another by differences in sacrificial
ritual and in some cases by differences in dialect, but all enjoy the ius
connubii. The principal subdivisions are the Lushais (36,400), who
supply chiefs to nearly every village in the hills; the Poi (15,000), or
immigrants from the Chin Hills; the Hmar (10,400), or tribes who
have come from Manipur; and the Ralte (13,800), Paithe, Thado, and
Lakher. The other groups into which the population is divided are
rapidly losing their distinctive traits.

The Lushais, to apply one generic term to all the inhabitants of the
hills, are a short and sturdy race, with countenances of a distinctly
Mongolian type, and well-developed legs. The men seldom have hair
upon their faces, and pick out what little grows, with the exception of
a few shoots at the corners of the mouth. Both sexes draw their hair
tight back and tie it in a knot, and wear a coat which reaches below
the waist, and a shawl thrown over the shoulders. Women, in addi-
tion, wear a blue petticoat, reaching to the knee, and ivory rings about
1% inches in diameter in their ears. Amber necklaces and rough
uncut carnelians are highly prized. Their arms are flint-lock muskets,
daos or billhooks of the Burmese pattern, and an inferior kind of spear.

The people live in villages, each of which is ruled by a chief, who
is entirely independent. The chief is supreme; but if his subjects
dislike his system of administration, they move elsewhere. He settles
all disputes, decides where the village is to cultivate, and when and
where it shall be moved. His house is the poorhouse of the com-
munity, and orphans and indigent persons live there and get food in
return for labour. The other officials are the upa, or councillors, the
crier, the blacksmith, and the pui-thiam or ' sorcerer.

Villages are generaly built on the top of a ridge or spur, and before
the British occupation of the hills were strongly stockaded. The
houses are laid out in streets radiating from a central square, in which
stand the chiefs house and the house where strangers and the young
unmarried men of the village sleep. They are built on piles on the
natural slope of the hill, and at the end nearest the road is a rough
platform of logs. The doorway has a high sill, and the door consists
of a sliding panel of bamboo work. On each side of the fireplace are
bamboo sleeping platforms, and beyond is a kind of lumber room,
from which a door opens on a small back veranda. Windows in the
side of the house are considered unlucky, unless the right to make
them has been purchased by killing two mithan and feasting the
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village—a curious instance of a savage form of window tax, and an
example of the material gains accruing from many of the religious
beliefs and superstitions of the hill tribes of Assam. The posts used
are of timber, but the walls, floor, and roof frame are made of bamboo.
The roof is generally thatched with cane leaves, tied down with broad
bands of split bamboo.

In spite of the fact that women exceed the men in numbers, the
Lushai bachelor has to pay heavily for his wife. The price paid to
the father or nearest male relative of the girl varies from three to ten
mithan, for it is always stated in terms of these animals, though cash or
other articles may actually be given in their place. But the father is
by no means the only person whose demands have to be satisfied.
The girl's aunt receives from Rs. 5 to Rs. 40, the nearest male relative
on her mother's side from Rs. 4 to Rs. 40, the eldest sster gets a small
sum as a reward for having carried about the bride when young, and
there are also the male and female protectors of the bride to each of
whom a present must be given. The result is that it not unfrequently
happens that a man dies with his obligations still undischarged, and
leaves to his children the task of paying for their mother. The essen-
tial part of the marriage ceremony is a feas to the friends and rela-
tions, and the sacrifice of a fowl by the pui-thiam. For some time
after the wedding the bride deeps with her husband, but returns every
day to her father's house. Divorce by mutual consent is recognized ;
but under these circumstances the husband recovers no part of the
bride's price, so that he has every inducement to make the best of the
lady he has chosen. Unmarried girls are not expected to remain
chaste; but if a lover begets a child, he is required to pay one mithan
to its maternal grandfather, unless he marries the object of his affec-
tions, when the ordinary bride price only is charged. Among the
Paithes the marriage ceremony is not performed till the woman has
given evidence of her fertility. If she remains barren, the match is
broken off. ' During the first seven days of its life, the spirit of a child
is supposed to spend part of its time perched on the bodies of both
its parents, and for fear of injuring it they have to keep quiet during
this period. By this means primitive man ensures that the mother
shall have a short period of repose.

After death, the corpse is dressed in its best clothes and fastened to
a bamboo frame in a sitting posture. A big feast is then given to the
friends and neighbours, and food and drink are offered to the corpse.
On the evening following the death, the body is interred just opposite
the house, the grave consisting of a shaft about 4 or 5 feet deep, from
which a tunnel branches off in which the corpse is placed. People
who belong to wealthy families are not buried at all. They are placed
in a hollow tree-trunk, the lid of which is carefully plastered with mud,
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and put beside a fire in the centre of the house. A hollow bamboo
connects the coffin with theearth, and drains off liquid matter. The
nearest relatives sit beside the coffin and drink rice-beer, and at the end
of three months the bones are collected and stored in a basket. The
Paithes smear a greasy preparation over the corpse, which preserves
and hardens the skin. It is then dressed up, and in the evening
is brought out, and rice-beer is poured down its throat, while the
people sing and dance around it. This disgusting performance is
sometimes kept up for several months.

The religion of the Lushais is of the usual animistic kind. They
believe in a Creator, who does not trouble himself much with the
subsequent fate of the world he has created, and most of their religious
energies are devoted to the propitiation of the evil spirits, who are
supposed to be the cause of all misfortune. Like many of the other
hill tribes, they recognize two degrees of happiness after death—the
greater joy being reserved for those who have Killed men or animals in
the chase, or have feasted the village. Women can only enter this
abode of bliss if taken there by their husbands, so a premium is
placed on wifely obedience and devotion. Existence in the ordinary
spirit world is thought to be far from pleasant. After a certain time,
the soul is born again in a hornet, and presently is converted into
water. If in the form of dew it falls upon a man, it is born again on
the earth in the shape of his child.

In wealthy families when a son marries he receives a certain number
of houses and becomes an independent chief. At the same time
a share of his father's guns, necklaces, and other valuables and daves
are made over to him. The youngest son remains with his father till
his death and then succeeds to the village. Much the same custom
prevails among the common people.

Like other hill tribes, the Lushais follow the system of jhum cultiva-
tion. Thejungle growing on the hill-side is cut down and burnt, the
ground isycleared of logs which were too large to
burn, and the seeds of rice, maize, millet, vegetables,
and cotton are dibbled in among the ashes. The largest yield is
obtained from land which has just been cleared of virgin forest, or
which has not been disturbed for forty or fifty years. Land that bears
a heavy growth of bamboo jungle is aso highly esteemed, but hill-
sides covered with ikra (Saccharum arundinaceum) and grass are said
to yield very poor harvests, though good crops are obtained from such
land in the Naga Hills. The only agricultural implements used are
daos, axes, and hoes. The dao is a knife with a triangular blade about
three inches wide at the end and half an inch wide at the handle,
which is used to cut down the jungle and to make the holes in which
the seeds are planted. The axes and hoes are small and light. It is
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only where land has not been cultivated for many years that a crop of
rice is taken from it in two successive seasons, though peas and beans
are often sown onjhums cleared in the previous year. Land covered
with bamboos can be cropped every fourth year, but land under forest
is allowed six to nine years rest. The cultivation is thus of a migra-
tory character, and the villages are shifted at intervals of about five
years to enable the cultivator to live near his fields. The area under
cultivation is not known, and there are no means of estimating its
extension or decrease. Little attempt has as yet been made to improve
the existing staples or to introduce new varieties. The cultivation
of irrigated rice has, however, been tried in various parts of the
District, and has been adopted by a few of the Lushais.

The live-stock include tame mithtan, pigs, goats, and dogs. Pigs
are carefully tended, and treated almost as pets; the goats are of the
long-haired hill breed. Dogs are used for food, and are said to be
similar to those eaten by the Chinese. They are of medium size, with
long yellow hair, short legs, a bushy and tightly curled tail, and a
pointed nose, and are in great requisition for sacrificial purposes.

The District has never been properly explored by a geologist; but
the officer of the Geological Survey department who accompanied the
expedition of 1889-90 found no traces of coal, limestone, or other
minerals of economic value either in the rocks through which the road
was cut or in the debris brought down by the rivers.

The only articles manufactured in the District are earthen pots and
pipes, the daos hoes, and axes required for cultivation, and cotton

cloths. These cloths are woven from yarn spun
co;ﬁj%isgﬁons. from homegrown cotton, and are §uperi0r to those

usually manufactured by the hill tribes. They are,
however, produced only in sufficient quantities to clothe the members
of the family, and are seldom sold. Such trade as exists is in the
hands' of Bengalis or merchants from Rajputana, and there are only
two or-three Lushai' shopkeepers‘in the whole District. " The principal
imports are food-stuffs, cloth, iron, duos, brass pots and umbrellas,
while forest produce is exported.

A bridle-path runs from Silchar to Aijal, the head-quarters of the
District, a distance of 120 miles; but heavy goods are usually brought
up the Dhaleswari river to Sairang, 13 miles from Aijal. The journey
between Silchar, the place at which passengers usually embark, and
Sairang occupies from twelve to twenty-one days up and from four
to six days down-stream. Bridle-paths run from Aijal to Faiam,
Lungleh, and North Vanlaiphai, and from Lungleh to Haka and
Demagiri, on the route to Chittagong. Altogether 4 miles of cart-road
and 542 miles of bridlepaths were maintained in 1903-4.

The country never suffers from want of rain, but in 188t there was
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scarcity, due to the depredations of rats. In the previous season the
bamboos had seeded, and the supply of food thus provided caused
an immense multiplication in the numbers of these
rodents, which, when they had exhausted the bamboo
seed, devoured the rice crop. The Lushais descended into the Surma
Valley in search of work and food, and Government sent about 750
tons of rice into the hills.

For general administrative purposes the District is divided into two
subdivisions : AlJAL, under the immediate charge of the Superintendent
of the Hills, who is a member of the Assam Com-
mission; and LUNGLEH, under a European police
officer. Public works are in charge of a District Engineer, who is
under the orders of the Superintendent of the Hills, and a Civil
Surgeon is stationed at Aijal. The political organization of the Lushais
themselves is considerably in advance of that usually found among the
hiilmen of Assam. Their chiefs possess considerable influence and
power, and the Government is thus able to deal with responsible
individuals. Advantage has been taken of this in the internal adminis-
tration of the District. The Aijal subdivision is divided into twelve
and the Lungleh subdivision into six circles. In each of these circles
an interpreter is stationed, through whom all orders are transmitted
to the village chiefs, and who is responsible for seeing that these orders
are carried out.  He is also required to submit regular reports on all
events occurring within the circle and on the state of the crops. In
each village a writer has been appointed, who prepares and keeps
up a house list, and in return for this is exempted from payment of
house tax and from labour on the roads. The chiefs and headmen
of villages are held responsible for the behaviour of their people, their
authority is upheld by Government, and litigation generally and any
tendency to appeal against the orders of the chiefs in petty cases is
discouraged.

Ali criminal and civil cases which are not disposed of by the chiefs
themselves are heard by the Superintendent and his assistants. The
Superintendent exercises powers of life and death, subject to confirma-
tion by the Lieutenant-Governor, who is the chief appellate authority.
The High Court at Calcutta has no jurisdiction in the hills, except
in criminal cases against Europeans.

Land revenue is not assessed, but the people pay a tax of Rs. 2
a house. In addition to this money tax, the Lushais are required to
provide labour when required by Government, but the coolies so
employed receive the liberal wage of eight annas a day.

The civil police force includes 2 sub-inspectors and 49 head con-
stables and men; but the real garrison of the District consists of
a battalion of military police under three European officers, with a
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sanctioned strength of 800 officers and men. A small jail at Aijal
has accommodation for 13 prisoners.

In 1903-4 there were two schools at Aijal, one maintained by
Government, and one by the Welsh Presbyterian Mission; and Govern-
ment schools at Lungleh and Khawmbawk. The total number of
pupils in the Government schools was only 175, and the expenditure
on education amounted to Rs. 3,524, the greater part of which was
met from Provincial revenues. For a savage tribe who have so recently
come under British rule, the Lushais show a considerable aptitude for
civilization. In 1901, 2-5 per cent, of the population (5.1 males and
0.1 females) were able to read and write, a proportion much higher
than in Manipur or in the Naga or Garo Hills. This difference is
probably due to the aristocratic organization of their community.
When arrangements were being made for the Census of 1901, it was
found that some villages had not a single literate person to act as
enumerator. A man was then selected by the chief and sent to head-
quarters, in order to be taught how to read and write.

The District possesses 7 dispensaries and 5 military police hospitals,
with accommodation for 144 in-patients. In 1904 the number of cases
treated was 34,000, of whom 1,200 were in-patients, and 300 operations
were performed. The expenditure was Rs. 14,400, which was entirely
met from Provincial revenues.

Vaccination is not compulsory in any part of the District, and the
Lushais have not suffered sufficiently from small-pox to be fully alive
to its value as a prophylactic. In 1903-4 only 20 per 1,000 of the
population were vaccinated, a figure far below the average for the
Province as a whole.

[B. C. Allen, Gazetteer of the Lushai Hills (1906). A monograph
on the Lushais is under compilation.]

Lyallpur District.—A new District in the Multan Division of the
Punjab, lying. between 30°. 50' and 31°. 45" N..and 72° 20' and
73° 31 E., with an area of 3,075 miles.

The District was constituted on December 1, 1904, mainly of
villages transferred from J hang, with the addition of a certain number
from Montgomery. It comprises most of the high table-land between
the Chenab and Ravi rivers, and is now irrigated by the Lower Chenab
Canal. On the north it is bounded by the northernmost or Jhang
branch of the canal, and is separated from the Chenab riverain by
a strip of Colony land which has remained attached to Jhang District.
On the north-east it is bounded by Gujranwala and Lahore; on the
south-east by Montgomery; on the south-west by Multan; and on
the west by Jhang.

The District contains a few proprietary villages near the Ravi in the
south and on the Jhang border; the rest consists of the villages built
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on crown waste and colonized by Government. The climate is very
hot in the hot season, and the rainfall is very small: 10.86 inches
fell at Lyallpur in 1905-6.

The following table shows the area and population of Lyallpur
District, according to the most recent returns :—

. Areain  Number  Number ) Population

Tahsil square of of Population.  per square
miles. towns.  villages. mile
Lyallpur 901 304 239,405 266
Samundri 1,309 495 266,277 204
Toba Tek Singh . "865 342 148,984 172
District total 3,075 1,141 654,666 213

The figures for population are taken from a local Census held on
September 29, 1906.

Land revenue and cesses amounted in 1905-6 to 17-3 lakhs. Land
tenures are dealt with in the article on the CHENAB COLONY.

The District is traversed by the Wazirabad-Khanewal section of the
North-Western Railway. There are at present three metalled roads
in existence—from Lyallpur to Rodu Koru, from Lyallpur to Satiana,
and from Chiniot Road to Pauliani—56 miles in all.

The District is in charge of a Deputy-Commissioner, aided by three
Assistant or Extra-Assistant Commissioners, of whom one is in charge
of the District treasury. The greater part of the revenue administration
is in the hands of the Colonization Officer', who has a special staff
to assist him and is independent of the Deputy-Commissioner. The
District is divided into three lahsils, each in charge of a tahsildar
assisted by a naib-tahsildar. Five Executive Engineers of the Lower
Chenab Canal have their head-quarters at Lyallpur town. (See articles
on CHENAB COLONY and JHANG DISTRICT.)

[L. H. Leslie Jones, Chenab Colony Gazetteer. (1904).]

Lyallpur.  Tahsil. —Head-quarters tahsil . of . the ‘new. Lyallpur
District, Punjab, lying betwéeen 31° 11' and 31°45' N. and 72° 47" and
73° 31' E., with an area of 901 square miles. The population in 1906
was 239,405, with a density of 266 persons per square mile. It
contains the town of LYALLPUR (population, 13,483) and 304 villages,
including Chiniot Road (1,276). The land revenue and cesss
in 1905-6 amounted to 5.9 lakhs. The tahsil, which occupies the
centre of what was formerly the Sandal Bar, is now wholly irrigated
by the Chenab Canal. It consists of a level plain of fine loam, with
a low spring-level, which is, however, steadily rising. The boundaries
of the tahsil were somewhat modified when the new District was
formed.

! Thepost of Colonization Officer was abolished in April, 1907.
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Lyallpur Town.—Head-quarters of the Lyallpur tahsil and the
Chenab Colony, and since 1904 of the new Lyallpur District, Punjab,
situated in 31°26' N. and 73°91' E., on the North-Western Railway.
Population (1906), 13,483. The municipality was created in 1898.
The income during the four years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 23,500,
and the expenditure Rs. 21,900. In 1903-4 the income was
Rs. 66,800, derived mainly from octroi; and the expenditure was
Rs. 73,700. The town is one of the greatest depots for the exportation
of wheat in the Province, and collects all kinds of agricultural produce
from the Chenab Colony. It contains 5 cotton-ginning factories,
4 cotton-presses, 2 combined ginning and pressing factories, an iron
foundry, and a flour-mill. The iron foundry and the flour-mill were
closed in 1904, but the other factories employed 581 hands.  Lyallpur
has a sub-agency of the Commercial Bank of India, and a detach-
ment of the Punjab Light Horse; aso a dispensary and an Anglo-
vernacular middle school, maintained by the municipality.

Macheri.—Village in the Rajgarh tahsil of the State of Alwar,
Rajputana, situated in 27° 15' N. and 76°40' E., about 3 miles north-
east of Rajgarh town, and 23 miles south of Alwar city. Population
(1901), 2,620. The estate of Macheri was granted about 1671 by
Mirza Raja Jai Singh of Jaipur to Rao Kalyan Singh, an ancestor of
the present ruling family of Alwar; and about ninety years later, in the
time of Rao Pratap Singh, the founder of the Alwar State, it consisted
of but 2% villages: namely, Macheri, Rajgarh, and half Rajpura.
Before he died in 1791, Pratap Singh had developed this little estate
into a principality comprising almost all the territory now called
Alwar.

Machhiwara.—Town in the Samrala tahsil of Ludhiana District,
Punjab, situgjted in 30°55' N. and 76° 12' E., 6 miles from Samrala
and 27 from Ludhiana. Population (1901), 5,588. It has a small
sugar industry,  and was the scene-of Humayun's defeat of the Afghans
in 1555.. ‘"The municipality was created in 1867." The income and
expenditure during the ten years ending 1902-3 averaged Rs. 4,900.
In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 4,200, chiefly from octroi; and the
expenditure was Rs. 5,100. The town has a Government dispensary,
and the municipality maintains a vernacular middle school.

Machhlishahr Tahsil.—South-western tahsil of Jaunpur District,
United Provinces, comprising the parganas of Ghiswa, Mungra, and
Garwara, and lying between 25° 30" and 25° 55' N. and 82° 7' and
82° 28' E., with an area of 344 square miles. This area is exclusive
of an enclave belonging to Partabgarh District. Population fell from
244,677 in 1891 to 233,431 in 1901. There are 610 villages and two
towns: MACHHLISHAHR (population, 8,725), the tahsil head-quarters,
and MUNGRA-BADSHAHPUR (6,130). The demand for land revenue in
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1903-4 was Rs. 2,82,000, and for ceses Rs. 44,000. The density of
population, 679 persons per square mile, is the lowest in the District.
Machhlishahr is triangular in shape and is crossed by the Sai and
Basuhf rivers, while the Barna forms part of the southern boundary.
It contains a great deal of low-lying land in which rice is largely grown,
and also some patches of barren usar. The area under cultivation in
1903-4 was 205 square miles, of which 106 were irrigated, chiefly from
wells.  Tanks and jhils supply nearly a fifth of the irrigated area, a
larger proportion than elsewhere in this District.

Machhlishahr Town.—Head-quarters of the lahsil of the same
name, Jaunpur District, United Provinces, situated in 25° 40' N. and
82° 25' E., on the road from Jaunpur city to Allahabad. Population
(1901), 8,725. The ancient name of the town was Ghiswa, derived
from a Bhar chief, Ghlsu, who is said to have ruled in the neighbour-
hood. It is situated in the midst of a low-lying damp tract of country,
and its present name of Machhlishahr, or ' Fishtown,' was given to it
owing to its liability to floods. No details are known of its history;
but it contains the ruins of an ancient fort and seventeen mosgues,
most of which are dilapidated. The Karbala was built in the thirteenth
century, and the Jama Masjid by Husain Shah of Jaunpur. Machhli-
shahr is administered under Act XX of 1856, with an income of about
Rs. 1,600. It contains the usual tahsill offices, and also a dispensary
and amiddle school with 147 pupils. There is little trade.

M ackeson, Fort.—Fort in Peshawar District, North-West Frontier
Province. See FORT MACKESON.

Madakasira Taluk.—South-western taluk of Anantapur District,
Madras, lying between 13° 44' and 14° 12' N. and 76° 49' and
77° 26' E., with an area of 443 sguare miles. The population
in 1901 was 81,457, compared with 67,993 in 1891. There are
54 villages and one town, MADAKASIRA (population, ro,666), the
head-quarters, a place of. some historical importance., The demand
for land revenue and 'cesses in 1903-4 amounted to . Rs. *1,48,000.
In the centre it is hilly and rocky, the two highest peaks being
Madakasira and Ratnagiri, both of which were strongly fortified
in days gone by. The eastern part resembles the adjoining portions
of the valley of the Penner. The western side, however, is more
level and more fertile, and is dotted with woods, groves, and tanks.
It is perhaps the most favoured by nature of any portion of the
District—standing at a higher elevation, receiving an ampler rainfall,
possessing thicker vegetation, having a soil of superior fertility, and
maintaining a higher rate of increase in its population. Its natural
advantages have led to the taluk as a whole being described, somewhat
poetically, as the garden of the District.

Madakasira Town.—Head-quarters of the taluk of the same
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name in Anantapur District, Madras, situated in 13° 56' N. and
77° 17' E., 56 miles from Anantapur town. Population (1901), 10,666.
The town lies at the foot of a rock, which was once strongly fortified.
Tradition says that it was built by the chiefs of Sirain Mysore. Hira
Udaiyar, the founder of the family, agreed to serve the Vijayanagar
government with 1,000 peons, and for their support twelve villages in
the Chitaldroog taluk of Mysore were given him. This grant was
subsequently greatly augmented. Early in the seventeenth century
the Sultan of Bijapur took many of the chiefs possessions, but left to
him the two forts of Madakasira and Ratnagiri. In 1728 the Marathas
captured the former place, and in 1741 the latter was taken by Morari
Rao, who imposed a tribute of Rs. 8,000. In 1762 Haidar Ali of
Mysore took Madakasira, but his troops were ejected two years later
by Morari Rao. Haidar seized it again in 1776, and demanded
atribute of Rs. 15,000. As this was not paid punctually, he sent the
chief and his five sons prisoners to Seringapatam. The Musalmans
held the place till 1799, and the country fell under British rule in the
following year. The town is now a fairly important market centre.
It is surrounded by groves of coco-nut and other trees, and much
cultivation. The bazar contains a number of houses faced with the
neat verandas, supported on carved and painted pillars, which are
a feature of this corner of the District.

Madanapalle Subdivision.—Subdivision of Cuddapah District,
Madras, consisting of the MADANAPALLE, KADIRI, RAYACHOTI, and
VAYALPAD taluks.

Madanapalle Taluk.—South-western taluk of Cuddapah District,
Madras, lying between 13° 27" and 14° 1' N. and 78°5'and 78° 45' E.,
with an area of 837 square miles. The population in 1901 was
136,977, compared with 127,352 in 1891 ; and the density was
164 persons per square mile, the District average being 148. It
contains one town, MADANAPALLE | (population, 14,084), the head-
quarters-of the "taluk and' of the ' subdivision ‘of that name; and
99 villages. The demand for land revenue and cesses in 1903-4
amounted to Rs. 2,48,000. The annual rainfall is 28 inches, the same
as the District average. There are two rivers in the taluk, the
Papaghni and the Bahudanadi. The former has some supply for the
greater part of the year, but the latter is full only during the monsoons.
The principal crops are rice, ragi, cholam, wheat, and sugar-cane. The
taluk is very hilly, except in its north-western portion, where it runs up
to meet the Mysore plateau. The hills are composed of great bare
bosses and boulders of granite, which have weathered into every shade
of brown, purple, and gold; and in the cultivation season the contrast
between their colouring and the green crops below is extremely
beautiful. The soil is for the most part good in the valleys, into
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which the rains have washed down the earth from the hills, but poor
elsewhere. The taluk is rich in natural springs, which appear after
every shower of rain. Its climate is the pleasantest in the District, as
the country stands at a comparatively high elevation, but it is not free
from fever. The irrigation is chiefly from tanks, the principal of
which are at Peddatippasamudram, Vyasasamudram, Rangasamudram,
Badikayalipalle, and Chinnatippasamudram.

Madanapalle Town (Madana, 'the god of love,' and palle
! a hamlet').—Head-quarters of the subdivision and taluk of the same
name in Cuddapah District, Madras, situated in 13° 33' N. and
78° 31' E. Population (1901), 14,084. It is also the head-quarters
of the Executive Engineer and the Assistant Superintendent of police,
and contains a station of the London Mission. It was formerly the
seat of a local chieftain, who paid a revenue of Rs. 43,000 to the para-
mount power; but as Munro found that he had no good title to some
of the villages in his possession, he was allowed to rent only one of
the two villages to which he proved a right, and a deduction from the
rent was allowed him for maintenance. He is stated to have had
some claims to indulgence, since he had held a Company's lease from
1791 and had also submitted immediately to the British rule when the
country was transferred in 1800. The family soon afterwards became
extinct. Madanapalle adjoins the Mysore plateau and is 2,250 feet
above the level of the sea Consequently it is far cooler than the
lower parts of the District, and is a favourite station with pensioned
native officials. It is a picturesque place, being surrounded by
wild hills and containing many beautiful trees. The nearest railway
station is Chinnatippasamudram, 7 miles away, but the construc-
tion of the line has increased the commercial importance of the
town. There is a weekly market, to which merchants from Pun-
ganiiru and other places in North Arcot District bring commodities
for sae

Madanpur.—Small ‘village in. the “Mahroni ‘tahsil ' of  Jhansi
District, United Provinces, situated in 24° 15' N. and 78° 41' E.
Population (1901), 561. The village is picturesquely situated at the
narrowest point of one of the easiest passes up to the Vindhyan plateau,
close to a fine artificial tank. There are numerous Chandel ruins in
the neighbourhood, the finest of which are two splendid temples
standing on the embankment of the lake. One of these contains an
inscription recording the conquest of the Chandel kingdom by Prithwi
Raj of Delhi in 1182. A quarry of excellent sandstone lies close to
the village, and iron ore was formerly worked here.

Madapollam (Madhavayapalem or Madhavapolleni).—Suburb of
Narasapur in Kistna District, Madras, situated in 16° 26' N. and
81°42' E. It was an important factory in the early days of the East
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India Company, which gave its name to a class of cotton goods still
known as Madapollams. The encroachments of the river Godavari,
which here makes a sharp bend towards the south, have now greatly
eroded the site of the old settlement.

Madaripur Subdivision.—South-eastern subdivision of Faridpur
District, Eastern Bengal and Assam, lying between 2 2° 51" and
23° 29' N. and 89° 45' and 90° 37' E., with an area of 993 square
miles. The subdivision is a low-lying alluvial tract, and in the south
the country is an immense swamp, intersected by strips of high land
along the banks of the rivers which once flowed through this tract.
The population in 1901 was 906,135, compared with 805,501 in 1891,
and is contained in the flourishing mart of MADARIPUR (population,
17,463), the head-quarters station; and 1,806 villages. With 913
persons per sguare mile, the subdivision is more thickly populated
than the rest of the District; the density in the north rises as high as
1,406, but drops to 649 in the swamps to the south. With Munshi-
ganj, the adjoining subdivision of Dacca District, Madaripur originally
formed part of the pargana of Bikrampur. It was transferred from
Backergunge District in 1874. The great features of the subdivision
are the magnificent river system and the bils or marshes studded with
houses built on artificial mounds raised along the boat routes. Jute
is grown in large quantities and forms the chief article of commerce.
The Madhumat!l-Kumar Bil route, recently opened to connect with the
Eastern Bengal State Railway at Khulna, has given a new impetus
to trade. Besides the head-quarters town, other centres of trade
are Dhumaria, Ghagar, Mustafapur, Palang, Bhojeswar, Angaria,
Gosairhat, Bhedarganj, and Sibchar.

Madaripur Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision of the same
name in Faridpur District, Eastern Bengal and Assam, situated in
23° 11' N. and 90° 13' E., at the junction of the Arial Khan and
Kumar rivers. . Population- (1901), 17,463. . Madaripur. is-the. centre
of a flourishing jute trade and is a rapidly increasing town, but its
safety is threatened by the inroads of the Arial Khan. There are two
markets, and a brisk trade is carried on with the interior by country
boats. Trade is chiefly in the hands of native merchants, one of
whom keeps a salt gola, but Europeans have a large share of the jute
business. A small line of steamers connects the town with the
Narayanganj-Goalundo and Barisal-Khulna services; another links it
up with the Khulna terminus of the Eastern Bengal State Railway.
Madaripur was constituted a municipality in 1875. The income
during the decade ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 9,600, and the
expenditure Rs. 9,500. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 12,200,
including Rs. 5,000 derived from a property tax, and Rs. 2,000 from
a conservancy rate; and the expenditure was Rs. 12,700. The town
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contains the usual public offices, the sub-jail has accommodation
for 36 prisoners.

M adaya Subdivision.—Northernsubdivision of Mandalay District,
Upper Burma, containing the MADAYA and SINGU townships.

Madaya Township.—Central township of Mandalay District,
Upper Burma, lying between 22° 1' and 22° 21' N. and 96° and
96° 25' E., with an area of 321 square miles. The population was
51,208 in 1891, and 53,212 in 1901, distributed in 217 villages, the
head-quarters being at Madaya (population, 1,545), 15 miles due north
of Mandalay, famous for its valuable gardens on the Shwetachaung
Canal. The rice-fields on this waterway are very fertile, and can in
some cases produce three crops a year. The country in the north-east
away from the river is parched and uncultivable. The area cultivated
in 1903-4 was 81 square miles, and the land revenue and thathameda
amounted to Rs. 3,20,000.

Maddagiri.—North-eastern taluk of Tumkur District, Mysore, in-
cluding the Koratagere sub-taluk, and lying between 13° 27' and
13° 55 N. and 77° 1/ and 77° 28" E., with an area of 606 square
miles. The population in 1901 was 116,695, compared with 97,973
in 1891. The taluk contains threetowns, Maddagiri (population, 4,060),
the head-quarters, Koratagere (2,811), and HOLAVANHALLI (1,682);
and 480 villages. The land revenue demand in 1903-4 was Rs. 2,27,000.
The taluk is crossed from north to south by the lofty chain of moun-
tains which include Midagesidurga (3,414 feet), Maddagiridurga (3,935
feet), and Channarayadurga (3,744 feet). The valleys west of the
range and south of Maddagiri are higher than the other parts of the
taluk. The open country to the north-east is principally watered by
the Jayamangali, and a small portion by the Kumadvati, both affluents
of the Penner, which flows near the boundary. The large Mavattur
tank has been formed in the south-east, in a very fertile tract, and is
fed by talpargis or spring-heads near the surface.

Maddagiridurga,—Bold fortified hill, 3,935 feet high, in.the north-
east of Tumkur District, Mysore, situated in 13° 39' N. and 77° 13' E.
The only access is on the northern face, which slopes upwards at a
steep angle, presenting large sheets of bare rock that scarcely allow of
foothold unless perfectly dry. In time of war the garrison, it is said,
used to pour oil down these rocky inclines to prevent the assailing
force from mounting the hill. The original fort was built by a local
chief, from whose descendants it was taken by Mysore about 1678. The
fortifications were greatly extended by Haidar Ali; and here, in 1763,
was imprisoned the queen of Bednur, with her paramour, and also
the pretender to her throne, until released by the Marathas in 1767
on their capture of the place. It was recovered by Tipu Sultan in
1774. There are many springs and ponds on the hill, with large
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granaries and storehouses, formed out of caverns or excavated in
the rock.

Maddur.—Town in the Mandya taluk of Mysore District, Mysore,
situated in 12° 35' N. and 77° 3' E., on the Mysore State Railway,
near the right bank of the Shimsha. Population (1901), 2,597. The
name is properly Marudur. Under the Gangas it was included in
Chikka Gangavadi, and in the eleventh century was under the Cholas.
Early in the twelfth century the Hoysala king Vishnuvardhana granted
it to the Srlvaishnava Brahmans as a agrahara. He aso made the
Maddur tank, and built the Varadargja temple. The fort was taken
by Mysore in 1617, and was rebuilt by Haidar, but dismantled in
1791 by Lord Comwallis in his march on Seringapatam. The fine
bridge over the Shimsha was completed in 1850, and since 1882 has
been used for the railway as well as the road. The municipality dates
from 1884, but was converted into a Union in 1904. The receipts
and expenditure during the ten years ending 1901 averaged Rs. 670
and Rs. 800. In 1903-4 they were Rs. 850 and Rs. 1,200.

Madgiri. -Taluk of Tumkur District, Mysore. See MADDAGIRI.

Madgiridrug.—Hill in Tumkur District, Mysore. See MADDA-
(IRIDUROA.

Madha Taiuka.—Taiuka of Sholapur District, Bombay, lying
between 17° 38' and 18° 10' N. and 75° 9 and 75° 42' E., with an
area of 619 square miles. |t contains 89 villages, including MADHA
(population, 5,365), the head-quarters. The population in 1901 was
82,984, compared with 92,664 in 1891. The density, 134 persons
per sguare mile, is slightly below the District average. The demand
for land revenue in 1903-4 was 1% lakhs, and for cesses Rs. 10,000.
Madha is an undulating plain, irregular in shape; the tops of all the
higher ridges,- though covered with yellow stunted grass, are bare of
trees, and have a barren soil. The watershed crosses the taluka in the
direction of its greatest length from north-west to south-east; and the
streams flow eastward into the Sina and southward into the. Bhima.
Excluding the Ashti lake, “situated about 15 miles south-west of
Madha town, the land is chiefly watered from wells. The climate
is dry, and hot winds prevail from March to May. The rainfall is
most uncertain.

Madha Village.—Head-quarters of the taiuka of the same name in
Sholapur District, Bombay, situated in 18° 2' N. and 75° 31' E., on
the south-east line of the Great Indian Peninsula Railway. Population
(1901), 5,365. The town has a fort, a weekly market on Tuesday, and
an annual fair in September-October. The fort is now used as a taiuka
office. Madha contains a Subordinate Judge's court, and three schools,
one of which is maintained by the American Mission.

Madh&n.—A fief of the Keonthal State, Punjab, lying between
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31° 6' and 31° 12' N. and 77° 21' and 77° 26' E., with an area of
9 sguare miles. The population in 1901 was 3,704, and the revenue
is about Rs. 3,000. A tribute of Rs. 250 is paid to the Keonthal State.
The present chief, Thakur Randhir Chand, is a minor; and the
State is administered by a council, which exercises full powers, but
sentences of death require the confirmation of the Superintendent,
Simla Hill States.

Madhi.—Place of pilgrimage in the Shevgaon taluka of Ahmadnagar
District, Bombay, situated in 19° 9' N. and 75° 16' E., 16 miles south-
west of Shevgaon and 3 miles south-west of Pathardi, with a shrine
or dargah of a Musalman-Hindu saint, Shah Ramzan Mahi Savar or
Kanhoba. Population (1901), 844. The shrine is held in great
reverence by both Hindus and Musalmans, and the chief buildings,
which are on a small hill, were built by Hindu kings and chiefs. Two
domed buildings, where the ancestors of the present Inamdar and
Mujavar are buried, were built in 1730 by Pilajl Gaikwar, whose name
and that of his minister Chimnaji Savant are engraved in front of the
shrine.  On the south-east corner is a domed building called the
Baradarl, with open windows looking down on the village of Madhi
below. This was built in 1731 by Raja Sahu (1708-49), the grandson
of Sivaji, in fulfilment of a vow taken by his mother. Close to Sahu's
building, and almost at the entrance of the dargah, is a lofty drum-
house or nagarkhana, with a flat roof reached by a narrow staircase
and commanding a very wide view. This handsome building was
raised about 1780 by Kanhoji Naik, arich landed proprietor of Basim
in the Nizam's Dominions. There are two resthouses for pilgrims
built by Salabat Khan |1, the famous minister of the fourth Nizam
Shahi king, Murtaza Nizam Shah (1565-88). The enclosure of the
dargah has two handsome gates, one built by More, a Maratha chief at
the Peshwas court, and the other about 1750 by Khwaja Sharif, a
great Khoja merchant of Ahmadnagar. Close to this gate.is a recently
repaired. mosque.

Shah Ramzan Mahi Savar, or Kanhoba as he is generally called by
Hindus, is said to have come to Paithan about 1350 (A.H. 752), where
he was converted to Islam by one Sadat Ali. After travelling six years
he came to Madhi in 1380 (A .H. 782), and died therein 1390 (A .H. 792)
at the age of ninety years. The saint is said to have exercised
miraculous powers, and his Musalman name is derived from his having
crossed the Godavari mounted on a large fish, Mahi Savar. A yearly
fair is held at the shrine on the dark half of Phalgun (March-April),
which is attended by twenty to thirty thousand pilgrims, both Hindus
and Musamans.

Madhipura Subdivision.—Northern subdivision of Bhagalpur
District, Bengal, lying between 25° 24' and 26° 7' N. and 86° 19' and
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87° 8' E., with an area of 1,176 square miles. The subdivision, which
is bounded on the south by the Ghugri, is a low-lying alluvial tract,
intersected by numerous rivers and water-channels and liable to in-
undation from their overflow. The population in 1901 was 559,310,
compared with 575505 in 1891, the density being 476 persons per
square mile. It contains 757 villages, one of which, MADHIPURA, is
its head-quarters; but no town. The decline in population is accounted
for by the fact that a large part of the Madhipura and Kishanganj
thanas have been devastated by the ravages of the Kosi, which has
deposited a thick sediment of silt.

Madhipura Village. -Head-quarters of the subdivision of the
same name in Bhagalpur District, Bengal, situated in 25° 56' N. and
86° 48' E., on the right bank of the Parwan river, about 52 miles from
Bhagalpur town. Population (1901), 5,188. The neighbourhood is
associated with the popular ballad of Lorik, the deified cowherd. The
village contains the usual public offices, the sub-jail has accommoda-
tion for 15 prisoners.

Madhopur. —Village in the Pathankot tahsil of Gurdaspur District,
Punjab, situated in 32° 22' N. and 75° 37" E. Population (1901),
1,360. Opposite the village are the head-works of the BARI DOAB
CANAL.

Madhra. —Former name of KALLUR taluk, Warangal District,
Hyderabad State.

Madhubani Subdivision.—Northern subdivision of Darbhanga
District, Bengal, lying between 26° 2' and 26° 40' N. and 85° 45' and
86° 44' E., with an area of 1,346 square miles. The population rose
from 1,014,700 in 1891 to 1,094,379 in 1901, when there were 813
persons to the square mile. It is less densely inhabited than the rest
of the District, and is the only subdivision where there is much room
for further expansion. It consists of a rich alluvial plain, traversed
by ridges of uplands suitable for rabi cultivation; but the staple crop
is winter rice, and the ‘produce' of Alapur, Jabdi, and Bachaur is
famous all over Bihar. It contains one town, MADHUBAN! (popula-
tion, 17,802), its head-quarters; and 1,084 villages. NARAHIA is an
important centre of the Nepalese grain traffic; at JHANJHARPUR on
the railway brass utensils of a superior quality are manufactured;
and at SAURATH an annual mela or religious festival is held. Sugar
is extensively manufactured throughout the subdivision. J A YN AGAR is
the site of a mud fort.

Madhubani Town.—Head-quarters of the subdivision of the same
name in Darbhanga District, Bengal, situated in 26° 21' N. and
86° 5' E, about 16 miles north-east of Darbhanga town. Population
(1901), 17,802. Madhubani is an important trading centre on the
road from Sakri station on the Bengal and North-Western Railway to
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the Nepal frontier. It was constituted a municipality in 1869. The
income during the decade ending 1901-2 averaged Rs. 16,000, and
the expenditure Rs. 12,000. In 1903-4 the income was Rs. 18,000,
mainly derived from a tax on persons (or property tax) and the receipts
from municipal markets; and the expenditure was Rs. 16,000. The
town contains the usual public offices; the sub-jail has accommodation
for 14 prisoners.

Madhumati.—One of the principal distributaries of the GANGES
in Bengal and Eastern Bengal and Assam, which leaves the parent
stream near Kushtia, in Nadia District, in 23° 55' N. and 89° 9' E.,
where it is called the GARAI. Thence flowing south it assumes the
name of Madhumatl. It enters Backergunge District near the north-
west corner at Gopalganj; and from this point it takes the name of
Baleswar, and forms the western boundary of the District, still flowing
south, but with great windings in its upper reaches. It then crosses
the Sundarbans, separating the Khulna from the Backergunge portion
of that tract, and enters the Bay of Bengal, after a course of 230 miles,
in 21° 52' N. and 89° 59' E., under the name of Haringhata, forming
a fine deep estuary 9 miles broad. The river is navigable to opposite
MORRELGANJ in the District of Khulna by seagoing ships, and
throughout its entire course by native boats of the largest tonnage.
Although there is a bar at the mouth of the Haringhata with only
17 feet of water at low tide, the navigation is easier than that of any
other river at the head of the Bay of Bengal. The great banks or
shoals which have formed at each side of the mouth and which extend
seaward for several miles protect the entrance, and act as breakwaters
to the swell. The river is not disturbed by the 'bore,' which visits
the Hooghly and the Meghna, and it is aso free from mid-channel
dangers. Among its chief tributaries are the Kacha in Backergunge;
the Kalia or Gangni river, which receives a portion of the waters of
the Nabaganga through the Bankamali iin Jessore; and the BHAIRAB
in Khulna.

Madhupur.—An extensive jungle, known aso as the '‘Garh Gazali,'
in Eastern Bengal and Assam, stretching northwards from the northern
part of Dacca into the heart of Mymensingh District, amost as far as
the town of Nasirabad. The tract is slightly elevated, averaging about
40 feet above the level of the surrounding plain, with small hills
nowhere exceeding 100 feet in height. It belongs to an older allu-
vial formation than the rest of the country, and consists of a stiff layer
of red ferruginous clay of a considerable depth, resembling that of the
Barind in North Bengal. It is covered with a dense forest of tall trees
overrun with creepers, with numerous large grasses at their base. The
forest is similar in composition to that under the Himalayan range,
containing a mixture of Leguminosae, Combretaceae, Anacardiaceae,
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Urticaceae, Meliaceae, and Sapindaceae. The chief tree is the sal
(Shorea robusta), which grows throughout the tract and supplies
timber and charcoal. The open parts make good pasture grounds
in the cold season, and a considerable trade is carried on in bees
wax and honey. In recent years it has been opened up to some extent
by roads leading to the railway, and portions of it have been brought
under cultivation.

Madhupur.—Town in the Deogarh subdivision of the Santal
Parganas District, Bengal, situated in 24° 15' N. and 86° 39' E., on the
chord-line of the East Indian Railway. Population (1901), 6,840.
Madhupur is the junction for the branch line to the Giridih coal-
fields ; it is a growing town largely used as a health resort, and many
residents of Calcutta and Government pensioners have built houses
here.

Madhya Desa (‘the middle country').—At prese